
AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE 
COMMITTEE

10.00 am

THURSDAY
25 APRIL 2019

Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, 
Gloucester

MEETING PAPERS





AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
TIME: 10.00 am
DATE: Thursday 25 April 2019
VENUE: Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester

A G E N D A

ITEM TOPIC CONTACT

1.  Apologies Andrea 
Griffiths

2.  Declarations of Interest 
Members of the Committee are invited to declare any pecuniary or 
personal interests relating to specific matters on the agenda.  

Please see note (b) at the end of the agenda.

Andrea 
Griffiths

3.  Minutes (Pages 1 - 10)
To approve the minutes of the meeting held on the 25th January 
2018.  

Andrea 
Griffiths

4.  Grant Thornton Progress Report (Pages 11 - 40)
The Committee is asked to note the report.  Peter Barber

5.  Grant Thornton Fee Letter (Pages 41 - 44)
The Committee is asked to note the report.  Peter Barber

6.  Internal Audit Plan 2019/20 (Pages 45 - 96)
The Committee is asked to approve the Internal Audit Plan.  Theresa 

Mortimer

7.  GFRS Action Plan (Pages 97 - 250)
The Committee is asked to review and consider the actions taken 
to address the recommendations made and progress to date.

Theresa 
Mortimer

8.  Internal Audit Activity Progress Report 18/19 (Pages 251 - 
276)
The Committee is asked to note the report. Theresa 

Mortimer

9.  Money Laundering Regulations and Guidance (Pages 277 - 
284)



The Committee is asked to review and approve the updated Anti 
Money Laundering Policy; and agree that the policy is reviewed by 
the Audit and Governance Committee on an annual basis.

Paul Blacker

10.  Alternative Provision Schools Management Update (Pages 
285 - 292)
The Committee is asked to note the report.  Philip Haslett

11.  Freedom of Information Annual Report (Pages 293 - 302)
The Committee is asked to note the report.  Jenny 

Grodzicka

NOTES

(a) MEMBERSHIP – Councillors Cllr Colin Hay, Cllr Brian Oosthuysen, 
Cllr Shaun Parsons, Cllr John Payne, Cllr Alan Preest, Cllr Keith Rippington, 
Cllr Nigel Robbins OBE, Cllr Brian Tipper and Cllr Will Windsor-Clive

(b) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification 
about whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the 
Monitoring Officer: Jane Burns 01452 328472 /fax: 425149/e-mail: 
jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk prior to the commencement of the meeting. 

GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS

(1) Will Members please sign the attendance list.

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the 
meeting please leave as directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the 
assembly point which is outside the main entrance to Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  
Please remain there and await further instructions.

mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk


- 1 -

AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
MINUTES of the meeting of the Audit and Governance Committee held on Friday 25 
January 2019 commencing at 10.00 am at the Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester.

PRESENT
MEMBERSHIP:

Cllr Andrew Gravells
Cllr Colin Hay
Cllr Dr Andrew Miller
Cllr Brian Oosthuysen 
(Chairman)

Cllr Shaun Parsons
Cllr Nigel Robbins OBE
Cllr Brian Tipper
Cllr Will Windsor-Clive

Substitutes: Cllr Andrew Gravells & Cllr Dr Andrew Miller

Apologies:

Officers in 
attendance: 

Cllr John Payne, Cllr Alan Preest and Cllr Keith Rippington

Jane Burns, Paul Blacker, Theresa Mortimer, Jon McGinty, Kathy 
Oakey & Andrea Griffiths 

1. CHAIRPERSON 

The Chairperson wished to pay tribute to Jo Walker on behalf of the Committee, he 
expressed his thanks for her continued support over the years.  The Chair felt Jo 
would be a great loss to GCC but wished her every success in her new role.  

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Councillor Parsons declared he was a member of Cotswold District Council, a 
member of the Pensions Committee and a member of the GFRS Task Group.  

Councillor Windsor Clive also declared he was a member of the GFRS Task Group.  

3. MINUTES 

All matters arising had been dealt with and communicated to members of the 
committee.

Resolved 

That the minutes of the meeting held on 12th October 2018 be approved as a 
correct record and signed by the Chairman.  

4. GRANT THORNTON AUDIT PLAN 

Peter Barber, Grant Thornton presented the Council Audit Plan in detail.   This 
covered the planned approach to the 2018/19 financial statements and value for 
money audit.   

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

It was noted that in terms of value for money arrangements, Grant Thornton’s risk 
assessment regarding GCC arrangements to secure value for money had identified 
two VFM significant risks, these being future financial sustainability and responses 
to the Ofsted inspection of children’s services.  

The External Auditor advised the Committee of the key matters impacting the audit 
process.  During the presentation it was noted that Local Government funding 
continued to be stretched with increasing cost pressures and demand from 
residents, the Council were forecasting a £2.22 million overspend.  

In response to a question, it was noted that Grant Thornton discharged a 
substantive approach to audit and undertook a clear understanding of key systems 
and were assured in their approach.  Members were advised that External Audit 
had regard for anything that was brought to their attention by officers.  In response 
to a question relating to GFRS and given that a Police investigation was underway, 
it would not be appropriate to comment further at this stage.  External Audit would 
look at impropriety issues, whether that be a one off issue or a wider culture issue.  

Members were informed that there was a clear difference between Internal & 
External Audit’s roles.  Officers explained that Internal Audit’s role was to test and 
ensure systems that were operating effectively.  

During the discussion, members questioned what value could Grant Thornton offer 
in respect to the Ofsted value for money risk.  The Engagement Lead explained that 
Grant Thornton’s role was to offer an opinion on the accounts and the delivery of 
value for money.  It was explained that Ofsted had recently undertaken a visit and 
the outcome letter was yet to be published.    In terms of lessons, it was explained 
that external audit would look at what & how things were being done, and whether it 
was in the right way and manner.  

Members felt it was difficult to know the true valuation of property, plant and 
equipment until the asset had been sold.  The Engagement Lead explained that 
specific audit procedures were undertaken on the valuation of land and buildings. 
This includes evaluating management’s processes and assumptions for the 
calculation of the estimate, discussions with management to confirm the basis on 
which the valuation was carried out  and the assumptions made by management for 
those assets not revalued during the year and how management has satisfied 
themselves that these are not materially different to current value at year end.   

It was noted that the fee charged for the audit was £75,486 which was a decrease 
of approximately 23% compared to the previous year.  

Katie Whybray, Audit Manager presented the Pension Fund Audit Plan report in 
detail.  The Committee noted that the fee charged for the audit was £18,325 which 
was also a decrease of approximately 23% compared to the previous year.  
The Committee welcomed the significant reduction in fees.  

Resolved

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

That the report be noted.

5. GRANT THORNTON AUDIT PROGRESS REPORT 

Peter Barber presented the report, which detailed the progress Grant Thornton had 
made in delivering their responsibilities as the external auditors.  Members were 
informed that accounting, audit and emerging issues would be flagged up as part of 
the regular report.  Members were informed that internal and external auditors met 
on a regular basis to discuss any issues that may arise

It was noted that due to the outstanding 2016/17 objection, Grant Thornton had not 
issued a value for money opinion and Audit Certificates for GCC for 2016/17 & 
2017/18. Grant Thornton were continuing to work towards resolving this complex 
objection as quickly as possible, whilst ensuring that the process is fair to both 
parties.  Members were advised that Appendix A of the report provided a more 
detailed position regarding the objection.  It was explained that the total cost of the 
objection to date was £32,120.  

Members questioned the time delay in resolving the objection, officers explained 
that the objectors had brought about legal challenge, so it would be inappropriate to 
comment at this stage.  The Engagement Lead informed the Committee that he did 
not know when the objection would be concluded as Grant Thornton were also 
seeking further legal advice on the current position.    

It was explained that the Medium Term Financial Plan looked at assumptions and 
totality, and it may be necessary to re-assess the plan, in terms of financial 
sustainability.  

In response to a question, the Head of Financial Services clarified the different roles 
of Ernst & Young and Grant Thornton.   Members requested that the link to Grant 
Thornton public sector publications be included in Members Matter for information.  

It was noted the Grant Thornton provided a long range of workshops along with 
network events for members and publications to support the Council.  The next 
event was the Chief Accountants workshops for key officers which was taking place 
in February.  

Resolved

That the report be noted.

6. CAPITAL, TREASURY AND INVESTMENT STRATEGY 

Paul Blacker, Head of Financial Services presented the proposed Capital Strategy, 
Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Investment Strategy for 2019/20, 
which met the CIPFA Code of Practice, and governed how the Authority undertook 
Treasury Management activities.  It was noted that the Committee was required to 

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

consider and comment on the proposed strategies for 2019/20, including the 
Minimum Revenue Provision Policy.

It was noted that the strategy would be approved by full Council as part of the 
Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) and was being submitted to the Audit and 
Governance Committee in accordance with its terms of reference to regularly 
monitor the Council’s Treasury Management policy and practices.

It was noted that details of the Investments within the strategy were covered in 
detail at the Treasury Management training session provided by Arlingclose earlier 
in January 2019.  Members appreciated the detailed training session, which was 
well attended.  

It was suggested that the reporting function of the Audit & Governance Committee 
should be discussed in the OSMC Scrutiny Review.  Members were advised that 
the Audit & Governance Committee reported to the Annual Council meeting and 
reported annually to the OSMC.  

Resolved 

That the Capital Strategy, Treasury Management Strategy Statement and 
Investment Strategy 2019/20 be commended for approval by Council.   

7. ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT IMPROVEMENT PLAN 2017/18 UPDATE 

Theresa Mortimer, Chief Internal Auditor (CIA) presented the report.  The report 
provided assurance to the Audit and Governance Committee that the improvement 
actions identified as part of the annual review of the governance arrangements 
operating within GCC had been/were being addressed.  It was recommended that 
the Committee reviewed and considered the actions taken to address the 
governance improvement areas identified.

The Committee were advised the key improvement areas were identified to further 
enhance the governance arrangements and documented within the Annual 
Governance Statement (AGS) action plan.  These were:
1.     Future Financial Sustainability;
2.     Ofsted Inspection of Children’s Services;
3.     Contracting / Commissioning Care Services; 
4.     CIPFA Audit Committees, self assessment against revised CIPFA guidance;
5.     Gloucestershire Fire & Rescue Service (GFRS).  

Members were referred to page 103 of the report, which provided the progress to 
date, as at December 2018 with the actions taken to address the internal audit 
recommendations made in relation to the independent investigation of the GFRS.  It 
was explained that the audit completion date of 31st March 2019, may be subject to 
some slippage as the CIA wanted to work closely with the newly appointed Chief 
Fire Officer on the action plan delivery.    

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

In response to a question, it was noted that the GFRS Governance Position 
Statement set out the current strategic governance framework operating within 
GFRS and GCC.  The effectiveness of these arrangements would be tested as part 
of the reviews/audits outlined in the action plan.    

A member suggested issues facing GFRS were being used as a tool to question 
GCC’s ability to manage the service. The Committee were advised that the GFRS 
Task Group were looking carefully at the relationship between GCC and GFRS and 
whether this could be strengthened.  The CIA advised the committee that a key 
element of the Council’s governance framework i.e. the whistleblowing policy was 
invoked enabling prompt action to be taken in relation to the governance allegations 
made.   Updates on progress with the action plan  would continue to be presented 
to the Audit & Governance Committee.  

One member questioned this, he felt that governance arrangements were failing 
and that the management process should have picked up on the issues 
beforehand.  

It was explained that the GFRS Task Group had undertaken detailed interviews 
with GFRS staff and were compiling a report to document its findings, once 
completed the report would be available to the Committee for its consideration.    

During the discussion , one member suggested that the County Council should 
state what went wrong, how it was fixed, in order to a reflect a positive message.  

Members of the task group appreciated Councillors’ comments but reiterated the 
committee should await the Task Group Report before making further comment at 
this stage.  

Resolved 

That the report be noted.  

8. INTERNAL AUDIT ACTIVITY PROGRESS REPORT 2018/19 

Theresa Mortimer, CIA presented the report which informed members on the 
progress of the internal audit activity in relation to the 2018/2019 Internal Audit Plan 
and provided a progress report on the internal audit outcomes from the period 
October to December 2018 including the opinions provided on risk and control.  
Members were pleased to note that no limited assurance opinions on control or risk 
had been provided during this period.  

The report included a graphical summary that highlighted the opinions provided for 
the 2018/19 year to December 2018.  

The CIA informed the committee that internal audit made two recommendations to 
improve the control environment, these were both deemed as medium priority and 
were both accepted by management.  

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

The Committee discussed the Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) in considerable 
detail, particularly around the underspend position.  The CIA explained that the 
audit was a grant certification audit which verified that the expenditure was in 
accordance with the terms and conditions of the grant criteria.  It was noted that 
consideration could be given to the Health Overview Scrutiny Committee discussing  
this issue further, whilst considering the time it takes to complete the process for 
adaptations to an individual’s home.  The Committee asked the Commissioning 
Director to look at the DFG in his district capacity role.  

One member suggested that it would be beneficial to look at ways in which the 
audit committees across the county could work together more effectively.  

Members wished to know who had the authority to cancel or defer an audit, they 
were concerned that individual managers could prevent or influence an audit from 
taking place.  The CIA advised the Committee that in her role as the Council’s Chief 
Internal Auditor, she had a cancellation / deferral process in place which is based 
on current risk, reaffirming that the audit plan is a dynamic and living plan based on 
in year risk and changes to the Council’s risk profile. The CIA is required to provide 
an opinion on the control environment under the Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards and is required to be independent in her decision making, with the ability 
to report to the Audit and Governance Committee if it is felt that she has been 
unduly influenced.  This reporting on ‘limitations on the scope of activity’ statement 
is provided to the Audit and Governance Committee in the Annual Report on 
Internal Audit activity. 

The CIA stated that she would review the plan and reprioritise accordingly and 
assured the Committee that she would be compromising her professional standards 
if she was influenced in any way. All changes to the plan are discussed with and 
reported to the Director of Strategic Finance.   Members requested that the 
terminology for cancelled be amended to deferred/postponed.   

The CIA explained that the team was working closely with Directors to devise the 
Internal Audit Plan for 2019/20, and any items which had been deferred / cancelled 
would be viewed and re risk assessed against the long list of other identified 
activities.  The CIA explained that many of her team were heavily involved in the 
GFRS audits and resources had to be re-allocated accordingly.   The Head of 
Financial Services added that new risks arise during the course of the year and it 
was not always possible to plan for these situations, therefore there needed to be 
room for the plan to adapt appropriately.   

Resolved

That the report be noted.  

9. OPEN CONTRACTING REPORT 

Jane Burns, Director of Strategy and Challenge and Monitoring Officer presented 
the report in detail.  The Committee were advised that the report was in accordance 
with the decisions of the Constitution Committee to report on the Council’s 

Page 6



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

compliance with the Local Government Transparency Code, Contract Spend 
Software and Procurement Portal.    Members were advised that the Authority was 
not yet fully compliant but was actively working towards compliance and were 
investing in a new procurement system.  

The Committee were asked to identify any issues and to consider any actions they 
wished to take.  

Members appreciated that the Authority was not fully compliant at this stage but 
didn’t feel there were any major issues that would impact the public.  Some concern 
was raised over the portal, it was suggested that it would be better for more 
businesses to bid, especially those smaller more local businesses.  The committee 
questioned the contract software and asked for further clarification, the Director of 
Strategy & Challenge agreed to circulate further information. 

It was suggested that contracts over a certain amount should have to bid via the 
portal and should be open for public scrutiny.  Members were advised that contracts 
were for goods and services and to change the council’s approach and publish the 
estimated 3,000 plus contracts let per annum, would require a significant injection 
of resources, calculated to be in the region of £750K.  

Some members raised concern over the amount and questioned the technology 
being used, it was suggested that perhaps the system being used should be 
challenged.   The Committee were advised that it was not just a question of the 
uploading costs, other costs involved included storage, legal, finance, etc.  

Resolved 

That the report be noted and there were no recommendations to Council.  

10. EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 

THAT in accordance with Section 100 A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972 the 
public be excluded from the meeting for the business specified in minute 12 
because it is likely that if members of the public were present there would be 
disclosure to them of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1 of 
Schedule 12 A to the Act and the public interest in withholding the information 
outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information to the public.

11. MANAGEMENT UPDATE 

The Committee received and discussed the report in detail.  It was explained that 
this area would be discussed in detail by the Children & Families Scrutiny 
Committee at its March meeting.  

The Committee agreed to receive an update at its April meeting.  

Resolved 

Page 7



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 8 -

That the report be noted.

CHAIRPERSON

Meeting concluded at 11.37 am

Page 8



Audit & Governance Committee – 25th January 2019

Topic Action Responsibility Progress
1 Grant Thornton 

Progress Report 
the link to Grant Thornton public sector 
publications be included in Members Matter for 
information

Andrea Griffiths Completed

2 OPEN CONTRACTING 
AND TRANSPARENCY

The committee questioned the contract software 
and asked for further clarification, the Director of 
Strategy & Challenge agreed to circulate further 
information.  

Jane Burns It is officers’ opinion that most 
contractors would see the 
information covered by the 
legislation as confidential and 
hence we would have to use the 
exemptions under the relevant 
legislation. This would require 
additional resource as applying the 
exemptions, editing and uploading 
documents, and making the case is 
highly skilled and labour intensive, 
requiring knowledge of both the 
contract and the legislation. In 
addition user guides would have to 
be written for the larger contracts. 
One can argue about the average 
time taken to do a single contract 
but even at an optimistic 5 days per 
contract we are looking at 10 
people at say an average salary of 
£50K plus overheads and legal 
support then an estimated cost of 
£750K per annum would not be 
unreasonable. 

P
age 9



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Audit Progress Report and Sector Update

Gloucestershire County Council and Pension Fund

Year ending 31 March 2019

April 2019

P
age 11

A
genda Item

 4



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | March 2019

Contents

Section Page

Introduction 3

Progress at April 2019 4

Audit Deliverables 5

Sector Update 8

Links  12

Appendix 13

2

P
age 12



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | March 2019

This paper provides the Audit and Governance Committee with a report on 

progress in delivering our responsibilities as your external auditors. 

The paper also includes a summary of emerging national issues and developments that may be relevant to you as a 

local authority and pension fund.

Members of the Audit and Governance Committee can find further useful material on our website, where we have a 

section dedicated to our work in the public sector. Here you can download copies of our publications 

www.grantthornton.co.uk

If you would like further information on any items in this briefing, or would like to register with Grant Thornton to 

receive regular email updates on issues that are of interest to you, please contact either your Engagement Lead or 

Engagement Manager./

Introduction

3

Peter Barber

Engagement Lead

T 0117 305 7897

M 07880456122

E peter.a.barber@uk.gt.com

Katie Whybray

Engagement Manager

T 0117 305 7601

M 07854791260

E katie.v.whybray@uk.gt.com

PSAA Contract Monitoring 
The Council opted into the Public Sector Audit Appointments (PSAA) Appointing Person scheme which starts with the 2018/19 audit. PSAA appointed Grant Thornton as auditors. PSAA 

is responsible under the Local Audit (Appointing Person) Regulations 2015 for monitoring compliance with the contract and is committed to ensuring good quality audit services are 

provided by its suppliers. Details of PSAA’s audit quality monitoring arrangements are available from its website, www.psaa.co.uk.

Our contract with PSAA contains a method statement which sets out the firm’s commitment to deliver quality audit services, our audit approach and what clients can expect from us. We 

have set out commitment to deliver a high quality audit service in the document at Page 13. We hope this is helpful. It will also be a benchmark for you to provide feedback on our 

performance to PSAA via its survey in Autumn 2019.

P
age 13

http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/
http://www.psaa.co.uk/


© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | March 2019

Progress at April 2019

4

Other areas

Meetings

We met with Finance Officers in April as part of our quarterly 

liaison meetings and continue to be in discussions with finance 

staff regarding emerging developments and to ensure the audit 

process is smooth and effective. 

Events

We provide a range of workshops, along with network events for 

members and publications to support the Council. Your officers 

attended our Financial Reporting Workshop in February, which 

helps to ensure that members of your Finance Team are up to date 

with the latest financial reporting requirements for local authority 

accounts.

Objection 

At the last Audit and Governance Committee we provided an 

update on the progress in dealing with the objection made to the 

Council’s 2016/17 accounts in relation to the Council’s waste 

disposal PFI contract with UBB.

At the same meeting we provided a verbal update highlighting that 

we had been made aware of the legal action being taken against 

the council in respect to procurement law.

In light of this development we have now decided that it would be 

appropriate to put the objection on hold for now. 

We have issued you with a interim invoice for the work undertaken 

on the objection to date. As at 31 January 2019 a total of £32,861 

has been incurred of which £13,891 relates to our costs with the 

remaining £18,970 representing our legal costs. 

Financial Statements Audit

We have completed our planning for the 2018/19 

financial statements audit and have issued a detailed 

audit plan for both the Council and the Pension Fund 

setting out our proposed approach to the audit of the 

2018/19 financial statements.

We commenced our interim audit in January 2019. 

Our interim fieldwork included:

• Updated review of the Council’s control 

environment

• Updated understanding of financial systems

• Review of Internal Audit reports on core financial 

systems

• Early work on emerging accounting issues

• Early substantive testing

Our detailed findings from our interim work are set 

out on page 6. In summary, there are no issues that 

we need to bring to the Committee’s attention from 

the work we have completed to date. 

The statutory deadline for the issue of the 2018/19 

opinion is 31 July 2019. We have discussed our plan 

and timetable with officers.

We will present our report at the July Audit and 

Governance Committee meeting and issue our audit 

opinions by the 31 July deadline.

Value for Money

The scope of our work is set out in the guidance issued 

by the National Audit Office. The Code requires auditors 

to satisfy themselves that; "the Council has made proper 

arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 

effectiveness in its use of resources".

The guidance confirmed the overall criterion as: "in all 

significant respects, the audited body had proper 

arrangements to ensure it took properly informed 

decisions and deployed resources to achieve planned 

and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local 

people".

The three sub criteria for assessment to be able to give a 

conclusion overall are:

•Informed decision making

•Sustainable resource deployment

•Working with partners and other third parties

Details of our initial risk assessment to determine our 

approach were included in our Council Audit Plan. We 

will report the findings from our work in the Audit Findings 

Report. 

P
age 14



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | March 2019

Audit Deliverables

5

2018/19 Deliverables Planned Date Status

Fee Letter for Council and Pension Fund 

Confirming audit fee for 2018/19.

April 2018 Complete

Council Accounts Audit Plan

We are required to issue a detailed accounts audit plan to the Audit and Governance Committee setting out our 

proposed approach in order to give an opinion on the Council’s 2018-19 financial statements.

January 2019 Complete

Pension Fund Audit Plan

We are required to issue a detailed accounts audit plan to the Audit and Governance Committee setting out our 

proposed approach in order to give an opinion on the Council’s 2018-19 financial statements.

January 2019 Complete

Interim Audit Findings (Council and Pension Fund)

We will report to you the findings from our interim audit and our initial value for money risk assessment within 

our Progress Report.

March 2019 Included in this report

Audit Findings Report (Council and Pension Fund)

The Audit Findings Report will be reported to the July Audit and Governance Committee.

July 2019 Not yet due

Auditors Report

This is the opinion on your financial statement, annual governance statement and value for money conclusion.

July 2019 Not yet due

Annual Audit Letter

This letter communicates the key issues arising from our work.

August 2019 Not yet due

Council and Pension Fund responsibilities
In our Audit Plans presented to the Audit and Governance Committee in January 2019 we have communicated our expectations around the Council and Pension Fund responsibilities for 

timely production of the draft accounts supported by appropriate working papers. Should delays be experienced in the provision of these requirements or should additional work be 

required on our part due to complex technical issues, new arrangements and delays in response to queries additional costs wil l be incurred.

Any additional fees are subject to approval by PSAA.

P
age 15



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | March 2019

Results of Interim Audit Work

6

The findings of our interim audit work, and the impact of our findings on the accounts audit approach, are summarised in the table below:

Work performed

Conclusions and 

recommendations

Entity level controls We have obtained an understanding of the overall control environment relevant to the 

preparation of the financial statements for both the Council and the Pension Fund, 

including:

• Communication and enforcement of integrity and ethical values

• Commitment to competence

• Participation by those charged with governance

• Management's philosophy and operating style

• Organisational structure

• Assignment of authority and responsibility

• Human resource policies and practices

Our work has identified no material weaknesses 

which are likely to adversely impact on the Council 

or Pension Fund financial statements.

Review of information 

technology controls

Our IT colleagues are currently finalising the IT audit at the Council We will report any findings from the IT audit as part 

of our audit findings report. 

Understanding of business 

processes and the design and 

implementation of controls 

We have gained an understanding of business processes which are significant to both 

the Council and Pension Fund. We have undertaken walkthrough tests of the Council 

and Pension Fund controls operating in areas where we consider that  there is a 

significant risk or where we will be relying on the operating effectiveness of controls .

Our work has not identified any issues which we wish to bring to your attention. Internal 

controls have been implemented by the Council and Pension Fund in accordance with 

our documented understanding. 

Our work has not identified any weaknesses which 

impact on our audit approach. 

Journal entry controls We have reviewed the Council and Pension Fund journal entry policies and procedures 
as part of determining our journal entry testing strategy and have not identified any 
material weaknesses which are likely to adversely impact on the Council or Pension 
Fund control environment or financial statements.

We have no significant issues to report at this stage. 

Early substantive testing We have undertaken early substantive testing in a number of areas within both the 
Council and Pension Fund. 

We have no significant issues to report at this stage. 

P
age 16



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | March 2019

Councils are tackling a continuing drive to 

achieve greater efficiency in the delivery of 

public services, whilst facing the challenges to 

address rising demand, ongoing budget 

pressures and social inequality.

Our sector update provides you with an up to date summary of emerging 

national issues and developments to support you. We cover areas which 

may have an impact on your organisation, the wider NHS and the public 

sector as a whole. Links are provided to the detailed report/briefing to 

allow you to delve further and find out more. 

Our public sector team at Grant Thornton also undertake research on 

service and technical issues. We will bring you the latest research 

publications in this update. We also include areas of potential interest to 

start conversations within the organisation and with audit committee 

members, as well as any accounting and regulatory updates. 

Sector Update

7

More information can be found on our dedicated public sector and local 

government sections on the Grant Thornton website by clicking on the logos 

below:

• Grant Thornton Publications

• Insights from local  government sector 

specialists

• Reports of interest

• Accounting and regulatory updates

Public Sector
Local 

government

P
age 17

http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/industries/public-sector/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/industries/public-sector/local-government/


© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | March 2019

National Audit Office – Planning for new homes

The National Audit Office (NAO) has recently published a 

report on Planning for new homes. This report is part of a 

series on housing in England, including Housing in England: 

overview (2017) and Homelessness (2017). The latest report 

focuses on the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 

Government’s (MHCLG’s) objective for housing in England to 

deliver a million homes by the end of 2020; half a million by 

the end of 2022; and to deliver 300,000 net additional homes 

a year on average. 

The report recognises that increasing the supply of new homes is a complex task and one of 

the measures MHCLG has introduced to help achieve the objective is reforming the planning 

system. The report notes that the planning system is fundamental to providing new homes 

and it assesses how effectively MHCLG supports the planning regime to provide the right 

homes in the right places through:

• supporting local authorities to produce plans for how the supply of new homes will meet 

need in their area;

• supporting local authorities and the Planning Inspectorate in having effective and 

sufficiently resourced planning processes and teams to deal with planning applications and 

appeals; and

• working effectively with local authorities, other government departments and developers to 

ensure infrastructure to support new homes is planned and funded.

The report finds that at present, the system is not providing value for money and that the 

supply of new homes has failed to meet demand. It notes that a number of factors have 

contributed to the planning system not working and some of these include: 

• the process of setting the need for new homes;

• the reductions in local authority capability;

• the under-performing Planning Inspectorate; and

• failures in the system to ensure adequate contributions for infrastructure.

The report recognises that MHCLG’s new National Planning Policy Framework is an 

important step, but it is too early to tell whether the changes it introduces will be effective. 

The report also makes a number of recommendations for MHCLG to implement alongside 

the framework to help the planning systems work more effectively.

The report concludes that the Department and government more widely need to take this 

much more seriously and bring about improvement if they are to meet their ambition of 

300,000 new homes per year by the mid-2020s.

The report is available on the NAO website:  

https://www.nao.org.uk/report/planning-for-new-homes/#

8

NAO Report

P
age 18

https://www.nao.org.uk/report/planning-for-new-homes/


© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | March 2019

National Audit Office – Pressures on children’s 
social care

The Local authorities in England have statutory responsibility 

for protecting the welfare of children and delivering children’s 

social care. In extreme cases they may use their statutory 

powers to place children in need on protection plans or even 

take them into care. Local authorities are also responsible for 

delivering non-statutory services for all children and young 

people, such as children’s centres. The Department for 

Education (the Department) provides statutory guidance on 

delivering these functions. It also has overall policy 

responsibility for children’s services, and has the strategic 

vision that all vulnerable children, no matter where they live, 

should have access to high-quality support by 2022.

The report sets out recent trends in pressures on children’s social care demand and activity 

and the response of both national and local government to these pressures. It also sets out 

analysis the NAO conducted about what is causing variations in children’s social care 

demand and activity between different local authorities. The report covers:

• the pressures on children’s social care;

• the response of national and local government to increasing demand for children’s social 

care; and

• NAO analysis of what is causing variations in demand for children’s social care between 

local authorities.

The report notes that, while the Department has put in place a programme of reform, it still 

does not fully understand what is driving demand for children’s social care or why there is 

such wide variation between local authorities in their children’s social care activity and costs. 

It has not yet done the work to tie together available sources of information and therefore 

lacks a well-informed pathway to achieve its goal. While the Department has recognised the 

need for this analysis, it will not complete the work until summer 2019. Even if its analysis is 

completed successfully it will be a tall order for the Department to achieve its goal within 

three years.

The report is available on the NAO website:  

https://www.nao.org.uk/report/pressures-on-childrens-social-care/

9

NAO Report

P
age 19

https://www.nao.org.uk/report/pressures-on-childrens-social-care/


© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | March 2019

CIPFA – Social Care risk tool

The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 

(CIPFA) and the Association of Directors of Adult Social 

Services’ (ADASS) have updated the Social Care Risk Tool; 

an advisory risk assessment tool  for discretionary use by 

councils with adult social care responsibility.

The tool’s objective is to help authorities assess whether unsustainable financial pressures 

might be faced by the adult social services department. It seeks to do this by assessing the 

extent to which various risk factors apply. This is the third version of the risk tool and it has 

been expanded to include new risks that have emerged since the previous version. In 

addition, a number of risks have been revised to make them clearer. 

The risk assessment adopts a survey format and covers the following areas: 

• savings;

• local pressures; and

• culture and relationships.

Each of the areas above includes a series of questions (or indicators), and authorities are 

required to assess whether the indicators are strongly present (score of 5); only present to 

some extent (scores 2 to 4); or not at all (score of 1). The total score helps to give an 

indication of where the authority lies. The maximum score is 195 (there are 39 questions 

altogether) which represents the highest risk possible. Some of the metrics (particularly 

those relating to unit costs) are more illustrative than prescriptive and local authorities may 

wish to adjust these to reflect their local circumstances.

To download the tool:

https://www.cipfa.org/cipfa-thinks/health/articles/social-care-risk-tool

10

CIPFA Social Care risk tool

P
age 20

https://www.cipfa.org/cipfa-thinks/health/articles/social-care-risk-tool


© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | March 2019

Grant Thornton

https://www.grantthornton.co.uk/

http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/industries/publicsector

National Audit Office

https://www.nao.org.uk/report/local-auditor-reporting-in-england-2018/

https://www.nao.org.uk/report/local-authority-governance-2/

https://www.nao.org.uk/report/planning-for-new-homes/#

https://www.nao.org.uk/report/pressures-on-childrens-social-care/

Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/728722/BRR_Pilots_19-20_Prospectus.pdf

Institute for Fiscal Studies

https://www.ifs.org.uk/uploads/publications/comms/R148.pdf

Public Sector Audit Appointments

https://www.psaa.co.uk/audit-quality/reports-on-the-results-of-auditors-work/

CIPFA

https://www.cipfa.org/cipfa-thinks/health/articles/social-care-risk-tool

11

Links

P
age 21

https://www.grantthornton.co.uk/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/industries/publicsector
https://www.nao.org.uk/report/local-auditor-reporting-in-england-2018/
https://www.nao.org.uk/report/local-authority-governance-2/
https://www.nao.org.uk/report/planning-for-new-homes/
https://www.nao.org.uk/report/pressures-on-childrens-social-care/
https://www.nao.org.uk/report/the-adult-social-care-workforce-in-england/
https://www.nao.org.uk/report/the-adult-social-care-workforce-in-england/
https://www.nao.org.uk/report/the-adult-social-care-workforce-in-england/
https://www.psaa.co.uk/audit-quality/reports-on-the-results-of-auditors-work/
https://www.nao.org.uk/report/the-adult-social-care-workforce-in-england/
https://www.nao.org.uk/report/the-adult-social-care-workforce-in-england/


© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | March 2019

Our connections
 We are well connected to MHCLG, the 

NAO and key local government networks

 We work with CIPFA, Think Tanks and 
legal firms to develop workshops and good 
practice

 We have a strong presence across all parts 
of local government including blue light 
services

 We provide thought leadership, seminars 
and training to support our clients and to 
provide solutions

Our people
 We have over 25 engagement leads 

accredited by ICAEW, and over 
250 public sector specialists

 We provide technical and personal 
development training

 We employ over 80 Public Sector trainee 
accountants

The Local Government economy 

Local authorities face unprecedented challenges including:

- Financial Sustainability – addressing funding gaps and balancing needs against resources

- Service Sustainability – Adult Social Care funding gaps and pressure on Education, Housing, 

Transport

- Transformation – new models of delivery, greater emphasis on partnerships, more focus on 

economic development

- Technology – cyber security and risk management

At a wider level, the political environment remains complex:

- The government continues its negotiation with the EU over Brexit, and future arrangements 

remain uncertain.

- We will consider your arrangements for managing and reporting your financial resources as part of 

our work in reaching our Value for Money conclusion.

- We will keep you informed of changes to the financial  reporting requirements for 2018/19 through 

on-going discussions and invitations to our technical update workshops.

New 
opportunities 
and challenges 
for your 
community

Our quality
 Our audit approach complies with the 

NAO's Code of Audit Practice, and 
International Standards on Auditing

 We are fully compliant with ethical 
standards

 Your audit team has passed all quality 
inspections including QAD and AQRT

Grant Thornton in Local 
Government

 We work closely with our clients to ensure that we understand their financial challenges, 

performance and future strategy.

 We deliver robust, pragmatic and timely financial statements and Value for Money audits

 We have an open, two way dialogue with clients that support improvements in arrangements and 

the audit process

 Feedback meetings tell us that our clients are pleased with the service we deliver. We are not 

complacent and will continue to improve further

 Our locally based, experienced teams have a commitment to both our clients and the wider public 

sector

 We are a Firm that specialises in Local Government, Health and Social Care, and Cross Sector 

working, with over 25 Key Audit Partners, the most public sector specialist Engagement Leads of 

any firm

 We have strong relationships with CIPFA, SOLCAE, the Society of Treasurers, the Association of 

Directors of Adult Social Care and others. 

 We propose a realistic fee, based on known local circumstances and requirements.

Our relationship 
with our clients–
why are we best 
placed?

 Early advice on technical accounting  issues, providing certainty of accounting treatments, future 

financial planning implications and resulting in draft statements that are 'right first time’

 Knowledge and expertise in all matters local government, including local objections and challenge, 

where we have an unrivalled depth of expertise. 

 Early engagement on issues, especially on ADMs, housing delivery changes, Children services 

and Adult Social Care restructuring, partnership working with the NHS, inter authority agreements, 

governance and financial reporting

 Robust but pragmatic challenge – seeking early liaison on issues, and having the difficult 

conversations early to ensure a 'no surprises' approach – always doing the right thing

 Providing regional training and networking opportunities for your teams on technical accounting 

issues and developments and changes to Annual Reporting requirements

 An efficient audit approach, providing  tangible benefits, such as releasing finance staff earlier and 

prompt resolution of issues.

Delivering real 
value through:

Our client base 
and delivery

We are the largest supplier of external audit 

services to local government

We audit over 150 local government clients

We signed 95% of  our local government 

opinions in 2017/18 by 31 July

Clients value our strong interaction, our local 

knowledge and wealth of expertise.

Our technical 
support
 We have specialist leads for Public Sector 

Audit quality and technical

 We provide national technical guidance on 
emerging auditing, financial reporting and 
ethical areas

 Specialist audit software is used to deliver 
maximum efficiencies

“I have found Grant Thornton to be very 

impressive…..they  bring a real 

understanding of the area. Their 

insights and support are excellent. 

They are responsive, pragmatic and, 

through their relationship and the 

quality of their work, support us in 

moving forward through increasingly 

challenging times. I wouldn't hesitate to 

work with them."

Director of Finance, County Council 

Our commitment to our local government 

clients

• Senior level investment

• Local presence enhancing our 

responsiveness, agility and flexibility.

• High quality audit delivery

• Collaborative working across the 

public sector

• Wider connections across the public 

sector economy, including with health 

and other local government bodies

• Investment in Health and Wellbeing, 

Social Value and the Vibrant Economy 

• Sharing of best practice and our 

thought leadership.

• Invitations to training events locally 

and regionally – bespoke training for 

emerging issues

• Further investment in data analytics 

and informatics to keep our knowledge 

of the areas up to date and to assist in 

designing a fully tailored audit 

approach

12

P
age 22



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Confidential and information only.

‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients and/or refers to one or more member firms, 

as the context requires. Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL).GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each 

member firm is a separate legal entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not 

obligate, one another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. This proposal is made by Grant Thornton UK LLP and is in all respects subject to the negotiation, agreement 

and signing of a specific contract/letter of engagement. The client names quoted within this proposal are disclosed on a confidential basis. All information in this proposal is released strictly 

for the purpose of this process and must not be disclosed to any other parties without express consent from Grant Thornton UK LLP. 

grantthornton.co.uk

P
age 23



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Auditing Standards – Communication with the 

Audit and Governance Committee 

Gloucestershire County Council & Gloucestershire Pension Fund 
Audit year ending 31 March 2019 
 

 

 

Introduction 2 

Fraud Risk Assessment 3 

Law and Regulation 8 

Going Concern  10 

Related Parties 12 

Accounting Estimates 14  
 

 
 

Contents 

Page 25



 

© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 2 

 

 

 

 

The purpose of this report is to ensure there is effective two-way communication between 
the Council's Audit and Governance Committee, who are 'those charged with governance' 
and the external auditor. 

As your external auditors for both the Council and the Pension Fund we have a 
responsibility under professional auditing standards to ensure there is effective 
communication with the Audit and Governance Committee. This means developing a 
good working relationship with Committee members, while maintaining our independence 
and objectivity. If this relationship works well it helps us obtain information relevant to our 
audit and helps Audit and Governance Committee members to fulfil their financial 
reporting responsibilities. The overall outcome is to reduce the risk of material 
misstatement. 

In planning and performing our audit of the Council's and the Pension Fund's financial 
statements we need to understand how the Audit and Governance Committee, supported 
by the Council's management, meets its responsibilities in the following areas. 

• Fraud 

• Law and regulation 

• Going Concern 

• Related parties 

• Accounting for estimates 

• Other risk areas for consideration 
 

This report summarises the Audit and Governance Committee, management's and the 
external auditor's responsibilities in each of these areas, as explained in the International 
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) (ISAs).  Our primary responsibility is to consider 
the risk of material misstatement. 

Each section of the report includes a series of questions that management have 
responded to. Responses cover arrangements for both the Council and Pension Fund.  

We would like to ask the Audit and Governance Committee to consider these responses 
and confirm that it is satisfied with the arrangements in place. 

Introduction 

Page 26



 

© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 3 

 

 

 

 

The ISAs define fraud as: 

"An intentional act by one or more individuals among management, those charged with 
governance, employees, or third parties, involving the use of deception to obtain an unjust 
or illegal advantage." 

[ISA (UK&I) 240, paragraph 11] 

The primary responsibility to prevent and detect fraud is with the Audit and Governance 
Committee and the Council's management. To do this: 

• officers need to ensure there is a strong emphasis on fraud prevention and deterrence, 
with a commitment to honest and ethical behaviour; and 

• the Audit and Governance Committee oversight needs to include the consideration of 
the potential for the override of controls and inappropriate influence over the financial 
reporting process. 
 

As your auditors our overall responsibility is for obtaining reasonable assurance that the 
Council's financial statements are free from material misstatement due to either fraud or 
error. We are required to maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit, which 
means considering the potential for the intentional manipulation of the financial 
statements. 

We are also required to carry out a fraud risk assessment to inform our audit approach.  
This includes considering the following: 

• how management assesses the risk of material misstatement in the financial 
statements due to fraud 

• officers' response to assessed fraud risk, including any identified specific risks 

• investigations into data matches identified through the National Fraud Initiative and 
subsequent outcomes 

• how officers communicate the processes for assessing and responding to fraud risk to 
the Audit and Governance Committee 

• how officers communicate its views on ethical behaviour to the Audit and Governance 
Committee 

• how the Audit and Governance Committee exercises oversight of officers' fraud risk 
assessment and response processes and the internal controls to mitigate these risks 

• what knowledge the Audit and Governance Committee has of actual, alleged or 
suspected fraud. 

 

 

 

 

 

Fraud Risk Assessment 

Page 27



 

© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 4 

 

Table 1 below sets out how officers have responded to our fraud risk assessment. 

. 

 

Table 1: Fraud Risk Assessment 

 

Question Management response 

How would you assess the council/pension fund's 
arrangements for identifying and responding to the 
risk of fraud? What has been the outcome of these 
arrangements so far this year? 

GCC- Governance / Risk / Control 
Frameworks are in place (in accordance 
with national guidance) to enable the 
identification and response to the risk of 
fraud. 
 
Anti Fraud and Corruption Strategy, Anti 
Bribery Policy, Money Laundering 
Policies all in place.   
 
Corporate Risk Management Policy 
Statement and Strategy and associated 
toolkits and guidance clearly states 
financial and fraud risks are key 
categories of risk to be considered when 
delivering outcomes. 
 
Refreshed and reinvigorated 
whistleblowing policy in place. 
 
The Counter Fraud Team within Internal 
Audit has received 14 new referrals in 
2018/19, to date, and also continued to 
work on 14 cases from previous years. 
The service areas of the cases referred 
to Internal Audit within 2018/19 to date 
are categorised as follows: Adults (3); 
Children and Families (6); Council Wide 
(1); Communities and Infrastructure (1); 
and Core (3).  
 
All referrals to IA within 2018/19 are 
being / have been reviewed and/or 
investigated. 
 
Monthly updates on fraud/irregularities 
provided by Internal Audit to the three 
Statutory Officers: Head of Paid 
Service, Chief Financial Officer and 
Monitoring Officer. 
 

Internal Audit provide quarterly update 
reports highlighting key fraud / 
irregularity outcomes to Audit and 
Governance Committee. 
 
 

Page 28



 

© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 5 

Question Management response 

Quarterly corporate performance reports 
to Cabinet bring together monitoring 
information on performance, finance 
and risk for the authority. 
 
Council is a member (via Internal Audit) 
of National Anti Fraud Network (NAFN). 
The Council is regularly notified of fraud 
attempts aimed at other members and 
subsequently the appropriate service 
areas are made aware of these fraud 
risks, such as the Business Service 
Centre, Strategic Finance and schools 
via Schoolsnet, What’s Up Gov or 
Heads Up newsletters. 
 
Chief Internal Auditor / Internal Audit is 
a member of peer groups such as 
Midland Counties and Districts Chief 
Auditors Fraud Group and Local 
Authority Chief Internal Auditors Group 
to share good practice, benchmarking 
etc. 
 
Participants in the Cabinet Office 
National Fraud initiative (NFI). 
 
Dedicated Counter Fraud specialists 
within Internal Audit (professionally 
qualified). 
 
Pension Fund -Robust control systems 
are in place to prevent fraud. No frauds 
identified in recent years. 
 

What have you determined to be the classes of 
accounts, transactions and disclosures most at risk 
to fraud? 

Fraud risk assessment – Inherent risks 
identified include payroll, procurement, 
contracting, treasury management, 
pension payments, access to cash and 
third party payments. 
 
Risks identified within Direct Payments. 
This area has been reviewed by Adults, 
Children, and Internal Audit.  
 
Areas of risks where previous fraud / 
irregularity identified are included within 
the annual Internal Audit plans to review 
the effectiveness of the financial control 
environment.  
  

Financial risk mitigated via good internal 
financial controls/ annual internal audit 
review of key financial systems (based 
on risk). 

Page 29



 

© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 6 

Question Management response 

 

Insurance – Fidelity Guarantee policy 
which provides fraud cover for all GCC 
employees plus additional cover for 
those employees deemed to be a high 
risk to the council from a financial 
perspective. 
 
Pension Fund -Altair System, Pensions 
Payroll, Investment scams. 
 

As a management team, how do you 
communicate risk issues (including fraud) to those 
charged with governance? 

The Head of Paid Service, Monitoring 
Officer and Chief Financial Officer are 
made aware and fully briefed by Internal 
Audit on all such activity. 
 
Quarterly update reports highlighting 
key fraud / irregularity outcomes to Audit 
and Governance Committee. 
 
Quarterly update performance, financial 
and strategic risk reports to Cabinet. 
 
Risks considered as part of the Cabinet 
Decision Making protocols. 
 
Annual Governance Statement, the 
revised Local Code of Corporate 
Governance (which includes a self-
assessment against the 7 key principles 
of good governance, one specifically 
relating to risk management) plus the 
assurance statement framework / 
process, Annual Report on Internal 
Audit activity and the Annual Report on 
Risk Management Activity.  

The above includes assurances on 
good governance from Service Heads, 
Lead Commissioners as well as 
Directors, Lead Cabinet Member review 
and Head of Paid Service, Monitoring 
Officer, Chief Financial Officer and 
Corporate Management Team (CoMT) 
oversight and challenge. 

The Pension Fund maintains and 
reviews its Risk Register on an ongoing 
basis and presents it at every quarterly 
meeting of the Pension Committee. The 
risk register is also reviewed by the 
Pension Board every six months. Risks 
are communicated broadly under four 
headings; Financial, 
Funding/Demography, Administration 

Page 30



 

© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 7 

Question Management response 

and Governance. Risks are categorised 
through consideration of likelihood and 
impact and a summary of changes 
during the period since the last review 
are always highlighted to the 
Committee’s attention. See risk register 
attached. 
 

As a management team, how do you communicate 
to staff and employees your views on business 
practices and ethical behaviour? 

The whistle blowing policy and 
Employee Code of Conduct is owned by 
the Monitoring Officer. 

 

Rolled out an e-learning package to all 
staff about whistleblowing. 

 

Asked specific questions regarding 
Whistleblowing in the annual staff 
survey, which showed increased 
awareness. 

 

Sections of the Code continued to be 
highlighted to staff within 2018/19 by a 
global email with a link to an article 
within the newsletter, ’Talk Smart’.  
 

In addition, the AGS assurance 
gathering process requests 
management assurances that staff are 
aware of the required ethical conduct 
behaviours. 
 

All potential concerns re 
fraud/irregularities are required to be 
notified under the Council’s confidential 
reporting procedure ‘Whistleblowing’ 
 

The Head of Paid Service, Monitoring 
Officer and Chief Financial Officer are 
made aware and fully briefed on all such 
activity. 
 

Are you aware of allegations of fraud, errors, or 
other irregularities during the period? 

Yes. All such allegations are 
investigated by Internal Audit and 
reported to the three Statutory Officers: 
Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer 
and Chief Financial Officer and key 
outcomes reported to the Audit and 
Governance Committee. 
 
Pension Fund - No 

  

Page 31



 

© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 8 

 

 

 

 

Auditing standards (ISA 250) require us to consider the impact that law and regulation and 
litigation may have on the Council's financial statements.  The factors that may result in 
particular risks of material misstatement due to fraud or error are: 

• the operational regulatory framework - this covers the legislation that governs the 
operations of the Council 

• the financial reporting framework - according to the requirements of International 
Financial Reporting Standards, the Code of Accounting for Local Authorities in 
England and relevant Directions 

• taxation considerations - for example compliance with Value Added Tax and Income 
Tax regulations 

• government policies that otherwise impact on the Council's business 

• other external factors 

• litigation and claims against the Council. 
 

Where we become aware of information about a possible instance of non-compliance we 
need to gain an understanding of it to evaluate the possible effect on the financial 
statements. 

The Auditing Standards (ISAs) also require us to make enquiries of management and the 
Audit and Governance Committee about the arrangements in place to comply with law 
and regulation. To help with this, management have responded to the following questions. 

Table 2:  Law and Regulation 

 

Question Management response 

Are you aware of any instances of non-
compliance with laws or regulations or is the 
council/pension fund on notice of any such 
possible instances of non-compliance? 

A legal challenge has been lodged 
against the Council on the 
procurement process followed for the 
Energy from Waste Contract. 
 
Pension Fund - No 

Are you aware of possible litigation and/ or  
claims which may give rise to a risk of material 
misstatement? 

The Council does have negligence / 
liability claims, however, Insurance 
Services commission an actuarial 
review of the Council’s reserves and 
provisions based on the Council’s 
risk profile (as a minimum triennially).  
 
However, this may be carried out 
more frequently if the Council’s risk 
profile alters significantly which in 
turn influences the level of funds 
required to pay claims. 
 
 

Law and Regulation 

Page 32



 

© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 9 

Question Management response 

 
 
The council’s insurance programme 
is based on the Council’s risk profile 
and reviewed and updated 
accordingly with MARSH, our 
insurance brokers annually. 
 
 

What are your policies and procedures for 
identifying, assessing and accounting for 
litigation and claims? 

All insurance claims that are received 
are recorded on the claims 
management / recording system 
(Figtree) and estimates held on each 
using all of the available information. 

Liability claims are handled externally 
by insurers who provide us with the 
estimate that they consider 
appropriate. Any cases that are 
litigated are then taken on by 
external solicitors who review the 
case, which would include the level 
of the estimate being held. Any 
payments made are recorded on the 
same claims recording system and 
paid via the council’s SAP financial 
management system. 

Pension Fund- Likelihood of success 
v cost 
 

Page 33



 

© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 10 

 

 

 

 

Going concern is a fundamental principle in the preparation of financial statements.  
Under the going concern assumption, a council is viewed as continuing in operation for 
the foreseeable future with no necessity of liquidation or ceasing trading.  Accordingly, a 
councils assets and liabilities are recorded on the basis that assets will be realised and 
liabilities discharged in the normal course of business.  A key consideration of going 
concern is that the Council has the cash resources and reserves to meet its obligations as 
they fall due in the foreseeable future. 

The Auditing Standards (ISAs) also require us to make enquiries of management and the 
Audit and Governance Committee about the going concern assumption. To help with this, 
management have responded to the following questions. 

Table 3 – Going concern 

 

Question 

Management response 

Has the management team carried out an 
assessment of the going concern basis for 
preparing the financial statements? What was 
the outcome of that assessment? 

The Council’s MTFS covers 
the three years 2019/20 to 
2021/22.  An integral part of 
the Council’s MTFS and 
budget approval framework is 
to consider the Council’s 
financial strategy, financial 
assumptions, and financial 
risks. 
 
The Strategic Finance 
Director’s advice is that the 
reserve levels are adequate, 
the financial standing of the 
Council is sound, and the 
2019/20 budget is robust and 
achievable. 
 
Regular budget monitoring 
reports are reported to 
Cabinet and Scrutiny. 
 
Detailed cash flow monitoring 
is undertaken within Finance. 
Aged debt reports are 
produced and circulated to 
appropriate staff for action. 
 
 
 
 

Going concern 

Page 34



 

© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 11 

 

Question 

Management response 

Management commission an 
actuarial valuation on behalf 
of the Pension Fund every 
three years which includes a 
review of employer 
contributions. This review will 
determine the 
appropriateness of the 
funding level ensuring that we 
can continue to operate on a 
going concern basis.   
 
The outcome determined that, 
in accordance with the 
Funding Strategy Statement, 
the assumptions applied by 
the actuary were appropriate 
in determining the level of 
employer contributions on 
behalf of the Fund. The next 
three yearly review is due to 
take place during 2019/20 
with rates becoming effective 
from April 2020. 

Management is required to consider whether 
there are any material uncertainties that cast 
doubt on the council/pension fund's ability to 
continue as a business. What is the process for 
undertaking a rigorous assessment of going 
concern? Is the process carried out 
proportionate in nature and depth to the level of 
financial risk and complexity of the organisation 
and its operations? How will you ensure that all 
available information is considered when 
concluding the organisation is a going concern 
at the date the financial statements are 
approved 

An integral part of the 
Council’s MTFS and budget 
approval framework is to 
consider the Council’s 
financial strategy, financial 
assumptions, and financial 
risks. 
 
Robust budget monitoring and 
outturn forecasts are regularly 
undertaken throughout the 
year and reported to Cabinet 
and Scrutiny. 
 
The MTFS and budget 
framework provides the 
Strategic Finance Director 
with the assurance that 
reserve levels are adequate; 
and the financial standing of 
the Council is sound, with a 
budget that is robust and 
achievable.   
 
 
Fund assets monitored in 
detail on a quarterly basis. 
Strong system for monitoring 
the receipt of contributions. 

Page 35



 

© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 12 

 

 

 

 

For local government bodies, the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the 
United Kingdom (the Code) requires compliance with IAS 24: Related party disclosures. 
The Code identifies the following as related parties to local government bodies: 

• entities that directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, control, or are 
controlled by the Council (i.e. subsidiaries) 

• associates and joint ventures 

• an entity that has an interest in the Council that gives it significant influence over the 
Council 

• key officers, and close members of the family of key officers 

• post-employment benefit plan (pension fund) for the benefit of employees of the 
Council, or of any entity that is a related party of the Council. 
 

The Code notes that, in considering materiality, regard should be had to the definition of 
materiality, which requires materiality to be judged from the viewpoint of both the Council 
and the related party. 

Accounting standards (ISA 550) requires us to review your procedures for identifying 
related party transactions and obtaining an understanding of the controls that you have 
established to identify such transactions. We will carry out testing to ensure that the 
related party transaction disclosures made in the financial statements are complete and 
accurate. 

Table 4: Related Parties 

 

Question Management response 

  Who are the Council's and Pension Fund's 
related parties? Highlight any changes from 
the prior period 

GCC’s Related Parties include 
County Council Members and 
Senior Officers. GFirst, Police, 
Health Bodies where joint 
working arrangements exist. 
Amey Highways Contractor and 
Waste Contractor 
 
Pension Fund officers advising 
the Pension Committee have 
post employment benefits in the 
Fund. 
 
Each member of the Pension 
Committee are District Council 
members who are required to 
disclose their interests at the 
start of each quarterly meeting. 
 
 

Related Parties 

Page 36



 

© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 13 

Question Management response 

Please provide a summary of the nature of 
the relationships between the entity and 
these related parties 

GCC – None known 
Pension Fund - None known 

Has the entity entered into any transactions 
with these related parties during the 2018/19 
period, if so, what was the type and purpose 
of the transaction(s)? 

GCC – None known 
Pensions Fund - None known 

   

Page 37



 

© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 14 

 

 

 

 

Local Government bodies need to apply appropriate estimates in the preparation of their 
financial statements. ISA (UK&I) 540 sets out requirements for auditing accounting 
estimates. The objective is to gain evidence that the accounting estimates are reasonable 
and the related disclosures are adequate. 

Under this standard we have to identify and assess the risks of material misstatement for 
accounting estimates by understanding how the Council identifies the transactions, events 
and conditions that may give rise to the need for an accounting estimate. 

Accounting estimates are used when it is not possible to measure precisely a figure in the 
accounts. We need to be aware of all estimates that the Council are using as part of their 
accounts preparation; these are detailed in Appendix 1 to this report. 

The audit procedures we conduct on the accounting estimate will demonstrate that: 

• the estimate is reasonable; and 

• estimates have been calculated consistently with other accounting estimates within the 
financial statements. 

 

Table 5: Accounting Estimates 

 

Question Management response 

What do you regard as the key events or issues 
that will have a significant impact on the financial 
statements for 2018/19? Have you considered 
the appropriateness of the accounting policies 
adopted by the council/pension fund? Have there 
been any events or transactions that may cause 
you to change or adopt new accounting policies 

The 2018/19 financial 
statements will be prepared in 
accordance with the Accounting 
Code of Practice. 
Accounting policies have been 
reviewed and no significant 
updates for the accounts are 
expected 
 
 
Pension Fund - Brunel Pension 
Partnership. A technical 
accounting finance sub group 
has been established by the 
Funds in the BPP to consider the 
accounting issues. 
 
 
 

  

Are you aware of any transactions, events and 
conditions (or changes in these) that may give 
rise to recognition or disclosure of significant 
accounting estimates that require significant 

The basis of accounting 
treatments and judgements will 
be clearly identified within the 
accounts. 

Accounting Estimates 

Page 38



 

© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 15 

Question Management response 

judgement? The continuing and expanding 
relationships with NHS 
organisations may lead to 
revised year-end arrangements 
and the need for accounting 
estimates 
Pension Fund - No 

Where the financial statements include amounts 
based on significant estimates, how have the 
accounting estimates been made, what is the 
nature of the data used, and the degree of 
estimate uncertainty inherent in the estimate? 

The basis of accounting 
treatments and judgements will 
be clearly identified within the 
accounts. 
Pension Fund - No major 
estimates 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 www.grant-thornton.co.uk 

 © 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 
 

"Grant Thornton" means Grant Thornton UK LLP, a limited liability partnership. 
 

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm within Grant Thornton International Ltd ('Grant Thornton 
International'). Grant Thornton International and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership.  
Services are delivered by the member firms independently. 
 

This publication has been prepared only as a guide. No responsibility can be accepted by us for loss 
occasioned to any person acting or refraining from acting as a result of  any material in this publication. 

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 41

Agenda Item 5



Page 42



Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



Audit and Governance Committee

Date: 25th April 2019 Agenda No:

Title of Report: Internal Audit’s Risk and Control Assurance framework
Internal Audit Plan 2019/2020

Purpose of Report: To provide the Committee with a summary of the proposed 2019/2020 
Risk Based Internal Audit Plan as required by the Accounts and Audit 
Regulations 2015 and the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards 
(PSIAS) 2017.

Recommendations: That the Committee:

 Notes that the Internal Audit Plan for 2019/20 makes adequate 
provision for the risks arising from organisational change; and

 Approve the 2019/2020 Internal Audit Plan. 

Officer (s) Contact: Theresa Mortimer – Head of Audit Risk Assurance Shared Service and 
Gloucestershire County Council’s Insurance Services. Tel: 01452 
328883
theresa.mortimer@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Paul Blacker – Acting Director – Financial Services 
Tel no: 01452 328999
paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Key Risks Failure to deliver an effective Risk Based Internal Audit Plan (Risk and 
Control Assurance Programme) will impact on the statutory 
requirement to provide the Council with an annual independent audit 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Council’s control environment 
comprising risk management, control and governance.

Page 45

Agenda Item 6

mailto:theresa.mortimer@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
 

 

  

 

Internal Audit Plan 
2019 - 2020 

Page 47



Internal Audit Plan 2019-2020 
 

1  

 

Background  

All local authorities must make proper provision for internal audit in line with the 1972 Local 

Government Act (S151) and the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015. The latter states that 

a relevant authority “must undertake an effective internal audit to evaluate the effectiveness 

of its risk management, control and governance processes, taking into account public sector 

internal auditing standards or guidance”. 

The guidance accompanying the Regulations recognises that the Public Sector Internal 

Audit Standards (PSIAS) 2017 as representing “proper internal audit practices”. The 

standards define the way in which the Internal Audit Service should be established and 

undertake its functions. 

The standards also require that an opinion is given on the overall adequacy and 

effectiveness of the Council’s control environment comprising risk management, control and 

governance, which is informed by the work undertaken by the Service. 

Gloucestershire County Council’s Internal Audit function conforms to the International 

Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing. 

What is Internal Auditing? 

The role of the internal auditor is to provide independent, objective assurance to 

management that key risks are being managed effectively. To do this, the internal auditor 

will evaluate the quality of risk management processes, systems of internal control and 

corporate governance frameworks, across all parts of an organisation, and to provide an 

opinion on the effectiveness of these arrangements.  

 

As well as providing assurance, an internal auditor’s knowledge of the management of risk 

enables them to act as a consultant and provide support for improvement in an 

organisation's procedures. For example, at the development stage of a major new system 

where the internal auditor can help management to ensure that risks are clearly identified 

and appropriate controls put in place to manage them.  

Why is assurance important?  

By reporting to senior management that important risks have been evaluated, and 

highlighting where improvements are necessary, the internal auditor helps senior 

management to demonstrate that they are managing the organisation effectively on behalf 

of their stakeholders. Hence, internal auditors, along with senior management and the 

external auditors are a critical part of the governance arrangements of our organisation, our 

work significantly contributing to the statutory Annual Governance Statement (AGS).  

Development of the 2019/2020 Internal Audit Plan 

To enable the above, the Chief Internal Auditor is required to produce an Annual Risk 

Based Internal Audit Plan to determine the priorities of the internal audit activity.  

Page 48



Internal Audit Plan 2019-2020 
 

2  

 

The proposed activity should be consistent with the organisation’s priorities and objectives 

and taking into account the organisation’s risk management framework, including risk 

appetite levels set by management and internal audit’s own judgement of risks.  

 

How did we develop the plan? - Risk Based Internal Audit Planning (RBIAP) 
 
To ensure our internal audit resources continue to be focussed accordingly, it is essential 

that we understand our clients’ needs, which means building relationships with our key 

stakeholders, including other assurance providers, in order to gain crucial insight and 

ongoing ‘intelligence’ into the strategic and operational change agendas within our 

organisation.  

 

This insight is not only identified at the initial development stages of the plan but dialogue 

continues throughout the financial year(s) which increases the ability for the internal audit 

service to adapt more closely to meet the assurance needs of the Council, particularly 

during periods of significant change. Our plan therefore needs to be dynamic and should be 

flexible to meet these needs.  

How did we achieve the above? 

To ensure that an effective plan is developed, each Principal Auditor has been nominated 

as the ‘Client’s Lead Auditor’ supporting at least one of the Directors.  A wide ranging 

consultation process took place with senior management across the Council to establish 

priorities and agree the format and timetabling of ongoing dialogue. This ongoing dialogue 

between senior management and the ‘Client Lead’ Auditor is formulated dependent upon 

the change agenda in the area, but is at least quarterly.  

 

In addition to these senior management meetings, similar consultation was held with the 

Chairman of the Audit and Governance Committee, External Auditors and the Finance 

Managers. The proposed activity from all sources was collated and matched against the 

internal audit resources available and prioritised, based on risk, accordingly. The proposals, 

following challenge, have been approved by the Corporate Management Team (CoMT) and 

the Acting Director – Financial Services.   

A flexible audit plan - Risk and Control Assurance Programme 

The audit plan is stated in terms of estimated productive days input to the Council of 1825 

audit days. This represents 70% of the available capacity and is reflected in the audit 

activity listed on pages 6 – 45. Management / overhead activity represents 30% of the 

available capacity and is reflected in the activity listed on pages 46-48.  

The number of available productive audit days has increased by 200 from last year (1625). 

This enables a significant increase in audit exposure within Local Authority Maintained 

schools.  The 2018/2019 audit plan allocated 29 days (out of 1625 days) (representing 1.8% 

of the total audit plan)) to audit maintained schools. To put into context there are 208 

maintained schools. 

Page 49



Internal Audit Plan 2019-2020 
 

3  

 

Please be advised that we do not at this stage provide an Internal Audit service to 

Academies. 

Due to the internal audit resource capacity and the requirement under the Public Sector 

Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) to focus internal audit activity on the highest risks of the 

Council, the number of days spent on maintained schools has significantly reduced over the 

years. However, further to ARA discussions with the new Director of Childrens’ Services 

where it was raised that our audit activity within schools appeared low, ARA undertook a 

benchmarking exercise with other local authorities in July 2018, which identified that 

Gloucestershire County Council allocated 1.8% of the total internal audit plan days to pure 

school audits, with the average number of audit plan days allocated to schools being 7%. 

Based on the above, a growth bid was submitted by the Chief Internal Auditor which was 

accepted as part of the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) process. This has enabled 

the schools audit days to represent 7% of the plan which means that ARA is now able to 

allocate additional resource to auditing schools. This increase in days is now more in line 

with our peers and supports the Chief Financial Officer (S151) in providing the relevant 

formal assurances to the Education and Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) as required. 

By continuing to apply risk based internal audit planning principles, this level of input (with 

the ability to commission internal audit resources from current audit framework agreements 

as required) is considered acceptable to provide the assurance the Council needs. The 

Chief Internal Auditor will however, continue to reassess audit resources against the 

Council’s priorities and risks and will amend the plan throughout the year based on in year 

risk / need / demand, reporting any key changes to the Audit and Governance Committee.  

Overview of Internal Audit’s Risk and Control Assurance Programme 

In order to provide a high level overview of the proposed risk and control assurance 

programme, the charts below highlight the allocation of audit resources per: 

 Functional service area (clusters); and 

 Category of review. 

 

Page 50



Internal Audit Plan 2019-2020 
 

4  

 

 

 
 

Page 51



Internal Audit Plan 2019-2020 
 

5  

 

The key points to highlight within the proposals are: 

 There is a proportional split, based on risk, between each of the functional service 

areas to enable the provision of the Chief Internal Auditor’s annual audit opinion, 

however, due to the current control environment, more focus has been directed to 

children and families operating practices, Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service 

systems and processes, governance (including a review of the adequacy of a sample 

of the Annual Governance Statement Assurance Statements and Strategic Risk 

Register controls) and county wide compliance with key corporate policies and 

strategies; 

 Continued focus on ICT risks and counter fraud activity, which includes the use of 

Data Analytics to help support more efficient and effective internal audit practices; 

 Continued emphasis on providing assurance that the Council’s key strategic and 

operational risks are being effectively managed;  

 Undertaking follow up audits where a limited assurance opinion on the control 

environment was provided in 2018/2019 including GFRS reviews; and 

 Taking into consideration other assurance providers. 

 

The detail supporting this overview is attached at Appendix 1 which shows: 

 Audit activity per service area; 

 Name of the audit activity;  

 Reason of the audit i.e. as a result of RBIAP and link to the Council’s Strategic Risk 

Register, statutory requirements, limited assurance activity, grant certification, etc; 

 Outline scope of the review (please note that a detailed terms of reference is agreed 

with the client prior to the commencement of every audit to ensure audit activity is 

continually focused on the key risks and is undertaken within agreed time periods, to 

ensure our service adds value to the Council); and 

 The priority of the audit, i.e. priorities 1 and 2. Priority 1 reflects statutory 

requirements i.e. grant certification, a limited assurance follow-up review, activities 

that may have been subject to a previous investigation / irregularity, or as deemed 

necessary by the Chief Internal Auditor to enable an opinion on the control 

environment to be provided. Priority 2 activities are the remaining identified activities. 

The aim being that all priority 1 activities would be delivered within the year with the 

priority 2 audits being reassessed in the eventuality of any new emerging risk areas 

highlighted where assurances may be required, or where additional fraud 

investigations / irregularities materialise. 

Page 52



Internal Audit Plan 2019/20 Appendix 1 

 

 

6  

 
 

Council Wide 

Audit Reason for 

Audit 

Outline Scope Priority 

Annual 

Governance 

Statement 

(AGS) – 

Assurance 

Statements 

Testing 

Identified as part 

of Risk Based 

Internal Audit 

Planning (RBIAP) 

Strategic Risk 

Register (SRR) 

1.1 

The Council is required by the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 to prepare and 

publish an AGS, in order to report publicly on the extent to which they comply with 

their own Local Code of Corporate Governance. The AGS is signed off by the 

Council’s Leader, Chief Executive and Chief Financial Officer.   

 

This review will seek to determine the robustness of the governance, internal control 

and risk management arrangements as detailed within a sample of the Directors / 

Heads of Service / Lead Commissioners assurance statements. These statements 

underpin the declarations made within the AGS. 

Priority 1 

Business 

Continuity 

Management 

(BCM) 

Identified as part 

of RBIAP 

SRR 1.1 and 

10.1 

The Civil Contingencies Act 2004 requires all local authorities to have BCM 

arrangements in place, designed to ensure that as far as possible the local authority 

can continue to operate the critical elements of the service in the event of disruption 

such as power loss, flooded premises or high staff absence.  

 

The audit will evaluate the adequacy and effectiveness of the BCM arrangements 

within the Council, including prioritisation of services and systems and overarching 

corporate oversight and management. 

Priority 1 

P
age 53



Internal Audit Plan 2019/20 

 

7  

 

Audit Reason for 

Audit 

Outline Scope Priority 

Compliance 

with Cabinet 

Decision 

Making 

Protocols 

Identified as part 

of RBIAP  

SRR 1.1  

The GCC Constitution (through the Articles, Responsibility for Functions and 

Scheme of Delegation) sets out the criteria for decision making within the Council. 

This includes Article 6 relevant to the Cabinet. 

 

The audit will select a sample of Cabinet report decisions (ranging across the 

Council services and to include Property Services) and review the decision making 

process completed, to ensure compliance with the requirements of the GCC 

Constitution (e.g. key decision making processes and the scheme of delegation).  

    

Priority 1 

Disposal of 

Assets 

Identified as part 

of RBIAP 

SRR 2.2 

SRR 3.1 

 

The audit will review the effectiveness of the asset disposal governance 

arrangements, including the decision making processes for the disposal and / or 

transfer of GCC assets and taking into account the requirements of the Council’s 

Standing Orders, Financial Regulations, Accounting Instructions (e.g. AI5) and any 

other relevant disposal policies.  

 

Asset disposal categories include (but are not exclusive to) ICT, land, property and 

vehicle disposals. The audit will be delivered through a cyclical audit review 

programme.  

 

The 2019/20 review will consider the corporate disposal of vehicles procedures 

(excluding GFRS). 

Priority 1 

P
age 54



Internal Audit Plan 2019/20 

 

8  

 

Audit Reason for 

Audit 

Outline Scope Priority 

Sole Source 

Approvals 

Identified as part 

of RBIAP 

SRR1.1 

SRR 5.3 

 

The purchase of goods and services should comply with the Council’s Contract 

Standing Orders, Financial Regulations, Accounting Instructions, and the European 

Union (EU) procurement regulations to ensure value for money, fair competition and 

transparency. The Contract Standing Orders confirm that a direct award (sole source 

approval) should only be considered as a last resort when all other procurement 

strategies have been excluded, only in accordance with EU legislation, and under 

specific detailed circumstances. Further processes are in place for direct awards 

over £75,001. 

 

The audit will review decision making in relation to a sample of direct awards for 

contracts,  specifically looking at the pre-planning arrangements to ensure that the 

Contract Standing Order/other Council set criteria has been met and an appropriate 

timely direct award decision made. 

Priority 1 

Strategic Risk 

Register 

Controls 

Testing 

Identified as part 

of RBIAP 

SRR 

The Council currently maintains a Strategic Risk Register (SRR), with all strategic 

risks being owned by a corporate management team (CoMT) director.  

 

The audit will select a sample of 3 strategic risks from the GCC Strategic Risk 

Register and test the controls that management have stated are in place to manage 

the risks – i.e. to provide assurance that the selected strategic risks are being 

managed, reported and challenged appropriately. 

Priority 1 

 

  

P
age 55



Internal Audit Plan 2019/20 

 

9  

 

Core Council  

Business Service Centre (BSC) 

Audit Reason for 

Audit 

Outline Scope Priority 

Payroll – 

Duplicate Bank 

Accounts 

Identified as part 

of RBIAP 

SRR 2.2 

Payroll is a main area of expenditure for GCC.  

The average payroll spend for GCC (including Local Education Authority, cheque 

book and foundation schools) is £30 million per month.  

The audit will use data analytics to review GCC payroll at a point in time to identify 

staff who are being paid with 2 different bank accounts and bank accounts used by 

multiple employees and investigate the rationale for identified cases, to ensure 

payroll payments are appropriate.  

The review will consider the outcomes of the recent round of National Fraud Initiative 

data matches as part of the data analytics approach to be used. 

Priority 1 

P
age 56



Internal Audit Plan 2019/20 

 

10  

 

Audit Reason for 

Audit 

Outline Scope Priority 

Purchase Cards Identified as part 

of RBIAP 

SRR 2.2 

 

The purchase of goods and services should comply with the Council’s Contract 

Standing Orders, Financial Regulations, Accounting Instructions, and the European 

Union (EU) procurement regulations to ensure value for money, fair competition and 

transparency.  Procurement card expenditure is exempt from the need to raise 

official orders and thus represents a convenient and cost effective way to make low-

value purchases.  However, all purchases must fully comply with the Council’s 

policies.  The outcomes from the GCC Purchase to Pay (P2P) project will impact the 

use of procurement cards within GCC.  

The objective of the audit is to review GCC procurement card transactions to provide 

assurance that appropriate systems and controls are in place and operating in 

practice, including consideration of the following areas:  

 Procurement cards are issued to authorised officers that have been 

appropriately trained and the security of the personal identification number 

(PIN) and cards are maintained; 

 Financial limits and merchant category group restrictions have been 

appropriately set to individual procurement cards and have been approved; 

 Financial transactions are made in accordance with Council policies, 

supported by genuine receipts and have been correctly and promptly 

reconciled / authorised; and 

 Value Added Tax (VAT) has been correctly accounted for on financial 

transactions in accordance with Council policy. 

Priority 2 

 

P
age 57



Internal Audit Plan 2019/20 

 

11  

 

Finance 

Audit Reason for 

Audit 

Outline Scope Priority 

Bank 

Reconciliation 

Identified as part 

of RBIAP 

SRR 2.2 

The accurate and timely processing of bank reconciliations is a fundamental control 

process to ensure the integrity of the transactions in the accounting system.  There 

are four main bank accounts, namely: 

 ‘A’ account - used for vendor payments; 

 ‘C’ account - used for payroll payments; 

 County Fund (receipts); and 

 Pension Fund bank account - used for pension receipts and payments. 

This audit will examine the reconciliation processes that are currently in operation in 

respect of the ‘A’ and ‘C’ accounts to verify their accuracy, completeness, frequency 

and regularity. 

Priority 1 

P
age 58



Internal Audit Plan 2019/20 

 

12  

 

Audit Reason for 

Audit 

Outline Scope Priority 

Purchases in 

Compliance 

with Contract 

Standing 

Orders 

Identified as part 

of RBIAP 

SRR 1.1 

SRR 5.3 

The purchase of goods and services should comply with the Council’s Contract 

Standing Orders, Financial Regulations, Accounting Instructions, and the European 

Union (EU) procurement regulations to ensure value for money, fair competition and 

transparency.   

 

All tendering exercises for goods and services must be conducted electronically 

through the Council’s e-procurement system.  Those involving quotations, i.e. under 

£75k spend, should also be carried out using the e-procurement system. Purchase 

Orders for expenditure should be raised through the Council’s financial system SAP. 

 

The objective of the audit is to review the GCC expenditure and procurement 

processes, to provide assurance that appropriate systems and controls are in place 

and operating in practice – i.e. that relevant expenditure complies with the 

requirements of the Council’s Contract Standing Orders and that the Council is fair 

and accountable in its dealings with contractors and in the award of contracts.  

Priority 1 

P
age 59



Internal Audit Plan 2019/20 

 

13  

 

Audit Reason for 

Audit 

Outline Scope Priority 

Pro Contract – 

Entering 

Contracts 

Identified as part 

of RBIAP 

SRR 5.3  

The purchase of goods and services should comply with the Council’s Contract 

Standing Orders, Financial Regulations, Accounting Instructions, and the European 

Union (EU) procurement regulations to ensure value for money, fair competition and 

transparency.   

Under transparency regulations, all new contracts above £5,000 must be recorded 

on a public facing register. Pro Contract is the Council’s mandatory system for 

publicising contracts. 

The objective of the audit is to review the GCC expenditure and procurement 

processes, to provide assurance that all required contracts go through Pro Contract 

and that appropriate records are maintained to support local data transparency 

public reporting.  

The ‘Pro Contract – Entering Contracts’ internal audit shall be completed alongside 

the ‘Compliance with Contracts Standing Orders’ internal audit. This will prevent 

duplication of audit testing and ensure a report outcome on both audit objectives. 

Priority 2 

P
age 60



Internal Audit Plan 2019/20 

 

14  

 

Audit Reason for 

Audit 

Outline Scope Priority 

Construction 

Industry 

Scheme - 

Operations 

Identified as part 

of RBIAP 

 

The Council is a ‘deemed contractor’ in terms of the Construction Industry Scheme 

(CIS), due to GCC being a local authority that makes expenditure on construction 

projects e.g. permanent buildings, temporary structures and civil engineering 

installations. Any payments GCC make to relevant ‘subcontractors’ for construction 

work need to comply with CIS requirements. 

CIS HMRC payments between 15/16 and 17/18 range from £11k to £87k per 

annum.  

This audit will review the CIS framework and policies in place at the Council, to 

ensure that it is robust and provide assurance that planned CIS expenditure is being 

identified proactively, expenditure is scrutinised and authorised, and also 

appropriately treated in accordance with HMRC requirements. 

Priority 2 

P
age 61



Internal Audit Plan 2019/20 

 

15  

 

Audit Reason for 

Audit 

Outline Scope Priority 

Payment Card 

Industry – Data 

Security 

Standard (PCI 

DSS) 

Identified as part 

of RBIAP 

SRR11.1  

The Payment Card Industry – Data Security Standards (PCI DSS) is a worldwide set 

of controls developed to help businesses process card payments securely and 

reduce card fraud.  

Gloucestershire County Council has committed to becoming PCI DSS compliant. In 

October 2017 the Council awarded a contract to Capita Business Services Ltd. to 

provide a new card payment system to support PCI DSS compliance (e.g. process 

and store customer card details securely). In addition, the Council has 

commissioned a dedicated PCI DSS consultant to work with in-house lead officers 

within 18/19 and early 19/20 and progress specific actions – e.g. updating policies 

and procedures, ensuring staff are aware and trained appropriately and improving 

relevant governance arrangements.  

Following implementation of the above, this audit will select a sample of Council 

locations/offices that take card payments and provide assurance regards compliance 

with the Council’s PCI DSS policy and procedures. 

Priority 2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 62



Internal Audit Plan 2019/20 

 

16  

 

HR 

Audit Reason for 

Audit 

Outline Scope Priority 

Safer 

Recruitment 

Identified as part 

of RBIAP 

SRR 7.1, 7.2 and 

11.1  

Safer Recruitment is the safeguarding and protection of children, young people and 

vulnerable adults during the recruitment and selection process. All organisations 

which employ staff or volunteers to work with children, young people and vulnerable 

adults have a duty to safeguard and promote their welfare.  

 

The guidance applies to all adults who have contact with children, young people and 

vulnerable adults through their work whether in a paid or voluntary capacity. It 

applies to permanent, temporary and agency staff and to those recruited from 

overseas. It also applies to staff who do not have direct responsibility for children, 

but who will have contact with children within the organisation and will be seen as 

safe and trustworthy and/or have access to confidential and sensitive information 

e.g. administrative staff, receptionists, caretakers, maintenance workers. 

 

The purpose of safer recruitment is to help deter, reject or identify potential staff who 

might abuse children or are otherwise unsuitable to working with them by carrying 

out all necessary pre-employment checks. 

 

This audit would look to provide assurance that the safer recruitment procedures are 

being followed and relevant documentation retained at each step of the process. 

Priority 1 

P
age 63



Internal Audit Plan 2019/20 

 

17  

 

Audit Reason for 

Audit 

Outline Scope Priority 

Expenses and 

Benefits 

Identified as part 

of RBIAP 

Operational Risk 

The Council reimburses travel and subsistence expenses incurred in the course of 

official business. Other reimbursements (e.g. eye tests) are also permitted in line 

with Council policy. Claims must be made monthly and payments are in accordance 

with locally and nationally agreed rates. Claim submission and authorisation is 

mainly completed through the SAP payroll system.  

This audit will provide assurance that expenses and benefits received are in line with 

GCC policy and employment contracts. Data analytics will be used to support 

confirmation of the audit population and delivery of audit sample testing. 

Priority 2 

Sickness 

Absence 

Recording 

Identified as part 

of RBIAP 

Operational Risk 

Absence has an impact on colleagues and the delivery of services. It is therefore 

essential that there are clear policies and procedures in place, which include 

arrangements for monitoring and ensuring the effective day to day management of ill 

health issues, sickness absence, unpaid leave and annual leave. 

The Council has a sickness and absence procedure that applies to green book, blue 

book and JNC Chief Officer employees. This is supported by wider guidance 

available on Staffnet or via HR. 

The audit will review the robustness of the framework established by the Council to 

manage sickness absence; and evaluate the level of compliance by management 

with the published policy/procedures. This will include consideration of the 

consistency of approach applied across services and the transparency, 

completeness and accuracy of data. 

Priority 2 

 

P
age 64



Internal Audit Plan 2019/20 

 

18  

 

ICT to include audits provided by ICT external auditors 
 

Audit Reason for 

Audit 

Outline Scope Priority 

ICT Identified as part 

of RBIAP 

SRR 3.1 

The ICT audits will be identified following the ICT audit needs assessment. The 

assessment will be compiled by the Internal Audit Service ICT audit specialists and 

will consider input from both Council officers and External Audit. 

Priority 1 

 

Pensions 
 

Audit Reason for 

Audit 

Outline Scope Priority 

Pensions – Life 

Certificate 

Process 

Identified as part 

of RBIAP 

Pensions Risk 

Register G7 and 

A/R3 

The Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) paid 

£65,927,000 of pensions benefits (excluding commutations and lump sum death 

benefits) within 2017/18***. Pension benefits payments are made to pensioners’ 

resident both within the UK and overseas.  

The audit will review and test the LGPS validation process in place that confirms 

that overseas pensioners are still alive.  

***GCC statement of accounts 2017/18. 

Priority 1 

 

 

 

 

P
age 65



Internal Audit Plan 2019/20 

 

19  

 

 

Adults  

Audit Reason for 

Audit 

Outline Scope Priority 

Direct 

Payments  

Identified as part 

of RBIAP 

Limited 

Assurance 

Follow-up 

SRR 7.1 

Service users eligible to receive support are able to choose to manage their own 

care through a direct payment (DP) using monies provided to them or their 

representative.  

An investigation into a service user’s direct payment account was completed by 

Internal Audit during 2018/19 and an action plan was developed which identified a 

number of improvements to the overall management of DP’s.  

The audit will establish whether the agreed management actions to address the 

recommendations made in the investigation audit report have now been 

implemented.   

Priority 1 

Adult Social 

Care Best 

Value Policy 

Identified as part 

of RBIAP 

SRR 2.2 and 7.1 

Local authorities have a duty to make best value decisions. The Council seeks to 

operate within its financial means and to maximise the use of available resources so 

that meeting the needs and preferences of individuals is fairly balanced against 

meeting those of the local population generally. Demographic trends suggest that 

the demand for social care will continue to increase so it is essential that resources 

are used sustainably and allocated fairly.   

This review will seek to determine whether there is a robust control framework in 

place for ensuring that the best possible value for money is obtained, whilst ensuring 

that assessed needs are met, risks managed and agreed outcomes are achieved. 

Priority 2 

P
age 66



Internal Audit Plan 2019/20 

 

20  

 

Audit Reason for 

Audit 

Outline Scope Priority 

Client Affairs Identified as part 

of RBIAP 

SRR 7.1 

1. Every day, we make decisions about our lives and our ability to make decisions - this 

is called mental capacity. When a person lacks mental capacity to manage their 

finances or assets and there is no other suitable individual to do so on their behalf, 

the Council’s Client Affairs team (CAT) is able to apply to the Department for Works 

and Pensions to act as their benefit Appointee, and to the Court of Protection to act 

as their Deputy for property and financial affairs.  

The Client Affairs team currently manages 477 live cases. As at March 2019, 

approximately 72% of the cases had capital assets (excluding property and land) of 

up to £20,000, 22% between £20,000 and £100,000 and 6% with excesses of 

£100,000. 

Processes for payments on behalf of these individuals have recently changed. The 

objective of this audit is to establish whether the Council has effective arrangements 

in place for the management of client’s affairs, in order to ensure that these are 

properly safeguarded, recorded and accounted for, on receipt and return and which 

protects the interests of both the client and the employee. 

Priority 2 

P
age 67



Internal Audit Plan 2019/20 

 

21  

 

Audit Reason for 

Audit 

Outline Scope Priority 

Disabilities Hub 

Job Coaching 

Brokerage 

Identified as part 

of RBIAP 

SRR 7.1 

SRR 7.6 

Service users with disabilities can be helped into work. The disabilities hub will 

obtain three quotes for job coaching. These are then passed to the DWP for review 

and decision about which company is selected. The DWP usually accept the lowest 

quote. The process for selection is not clear but it is understood that there is a 

limited pool from which to select companies/individuals to invite to quote.  

This audit will review and test the process for selection of companies/individuals to 

provide assurance that it is transparent and equitable. 

Priority 2 

GIS Equipment 

System  

Identified as part 

of RBIAP 

SRR 7.6 

Gloucestershire Industrial Services (GIS) Healthcare is a GCC service organisation, 

providing medical equipment, aids and adaptations to enable service users to live at 

home or to return home from hospital. 

The CEquip system used to manage and control equipment is to be replaced from 

April 2019. 

The audit review will consider the effectiveness of the new system. 

Priority 2 P
age 68



Internal Audit Plan 2019/20 

 

22  

 

Audit Reason for 

Audit 

Outline Scope Priority 

Liberty 

Protection 

Safeguards 

Identified as part 

of RBIAP 

SRR 7.1 

Article 5 of the Human Rights Act states that 'everyone has the right to liberty and 

security of person. No one shall be deprived of his or her liberty [unless] in 

accordance with a procedure prescribed in law'. The Deprivation of Liberty 

Safeguards (DoLS) is the procedure prescribed in law when it is necessary to 

deprive of their liberty a resident or patient who lacks capacity to consent to their 

care and treatment in order to keep them safe from harm. 

A review of arrangements for managing/authorising DoLS was included within the 

2018/19 Audit Plan. This was deferred as the Mental Capacity (Amendment) Bill 

(July 2018) seeks to replace DoLS with a new system, known as ‘Liberty Protection 

Safeguards’. 

This audit review will seek to determine whether the Council has adequate 

arrangements in place for managing/authorising Liberty Protection Safeguards. 

Priority 2 

P
age 69



Internal Audit Plan 2019/20 

 

23  

 

Children and Families  

Children’s Social Care 

Audit Reason for 

Audit 

Outline Scope Priority 

Adoption Fund Identified as part 

of RBIAP 

SRR 7.2 

The adoption support fund (ASF) provides funds to local authorities and regional 

adoption agencies to pay for essential therapeutic services for eligible adoptive 

and special guardianship order (SGO) families. The ASF model is based on the 

existing statutory framework for the assessment of adoption support/SGO needs 

and the provision of support services.  

This audit will focus on the procurement process; specifically how therapists are 

identified and selected, whether the therapists should feature on a formal 

framework, the accuracy of therapist invoices and the overall transparency of the 

accounting process. 

Priority 1 

Caseload 

Management 

Identified as part 

of RBIAP 

SRR 7.2 

Following a recent OFSTED inspection, GCC has recruited additional social 

workers in order to reduce the number of cases being managed by social workers 

at any one time.  Ideally, each social worker should have no more than 18 cases.  

Evidence has shown that some social workers can have in excess of 21 cases. 

This audit will review a random sample of social workers and the cases that they 

are managing across the Localities.  The audit will seek to provide assurance that 

the cases are being stepped down, escalated or closed as necessary in a timely 

manner and that the failure to do this is not contributing to any excessive number 

of cases being managed by social workers. 

Priority 1 

P
age 70



Internal Audit Plan 2019/20 

 

24  

 

Audit Reason for 

Audit 

Outline Scope Priority 

Personal Travel 

Allowances 

(PTAs) 

Identified as part 

of RBIAP 

Operational Risk 

Allowances can be paid to parents or guardians to fund travel to school for 

students who are entitled to funded transport due to the distance required to travel 

to the nearest appropriate school.  They allow for parents or guardians to make 

their own arrangements about how their child will get to and from school each day. 

They also take into consideration other child care needs if there are other children 

within the family. 

This review will provide assurance in relation to the following: 

 Award of PTAs and other exceptional arrangements for home to school 

transport (e.g. awards of funding to schools); 

 Contractual arrangements over PTAs; and 

 Monitoring of PTAs (reconciliation and reclaiming of funds). 

Priority 1 

P
age 71



Internal Audit Plan 2019/20 

 

25  

 

Audit Reason for 

Audit 

Outline Scope Priority 

Section 20 Identified as part 

of RBIAP 

Limited 

Assurance Follow 

Up 

SRR 7.2 

Section 20 agreements (of the Children Act) are voluntary arrangements between 

the local authority and the parents where they cannot provide their children with 

suitable accommodation or care (temporarily or permanently).  However, the 

parental responsibility remains with the parents until permanence arrangements 

are agreed in court, e.g. adoption, Special Guardianship Orders etc.  There is 

concern about the misuse and abuse of Section 20 agreements where they are 

allowed to continue for too long a term.  

GCC has reviewed its Section 20 agreements (which can cause a rise in cases 

going into care proceedings as well as children being returned to their families) and 

put arrangements in place to ensure that they are more effectively managed.   

In 2017/18 Internal Audit undertook a review of the processes to provide 

assurance that they are continuing to operate in practice. 

The outcome of the audit was that limited assurance opinions were given for both 

risk management and the control environment.  As such a follow-up review of the 

recommendations will be undertaken, which will also seek to provide assurance on 

the outcomes of the recent OFSTED review. 

Priority 1 

P
age 72



Internal Audit Plan 2019/20 

 

26  

 

Audit Reason for 

Audit 

Outline Scope Priority 

Unregulated 

Placements and 

Packages of 

Support 

Identified as part 

of RBIAP 

SRR 7.7 

Children in care can be placed in foster placements whilst waiting more permanent 

fostering or adoption arrangements to be made.  The external agency budget was 

audited in and 2015/16 and 2017/18 and remains a high risk budget due to the 

constant cost pressures from a demand-led service.  

Unregulated placements will not be regulated under the Care Standards Act 2000 

and as a result will not be inspected by Ofsted.  The scope of this audit will be 

restricted to the operational procedures for providing packages of support for 

placing children in unregulated placements to ensure that they are properly 

approved, have been quality assured and are not subject to drift. 

Priority 1 

Youth Service – 

Care Leavers 

Service 

Identified as part 

of RBIAP 

Limited 

Assurance Follow 

Up 

SRR 7.2 

A care leaver is defined as a person aged 25 or under, who has been looked after 

by a local authority for at least 13 weeks since the age of 14; and who was looked 

after by the local authority at school-leaving age or after that date.  Such care 

could be in foster care, residential care (mainly children's homes), or other 

arrangements outside the immediate or extended family. 

The Care Leavers (England) Regulations 2010 specify that a pathway plan must 

be prepared as soon as possible after the assessment of needs and must be 

recorded in writing.  The local authority must review the pathway plan and any 

changes must be recorded in writing. 

An audit of the Youth Service – Care Leavers Service was undertaken in 2018/19 

where limited assurance was given for the control environment.  This audit will 

review the recommendations that were made to ensure that they have been 

implemented as agreed. 

Priority 1 

P
age 73



Internal Audit Plan 2019/20 

 

27  

 

Audit Reason for 

Audit 

Outline Scope Priority 

Direct 

Payments 

Identified as part 

of RBIAP 

SRR 7.2 

A Direct Payments (Children and Families) internal audit was carried out in 2016/17, 

confirming limited assurance for both risk management and the control environment. 

The report included four High Priority recommendations.  Management update on 

the position of the audit recommendations was presented to Audit and Governance 

Committee in January 2017 and a follow-up audit was subsequently undertaken. 

Due to the high risk nature of Direct Payments, a further audit is planned for 2019/20 

to ensure that previous recommendations have been implemented as well as to 

provide assurance that the systems for administering direct payments are robust, 

including the monitoring of spend and the adequacy of arrangements to 

prevent/detect fraud. 

Priority 2 

Discretionary 

Payments to 

Foster Carers 

Identified as part 

of RBIAP 

SRR 2.6 

SRR 7.2 

Discretionary payments to foster carers, or fostering extras, are where additional 

payments are made to foster carers over and above their standard contractual 

payment.  This was identified as an area of high spend in the Financial Monitoring 

report that was submitted to Cabinet on 30/01/19, namely ‘A higher level of activity is 

also causing an over-spend of £0.83m in Section 17 and discretionary payments for 

foster carers’. 

This audit will be limited to GCC’s in-house foster service where assurance will be 

provided on the effectiveness of the systems and processes in place for making 

discretionary payments to foster carers.   

Priority 2 

P
age 74



Internal Audit Plan 2019/20 

 

28  

 

Audit Reason for 

Audit 

Outline Scope Priority 

Health 

Assessments 

Identified as part 

of RBIAP 

SRR 7.2 

When a child or young person comes into care they will have an Initial Health 

Assessment (IHA). This is a statutory health assessment that is required to be 

completed within 28 days of coming into care. It is completed by a paediatrician or 

an appropriately trained medical practitioner.   

This audit will review the effectiveness of the control systems that are in place to 

provide assurance that timely initial health assessments are carried out as required 

for children coming into care for the first time.  Sample testing will encompass teams 

from across all of the localities. 

Priority 2 

Recruitment of 

Foster Carers 

Identified as part 

of RBIAP 

SRR 2.6 

SRR 7.7 

SRR 8.1 

The Financial Monitoring Report for 2018/19 (Cabinet date - January 2019) 

confirmed that ‘The in-house fostering service is also forecasting to overspend by 

£0.17m due to staffing costs’. 

This audit will review the recruitment processes for foster carers to provide 

assurance that they are effective and efficient to ensure that suitable carers are 

available (capacity and capability).  This will contribute to the Council’s aim of 

improving recruitment, increasing the percentage of in-house fostering placements 

from 70% to 80% within the next three years and reducing the reliance on 

Independent Foster Agencies (IFA), as identified in the Sufficiency Strategy. 

Priority 2 

P
age 75



Internal Audit Plan 2019/20 

 

29  

 

Audit Reason for 

Audit 

Outline Scope Priority 

Transition from 

Children’s to 

Adult Services 

including costs 

Identified as part 

of RBIAP 

SRR 7.2 

The broad definition of a care leaver is any adult who spent time in care as a child 

(i.e. under the age of 18). Such care could have been in foster care, residential care 

(mainly children's homes), or other arrangements outside the immediate or extended 

family. 

The needs of young people approaching the age of 18 should be appropriately 

assessed and the cost implications of transferring them from Children’s Services to 

Adults’ Services properly understood.   

This audit will review the systems, processes and controls (including consideration 

of the clarity and timeliness of communications) between Children’s Services and 

Adult’s Services to ensure effective transfer of information and costs. 

The audit budget for this piece of work is evenly split between the Adults and 

Childrens cluster areas.  

Priority 2 

 

  

P
age 76



Internal Audit Plan 2019/20 

 

30  

 

Education  

Audit Reason for 

Audit 

Outline Scope Priority 

Schools 

Whistleblowing 

Identified as part 

of RBIAP 

SRR 7.4 

School employees are expected to give the highest possible standard of service to 

the public and to support Governors and fellow employees with impartiality. The 

highest standard of probity must apply and employees must report any suspected 

unlawfulness, mal-administration, impropriety or breach of procedure of which they 

are aware to their Head Teacher or Senior County Council Officer. 

Schools are required to have their own whistleblowing policy which states how 

whistle-blowers are to report incidences; with staff having the knowledge of these 

procedures should the need to use them arise. 

This audit will review the whistleblowing arrangements in the County’s schools, 

ensuring appropriate policies and practices are in place. 

Priority 1 

P
age 77



Internal Audit Plan 2019/20 

 

31  

 

Audit Reason for 

Audit 

Outline Scope Priority 

Childrens’ 

Centre - 

Cotswolds 

Identified as part 

of RBIAP 

SRR 7.4 

The core purpose of Childrens’ Centres is to improve outcomes for young children 

and their families and reduce inequalities between families in greatest need and their 

peers in respect of: 

 child development and school readiness; 

 parenting aspirations and parenting skills; and 

 child and family health and life chances. 

The Cotswold Children’s Centre was brought back in-house in 2017/18 and is now 

maintained by the local authority (funding for 2019/20 circa £306k). 

This audit will review the key financial systems in place to provide assurance over 

the regularity and propriety of spending of the funds received from the local 

authority. 

 

Priority 2 

P
age 78



Internal Audit Plan 2019/20 

 

32  

 

Audit Reason for 

Audit 

Outline Scope Priority 

Deficit Scrutiny 

Group 

Identified as part 

of RBIAP 

SRR 7.4 

School deficits are regularly monitored and reported to management and the 

Schools Forum.  With decreased schools funding and increased finance pressures 

on schools, there is a real danger of the overall level, and number of deficits, 

spiralling out of control unless effective and challenging arrangements are put in 

place.   

There are currently 26 schools in deficit with a total forecast deficit value for 2018/19 

of £1,845,713. 

This audit will review the processes in place within GCC, and specifically of the 

Deficit Scrutiny Group, for identifying, monitoring and controlling school deficits. 

Priority 2 

P
age 79



Internal Audit Plan 2019/20 

 

33  

 

Audit Reason for 

Audit 

Outline Scope Priority 

Education 

Commissioning 

Specialist 

Identified as part 

of RBIAP 

SRR 7.4 

Placements can be made within Gloucestershire maintained schools, independent or 

non- maintained special schools, or out of county. Places are commissioned either 

as a block or individually (where there is an urgent requirement based on service 

user needs). The commissioning approach used should be completed in line with 

defined Council protocol and requirements, to ensure that the needs of the service 

user are met while achieving value for money for the Council.  

This audit will seek to provide assurance over the commissioning approach as 

follows: 

 That there is a defined commissioning approach; 

 Placements will be commissioned in line with Council requirements and 

guidance; 

 The selection of placement will be appropriate (based on supporting audit 

trail), in line with the service user’s needs and currently held contracts; 

 Placement decisions are formal, robust, transparent and consistent; 

 Value for money is considered and achieved (where possible) within the 

placement approach; and 

 An appropriate governance framework (including performance management 

and monitoring) is in place. 

Priority 2 

P
age 80



Internal Audit Plan 2019/20 

 

34  

 

Audit Reason for 

Audit 

Outline Scope Priority 

Police and 

Criminal 

Evidence Act 

(PACE) 

Protocol 

Identified as part 

of RBIAP 

SRR 7.2 

During 2018/19 Internal Audit offered advice in support of the development of the 

revised draft ‘Joint Protocol for the Transfer of Young People from Police Custody to 

Local Authority Accommodation’.  The Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee considered the protocol on 17/01/19 and additional information is to be 

added. 

Following the approval and adoption of the protocol and the awareness training 

associated with its implementation, Internal Audit will review the effectiveness of the 

monitoring and reporting processes that ensure the protocol’s objectives are being 

delivered. 

Priority 2 

P
age 81



Internal Audit Plan 2019/20 

 

35  

 

Audit Reason for 

Audit 

Outline Scope Priority 

Local Authority 

Maintained 

Schools 

Statutory 

S151 Officer to 

support the 

statement of 

assurance 

SRR 7.4 

Gloucestershire County Council’s budget includes the Dedicated Schools Grant 

which is £452.072m for 2019/20. There is a requirement for the Chief Financial 

Officer (S151) to sign the following annual statement: 

For the period 20xx – 20yy, I confirm that I have in place a system of audit for 

schools which gives me adequate assurance over their standards of financial 

management and the regularity and propriety of their spending.   

To enable the above, a sample of schools will be selected following a risk 

assessment of all schools and discussion with key officers. Internal Audit will review 

the effectiveness of the financial systems and controls in operation at these selected 

schools.  

Once all the audits are complete, a summary of common findings will be made 

available to all schools as learning points. 

Priority 2 

P
age 82



Internal Audit Plan 2019/20 

 

36  

 

Audit Reason for 

Audit 

Outline Scope Priority 

Spending on 

High Needs 

Identified as part 

of RBIAP 

SRR 2.6 

SRR 7.4 

The forecast overspend within the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) funded services 

for 2018/19 is impacted by the cost pressures in the High Needs Block where the 

forecast overspend for 2018/19 is £6.09m.   

The High Needs Block encompasses Independent Places, Special School places, 

Alternative Provision Schools (APS) and Education Health and Care plans (EHCP).  

There has been a significant rise in the number of Education Health and Care Plans 

(EHCP) and the associated cost of top-up payments. 

The APSs have been separately audited over the last three years.  This audit will 

take account of the work of the High Needs Programme and focus on providing 

assurance over systems and processes within the other areas of spend of the High 

Needs Block as agreed with the Director of Education. 

Priority 2 

P
age 83



Internal Audit Plan 2019/20 

 

37  

 

Audit Reason for 

Audit 

Outline Scope Priority 

Virtual School Identified as part 

of RBIAP 

SRR 7.4 

Gloucestershire Virtual School promotes and supports the educational attainment 

and progress of children and young people in care from nursery to 18 years old, 

through effective collaboration with schools, social care, and other agencies.  One of 

the aims of the Virtual School is to ensure that the Pupil Premium and other 

resources are used effectively and impact on progress. 

Pupil Premium Plus (PP+) is available to all students of statutory school age who are 

in the care of the Local Authority.  It is ring-fenced for spending on named children in 

care as part of their Personal Education Plan.  PP+ for children in care is additional 

to any other funding that may be received by a school.  The Virtual School Head 

should ensure there are arrangements in place to discuss how the child will benefit 

from PP+ funding with the designated teacher in the child’s education setting. 

This audit will review the processes, systems and controls in place to provide 

assurance on the effective use of PP+. 

Priority 2 

P
age 84



Internal Audit Plan 2019/20 

 

38  

 

Communities and Infrastructure 
 

Audit Reason for 

Audit 

Outline Scope Priority 

Fleet 

Management 

Identified as part 

of RBIAP 

SRR 1.1 

GCC’s fleet comprises of 86 vehicles; these are predominantly vans, cars and 

minibuses with a small number of larger vehicles, such as mobile libraries. 

Procurement arrangements for GCC owned fleet is through the Crown Commercial 

Service. The number of vehicles owned and leased can vary however there has 

been no significant increase or decrease during the last two years.  

In 2018, the decision was taken to integrate the fleet management activities 

(undertaken by the Integrated Transport Unit) into the current Gloucestershire Fire 

and Rescue Service management arrangements. This audit will review the new 

arrangements to provide assurance that they are operating effectively and the 

perceived benefits of the change have been achieved. 

Priority 1 

Procurement of 

Transport 

Arrangements 

for Social Care 

Users 

Identified as part 

of RBIAP 

Limited 

Assurance Follow 

Up 

SRR 7.1 

The Integrated Transport Unit (ITU) procures the transport arrangements for use by 

vulnerable adults and children. Officers wishing to arrange transport for periods for 

less than two weeks can commission this direct via Staffnet/Taxis. If the requirement 

is to continue beyond two weeks the officer commissioning the service should 

provide more detailed information to enable the ITU to make the longer term 

arrangements. The 2018/19 audit highlighted significant control weaknesses in the 

current arrangements, providing only limited assurance that key risks were being 

managed effectively and on occasion non-approved operators were being 

commissioned directly by the social care team. This follow-up audit will provide 

assurance that the action plan agreed with management has been implemented. 

Priority 1 

P
age 85



Internal Audit Plan 2019/20 

 

39  

 

Audit Reason for 

Audit 

Outline Scope Priority 

Section 106 

Agreements 

Identified as part 

of RBIAP 

SRR 1.2 

In the role of a Planning Authority, Gloucestershire County Council receives 

substantial income from developers and others that may have an interest in the land 

through the use of Planning Obligations to secure community infrastructure to meet 

the needs of residents in new developments and/or to mitigate the impact of new 

developments upon existing community facilities. A Planning Obligation is created 

under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and can: 

 Require payments to be made to GCC as the planning authority; 

 Require the carrying out of specified actions; and 

 Regulate or restrict the use of land. 

This audit will review the procedures for negotiating these agreements and liaising 

with key stakeholders. 

Priority 1 

Traffic Signals – 

Asset 

Management 

and 

Replacement 

Identified as part 

of RBIAP 

SRR 2.2 and 2.4 

The Council has 184 signalised junctions and 200 signalised crossings incorporating 

thousands of individual signal units.  

This audit will review the asset management arrangements and replacement 

programme put in place by the Council to ensure this critical part of the highways 

infrastructure remains fit for purpose. 

Priority 2 

P
age 86



Internal Audit Plan 2019/20 

 

40  

 

Audit Reason for 

Audit 

Outline Scope Priority 

Energy from 

Waste Contract 

Identified as part 

of RBIAP 

SRR 4.1 

The Incinerator (at Javelin Park) to be operated by Ubaser Balfour Beatty (UBB) is 

expected to become operational from 29th July 2019. The Council’s contract for 

waste disposal with UBB is circa £18m per annum.  

This audit will review the effectiveness of the contract management arrangements 

put in place by the Joint Waste Team, to provide assurance that the payments made 

to the contractor is in line with the contractual terms and conditions. 

Priority 2 

Growth Deal – 

Review of 

Projects under 

the Council’s 

Accountable 

Body Role 

Identified as part 

of RBIAP 

SRR 5.3 and 6.1 

In June 2011, the Secretary of State granted Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) 

status to GFirst Ltd. The government has made various funding streams available 

(e.g. Growing Places £8.4m, Local Growth Deal £101m 2016/2021) where the LEP 

will be heavily involved in the decision making process as to how the money is 

subsequently spent. All of the funding is paid to GCC in the first instance as the 

Accountable Body and due to the high risk to the Council from this role it is important 

that the governance arrangements within GFirst Ltd are robust. This audit will review 

the effectiveness of the performance management and project delivery monitoring 

role of the LEP. 

Priority 2 

P
age 87



Internal Audit Plan 2019/20 

 

41  

 

Audit Reason for 

Audit 

Outline Scope Priority 

Highways Term 

Maintenance 

Contract 

Identified as part 

of RBIAP 

SRR 5.3 and 6.1 

In September 2018, the Council awarded the contract (circa £245m to £430m) for 

highways term maintenance to Ringway Infrastructure effective from April 2019. The 

initial term is for a seven year period with two further options to extend the contract 

to a total of 11 years.   

This audit will review the controls operating within high risk areas of the contractual 

arrangements with the specific scope, based on risk, to be considered and agreed 

with management after the new arrangements have been operating for at least six 

months. 

Priority 2 

Parking 

Management 

Services – 

Contract 

Management 

Arrangements 

Identified as part 

of RBIAP 

SRR 2.2 and 5.3 

The Council currently has a Parking Management Service contract with APCOA. 

The original contract was awarded in 2013, for four years, which was then extended 

by a further 3 years to 2020. 

The cost of the contract is around £1.9m per annum. 

The income from Pay and Display is around £2.5m per annum, income from Penalty 

Charge Notices (PCNs) and waivers and permits is a further £2.5m per annum. 

This audit will seek to provide assurance on the robustness of the contract 

management arrangements in place, with a particular focus on income 

reconciliation, (both cash and cashless).  

Any improvements identified will be transferred to the way the Council manages the 

new Parking Management Services contract with effect from April 2020. 

Priority 2 

P
age 88



Internal Audit Plan 2019/20 

 

42  

 

Audit Reason for 

Audit 

Outline Scope Priority 

Registration 

Service – 

Income 

Collection 

Identified as part 

of RBIAP 

SRR 2.2 

The Registration Service has six offices in Gloucestershire and through its 

operations collects income circa £4m.  

This audit will review the effectiveness of the controls operating at the Cheltenham 

Office from the time the income is first received, through to its subsequent banking 

and being accounted for in the Council’s general ledger. 

Priority 2 

 

Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service (GFRS) 

Audit Reason for 

Audit 

Outline Scope Priority 

Syrian Refugee 

Grant (SRG) 

Grant 

Certification 

The SRG is a contribution towards eligible expenditure that is incurred supporting 

refugees. Monies provided must not be used for any purpose other than achieving 

delivery of programme outcomes detailed in the grant Instruction, nor is it 

permissible to vire any such funds elsewhere without prior written consent. 

The GFRS Budget Setting audit confirmed that the SRG was used to balance the 

budget for 2018/19 but the scope of the Budget Setting audit did not include a review 

of the use of funds review for the SRG.   

This audit will provide assurance that the SRG has been spent for the purposes 

intended. 

Priority 1 

P
age 89



Internal Audit Plan 2019/20 

 

43  

 

Audit Reason for 

Audit 

Outline Scope Priority 

GFRS Audits  Limited 

Assurance Follow 

Up Reviews 

On 15th June 2018 a letter of complaint was sent by email to the Leader of the 

Council.  There were three strands to the complaint, one concerned the sale of a 

Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service (GFRS) owned vehicle and the former 

Chief Fire Officer’s (CFO) involvement in the process.  The other two concerns were 

regarding staffing issues. It was agreed that Internal Audit would investigate the sale 

of the vehicle and Human Resources (HR) would review the remaining two 

concerns, which are included within the management review of culture. 

Shortly after commencing the investigation, numerous whistleblowing allegations 

and Freedom of Information requests in respect of other concerns relating to GFRS 

governance arrangements, procedures, systems and processes were received.   

As a result, following Internal Audit review, research, analysis and interviews with 

key stakeholders including relevant GFRS Officers, Internal Audit co-ordinated the 

findings and made a number of GFRS-specific and council-wide/cross-cutting 

recommendations to undertake detailed reviews/audits within each area to 

determine the level of risk.  

These reviews/audits are outlined in the Action Plan presented to the Audit and 

Governance Committee on 12th October 2018.  Progress updates against each 

review/audit included within the Action Plan is being provided to the Audit and 

Governance Committee. 

This allocation of audit days is to follow up those audits undertaken where a limited 

assurance opinion on the control environment has been provided, to ensure all 

agreed management actions have been implemented. 

Priority 1 

P
age 90



Internal Audit Plan 2019/20 

 

44  

 

 

Internal Audit Certification  

Audit Reason for 

Audit 

Outline Scope Priority 

Internal Audit 

Certification 

Statutory Grant 

Certification 

There are 15 grant returns that will require Chief Internal Auditor sign-off in 2019/20: 

10 for Communities, 3 for Adults and 2 for Children. The total value of the grants is 

£41 million and the sign-off will be undertaken throughout the course of the year in 

order to meet the requirements of the individual grant determinations. 

Priority 1 

 

 
Counter Fraud Activity  
 

Audit Reason for 

Audit 

Outline Scope Priority 

Cabinet Office 

National Fraud 

Initiative (NFI) 

Statutory 

Participation 

To support the 

Annual 

Governance 

Statement 

To continue to co-ordinate activity as part of the NFI (a national data matching 

exercise that compares data/records) and to facilitate the investigation of data 

matching reports produced by the Cabinet Office, comparing records held within the 

authority for payroll, pensions, care home residents, insurance, creditors, blue 

badges and concessionary fares with records held by a wide range of public bodies, 

including records held by the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP), 

Immigration Office and Metropolitan Police, ensuring that these matches are 

investigated promptly and thoroughly, and results reported accordingly. 

  

Priority 1 

P
age 91



Internal Audit Plan 2019/20 

 

45  

 

Audit Reason for 

Audit 

Outline Scope Priority 

Fraud 

Investigation / 

Detection  

Protect the Public 

Purse 

 

To support the 

Annual 

Governance 

Statement  

To continue to develop and implement the Council’s Anti-Fraud and Corruption 

arrangements based on latest national good practice.  

 

This also includes an allocation for increasing the profile and awareness of anti–

fraud, conducting pro-active anti-fraud reviews, undertaking investigations, 

assessing the Council’s response to the Home Office pilots on the threat serious and 

organised crime poses to publicly procured services in Local Authorities (LAs) and 

how to respond to that threat, and administering the Council’s Confidential Reporting 

Hotline.  

 

This allocation is also to comply with Local Government Transparency Code 2015 

regarding fraud reporting. 

Priority 1 

Fraud Risk 

Management 

 

Protect the Public 

Purse 

To support the 

Annual 

Governance 

Statement 

The CIPFA Counter Fraud Centre has issued guidance on actions to be taken to 

‘Manage the Risk of Fraud and Corruption’ within an organisation.  

 

This allocation is to continue to self assess against the criteria set out in the 

guidance in order to direct/prioritise our counter fraud and internal audit 

resources/activity accordingly.   

Priority 1 

P
age 92



Internal Audit Plan 2019/20 Appendix 1 

 

 

46  

 
 

Audit Management Activity to Support the Audit Opinion 

Activity Reason for 

Activity 

Outline Scope Priority 

Annual 

Governance 

Statement (AGS) 

Statutory 

Requirement 

This allocation is to lead on the development and implementation of the governance 

assurance framework and to produce the 2019/20 Annual Governance Statement 

and Local Code of Corporate Governance.  

 

In addition, Internal Audit review the effectiveness of the management of the Local 

Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) on an annual basis to provide assurance over 

the governance and administration of pension funds, and pension fund investment 

management, which feeds into the AGS. 

Priority 1 

Audit and 

Governance 

Committee / 

Member / Officer 

and S151 Officer 

Reporting 

Management 

activity to support 

the audit opinion  

This allocation covers Member and Officer reporting procedures, mainly to the Audit 

and Governance Committee and Corporate Management Team (CoMT), plan 

formulation and monitoring, and regular reporting to and meeting with, the Chair of 

the Audit and Governance Committee and the S151 Officer.   

Priority 1 

Carry Forwards Audit Activity 

outstanding 

This allocation provides for the completion of various 2018/2019 audits which require 

finalising. 

Priority 1 

External Audit 

Liaison 

Management 

activity to support 

the audit opinion 

The External Auditor and the Chief Internal Auditor regularly meet to discuss plans 

and audit findings, to ensure that a “managed audit” approach is followed in relation 

to the provision of internal and external audit services.  

Priority 1 

P
age 93



Internal Audit Plan 2019/20 

 

47  

 

Activity Reason for 

Activity 

Outline Scope Priority 

External Working 

Groups  

Activity to support 

the audit opinion 

Attendance / work in relation to the Local Authorities Chief Auditors Network 

(LACAN) (National Group), Midland Counties and Districts Chief Internal Auditors 

Group, and the Fraud and ICT Groups to enable networking, benchmarking and to 

share good practice. 

Priority 1 

Provision of 

Advice 

To support an 

effective control 

environment 

This allocation allows auditors to facilitate the provision of risk and control advice 

which is regularly requested by officers within the authority, including maintained 

school based staff. 

Priority 1 

Quality 

Assurance and 

Improvement 

Programme 

(QAIP) 

Includes the 

annual review of 

the effectiveness 

of Internal Audit 

and the external 

assessment  

 

 

 

Statutory 

Requirement 

 

 

To support the 

AGS 

The Accounts and Audit  Regulations 2015 states that Internal Audit should conform 

to ‘proper practices’ and it is advised that proper practice for internal audit is 

currently set out in the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) 2017.  

 

This allocation is to undertake the required annual self assessment and when 

required, commission and deliver an external quality assessment, against the 

standards.  

 

The next external assessment is due in 2020. 

Priority 1 

P
age 94



Internal Audit Plan 2019/20 

 

48  

 

Activity Reason for 

Activity 

Outline Scope Priority 

Internal Working 

Groups 

Activity to support 

the audit opinion 

Internal Audit is frequently asked to nominate representatives for working groups to 

advise on risk and control.  

 

Priority 2 

Recommendation 

Monitoring 

Activity to support 

the audit opinion 

Whilst it is management’s responsibility to identify and manage the risks associated 

with their outcomes/objectives, this allocation enables Internal Audit to monitor 

management’s progress with the implementation of high priority recommendations. 

Priority 2 

 

P
age 95



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Audit and Governance Committee
Date: 25th April 2019 Agenda No:

Title of Report: Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service (GFRS) Action Plan Progress Report.
Purpose of 
Report:

The purpose of this report is to provide assurance to the Audit and Governance 
Committee that the Internal Audit recommendations made in relation to the 
independent investigation of GFRS have been / are being addressed. 

Recommendation: It is recommended that the Audit and Governance Committee reviews and considers 
the actions taken to address the recommendations made and progress to date.

Officer (s) 
Contact:

Theresa Mortimer: Head of Audit Risk Assurance, Area Finance Team and Insurance 
Services. Tel: 01452 328883
Theresa.Mortimer@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Paul Blacker: Acting Director – Financial Services.  Tel: 01452 328999
Paul.Blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

Key Risks Failure to deliver an effective corporate governance framework prevents GFRS and 
the Council in directing and controlling its resources effectively and efficiently, to 
enable their priorities and objectives to be met.

Background On 15th June 2018 a letter of complaint was sent by email to the Leader of the 
Council.  There were three strands to the complaint, one concerned the sale of a 
GFRS owned vehicle and the former Chief Fire Officer’s (CFO) involvement in the 
process.  The other two concerns were regarding staffing issues.

It was agreed that Internal Audit would investigate the sale of the vehicle and Human 
Resources (HR) would review the remaining two concerns, which are included within 
the management review of culture.

Shortly after commencing the investigation, numerous whistleblowing allegations and 
Freedom of Information requests in respect of other concerns relating to GFRS 
governance arrangements, procedures, systems and processes were received.  

As a result, following Internal Audit review, research, analysis and interviews with key 
stakeholders including relevant GFRS Officers, Internal Audit co-ordinated the 
findings and made a number of GFRS-specific and council-wide/cross-cutting 
recommendations to undertake detailed reviews/audits within each area to determine 
the level of risk. 

These reviews/audits are outlined in the Action Plan presented to the Audit and 
Governance Committee on 12th October 2018. Progress updates against each 
review/audit included within the Action Plan is provided to the Audit and Governance 
Committee.

Page 97

Agenda Item 7

mailto:Theresa.Mortimer@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:Paul.Blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



010605/19/003: GFRS Investigation Action Plan  v1.0 
OFFICIAL 

1 

 

Action Plan to address the internal audit recommendations made in relation to the independent investigation 
of the Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service (GFRS)  

Activity Progress as at April 2019 
 

 Recommendation Progress to date Internal Audits 
(IA) Role 

Lead 
Officer(s) 

Proposed 
Reporting 

Arrangements 
and 

Timescales 
1 GFRS Culture 

Due to the number of whistleblowing allegations raised 

around culture within GFRS it is recommended that: 

 The current culture within the GFRS is reviewed to 

enable the understanding of leadership and 

employee behaviours, attitudes and beliefs; 

 This could be achieved by building upon and 

rejuvenating the outcomes of the Cultural Review 

of the service undertaken during 2016 and 

exploring options from bringing the findings up to 

date alongside the results of the 2018 Employee 

Engagement Survey; and 

 This needs to consider a wide range of concerns 

expressed, including confidence in leadership; 

ability to challenge; and progression within the 

service.  

 

 

Scrutiny Task Group final report 
has been published.  

 

N/A 

 

Commissioning 

Director - Jon 

McGinty and 

Acting Director 

of HR and 

Digital - Mandy 

Quayle 

 

Final report 
presented to 
Overview and 
Scrutiny 
Management 
Committee on 
22nd March 2019 
and to Cabinet 
24th April 2019. 
 
 
 

 

P
age 99

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=264&MId=9174&Ver=4
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=264&MId=9174&Ver=4
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=264&MId=9174&Ver=4
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=264&MId=9174&Ver=4


010605/19/003: GFRS Investigation Action Plan  v1.0 
OFFICIAL 

2 

 

 Recommendation Progress to date Internal Audits 
(IA) Role 

Lead 
Officer(s) 

Proposed 
Reporting 

Arrangements 
and 

Timescales 
2 Training 

To ensure that GFRS staff are made aware of the 

Council’s Contract Standing Orders, Financial 

Regulations and Accounting Instructions, the provision 

of relevant (including financial management training) is 

provided.  

Consideration should also be given to introducing a 

county wide training programme that is not just 

restricted to GFRS which includes periodic refresher 

training. 

 

A training programme has been 

delivered by Strategic Finance 

and Commercial Team to GFRS 

staff on 21st September and 13th 

November 2018. The training 

programme has also provided the 

opportunity to transfer knowledge, 

and encourage future 

collaborative working. 

Finance and Commercial teams 

attended Support Services 

management team to deliver a 

similar training programme, with 

further sessions being arranged 

for the remaining service areas 

management teams, to be 

concluded by the end of June 

2019.  

All budget managers and holders 

provided with financial 

management training before 

given SAP access. 

Annual refresher training 

programme will be developed and 

provided. 

 

N/A 

 

Acting Director 

Financial 

Services (S151) 

Paul Blacker 

 

Ongoing progress 

updates will be 

provided to the 

AGC. 

P
age 100



010605/19/003: GFRS Investigation Action Plan  v1.0 
OFFICIAL 

3 

 

 Recommendation Progress to date Internal Audits 
(IA) Role 

Lead 
Officer(s) 

Proposed 
Reporting 

Arrangements 
and 

Timescales 

Internal Audit Reviews - GFRS 

3 Governance (GFRS) 

To review the governance structure and arrangements 

that are currently in place within GFRS and in particular: 

 Roles, responsibilities and accountabilities of 

members/senior managers in GCC and GFRS and 

the inter-relationship between the two (including 

the key support services relationships, e.g. 

Finance and HR to ensure compliance with GCC’s 

Constitution); 

 Governance assurance frameworks, e.g. Annual 

Governance Statements (AGS) and Her Majesty’s 

Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire and Rescue 

Services (HMICFRS) inspection framework; and 

 GCC’s Constitution - decision-making powers and 

schemes of delegation in relation to both 

operational and corporate decisions. 

 

 

 

 

 

A Terms of Reference in respect 

of this review has been produced 

by IA and agreed with the 

Commissioning Director: 

Communities and Infrastructure – 

Nigel Riglar and the 

Commissioning Director – Jon 

McGinty. 

 

 

Governance Position 

Statement and 

Action Plan 

completed.  

 

 

 

 

 

Commissioning 

Director - Jon 

McGinty. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Final Report 

presented to 

Audit and 

Governance 

Committee 25th 

January 2019. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 101



010605/19/003: GFRS Investigation Action Plan  v1.0 
OFFICIAL 

4 

 

 Recommendation Progress to date Internal Audits 
(IA) Role 

Lead 
Officer(s) 

Proposed 
Reporting 

Arrangements 
and 

Timescales 
3a Governance (GFRS) 

Code of Conduct - Register of Interests and Gifts and 

Hospitality. 

 

 

A Terms of Reference in respect 

of this review has been agreed 

with the Commissioning Director - 

Jon McGinty and the Monitoring 

Officer Jane Burns. 

 

Final Report and 

Action Plan 

completed. 

Limited Assurance 

opinion provided on 

the control 

environment.  

 

Commissioning 

Director - Jon 

McGinty 

 

Final Report 

presented to 

Audit and 

Governance 

Committee 25th 

April 2019.  

An Internal Audit 

follow up review 

will be 

undertaken in 

2019/2020.  

4a Fleet Management 

Disposal of vehicles 

To review the effectiveness of the governance 

arrangements, including the decision making 

processes, for the disposal and/or transfer of the 

GFRS’s surplus vehicles, seeking advice from GCC as 

necessary. 

 

 

A Terms of Reference in respect 

of this review has been agreed 

with the Commissioning Director - 

Jon McGinty and Chief Fire 

Officer Wayne Bowcock. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Compliance testing 

is currently in 

progress. 

Complete by 30th 

April 2019. 

 

 

Commissioning 

Director 

Jon McGinty 

 

 

Ongoing progress 

updates will be 

provided to the 

AGC. 

P
age 102



010605/19/003: GFRS Investigation Action Plan  v1.0 
OFFICIAL 

5 

 

 Recommendation Progress to date Internal Audits 
(IA) Role 

Lead 
Officer(s) 

Proposed 
Reporting 

Arrangements 
and 

Timescales 
4b Commissioning of new vehicles 

To establish whether the purchases have been 

procured in accordance with GCC policies and Contract 

Standing Orders. 

 

A Terms of Reference in respect 

of this review has been agreed 

with the Commissioning Director - 

Jon McGinty. 

 

 

Compliance testing 

is currently in 

progress. 

Complete by 30th 

April 2019. 

 

 

Commissioning 

Director 

Jon McGinty 

 

 

Ongoing progress 

updates will be 

provided to the 

AGC. 

 

4c Fleet maintenance and stores stock control 

To ascertain the adequacy of the fleet maintenance 

and stores stock control systems. 

 

 

 

 

A Terms of Reference in respect 

of this review has been agreed 

with the Commissioning Director - 

Jon McGinty. 

 

 

Final Report and 

Action Plan 

completed. 

Limited Assurance 

opinion provided on 

the control 

environment. 

 

 

Commissioning 

Director 

Jon McGinty 

 

 

Final Report 

presented to 

Audit and 

Governance 

Committee 25th 

April 2019. 

An Internal Audit 

follow up review 

will be 

undertaken in 

2019/2020. 

 

 

P
age 103



010605/19/003: GFRS Investigation Action Plan  v1.0 
OFFICIAL 

6 

 

 Recommendation Progress to date Internal Audits 
(IA) Role 

Lead 
Officer(s) 

Proposed 
Reporting 

Arrangements 
and 

Timescales 
4d  Use of pool cars, personal and leased cars and fuel 

schemes 

To ensure compliance with the relevant terms and 

conditions e.g. Gold Book/Grey Book (GFRS specific 

terms and conditions), HMRC regulations and 

GFRS/GCC policies, in the context of best practice 

within the fire sector.  

This will include: 

 Reviewing the use of fuel cards, bunker fuel and 

reimbursement schemes; and 

 Establish the adequacy of the systems for 

recording of private and official business mileage in 

line with the above regulations and Council 

policies. 

 

 

A Terms of Reference in respect 

of this review will be agreed with 

the Commissioning Director - Jon 

McGinty and Chief Fire Officer - 

Wayne Bowcock. 

 

 

Compliance testing 

will commence 

during Qtr. 1 

2019/2020.  

Complete by 31st 

May 2019. 

 

 

 

 

Commissioning 

Director 

Jon McGinty 

 

 

Ongoing progress 

updates will be 

provided to the 

AGC. 

 

P
age 104



010605/19/003: GFRS Investigation Action Plan  v1.0 
OFFICIAL 

7 

 

 Recommendation Progress to date Internal Audits 
(IA) Role 

Lead 
Officer(s) 

Proposed 
Reporting 

Arrangements 
and 

Timescales 
5 HR and Payroll 

To evaluate the effectiveness of the control procedures 

in place to ensure that staff recruitment and internal 

movement / promotion processes, are in compliance 

with the relevant policies including Accounting 

Instruction No.13 (Payroll Procedures), and the relevant 

GFRS / GCC Terms and Conditions e.g. Gold Book, 

Grey Book and Green Book. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5a Recruitment 

Ensure the recruitment processes within GFRS are in 

compliance with the Council/GFRS policies and 

procedures. 

 

A Terms of Reference in respect 

of the Recruitment audit has been 

produced by IA and agreed with 

the Commissioning Director - Jon 

McGinty and Acting Director of 

HR and Digital – Mandy Quayle. 

 

Final Report and 

Action Plan 

completed. 

Limited Assurance 

opinion provided on 

the control 

environment. 

 

 

Commissioning 

Director - Jon 

McGinty  

 

 

Final Report 

presented to 

Audit and 

Governance 

Committee 25th 

April 2019. 

An Internal Audit 

follow up review 

will be 

undertaken in 

2019/2020. 

P
age 105



010605/19/003: GFRS Investigation Action Plan  v1.0 
OFFICIAL 

8 

 

 Recommendation Progress to date Internal Audits 
(IA) Role 

Lead 
Officer(s) 

Proposed 
Reporting 

Arrangements 
and 

Timescales 
5b Progression 

Ensure the progression processes within GFRS are in 

compliance with the Council/GFRS policies and 

procedures. 

 

A Terms of Reference in respect 

of the Progression audit has been 

produced by IA and agreed with 

the Commissioning Director - Jon 

McGinty and Acting Director of 

HR and Digital – Mandy Quayle. 

 

Final Report and 

Action Plan 

completed. 

Limited Assurance 

opinion provided on 

the control 

environment. 

 

 

Commissioning 

Director - Jon 

McGinty  

 

 

Final Report 

presented to 

Audit and 

Governance 

Committee 25th 

April 2019. 

An Internal Audit 

follow up review 

will be 

undertaken in 

2019/2020. 

5c Retirement 

Ensure the retirement (pensions) processes within 

GFRS are in compliance with the Council/GFRS 

policies and procedures. 

 

 

A Terms of Reference in respect 

of the retirement audit has been 

produced by IA and agreed with 

the Commissioning Director - Jon 

McGinty and Acting Director of 

HR and Digital – Mandy Quayle. 

 

Final Report and 

Action Plan 

completed. 

 

 

Commissioning 

Director - Jon 

McGinty  

 

 

Final Report 

presented to 

Audit and 

Governance 

Committee 25th 

April 2019. 

 

P
age 106



010605/19/003: GFRS Investigation Action Plan  v1.0 
OFFICIAL 

9 

 

 Recommendation Progress to date Internal Audits 
(IA) Role 

Lead 
Officer(s) 

Proposed 
Reporting 

Arrangements 
and 

Timescales 
5d Absence reporting procedures 

To ascertain the GFRS compliance with the Council’s 

sickness, absence and attendance management and 

reporting procedures. 

 

A Terms of Reference in respect 

of this review has been agreed 

with the Commissioning Director - 

Jon McGinty, Chief Fire Officer, 

Wayne Bowcock and Acting 

Director of HR and Digital – 

Mandy Quayle. 

 

Compliance testing 

will commence 

during Qtr. 1 

2019/2020.  

Complete by 31st 

May 2019 

 

Commissioning 

Director - Jon 

McGinty  

 

Ongoing progress 

updates will be 

provided to the 

AGC. 

5e Expenses and Service Benefits 

To establish compliance with Accounting Instruction 

No.8 (Travelling and Meal Expenditure), GCC policies 

such as Staff Travel Expenses and Use of Vehicles and 

service benefit entitlements (where applicable) such as 

subscriptions to professional bodies, medical, dental, 

optical and clothing expenses. 

 

A Terms of Reference in respect 

of this review will be agreed with 

the Commissioning Director - Jon 

McGinty and Chief Fire Officer – 

Wayne Bowcock. 

 

Compliance testing 

will commence 

during Qtr. 1 

2019/2020.  

Complete by 31st 

May 2019 

 

Commissioning 

Director 

Jon McGinty 

 

Ongoing progress 

updates will be 

provided to the 

AGC. 

P
age 107



010605/19/003: GFRS Investigation Action Plan  v1.0 
OFFICIAL 

10 

 

 Recommendation Progress to date Internal Audits 
(IA) Role 

Lead 
Officer(s) 

Proposed 
Reporting 

Arrangements 
and 

Timescales 
5f Complaints/Grievances process 

To ascertain the process for receiving and recording 

complaints/grievances raised by staff and to ensure that 

they are dealt with in a consistent, fair and appropriate 

way. 

 

A Terms of Reference in respect 

of this review will be produced by 

IA and agreed with the 

Commissioning Director - Jon 

McGinty, Acting Director of HR 

and Digital – Mandy Quayle and 

the Director: Strategy and 

Challenge – Jane Burns. 

 

To avoid any 

duplication of work, 

IA proposes that that 

this audit is deferred 

until 2020/21 when 

the results of the 

work of the Scrutiny 

Task Group and HR 

have been shared 

and a more informed 

decision on the 

scope of the audit 

can be considered.  

 

 

Commissioning 

Director 

Jon McGinty 

 

 

Included within 

the 2020/2021 

Internal Audit 

Plan  

6a Procurement 

To evaluate the GFRS procurement system in place to 

ensure alignment with EU legislation, and for 

compliance with GCC and local policies and procedures 

(including Accounting Instruction No.1 Ordering, 

Receiving and Payment of Goods and Services, 

Contract Standing Orders and Financial Regulations). 

 

 

A Terms of Reference in respect 

of this review has been produced 

by IA and agreed with the 

Commissioning Director - Jon 

McGinty and Head of Commercial 

Services – Ian Mawdsley. 

 

 

Compliance testing 

is currently in 

progress. 

Complete by 30th 

April 2019. 

 

 

Commissioning 

Director - Jon 

McGinty 

 

Ongoing progress 

updates will be 

provided to the 

AGC. 

P
age 108



010605/19/003: GFRS Investigation Action Plan  v1.0 
OFFICIAL 

11 

 

 Recommendation Progress to date Internal Audits 
(IA) Role 

Lead 
Officer(s) 

Proposed 
Reporting 

Arrangements 
and 

Timescales 
6b Procurement Cards 

This audit will review the use of the Council’s 

procurement cards (P Cards) process by GFRS staff to 

ensure that goods and services purchased are in 

compliance with Council policies, value for money is 

achieved and where appropriate VAT is reclaimed on 

purchases made (Accounting Instruction No.16 (VAT)). 

 

A Terms of Reference in respect 

of this review has been produced 

by IA and agreed with the 

Commissioning Director - Jon 

McGinty and Head of Commercial 

Services – Ian Mawdsley. 

 

 

Final Report and 

Action Plan 

completed. 

Limited Assurance 

opinion provided on 

the control 

environment. 

 

 

Commissioning 

Director - Jon 

McGinty 

 

Final Report 

presented to 

Audit and 

Governance 

Committee 25th 

April 2019. 

An Internal Audit 

follow up review 

will be 

undertaken in 

2019/2020. 

7 Capital Programme 

This review will seek to provide assurance that GFRS 

has a robust governance framework in place for 

management of the Capital Programme and is 

compliant with good practice requirements as published 

in CIPFA guidance and Accounting Instruction No.19 

(Capital Programme).  

 

A Terms of Reference in respect 

of this review has been produced 

by IA and agreed with the 

Commissioning Director - Jon 

McGinty and Acting Director 

Financial Services – Paul Blacker. 

 

 

Compliance testing 

will commence 

during Qtr. 1 

2019/2020.  

Complete by 31st 

May 2019. 

 

 

 

Commissioning 

Director - Jon 

McGinty 

 

 

Ongoing progress 

updates will be 

provided to the 

AGC. 

P
age 109



010605/19/003: GFRS Investigation Action Plan  v1.0 
OFFICIAL 

12 

 

 Recommendation Progress to date Internal Audits 
(IA) Role 

Lead 
Officer(s) 

Proposed 
Reporting 

Arrangements 
and 

Timescales 
8 Income  (including petty cash) 

The audit will seek to evaluate the effectiveness of the 

income and cash handling procedures; and compliance 

with Financial Regulations, Accounting Instructions 

No.2 (Income), No.3 (Security of Cash) and No.6 (Petty 

Cash Imprest Accounts). 

 

A Terms of Reference in respect 

of this review has been produced 

by IA and agreed with the 

Commissioning Director - Jon 

McGinty and Acting Director 

Financial Services – Paul Blacker. 

 

Compliance testing 

is currently in 

progress. 

Complete by 30th 

April 2019. 

 

Commissioning 

Director - Jon 

McGinty 

 

 

Ongoing progress 

updates will be 

provided to the 

AGC. 

9a Budget Setting 

This review will seek to establish the effectiveness of 

the budget setting process and relevant control 

arrangements to provide assurance that an accurate 

and operationally reflective budget is set prior to the 

start of the financial year. 

 

 

A Terms of Reference in respect 

of this review has been produced 

by IA and agreed with the 

Commissioning Director - Jon 

McGinty and Acting Director 

Financial Services – Paul Blacker. 

 

Final Report and 

Action Plan 

completed. 

 

 

Commissioning 

Director - Jon 

McGinty 

 

 

Final Report 

presented to 

Audit and 

Governance 

Committee 25th 

April 2019. 

9b Budget Monitoring  

This review will seek to establish the effectiveness of 

the robustness of the budget monitoring system to 

ensure that forecasts submitted are accurate and reflect 

the actual and planned spend (Accounting Instruction 

No.14 (Budget Estimates and Monitoring Procedures)). 

 

A Terms of Reference in respect 

of this review has been produced 

by IA and agreed with the 

Commissioning Director - Jon 

McGinty and Acting Director 

Financial Services – Paul Blacker. 

 

 

Final Report and 

Action Plan 

completed. 

 

 

Commissioning 

Director - Jon 

McGinty 

 

 

Final Report 

presented to 

Audit and 

Governance 

Committee 25th 

April 2019. 

P
age 110



010605/19/003: GFRS Investigation Action Plan  v1.0 
OFFICIAL 

13 

 

 Recommendation Progress to date Internal Audits 
(IA) Role 

Lead 
Officer(s) 

Proposed 
Reporting 

Arrangements 
and 

Timescales 

Internal Audit Reviews – Council wide 

10 Council Wide Compliance Reviews 

In addition to the above, during the next 18 months, IA 

to undertaken ‘pure compliance’ audits across the 

whole Council. These audits will review compliance with 

the Council’s key corporate policies (financial and non 

financial). 

 

 

 

Discussion at the July 2018 AGC 

supported the approach of 

considering Council wide 

compliance audits in the event of 

any learning points arising from 

the GFRS reviews, together with 

any re-prioritisation of the 

2018/19 Internal Audit plan as 

required. 

 

Internal audit 

compliance activities 

have been included 

in the Internal Audit 

Plan 2019/2020. 

 

Acting Director 

Financial 

Services  (S151) 

Paul Blacker 

 

Risk Based 

Internal Audit 

Plan presented to 

the AGC on 25th 

April 2019. 

Outcomes of 

audit activity 

presented to AGC 

as part of the 

quarterly Internal 

Audit progress 

reports during 

2019/20. 

11 Governance Assurance Statements 

To test the adequacy of the 2018/19 Directors and 

Heads of Service Governance Assurance Statements.  

 

Discussion at the July 2018 AGC 

resulted in a request that IA 

undertake a review of the 

adequacy of the 2018/19 

Directors and Heads of Service 

Governance Assurance 

Statements.  

 

This audit activity 

has been 

incorporated into 

Quarter 2 of the 

2019/20 Internal 

Audit Plan. 

 

Acting Director 

Financial 

Services (S151) 

Paul Blacker 

 

Outcomes to be 

presented to the 

AGC as part of 

the quarterly 

internal audit 

progress reports 

during 2019/20. 

 

P
age 111



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

GFRS Procurement – Procurement 
Cards 

9th April 2019 

Paul Rust – Senior Auditor 

Page 113



Gloucestershire County Council – April 19 

 

010605/19/006: GFRS Procurement v2 Final 
OFFICIAL 

 

 

Distribution 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Contents 

Executive Summary ..................................................................................................................... 1 

Audit Opinions on Risk Management and Control ....................................................................... 5 

Appendix A – Action Plan and Management Response ............................................................... 6 

 

 

Important 

 Gloucestershire County Council’s Internal Audit function conforms to the 
International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing. 
 

 The information contained within this audit report is confidential and personal data herein 
is subject to data protection legislation. 
 

This report has been prepared solely for the use of Gloucestershire County Council’s auditors 
and those officers and Members named on the distribution list.  Its contents, either in part or in 
its entirety, must not be reproduced or distributed to anyone other than its intended recipients 
without the written permission of the Council’s Chief Internal Auditor. 

Gloucestershire County Council accepts no liability to any third party for any loss or expense 
arising from their reliance on any part of this report.

To:  Jon McGinty  Commissioning Director 

Wayne Bowcock Chief Fire Officer 

Paul Blacker  Acting Director – Financial Services 

Mandy Quayle Acting Director HR and Digital 

 
Copy:  Jane Burns  Director: Strategy and Challenge / Monitoring Officer  

 

 

Page 114



Gloucestershire County Council – April 19 

 

010605/19/006: GFRS Procurement v2 Final 
OFFICIAL 

1 

 

Executive Summary 

Introduction 
 
On 15th June 2018 a letter of complaint was sent by email to the Leader of the Council. There 
were three strands to the complaint, one concerned the sale of a Gloucestershire Fire and 
Rescue Service (GFRS) owned vehicle and the former Chief Fire Officer’s (CFO) involvement in 
the process. The other two concerns were regarding staffing issues. It was agreed that Internal 
Audit (IA) would investigate the sale of the vehicle and Human Resources (HR) would review 
the remaining two concerns, which are included within the management review of culture. 

Shortly after commencing the investigation, numerous whistleblowing allegations and Freedom 
of Information requests in respect of other concerns relating to GFRS governance 
arrangements, procedures, systems and processes were received. As a result, following IA 
review, research, analysis and interviews with key stakeholders including relevant GFRS 
Officers, IA co-ordinated the findings and made a number of GFRS-specific and council-wide / 
cross-cutting recommendations to undertake detailed reviews/audits within each area to 
determine the level of risk. These reviews/audits are outlined in the Action Plan presented to the 
Audit and Governance Committee on 12th October 2018. Progress updates against each 
review/audit included within the Action Plan will be provided to the Audit and Governance 
Committee. 

The purchase of goods and services should comply with Gloucestershire County Council’s (the 
Council) Contract Standing Orders, Financial Regulations, Accounting Instructions, and the 
European Union (EU) procurement regulations to ensure value for money, fair competition and 
transparency.  All tendering exercises for goods and services must be conducted electronically 
through the Council’s e-procurement system. Those involving quotations, i.e. under £75k spend, 
should also be carried out using the e-procurement system. 

Purchase Orders for expenditure should be raised through the Council’s financial system SAP. 

Procurement card expenditure is exempt from the need to raise official orders and thus 
represents a convenient and cost effective way to make low-value purchases. However, all 
purchases must fully comply with the Council’s policies.  Between April 2015 and December 
2018 six procurement cards had been issued to GFRS Principal Officers, Data Co-ordinator, 
Workshops Manager and Stores Officer.  The total value of procurement card purchases during 
this period was approximately £150,000. 
 
Audit Scope 
 
The objective of this audit was to review GFRS procurement card transactions, general 
expenditure and procurement processes during the period 2015-16 to 2018-19, to provide 
assurance that appropriate systems and controls are in place and operating in practice. 
Specifically to ensure that: 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 115



Gloucestershire County Council – April 19 

 

010605/19/006: GFRS Procurement v2 Final 
OFFICIAL 

2 

 

 
Procurement cards 

 Procurement cards are issued to authorised officers who have been appropriately trained 
and the security of the personal identification number (PIN) and cards are maintained; 

 Financial limits and merchant category group restrictions have been appropriately set to 
individual procurement cards and have been approved; 

 Financial transactions are made in accordance with Council policies, supported by 
genuine receipts and have been correctly and promptly reconciled / authorised; and 

 Value Added Tax (VAT) has been correctly accounted for on financial transactions in 
accordance with Council policy. 

 
General expenditure 

 Expenditure is in accordance with Council and local policies and procedures supported 
by supplier receipts, for valid business purposes, and have been correctly authorised. 

 
Procurement 

 Expenditure has been subject to the Council’s Contract Standing Orders, Financial 
Regulations, Accounting Instructions and EU procurement regulations.  

 
The results of Internal Audit’s review of general expenditure and procurement will be reported 
separately to this audit report. 
 
Key Findings 
 

Strategic Finance is responsible for and owns the procurement card process with support from 
Business Service Centre (BSC).  In addition a Code of Practice has been drafted by Strategic 
Finance which all procurement cardholders must sign as evidence that they will comply with the 
stated 15 conditions / requirements. 
 
The GFRS Assurance Statement 2017-18 was approved by the former Chief Fire Officer and 
Deputy Chief Fire Officer in February 2018, which confirmed that the Service was compliant with 
the governance principle ‘F’: Managing risk and performance through robust internal control, 
strong public financial management, and managing data appropriately.  Internal Audit test 
results have however highlighted that the expected controls are not operating effectively and 
therefore management’s assurance statement was providing false positive assurance in relation 
to the management, oversight and use of procurement cards.  
 
In addition all six officers that had been issued with a procurement card during the period of the 
audit had signed the Code of Practice confirming that they will comply with all the conditions / 
requirements for the use and security of the card.  However, Internal Audit test results have 
highlighted cases of non-compliance with the Code of Practice such as: 

 The procurement cardholder has given their card to another officer to use and divulged 
their PIN or have not securely held the PIN (see finding one below); 

 Single transactions limits applied to individual procurement cardholders have been 
circumvented by splitting the payment into two transactions (see finding two below); and 

 Expenditure may not be all for legitimate business purposes (see finding four below). 
 
 

Page 116



Gloucestershire County Council – April 19 

 

010605/19/006: GFRS Procurement v2 Final 
OFFICIAL 

3 

 

Internal Audit has established through discussions with GFRS officers involved in the 
procurement card process, BSC and Strategic Finance that initial training provided to GFRS 
officers has not been effective and complete as the online tutorials have not been operational 
for sometime.  In addition reliance has instead been placed on GFRS officers already involved 
in the procurement card process to train new staff in the process, which has proven to be 
inadequate (see finding one below). 
 
The Council documented guidance at the time of this audit on the use and operation of the 
procurement cards and processes is not considered by Internal Audit to be detailed or complete 
to fully explain each officer’s relevant role and responsibility (see finding three).  This may 
therefore have contributed to some of the issues that have been identified by Internal Audit such 
as: 

 Procurement card expenditure authorisers do not confirm valid VAT invoices are 
obtained or that invoices that are received are reviewed and checked against the 
expenditure to confirm appropriate, legitimate, etc.; 

 At least 51 transactions were not supported by an invoice.  In addition there was a lack of 
information recorded by the procurement cardholder / reconciler on invoices or other 
supporting documents to fully explain the purpose of travel, accommodation, food and 
drink where appropriate including who the attendees were.  The invoice or supporting 
document should ‘stand on its own’ to fully explain the expenditure for management and 
external bodies such as external audit, Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs (HMRC), 
etc. without the need to refer back to cardholders / reconcilers and personal diaries; and 

 All expenditure relating to Principal Officers during the period of this audit (former Chief 
Fire Officer, Deputy Chief Fire Officer and previous Assistant Chief Fire Officer) have 
been incorrectly analysed to the default expenditure account in SAP, e.g. 
accommodation has been posted to the SAP general ledger account, Furniture, 
Equipment and Tools, etc. 

 
In addition the following items of expenditure (examples selected are all in excess of £50) may 
not be classed as appropriate legitimate business expenditure: 

 The former Chief Fire Officer personal professional fees subscriptions were paid for the 
period April 2015 to May 2018 totalling £1,753, although £210 was later reimbursed in 
July 2018 for a 2018-19 subscription after he had resigned. The payment of professional 
fees to staff was removed when terms and conditions were reviewed in 2013. There are 
a few areas within the Council where fees are still paid e.g. where it is a requirement for 
someone to be able to practice such as Lawyers, however this was subject to a business 
case being written and approved by the Corporate Management Team. 

 The former Chief Fire Officer attended in January 2016 a Scottish Fire and Rescue 
Service Burns night charity event.  The costs of the flights, car park, accommodation 
(included above) and car hire totalling £400 were paid on his procurement card; and 

 The former Chief Fire Officer has purchased on his and other officers procurement cards 
approximately £1,300 of medals, ribbons and lapels during the audit period. 

 
(Please see finding four and five below for further detail on transactions identified). 
 
The GFRS Group Manager – Budget Management at the time was responsible for authorising 
all Principal Officers procurement card expenditure, but as already noted this did not involve a 
review and checking of invoices and amounted to little more than administrative processing.   
 

Page 117



Gloucestershire County Council – April 19 

 

010605/19/006: GFRS Procurement v2 Final 
OFFICIAL 

4 

 

Internal Audit believes that to ensure there is effective challenge of expenditure and avoid any 
undue influence, the role of authoriser for current Principal Officers should be performed by the 
next management level up to the procurement cardholder and / or an appropriate independent 
senior member of staff (see finding five below). 
 
Internal Audit discussions held with procurement cardholders and expenditure authorisers 
established that they were unaware of the process for claiming VAT on expenditure despite 
clear guidance i.e. Financial Guides and Manuals being available on the Council’s intranet 
Staffnet.  As a result, no VAT has been claimed for the audit period, which has increased costs 
for GFRS and the Council.  A review of Principal Officers procurement card expenditure for the 
audit period highlighted that approximately £600 VAT could have been claimed, but a further 
£600 could not due to a lack of valid VAT invoices (see finding seven below). 
 
The Council operates the ‘three lines of defence’ model to monitor and provide assurance to 
senior management on the organisation’s risk management framework and control environment.  
The Service area, in this case GFRS, provides the ‘first line’ and should have implemented a 
checking / validation / verification process, and Strategic Finance would operate as the ‘second 
line’ as they provide the oversight function for procurement cards.  However, there was no 
evidence that sample checks of procurement card expenditure and regular reviews of 
unauthorised transactions were performed by Strategic Finance for the audit period.  For 
information, the third line of defence represents Internal Audit, External Audit, HMRC, etc. 
 
A new procurement card provider and system has recently been commissioned by Strategic 
Finance and is now being rolled out to all procurement cardholders and officers involved in the 
process.  Internal Audit has supported Strategic Finance by providing advice and contributed to 
the revised guidance being issued to cardholders.  This new procurement card system should 
provide, in Internal Audit’s opinion from discussions with Strategic Finance and a brief 
walkthrough of the system, an improvement in the control framework subject to officers 
effectively complying with their roles and responsibilities. 
 
Conclusion 
 
The results of Internal Audit fieldwork and discussions with appropriate officers established that 
procurement cardholders have not complied with all of the rules and conditions stipulated in the 
Code of Practice that they signed up to.  
 
In addition the assurance provided by the former Chief Fire Officer and Deputy Chief Fire Officer 
in the Fire Assurance Statement 2017-18 that GFRS were compliant in the management of risks 
and performance through robust internal control, strong public financial management and 
managing data appropriately is not compatible with the procurement card process followed as 
identified by this review.  
 
The lack of effective initial training and guidance may have contributed to some of the issues 
identified by Internal Audit.  In addition, there was also an absence of effective oversight and 
monitoring of procurement card usage by Principal Officers and Strategic Finance during the 
audit period to ensure the control environment was operating in a proper manner and that 
improper usage and processes were promptly identified and appropriate action taken. 
 
Internal Audit has raised seven high and one medium priority recommendations to improve the 
control environment. 

Page 118



Gloucestershire County Council – April 19 

 

010605/19/006: GFRS Procurement v2 Final 
OFFICIAL 

5 

 

Audit Opinions on Risk Management and Control 

The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards require Internal Audit to provide an independent 
opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk identification processes which 
management has put in place within the area under review, and a sound framework of controls 
is in place to sufficiently mitigate those risks. This opinion feeds into the Chief Internal Auditor’s 
annual opinion on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the Council’s governance, risk 
management and control environment, which supports the Annual Governance Statement.  

Each report will provide a statement on the levels of assurance that can be given within these 
two areas, evaluated by applying the following criteria:   
 

Assurance 
Levels 

Risk Identification Maturity Control Environment 

Substantial Risk Managed 

Service area fully aware of the risks relating to the area 

under review and the impact that these may have on service 

delivery, other services, finance, reputation, legal, the 

environment, client/customer/partners, and staff. All key risks 

are accurately reported and monitored in line with the 

Corporate Risk Management Strategy. 

 System Adequacy – Robust 

framework of controls ensures 

that there is a high likelihood 

of objectives being achieved 

 Control Application – Controls 

are applied continuously or 

with minor lapses 

Satisfactory Risk Aware 

Service area have an awareness of the risks relating to the 

area under review and the impact that these may have on 

service delivery, other services, finance, reputation, legal, 

the environment, client/customer/partners, and staff, 

however some key risks are not being accurately reported 

and monitored in line with the Corporate Risk Management 

Strategy. 

 System Adequacy – Sufficient 

framework of key controls for 

objectives to be achieved but, 

control framework could be 

stronger 

 Control Application – Controls 

are applied but with some 

lapses 

Limited Risk Naïve  

Due to an absence of accurate and regular reporting and 

monitoring of the key risks in line with the Corporate Risk 

Management Strategy, the Service area has not 

demonstrated an adequate awareness of the risks relating to 

the area under review and the impact that these may have 

on service delivery, other services, finance, reputation, legal, 

the environment, client/customer/partners and staff.   

 System Adequacy – Risk of 

objectives not being achieved 

due to the absence of key 

internal controls 

 Control Application – 

Significant breakdown in the 

application of control 

 
Taking account of the issues identified in this audit, in our opinion, limited assurance can be 
provided that the risk identification arrangements operating within the area reviewed are 
operating as intended.  Limited assurance can be provided that these risks which are 
considered to be material to the achievement of the services objectives for this area under 
review are adequately managed and controlled. 

Page 119



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/006: GFRS Procurement v2 Final 
OFFICIAL 

6 

 

Appendix A – Action Plan and Management Response 

This section contains the findings for each audit objective 
along with any recommendations made by Internal Audit to 
strengthen the control environment. The recommendations 
are categorised as follows: 
 

 
Overall Management Response 
 
This audit relates to an old solution, which is no longer active or available to the majority of card holders. It addresses many of the issues 
already identified which is why a new solution has been procured trialled and recently rolled out to existing cardholders.  Our main reasons for 
changing the solution were to: 
 

 Improve the robustness of the authorisation process; 

 Improve transparency over card expenditure; 

 Exercise better central control over what could be transacted using cards; 

 Ensure a full audit trail of all expenditure is recorded and available for inspection, including authorisation; 

 Improve the security of p cards and their usage; 

 Re-establish central control over single transaction limits, monthly expenditure limits and the types of expenditure which can be 
transacted on a procurement card; 

 Improve the quality of supporting evidence for all expenditure and VAT transactions and make receipts / invoices available to the 
authoriser prior to their authorisation. VAT receipts and invoices need to be available for inspection by strategic Finance and audit;  

 Improve the VAT reclamation process and recover more VAT as a result; 

 Ensure that any ambiguity related to cardholder and authoriser responsibilities is removed. (Individuals need to be clear about what is 
expected of them and by when); 

 Improve the management information in terms of quality of content and timeliness of availability within SAP and the supplier portal; and 

 Improve the quality of training related to procurement card activity.  
 
We welcome this review and comment that the new solution recently implemented is already addressing most the recommendations made.  
 
 

Priority Description 

High Critical/Major risk exposure which materially impact on the assets, 
reputation, service delivery and objectives of the organisation.  

Medium Moderate risk exposure that impacts on the assets, reputation, 
service delivery and objectives of the organisation. 

P
age 120



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/006: GFRS Procurement v2 Final 
OFFICIAL 

7 

 

Objective: Procurement cards are issued to authorised officers who have been appropriately trained and the 
security of the personal identification number (PIN) and cards are maintained.  

Finding one 
 
Training 
Internal Audit discussions with the Council’s BSC established that the online tutorials for procurement cardholders / reconcilers and 
authorisers have not been operating for sometime.  As a result the recommended BSC approach was for officers involved in the procurement 
card process to train new officers who were subsequently assigned a procurement card role.  Confirmation of the training for cardholders was 
then logged by the BSC on the individual’s procurement cardholder checklist.  However, a review of the GFRS checklists identified the 
following: 

 No checklist for one of the cardholders; 

 No record of training recorded against another cardholder; and 

 The checklist for a cardholder stated that confirmation that training had taken placed was chased on 7th August 2017, however there are 
no further details to confirm training was given.   

 
Discussions by Internal Audit with the GFRS officers involved in the procurement card process established that they believed the training 
provided was limited and inadequate.   
 
A new procurement card provider was commissioned during 2018-19 and rollout of the card and system to all procurement cardholders is 
currently being implemented by Strategic Finance.  Training is being provided by Strategic Finance to the procurement cardholders / 
reconcilers on the operation of the new system and guidance is to be issued to authorisers. 
 
Security of procurement card and PIN 
Internal Audit established from its review of procurement card expenditure and discussions with three procurement cardholders / reconcilers 
that the security of their card and / or PIN was not secure as follows: 

 The Personal Assistant to Principal Officers advised Internal Audit that the former Chief Fire Officer, Deputy Chief Fire Officer and the 
Assistant Chief Fire Officer had provided her with their procurement cards to enable her to make purchases on their behalf or for use on 
other general items of expenditure.  In addition the Data Co-ordinator and Stores Officer confirmed that they had also released their 
card to other officers on occasions (see recommendation four below); 

 The Workshops Manager still retained the letter from the procurement card provider detailing the PIN, which was filed with the invoices 
and stored in a unlocked cabinet in an open plan office; 

 The Data Co-ordinator advised that she was not aware of the PIN and believed that she had not been provided details of it; and 

 The Stores Officer advised that she had divulged the PIN to at least one other officer. 

P
age 121



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/006: GFRS Procurement v2 Final 
OFFICIAL 

8 

 

The above is in contravention of the requirement (i) of the Code of Practice, signed by all procurement cardholders when issued with the card 
as agreement that they will comply with the Code; ‘I understand that as the named cardholder, I am fully responsible for the use of the card. I 
agree to take all reasonable precautions to prevent unnecessary disclosure of information relating to the card and to keep it secure at all times.  
I agree not to share my card or divulge card details to another individual or to use another person’s card’. 
 

No. Recommendation Risks Agreed Action 

1 (H) GFRS Procurement cardholders and 
authorisers should obtain appropriate training 
and be fully advised of the use of 
procurement cards, security arrangements 
and the expected verification checks so that 
they are reminded of and made fully aware of 
their expected roles and responsibilities. 

Non-compliance with Council policies and 
legislation (including data protection) 
resulting in the loss of commercial 
integrity, financial irregularities, penalties / 
fines from the regulator and reputational 
damage. 
 
Procurement cards and PIN are not held 
securely resulting in financial 
irregularities. 

As part of implementing the new solution 
training has been provided to all cardholders 
with specific instruction on responsibilities 
regarding security/ VAT related 
documentation requirements, expected 
verification and authorisation checking.  
 
All cardholders have signed for receipt of 
their card and they agree and understand the 
policy (including understanding legitimate 
allowable expenditure, transaction and 
monthly limits allowable and the need for 
security of the card at all times). They have 
also confirmed that they have a good 
understanding of their responsibilities when 
using the new solution. 
 
An authorisation training and guidance video 
has been developed for authorisers.  The 
plan is to deliver the agreed format to 
authorisers during the next few weeks. In the 
short term Strategic Finance will authorise 
the transactions. 
 

Person Responsible Due Date 

Cardholder training. 
Finance Officer, 
Strategic Finance 

 
6th March 2019 
(complete) 

P
age 122



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/006: GFRS Procurement v2 Final 
OFFICIAL 

9 

 

No. Recommendation Risks Agreed Action 

Authoriser training 
rollout. 
Finance Manager, 
Strategic Finance 

 
 
31st May 2019 

 

Objective: Financial limits and merchant category group restrictions have been appropriately set to individual 
procurement cards and have been approved.  

Finding two 
 
A review by Internal Audit of all procurement card expenditure for the period April 2015 to December 2018 against the cardholders approved 
single transaction financial limits highlighted the following: 

 The Workshops Manager and Data Co-ordinator cardholders had on a number of occasions broken the payment or invoice into smaller 
amounts to ensure their single transaction limit was not exceeded; 

 The Data Co-ordinator and Deputy Chief Fire Officer exceeded their single transaction limit as per BSC records on at least one 
occasion and there was no documentary evidence retained by the BSC confirming a temporary financial increase had been applied; 
and 

 The Data Co-ordinator advised that she was not aware that there was a single transaction limit for the card. 
 
The above is in contravention of the requirement (m) of the Code of Practice, signed by all procurement cardholders when issued with the card 
as agreement that they will comply with the Code; ‘I agree to observe my credit limit at all times’. See recommendation two below. 
 
The Workshops Manager’s single transaction limit of £500 was temporarily increased to £1,000 in March 2017 as supported by a memo 
drafted by BSC and held on their records.  However, there is no expiry date to the increase or evidence of follow-up by BSC with GFRS 
management to either withdraw the increase or confirm permanence.  Therefore the temporary increase still remains at the point of this audit.  
 
All cardholders’ individual monthly total financial limits were not exceeded during the above period of Internal Audit review. 
 
 
 
 

P
age 123



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/006: GFRS Procurement v2 Final 
OFFICIAL 

10 

 

Objective: Financial transactions are made in accordance with Council policies, supported by genuine receipts 
and have been correctly and promptly reconciled / authorised.  

Finding three 
 

Guidance on the use of procurement cards and the reconciliation and authorisation of the expenditure through the Council’s accounting 
system has been documented on the Council’s Staffnet, Financial guides and manuals.  In addition the Code of Practice, signed by the 
procurement cardholder, details specific requirements that the cardholder must comply with in the use of the card.  However, there was a lack 
of detail to fully explain the expected role and responsibility of the reconciler, authoriser of procurement card expenditure, retention of 
completed Purchase Card Expenditure Request forms and invoices. 
 

In addition Accounting Instructions on overnight accommodation for business purposes was not fully clear to specify what was acceptable for 
price and quality of the hotel, i.e. star rating.  However, Home Office guidance for Fire and Rescue Services states that ‘a key restriction is that 
the expenditure should be for business purposes and agreed in advance.  In addition value for money and best use of public funds should be 
applied and therefore lower priced suitable accommodation should be used’.  There was no stated explicit limitation on star standard of hotel 
accommodation. 
 

Discussions by Internal Audit with the three procurement card authorisers established that they did not review / check the expenditure back to 
invoices to confirm appropriate use of public money and in accordance with the Council’s policies, before authorising.  Instead the following 
checks were undertaken: 

 The Finance and Compliance Manager advised that she placed reliance on the reconciler to verify the expenditure to invoices and 
therefore she reviewed for reasonableness; 

 The Head of Civil Protection Team, Business Planning, Performance and Communications advised that she reviewed the list of 
expenditure requiring her authorisation for reasonableness; and 

 The Head of Technical Services advised that he would discuss the list of expenditure requiring his authorisation with the procurement 
cardholder to understand their purpose and for reasonableness.  

 

No. Recommendation Risks Agreed Action 

2 (H) Strategic Finance should update the 
procurement card procedural instructions / 
guidance so that procurement cardholders, 
reconcilers and authorisers are fully made 
aware of their responsibilities, in particular it 
should highlight, but not limited to, the 
following: 

Non-compliance with Council policies and 
legislation resulting in the loss of 
commercial integrity, financial 
irregularities, penalties / fines from the 
regulator and reputational damage. 
 
 

Procurement card instructions and guidance 
have been updated as part of the roll out of 
the new p-card solution. 
 
 
 
 

P
age 124



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/006: GFRS Procurement v2 Final 
OFFICIAL 

11 

 

No. Recommendation Risks Agreed Action 

Procurement cardholders 

 Procurement cards should be kept 
secure at all times and never given out 
to anyone; and 

 PIN’s notification from the procurement 
card provider should be destroyed on 
receipt, PIN retained securely and 
never divulged to anyone. 

 Valid VAT invoices / receipts should be 
obtained in all cases or in exceptional 
cases where this is not possible an 
appropriate explanation recorded; and 

 The reason for details of travel, 
accommodation or any subsistence 
should be documented on the receipt / 
invoice including the names of those 
the expenditure relates to. 

 

Authorisers 

 Authorisers should review / check 
invoices to confirm: 
- Valid VAT receipts / invoices have 

been obtained; 
- They represent legitimate and 

appropriate business expenditure 
which is in accordance with the 
Council’s rules and regulations; 

- Payments or invoices have not 
been split to avoid breach of the 
cardholder’s financial limit; 

- Correctly coded (cost centre and 
general ledger account number); 
and 

Inappropriate use of procurement cards 
resulting in fraudulent activity / misuse, 
financial loss and reputational damage. 
 
Inappropriate expenditure resulting in 
financial losses and adverse publicity. 
 
VAT on purchases has not been correctly 
accounted for resulting in increased costs 
to the Council as a result of under/over 
claiming of VAT and potential penalties / 
fines from HMRC. 
 
Value for money is not achieved. 
 
Non compliance with the seven Principles 
of Public Life. 

The training delivered to new card holders 
clearly highlights their responsibilities and the 
authority’s expectations with regard to their P 
card activity. Particular attention was paid to 
the security of cards in this training 
explaining that security of PIN information 
and the physical security of the card are of 
paramount importance. In addition to this the 
sign off routine includes the P card policy 
which covers all aspects of card security. All 
relevant GFRS personnel have signed this 
acceptance. 
 
Strategic Finance are in the process of 
updating Staffnet pages with the revised 
policy document. 
 
Authorisers will be provided guidance and 
training related to the authorisation process. 

Person Responsible Due Date 

Staffnet update. 
Finance Officer, 
Strategic Finance 
 
Authoriser training 
rollout. 
Finance Manager, 
Strategic Finance 

 
30th April 2019 
 
 
 
 
31st May 2019 
 

P
age 125



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/006: GFRS Procurement v2 Final 
OFFICIAL 

12 

 

No. Recommendation Risks Agreed Action 

- VAT has been correctly claimed.  
 

Once rollout of the new procurement card and 
system to all procurement cardholders has 
been completed the Staffnet procurement 
card financial guide should be fully updated. 

 
 

No. Recommendation Risks Agreed Action 

3 (H) Strategic Finance, with support from Human 
Resources, should fully determine the 
Council’s policy relating to overnight business 
accommodation specifically in relation to the 
cost / quality of accommodation including any 
other associated costs to ensure appropriate 
use and value of public money.   
 
Specific guidance should then be published 
so that all staff are fully aware of the Council’s 
policy and their individual responsibilities 
when booking accommodation and any 
associated expenses. 
 

Inappropriate use of procurement cards 
resulting in fraudulent activity / misuse, 
financial loss and reputational damage. 
 
Value for money is not achieved resulting 
in increased costs to the Council. 
 

The existing arrangements allow for 
“reasonable” business expenses to be 
claimed. This allows for an element of 
manager discretion.  
 
The policy will be updated to reflect that 
allowable business expenses should be 
agreed in advance, represent value for 
money and best use of public funds and 
lowest price suitable accommodation and 
meals should be sought (no alcohol). 
 
The need for obtaining and retaining VAT 
receipts is also covered. The recently revised 
and redrafted Accounting Instruction 8 (to be 
published) provides more detail on travel and 
subsistence expenses. Travel and 
accommodation expenses are often 
purchased using P cards and this is 
acceptable practice within GCC providing the 
expenses are reasonable and justifiable and 
have been fully authorised by the budget 
holder. 
 

P
age 126



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/006: GFRS Procurement v2 Final 
OFFICIAL 

13 

 

No. Recommendation Risks Agreed Action 

Having sought HR advice they have 
confirmed that it is acceptable for travel and 
accommodation to be purchased via a 
Purchase card. The HR policy on business 
related expenses was updated in August 
2018 and does make provision for the 
Council to pay for travel and accommodation 
in advance of departure. 

Person Responsible Due Date 

Finance Manager, 
Strategic Finance 

31st July 2019 

 

Finding four 
 
Internal Audit selected a sample of 223 procurement card items of expenditure totalling approximately £70,000 for review, which highlighted 
the following: 

 Procurement card guidance states that an officer who has not been assigned a procurement card and that requires expenditure to be 
transacted using a procurement card should first obtain formal approval from the budget holder.  They should then complete the 
Purchase Card Expenditure Request form with the budget holder approval and then send to the procurement cardholder providing them 
approval to perform the transaction.  However, there have been technical issues with the form solely affecting GFRS and as a result it 
has not been used.  Although changes were made to the form during July 2018 by Strategic Finance these have not resolved the issue, 
which has recently been established as system incompatibilities between the Council and GFRS system software. Further work is being 
undertaken by Strategic Finance to correct the issue.  As a result verbal and email instructions have been accepted by the procurement 
cardholder; 

 Invoices / receipts for the period April 2015 to December 2015 for the former Chief Fire Officer and Deputy Chief Fire Officer could not 
be located by the Personal Assistant / reconciler.  The Council retention policy states that paid invoices should be retained for six years 
plus the current financial year; 

 There were 51 items of expenditure, not all included in the sample, which were not supported by an invoice; 

 There was insufficient information recorded by the procurement cardholder / reconciler on invoices or other documents that had been 
obtained to fully explain the purpose of the travel, accommodation, food and drink and where appropriate who the attendees were.  
Although Internal Audit was able, in most cases, to obtain details from discussions with the procurement cardholders / reconcilers and / 
or from a review of diaries this is not considered by Internal Audit to be a satisfactory process particularly in those cases where an 
officer has left GFRS and / or diaries have been deleted / destroyed; 

P
age 127



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/006: GFRS Procurement v2 Final 
OFFICIAL 

14 

 

 Procurement cards have been frequently used to pay for work and services that could have been ordered and paid through more 
appropriate methods as follows:  
- Work to vehicles including Principal Officer’s cars. 
- ICT equipment and software. 

In both the above cases the most appropriate method would have been through a contract with the supplier and payment through 
SAP.  The procurement cardholder advised that the work to the vehicles were required to be completed promptly for legal and health 
and safety reasons and that to use SAP and obtain a purchase order would have taken too long.  As regards ICT equipment and 
software the person requesting use of the card advised that it was required to obtain good value for money. 

- Overnight accommodation and subsistence (mainly relates to Principal Officers). 
Officers should pay for such expenditure and make an appropriate claim for reimbursement through the Employee Self Service 
(ESS) facility in SAP. 

- Stationery. 
There is an existing stationery contract that should have been used. 

 The majority of train travel was purchased with open ended timeframes, which is more expensive than those where specified departure 
times are selected. 

 

Examples of expenditure that may not be classed as legitimate business expense as per the Council and / or GFRS rules and regulations:  

 Personal professional subscriptions for the period April 2015 to May 2018 and totalling £1,753 have been paid.  The former Chief Fire 
Officer did repay a 2018-19 subscription of £210 in July 2018 after he had resigned; 

 Flights, car park, accommodation and car hire were purchased in January 2016 totalling approximately £400 for the former Chief Fire 
Officer to attend a Scottish Fire and Rescue Service Burns night charity event in Scotland; and 

 Medals, ribbon bars and lapels totalling approximately £1,300 for the former Chief Fire Officer has been purchased using his and other 
officers’ procurement cards.  There is no evidence that these items have been returned or that they were a justifiable business expense. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 128



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/006: GFRS Procurement v2 Final 
OFFICIAL 

15 

 

No. Recommendation Risks Agreed Action 

4 (H) A full review by current Principal Officers with 
support from Strategic Finance should be 
undertaken, of the use of procurement cards 
to determine GFRS requirements and 
purpose for this method of payment to 
confirm: 

 Who should be issued with a 
procurement card based on business 
requirements and to avoid cardholders 
releasing their card to other officers to 
use; 

 Purpose of the use of procurement 
cards over other methods, e.g. 
personal expenses, sundry creditors 
via SAP, etc.; and 

 Transactional financial limits that 
should apply to individual procurement 
cards. 

 
The results of the review should then be 
promptly implemented. 
 

Non-compliance with Council policies and 
legislation resulting in the loss of 
commercial integrity, financial 
irregularities, penalties / fines from the 
regulator and reputational damage. 
 
Inappropriate use of procurement cards 
resulting in fraudulent activity / misuse, 
financial loss and reputational damage. 
 
Inappropriate expenditure resulting in 
financial losses and adverse publicity. 

A review of card usage was undertaken as 
part of the decision to change card solution 
providers. One of the key criteria for 
changing providers was that the existing 
solution did not provide enough transparency 
of procurement card expenditure activity.  
 
Under the new policy and with the associated 
training it is made clear that the cards are to 
be used for small value “one off” types of 
business expenditure where the creation of a 
purchase order would be inefficient or 
inappropriate. 
 
The use of a P card is also allowable for 
emergency procurement activity (which has 
to be justified). 
 
All card holders are aware that they must not 
release their card to other officers and they 
must protect the card security at all times. 
Each card has an overall limit, an individual 
transaction limit and limits can be set on the 
type of expenditure. 
 
GFRS currently have 3 p-cards at the 
request of the new Chief Fire Officer 
 

Person Responsible Due Date 

Finance Manager, 
Strategic Finance 

31st March 2019 
(complete) 

 
 

P
age 129



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/006: GFRS Procurement v2 Final 
OFFICIAL 

16 

 

 

No. Recommendation Risks Agreed Action 

5 (H) Strategic Finance should undertake regular 
random selections of procurement card 
expenditure / use to confirm that procurement 
cards are being used in accordance with the 
Council’s policies and that VAT is being 
reclaimed.  In addition regular reviews of 
expenditure awaiting authorisation should be 
performed to ensure that there are no long 
outstanding transactions. 
 
Where instances of misuse are identified 
Strategic Finance should inform the 
appropriate officers involved in the 
procurement card process of the correct 
procedure and if the issue(s) persist or there 
is a material incident the card should be 
withdrawn and cancelled.  In addition the 
Council’s Counter Fraud team should also be 
informed. 

Non-compliance with Council policies and 
legislation resulting in the loss of 
commercial integrity, financial 
irregularities, penalties / fines from the 
regulator and reputational damage. 
 
Inappropriate use of procurement cards 
resulting in fraudulent activity / misuse, 
financial loss and reputational damage. 
 
Inappropriate expenditure resulting in 
financial losses and adverse publicity. 
 
Transactions have not been correctly 
accounted / coded resulting in irregular 
transactions being hidden and financial 
misstatements. 
 
VAT on purchases has not been correctly 
accounted for resulting in increased costs 
to the Council as a result of under/over 
claiming of VAT and potential penalties / 
fines from HMRC. 
 
Value for money is not achieved resulting 
in increased costs to the Council. 

The old solution did not facilitate easy 
checking of P card expenditure. However 
Strategic Finance sent out email reminders 
where transactions remained unreconciled. 
 
Spot checking is much easier using the new 
card system – so going forward Strategic 
Finance will undertake regular checks. 
 
Training has been given to cardholders to 
ensure that VAT is accurately coded and 
supported by official VAT receipts, which has 
improved our opportunities for reclaiming 
VAT from HMRC. GCC’s VAT specialists 
supported the training on these aspects and 
will be undertaking spot checks. 
 
Expenditure awaiting reconciliation will be 
highlighted to cardholders in weekly 
reminders. Expenditure awaiting 
authorisation will be highlighted to budget 
holders in weekly reminders. This is all 
automated through workflow. 
 
Strategic Finance P Card administrators will 
produce a weekly report on any outstanding 
transactions.  
 
Strategic Finance continues to review all 
usage of cards and if any potential misuse is 
identified the card holder is informed 
immediately to ensure this bad practice does 

P
age 130



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/006: GFRS Procurement v2 Final 
OFFICIAL 

17 

 

No. Recommendation Risks Agreed Action 

not continue. They are aware that continued 
misuse will result in withdrawal of the card 
and possible disciplinary action. 

Person Responsible Due Date 

Finance Officer and 
VAT specialist, 
Strategic Finance 

31st March 2019 
(complete) 

 
 
Finding five 
 
The Finance and Compliance Manager was appointed as the authoriser for all procurement card expenditure transacted through the Principal 
Officers cards.  It is good practice that the authoriser role should be at least the next management level up from the procurement cardholder to 
ensure effective and robust checks, scrutiny and independent challenge.  Therefore the current arrangement is in Internal Audit’s opinion not 
appropriate as highlighted in the test results detailed in this report. 
 

No. Recommendation Risks Agreed Action 

6 (H) To improve the control environment a fully 
independent and appropriate senior officer(s) 
should be appointed as the procurement card 
authoriser for Principal Officers to ensure that 
expenditure can be effectively scrutinised, 
verified and challenged without risk of undue 
influence. 

Inappropriate use of procurement cards 
resulting in fraudulent activity / misuse, 
financial loss and reputational damage. 
 

As part of the automated work flow 
associated with the new p-card solution all p-
card expenditure needs to be authorised by 
the budget holder whose budget receives the 
charge. 
 
In some cases the budget holder may be a 
more junior member of staff than the card 
holder – this is standard segregation of 
duties authorisation protocol where the 
cardholder is a very senior manager in the 
organisation.  
 

P
age 131



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/006: GFRS Procurement v2 Final 
OFFICIAL 

18 

 

No. Recommendation Risks Agreed Action 

The budget holder has been appointed into 
this role and has received comprehensive 
training to ensure they understand their 
budget holder responsibilities. 
 
As an additional control monthly reports will 
be produced for the Chief Executive (or s151 
officer in the Chief Executive’s absence) 
showing all p-card expenditure made by his 
direct reports. This will ensure all p-card 
expenditure is effectively scrutinised and 
challenged by someone without the risk of 
undue influence. 
 
Strategic Finance will create reports for 
directors to allow for review of card 
expenditure made by their direct reports but 
reports will be restricted to the most senior 
managers in the organisation.   
 

Person Responsible Due Date 

Finance Manager, 
Strategic Finance 

30th April 2019 

 
 

Finding six 
 
A report of all procurement card transactions awaiting authorisation as at 13th February 2019 was obtained by Internal Audit and reviewed to 
confirm that there were no transactions greater than one month old.  The report highlighted that 43 transactions totalling approximately £5,000 
for the period July 2017 to May 2018 for the Stores Officer, whose card was cancelled in August 2018, had not been authorised. 
 
 
 

P
age 132



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/006: GFRS Procurement v2 Final 
OFFICIAL 

19 

 

 

No. Recommendation Risks Agreed Action 

7 (M) The appropriate procurement card authoriser 
should review all the identified expenditure 
awaiting approval and authorise on SAP. 

Inappropriate expenditure may not be 
promptly detected resulting in financial 
losses and adverse publicity. 
 
Financial commitments may not be fully 
known resulting in budgets being 
exceeded.  

This is standard authorisation protocol; 
however under the old solution the reminders 
for review were less frequent than under the 
new solution. The actual review was a 
manual process and required requests for 
receipts in hard copy format to undertake the 
checks appropriately.  
 
The new solution is much more user friendly 
and facilitates these checks. Card holders 
upload original authorisation requests and 
appropriate VAT receipts / invoices onto the 
portal for the authoriser to see before sign 
off. Any outstanding authorisations are 
automatically emailed to the authoriser on a 
weekly basis. 
 
Strategic Finance will review the old 
cardholder transactions and ensure they are 
reconciled and posted. 
 

Person Responsible Due Date 

Finance Manager, 
Strategic Finance 

30th April 2019 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 133



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/006: GFRS Procurement v2 Final 
OFFICIAL 

20 

 

Objective: Value Added Tax (VAT) has been correctly accounted for on financial transactions in accordance with 
Council Policy.  
 
Finding seven 
 
VAT guidance relating to procurement card expenditure has been documented on the Council’s Staffnet which clearly states that ‘The 
cardholder must request a VAT receipt or invoice from the supplier if one has not already been sent’ and ‘It is the cardholder’s responsibility to 
obtain proper tax invoices’.  In addition, ‘monthly a VAT Recovery Request form should be completed by either the cardholder or Budget 
Manager / Budget Holder (normally the latter as they are better placed) and sent to VAT Corporate Finance along with a copy of the VAT 
receipt to enable reclaim and credit to the appropriate SAP account and cost centre’. 
 
Internal Audit established through discussions with the procurement cardholders, reconcilers and authorisers in January 2019 that they were 
not aware of the process for the reclaiming of VAT.  
 
A review by Internal Audit of all procurement card expenditure for the period April 2015 to December 2018 established that no VAT had been 
reclaimed.  In addition a further detailed review of Principal Officers procurement card expenditure and invoices established for the period April 
2016 to June 2018 that VAT of approximately £600 could have been claimed but had not and a further £600 could not be claimed due to a lack 
of an invoice or receipt of an invalid VAT invoice currently held in support of the expenditure.  This does not include the expenditure relating to 
the other procurement cardholders and therefore the VAT reclaim could be higher. 
 
 

No. Recommendation Risks Agreed Action 

8 (H) A review of all procurement card expenditure 
for the previous four years should be 
undertaken by the applicable GFRS 
procurement card authoriser, with support 
from Strategic Finance, to identify and submit 
details of any items of expenditure where VAT 
that has not previously been claimed and 
which are supported with an eligible VAT 
receipt to Strategic Finance to enable a claim 
to be made to HMRC. 
 

 

Non-compliance with Council policies and 
legislation resulting in the loss of 
commercial integrity, financial 
irregularities, penalties / fines from the 
regulator and reputational damage. 
 
VAT on purchases has not been correctly 
accounted for resulting in increased costs 
to the Council as a result of under 
claiming of VAT and potential penalties / 
fines from HMRC. 
 

The process for recovering VAT related to P 
Card expenditure was well documented 
under the old solution and cardholders were 
aware of their responsibilities for obtaining 
VAT receipts. However this audit found that 
some cardholders in GFRS were unaware of 
this. Therefore Strategic Finance will 
undertake a review of the previous 4 years 
GFRS p-card expenditure to determine 
whether a retrospective VAT claim could be 
established and submitted to HMRC. 
 

P
age 134



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/006: GFRS Procurement v2 Final 
OFFICIAL 

21 

 

No. Recommendation Risks Agreed Action 

Where a valid VAT receipt has not been 
obtained every effort should be made to 
recover one from the supplier where 
appropriate. 

Value for money is not achieved. VAT guidance has been reiterated in the sign 
off during card acceptance for the new 
solution.  Cardholders are aware that it is 
mandatory for them to obtain valid VAT 
receipts/invoices and upload them on to the 
Lloyds portal system for authorisers to see. 
Authorisers have the ability to reject the 
charge to their cost centre if it is not 
accompanied by a valid VAT receipt.  
 
Strategic Finance will also undertake spot 
checks on a regular basis. 

Person Responsible Due Date 

Finance Manager, 
Strategic Finance 

30th September 2019 

 

P
age 135



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

GFRS Fleet – Maintenance and 
Stores 
5th March 2019 

Ben Green – Auditor 

Page 137



Gloucestershire County Council - March 19 

 

010605/19/008: GFRS Fleet – Maintenance and Stores v2 
OFFICIAL 

 

 

Distribution 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Contents 

Executive Summary ..................................................................................................................... 3 

Audit Opinions on Risk Management and Control ..................................................................... 11 

Appendix A – Action Plan and Management Response ............................................................. 13 

 

 

Important 

 Gloucestershire County Council’s Internal Audit function conforms to the 

International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing. 

 

 The information contained within this audit report is confidential and personal data herein 

is subject to data protection legislation. 

 

This report has been prepared solely for the use of Gloucestershire County Council’s auditors 

and those officers and Members named on the distribution list.  Its contents, either in part or in 

its entirety, must not be reproduced or distributed to anyone other than its intended recipients 

without the written permission of the Council’s Chief Internal Auditor. 

Gloucestershire County Council accepts no liability to any third party for any loss or expense 

arising from their reliance on any part of this report.

To:   

 

 

Jon McGinty – Commissioning Director 

Wayne Bowcock – Chief Fire Officer 

Paul Blacker – Acting Director of Financial Services 

 Clive Webber – Head of Technical Services 

Page 138



Gloucestershire County Council - March 19 

 

010605/19/008: GFRS Fleet – Maintenance and Stores v2 
OFFICIAL 

3 

 

Executive Summary 

Introduction 

 

On 15th June 2018 a letter of complaint was sent by email to the Leader of the Council. There 

were three strands to the complaint, one concerned the sale of a Gloucestershire Fire and 

Rescue Service (GFRS) owned vehicle and the former Chief Fire Officer’s (CFO) involvement in 

the process. The other two concerns were regarding staffing issues.  It was agreed that Internal 

Audit (IA) would investigate the sale of the vehicle and Human Resources (HR) would review 

the remaining two concerns, which are included within the management review of culture. 

Shortly after commencing the investigation, numerous whistleblowing allegations and Freedom 

of Information requests in respect of other concerns relating to GFRS governance 

arrangements, procedures, systems and processes were received. As a result, following IA 

review, research, analysis and interviews with key stakeholders including relevant GFRS 

Officers, IA co-ordinated the findings and made a number of GFRS-specific and council-

wide/cross-cutting recommendations to undertake detailed reviews/audits within each area to 

determine the level of risk. These reviews/audits were outlined in the Action Plan presented to 

the Audit and Governance Committee on 12th October 2018. Progress updates against each 

review/audit included within the Action Plan will be provided to the Audit and Governance 

Committee. 

GFRS own a diverse and in many cases specialist fleet of vehicles necessary for use in 

demanding and complex incidents. The GFRS fleet is composed of 114 vehicles (emergency 

and non-emergency). The overall annual fleet maintenance budget for 2018/19 is circa 

£830,000 which includes staffing, maintenance and parts costs. 

 

Audit Scope  

 

This audit examined the adequacy of the systems and processes in place within the GFRS fleet 

workshop and fleet stores to ensure that, where appropriate, the requirements of the County 

Council’s Contract Standing Orders, Accounting Instructions, Financial Regulations and relevant 

service policies/standards had been complied with. 

 

 

 

 

Page 139



Gloucestershire County Council - March 19 

 

010605/19/008: GFRS Fleet – Maintenance and Stores v2 
OFFICIAL 

4 

 

Key Findings 

 

Ordering and receipt of goods 

GFRS Corporate governance framework for 2016 highlights that “All GFRS employees must 

follow GCC Financial Regulations, Standing Orders, the Council’s Purchasing Guide, Contract 

Guidance Manual (when appropriate) and Accounting Instructions whenever any goods or 

services are purchased.” This is contrary to what was found to be the case within fleet 

management and administration as staff were unaware of Gloucestershire County Council’s 

(GCC) financial guidance, regulations or the expectation that these must be complied with for all 

purchasing.  

It was subsequently identified that fleet management staff were unaware of GCC Accounting 

Instruction (AI) No.1, Ordering, Receiving and Payment of Goods and Services, although, as 

best practice, had maintained separations of duty and used only SAP purchase orders for 

vehicle parts purchasing.  

Please refer to Recommendation 1  

A wide variety of vehicle parts are purchased from a number of specialist and non-specialist 

suppliers from across the country. Vehicle parts are ordered either as maintained stocks that 

are being replenished or as specific parts for immediate fitment to a vehicle. A clear separation 

of duty (i.e. where no one person has the sole responsibility for a financial transaction) exists 

between the mechanics, workshop supervisors, workshop management and administration 

staff, all of whom have a specific role within the ordering process for vehicle parts. The system 

of annual purchase orders (limit carts) and ad-hoc purchase orders where required ensures that 

vehicle parts purchases are through the SAP system, GCC’s financial system. Payments to 

suppliers are made through a three way match at GCC’s Business Service Centre (BSC) 

between purchase order, goods receipt and invoice.  

IA identified that AI No.1 was dated July 2013 and it was subsequently found that the tendering 

thresholds within this document had been out of date since 2014. GCC Commercial Services 

confirmed that the correct tendering thresholds were within the GCC Constitution – Part 4 

Contract Standing Orders that was amended in 2014.   

Please refer to Recommendation 2 

In accordance with GCC’s Contract Standing Orders a single written quote is required from a 

supplier that will supply goods/services to GFRS fleet under the £15,000 threshold. It was 

identified that this was not the case for the 27 annual orders which were below the £15,000 limit 

within cost centre 401206 (Fleet) during the 2017/2018 financial year.  Three further annual 

orders were also identified that were in excess of the £15,000 threshold and therefore required 

three quotes to be obtained via GCC’s e-procurement system.  

 

 

Page 140



Gloucestershire County Council - March 19 

 

010605/19/008: GFRS Fleet – Maintenance and Stores v2 
OFFICIAL 

5 

 

One of these purchase orders, for the supply of tyres over the £15,000 threshold, had been 

subject to a three quote process however this was outside of GCC’s e-procurement system and 

was conducted solely by the Fleet Manager. The remaining two purchase orders were in 

respect of fuel purchased using fuel cards and bulk fuel purchases. Discussions with GCC 

Commercial Services confirmed that the appropriate GCC procurement processes had been 

followed in these instances.  

Please refer to Recommendation 3 

A sample of 23 vehicle parts invoices was selected from 2017/18 (2% of the total invoice 

population of 1,231), covering nine different suppliers to provide assurance that these parts 

purchased could be traced to either a job sheet / GFRS vehicle and / or placed into stock.  Of 

the sample selected, four invoices were identified where the parts had not been recorded on the 

Tranman system (GFRS Fleet management system) but had been added to a separate 

monitoring spreadsheet used by GFRS to monitor purchases throughout the year. The 

reasoning given for this by the workshop supervisor was a combination of staff shortages and 

holidays. The four invoices related to tyres fitted externally by a supplier off-site, independently 

of workshop staff. However, it is advised that all parts, irrespective of whom and where 

provided, should be recorded on Tranman to ensure that the vehicle history record is 

maintained and all parts ordered can be accounted for. The remainder of the sample tested 

provided the relevant assurances that the parts could be accounted for via the Tranman system, 

either showing the parts recorded against a vehicle or stock and the parts being recorded on the 

monitoring spreadsheet. It was found that efficient filing of invoices by fleet administration 

allowed for easy access of records for audit testing purposes.  

Please refer to Recommendation 4 

Income including Credit Notes 

Credit notes received by GFRS fleet in relation to returned vehicle parts are submitted to GCC’s 

BSC Payments team for processing through the SAP system. Based on current use of the 

Tranman system it is not possible to identify returned vehicle parts and wider improvements to 

stock check controls are required. 

From the sample of 23 purchases reviewed it was established there were no instances where 

items had been returned with a credit note outstanding. Assurance is gained from this and from 

review of SAP, confirming that credit notes are being applied to the 401206 Fleet cost centre on 

a regular basis.  

From discussion with GFRS finance, fleet management, and fleet maintenance staff it was 

verbally established that no commercial activity or third party income generation was taking 

place within the workshop facility. There was also no evidence of unidentified income against 

cost centre 401206 (Fleet) to indicate any commercial activity.   

 

 

Page 141



Gloucestershire County Council - March 19 

 

010605/19/008: GFRS Fleet – Maintenance and Stores v2 
OFFICIAL 

6 

 

Stock Management 

The stock control system currently used by GFRS is an integrated part of the Tranman system 

that records current stock levels, either through manually adding and removing parts or 

automatically amending stock levels in conjunction with job sheet submissions that correct stock 

files simultaneously.  

Workshop supervisors are responsible for arranging the annual stock checks.  IA was advised 

that a stock check was undertaken in June 2018 however, there was no evidence available to 

show who undertook the stock check or how it was undertaken. Staff turnover and changes of 

management were given as reasoning for this lack of evidence.  

Please refer to Recommendations 5, 6, and 7 

It was identified that there had only been one write-off since the July 2018 stock check. The 

Fleet Manager had authorised this write-off to be completed by a workshop supervisor, giving 

instruction on the disposal process ensuring the item were to be rendered unusable prior to 

disposal and where to dispose of the item. AI No.5 (Disposal of Assets) had been considered at 

the time of the write off and carried out in line with guidance.  

Fleet Workshop and Maintenance 

A sample of 15 vehicles from the 113 owned by GFRS was selected (13%) covering a range of 

different vehicles to provide assurance that they had been appropriately maintained. Of this 

sample, eight vehicles were identified as requiring an MOT. Records confirmed MOT’s had 

taken place and matched the information entered onto Tranman.  

One vehicle was identified as being MOT exempt due to being under three years old. Six of the 

vehicles were fire appliances, which are not subject to MOT’s, however they are required to 

undergo regular safety inspections as prescribed by the Vehicle and Driver Standards Agency 

(DVSA) i.e. 13 week intervals.   

Tranman records and physical evidence was seen to confirm that five of the sampled fire 

appliances had been kept to the required schedule with the exception of VO03 KNK. This 

vehicle had not been kept to the required safety inspections schedule over the past four years.  

The last documented evidence of a safety inspection being undertaken was on the 31st January 

2018, the inspections prior to this were 31st October 2016 and 25th February 2014.  

It was also established that VO03 KNK had been reassigned to Gloucestershire Airport. 

However, from discussions with the previous Technical Services Manager and Group Managers 

it could not be determined, as no documented evidence was available to support what the exact 

arrangement with Gloucestershire Airport was, or who had initiated/authorised this arrangement.  

IA was advised by the Technical Services Manager that the arrangement was in connection to 

the creation of a proposed Hot Fire Training Centre between GFRS and Gloucestershire Airport.   

 

Page 142



Gloucestershire County Council - March 19 

 

010605/19/008: GFRS Fleet – Maintenance and Stores v2 
OFFICIAL 

7 

 

It is understood that GFRS remained the property owner i.e. there were no changes made to the 

V5 document of ownership, although the vehicle was taken off GCC’s insurance schedule at this 

point of reassignment.  This vehicle has subsequently been returned to GFRS workshop and 

reinsured by GCC as the hot fire training facility project is currently on hold and under review.  

Please refer to Recommendation 8 

Prior to the move to Gloucestershire Airport, a historical gap in safety inspections covering the 

period February 2014 and October 2016 in respect of fire appliance VO03 KNK was discovered. 

Through IA examination of the radio traffic it could be confirmed that the vehicle was used for 16 

emergency responses between March 2016 and October 2016. However no evidence could be 

located through Tranman or physical job sheets to prove safety inspections had been 

undertaken during this time period. The current workshop supervisor was also unable to clarify 

the inspection dates as this was prior to him taking up his current post. 

The safety inspection histories of a further 20 (36% of fire appliances operated during the period 

2017/2018) were examined to ascertain whether VO03 KNK was an isolated case of non-

compliance. Of this sample, 18 appliances (90%) were found to have not met the required 

safety inspection schedule as required by the DVSA to ensure roadworthiness is maintained. Of 

these 18, the workshop supervisor advised IA that a small number of these may have been off 

the road for periods of time due to changes in deployment, accident repair and awaiting parts for 

general repairs. The actual number could not be confirmed nor did it account for all 18 vehicles 

that were non-compliant with safety inspection regulations. Tranman is not updated with 

instances where vehicles are off the road for extended periods of time to keep a record of 

missed safety inspection intervals as required by DVSA regulations.  

This historical non compliance against DVSA regulations had been identified by Fleet in early 

2018 and resulted in the creation of a separate maintenance scheduler (excel spreadsheet), 

which was developed outside of the Tranman system, that plans GFRS vehicles in for services 

and inspections to maintain roadworthiness and comply with DVSA regulations. Please see 

section below on the use of the Tranman system. At the time of this audit, evidence was seen to 

confirm that GFRS vehicles requiring safety inspections to ensure roadworthiness of the fire 

appliances had been completed at the appropriate points in time.  

Please refer to Recommendations 9 and 10 

Comparing the GFRS fleet list and GCC list of insured vehicles identified that four vehicles were 

omitted from the vehicle maintenance schedule. Of these four identified, two had satisfactory 

explanations for this which are as follows: 

 Vehicle SORN (statutory off road notice) awaiting scrappage as beyond economic repair 
so removed from maintenance schedule; and 

 Vehicle was newly acquired by GFRS and not yet released from workshop to active 
service so not yet added to scheduler.  
 

Page 143



Gloucestershire County Council - March 19 

 

010605/19/008: GFRS Fleet – Maintenance and Stores v2 
OFFICIAL 

8 

 

Of the two remaining vehicles, one was transferred to GFRS in March 2018 and at the time of 

the audit had still not been added to the current maintenance scheduler. The other, a fire 

appliance, (VO03 KNK) as noted above had been transferred to Gloucestershire Airport.  

Please refer to Recommendation 11 

15 vehicles (13%) were sampled to ascertain if insurance and tax were correctly held for GFRS 

vehicles. 14 of the sampled vehicles had the necessary tax applied to the vehicle and the 

remaining one vehicle was SORN. The SORN vehicle related to VX57 PKD which due to engine 

damage was considered to be beyond economic repair and was awaiting scrappage. All of the 

vehicles in this sample, with the exception of VX57 PKD, had current vehicle insurance 

arranged by GCC. 

It was established by IA that fleet do not maintain a record of vehicles currently covered by 

manufacturer warranty. A spot check of Tranman records for four vehicles acquired within the 

last two years, found there was no evidence of work being undertaken by the workshop that was 

covered by warranty and therefore was appropriately returned to the dealer for the work to be 

carried out. There was evidence that fleet had recognised that, where warranties were due to 

expire arrangements were made to ensure that full safety inspections of the vehicles had been 

undertaken and where faults were identified the vehicles were returned to the manufacturer to 

rectify faults under remaining warranty.  

Please refer to Recommendation 12 

Fleet Management System (Tranman) 

All GFRS mechanics use job sheets and weekly timesheets to ensure accountability for their 

hours spent and workshop activities undertaken. Job allocation is based upon availability due to 

all mechanics being equally qualified and accountable for their time. Mechanics record time 

spent and parts used on job sheets and submit these for scrutiny by workshop supervisors. 

Workshop supervisors monitor time recorded against industry standards for specific jobs as well 

as ensuring that parts used for a job are relevant to the work undertaken. Discrepancies are 

discussed with the relevant member of staff for further clarification on parts used or time taken 

prior to input on Tranman, and escalated through the line management if required.  

Work undertaken by the workshop is split into two distinct categories, scheduled and 

unscheduled maintenance. Scheduled maintenance refers to the known/planned tasks such as 

the regular servicing of the fleet vehicles to ensure compliance with DVSA regulations. 

Unscheduled maintenance relates to vehicle defects which are highlighted to fleet maintenance 

by fire service staff on station and require the attention of a mechanic to rectify.  This 

information is currently collated outside of Tranman via an excel spreadsheet called a 

maintenance scheduler. 

Fleet management use Tranman to record job sheets, vehicle job history, stock management 

and maintaining the tax records of vehicles to identify when tax is due.  

 

Page 144



Gloucestershire County Council - March 19 

 

010605/19/008: GFRS Fleet – Maintenance and Stores v2 
OFFICIAL 

9 

 

There is no performance management reporting from Tranman of mechanics time or any other 

reports generated that could be used by Fleet Management. The workshop supervisor 

acknowledged that understanding of the Tranman system was limited and no formal training 

had been provided to users of the Tranman system.  

Please refer to Recommendation 13 

At the time of the audit it was identified that a total of six members of the fleet maintenance 

team had systems access to Tranman, with system access that grant permission to open job 

sheets and amend stock levels. It was discovered that two maintenance staff (mechanics) had 

incorrect access levels therefore impeding on the perceived separations of duty.  

Tranman access is password protected with individual unique logins. Recorded job sheets on 

Tranman are locked once submitted so cannot be retrospectively amended, to help preserve the 

integrity of the information held on the system. 

Please refer to Recommendation 14 

Conclusion 

Within GFRS fleet there are sufficient separations of duty in regard to purchasing with a number 

of individuals identified within fleet involved during the process to reduce risks of fraudulent 

activity. However, non compliance with GCC Financial Regulations and Accounting Instructions 

was identified as fleet staff were unaware of GCC guidelines and regulations that govern 

procurement. Business continuity arrangements were also highlighted as having broken down 

during a period of sickness and holidays causing Tranman updates to not be completed, 

impacting on the accuracy of records held on GFRS fleet. 

Through examination of the cost centre 401206 and discussions with fleet staff no commercial 

activity / third party income generation was identified within GFRS fleet.  

A sample of purchased vehicle parts was tested through from payment to stores and or the part 

fitted to vehicle. The sample tested did not identify any issues with this process.  

Whilst it was verbally assured that a stock check had been undertaken in July 2018, no 

evidence was provided to IA to substantiate this. In addition, IA clarified that stock checks were 

not being completed annually prior to June 2018. This contravenes GCC Accounting Instruction 

No.4 – Inventories, which sets out that a mandatory stock check should be completed annually. 

Separation of duties in regard to this stock check were also identified as a weakness as the 

workshop supervisor who helped undertake the June 2018 stock check was also responsible for 

maintaining the stock files held on Tranman. Due to the nature and value of the fleet stock i.e. 

attractive, desirable and portable items, it is essential that robust stock control systems are 

implemented.  

 

 

 

Page 145



Gloucestershire County Council - March 19 

 

010605/19/008: GFRS Fleet – Maintenance and Stores v2 
OFFICIAL 

10 

 

In 2017 GFRS fleet identified that there was an element of non compliance with DVSA 

regulations on safety inspection intervals for appliances. To put into context out of the 20 

vehicles tested, 18 had safety inspection gaps ranging from 20 weeks to 52 weeks. To rectify 

the issue, a maintenance scheduler (excel spreadsheet) was created and introduced to ensure 

that vehicles were maintained to the correct standard. However, a review of the scheduler by IA 

identified three vehicles not on the scheduler (one newly procured fire service hydrant van, a 

trading standards van and the vehicle that had been in use at Gloucester Airport). Not keeping 

the scheduler updated with newly procured vehicles could cause further reoccurrences of the 

non compliance with DVSA regulations. This could include fixed penalty notices on GFRS, 

penalty points on driver’s license, prohibition of further use of the vehicle and the potential for 

the Operator license to be revoked by the Traffic Commissioner.  

Whilst fleet management have taken positive action in developing the maintenance scheduler, 

IA advises that the Tranman fleet management system is configured to ensure that all vehicle 

data is held within one fleet management system, reducing the potential loss / corruption of 

important vehicle data / information which informs fleet activity. 

IA identified a fire appliance (VO03 KNK) that had not been maintained in accordance with the 

DVSA regulations during the period 2014 to 2018. The last evidenced safety inspection was 

undertaken on the 31st January 2018, the inspections prior to this were 31st October 2016 and 

25th February 2014.  

IA was further advised that this vehicle had subsequently been redeployed on loan to 

Gloucestershire Airport to assist as a training vehicle in creating a Hot Fire Training Centre 

although no supporting documentation around the decision making process could be provided. 

Again, the safety inspections on this vehicle were not undertaken and the vehicle was removed 

from GCC’s insurance schedule, although the ownership remained with GFRS. This project has 

since halted pending further discussion between GFRS and Gloucestershire Airport and the 

vehicle returned to GFRS and reinsured by GCC. The above posed a significant liability risk to 

GFRS. If GFRS vehicles are to be provided to parties outside of the service a full risk 

assessment should be undertaken and risk mitigation plans put in place prior to its deployment.  

GFRS vehicles covered by warranty need to be formalised within fleet to ensure warranties are 

used when applicable, and mechanics are aware of vehicles covered by warranty so as not to 

invalidate them by carrying out uncertified repairs and place extra cost to GFRS. Fleet 

recognised that when a vehicle was due to come to the end of the warranty period, a full check 

of the vehicle would be completed with the vehicle returned to the manufacturer for the faults to 

be rectified under warranty, however this is currently an informal practice.   

To date no formal training on Tranman has been provided to GFRS staff and as a result the 

system is not being used to its full potential. There are no staff / service performance 

management KPIs or performance reports produced which subsequently means no formal 

performance monitoring is undertaken.  

 

 

Page 146



Gloucestershire County Council - March 19 

 

010605/19/008: GFRS Fleet – Maintenance and Stores v2 
OFFICIAL 

11 

 

In addition it was found that workshop staff had been set up on the system with the incorrect 

access levels i.e. providing full systems access and therefore potentially compromising audit 

trails through the potential to change / amend / delete records. Access levels to Tranman should 

now be reviewed and amended where necessary to ensure that staff hold the appropriate level 

of access for their role.   

   

 

 

Page 147



Gloucestershire County Council - March 19 

 

010605/19/008: GFRS Fleet – Maintenance and Stores v2 
OFFICIAL 

12 

 

Audit Opinions on Risk Management and Control 

The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards require Internal Audit to provide an independent 

opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk identification processes which 

management has put in place within the area under review, and a sound framework of controls 

is in place to sufficiently mitigate those risks. This opinion feeds into the Chief Internal Auditor’s 

annual opinion on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the Council’s governance, risk 

management and control environment, which supports the Annual Governance Statement.  

Each report will provide a statement on the levels of assurance that can be given within these 

two areas, evaluated by applying the following criteria:   

 

Assurance 
Levels 

Risk Identification Maturity Control Environment 

Substantial Risk Managed 

Service area fully aware of the risks relating to the area 

under review and the impact that these may have on service 

delivery, other services, finance, reputation, legal, the 

environment, client/customer/partners, and staff. All key risks 

are accurately reported and monitored in line with the 

Corporate Risk Management Strategy. 

 System Adequacy – Robust 

framework of controls ensures 

that there is a high likelihood 

of objectives being achieved 

 Control Application – Controls 

are applied continuously or 

with minor lapses 

Satisfactory Risk Aware 

Service area have an awareness of the risks relating to the 

area under review and the impact that these may have on 

service delivery, other services, finance, reputation, legal, 

the environment, client/customer/partners, and staff, 

however some key risks are not being accurately reported 

and monitored in line with the Corporate Risk Management 

Strategy. 

 System Adequacy – Sufficient 

framework of key controls for 

objectives to be achieved but, 

control framework could be 

stronger 

 Control Application – Controls 

are applied but with some 

lapses 

Limited Risk Naïve  

Due to an absence of accurate and regular reporting and 

monitoring of the key risks in line with the Corporate Risk 

Management Strategy, the Service area has not 

demonstrated an adequate awareness of the risks relating to 

the area under review and the impact that these may have 

on service delivery, other services, finance, reputation, legal, 

the environment, client/customer/partners and staff.   

 System Adequacy – Risk of 

objectives not being achieved 

due to the absence of key 

internal controls 

 Control Application – 

Significant breakdown in the 

application of control 

 

Taking account of the issues identified in this audit, in our opinion, Satisfactory assurance can 

be provided that the risk identification arrangements operating within the area reviewed are 

operating as intended.  Limited assurance can be provided that these risks which are 

considered to be material to the achievement of the services objectives for this area under 

review are adequately managed and controlled. 

Page 148



Gloucestershire County Council - March 19 

 

010605/19/008: GFRS Fleet – Maintenance and Stores v2 
OFFICIAL 

13 

 

 Appendix A – Action Plan and Management Response 

This section contains the findings for each audit objective 

along with any recommendations made by Internal Audit to 

strengthen the control environment. The recommendations 

are categorised as follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Priority Description 

High Critical/Major risk exposure which materially impact on the assets, 
reputation, service delivery and objectives of the organisation.  

Medium Moderate risk exposure that impacts on the assets, reputation, 
service delivery and objectives of the organisation. 

P
age 149



Gloucestershire County Council - March 19 

 

010605/19/008: GFRS Fleet – Maintenance and Stores v2 
OFFICIAL 

14 

 

Objective 1: Ordering and receipt of goods (revenue only) including tyres, vehicle spares and parts.  

To ensure that all purchases are made in accordance with Contract Standing Orders, Accounting Instructions 

and Financial Regulations. 

Finding 

  
A clear separation of duty exists between the mechanics, workshop supervisors, workshop management and administration, all of whom have 
a specific role within the ordering process for vehicle parts. The system of annual purchase orders (limit carts) and ad-hoc purchase orders 
where required means that all vehicle part purchases go through the SAP system, GCC’s financial system. Payments to suppliers are made 
through a three way match at GCC Business Service Centre (BSC) between purchase order, goods receipt and invoice. It was identified that 
fleet management were unaware of GCC’s Accounting Instruction No.1 which sets out the required ordering, receiving and payment 
arrangements, but as best practice maintained separations of duty and used only purchase orders for vehicle parts purchasing. 
 

 

No. Recommendation Risks Agreed Action 

1 (H) Relevant GCC Financial Guidance, including 
Contract Standing Orders, Financial 
Regulations and Accounting Instructions 
should be brought to the attention of Fleet 
management and any other staff within Fleet 
that are involved in procurement.  
 

Unethical behaviour could allow an 
employee/group of employees to benefit 
from weaknesses in the procurement 
process, e.g. vehicle parts ordered may 
not be logged into stores/assigned to a 
vehicle and taken for personal gain. 
 
Non-compliance with GCC’s Financial 
Accounting Instruction 1 in relation to 
ordering, receipt and payment of goods. 
 
Lack of separation of duties in relation to 
procurement of goods for fleet 
maintenance and stores. 
 
Inappropriate payments made to 
suppliers. 

An action plan will be put in place to address 
the findings and ensure that GFRS Fleet 
Management has full understanding and 
oversight of compliance with the required 
policies, procedures and regulations. 

Person Responsible Due Date 

Finance Liaison and 
Compliance Officer 

30th April 2019 

P
age 150



Gloucestershire County Council - March 19 

 

010605/19/008: GFRS Fleet – Maintenance and Stores v2 
OFFICIAL 

15 

 

Finding 
 
Accounting instruction No.1 was found to be dated July 2013 and not in line with GCC’s Constitution thresholds for tendering and contract 
standing orders. The thresholds had been increased and the processes changed significantly in regard to the requirement to ensure written 
quotes are obtained and GCC’s e-procurement system is used for all purchasing over £15,000.      

 

Finding 

GFRS vehicle parts purchasing had not been conducted in line with GCC’s Contract Standing Orders that require orders below £15,000 to be 
awarded once a single written quote has been received from relevant supplier. One purchase order was also identified to be above the 
£15,000 threshold and was not procured via GCC’s e-procurement system as the Constitution requires, with three quotes to be obtained 
before awarding a contract.   
 

No. Recommendation Risks Agreed Action 

3 (H) GFRS Fleet should ensure all purchasing is in 
accordance with GCC’s Contract Standing 
Orders with tendering undertaken and quotes 
received as required. 
 
In addition, ensuring GCC’s e-procurement 
system is utilised in accordance with 
requirements.   

Non-compliance with GCC Constitution 
when purchasing goods or services. 
 
Tendering exercises not undertaken 
which could lead to poor value for money, 
supplier challenge and increased cost to 
GFRS. 
 

An action plan will be put in place to address 
the findings and ensure GFRS Fleet 
Management has full understanding and 
oversight of compliance with the required 
policies, procedures and regulations. 

Person Responsible Due Date 

Head of Technical 
Services 

30th April 2019 

No. Recommendation Risks Agreed Action 

2 (H) Accounting Instruction No.1 should be 
updated to reflect the GCCs Constitution – 
Part 4 Contract Standing Orders relating to 
tendering goods and services.  
 
Once updated all GFRS staff who have 
responsibility for ordering goods and services 
should be made aware of the requirements. 
 

Outdated accounting instruction impacts 
on non-compliance with GCC’s Contract 
Standing Orders when tendering for 
goods or services. 
 
Tendering exercises not undertaken 
correctly which could lead to poor value 
for money, supplier challenge and 
increased cost to GFRS. 

Accounting Instruction number 1 is currently 

being updated. Once uploaded onto Staffnet, 

communication will be issued to GFRS staff. 

 

Person Responsible Due Date 

Corporate Finance 
Manager – Strategic 
Finance 

31st March 2019 

P
age 151



Gloucestershire County Council - March 19 

 

010605/19/008: GFRS Fleet – Maintenance and Stores v2 
OFFICIAL 

16 

 

No. Recommendation Risks Agreed Action 

 Potential Bribery and Corruption. 
 
Reputational damage caused by non 
compliance with Local Government 
Transparency Code. 
 
Risk of common law claims arising from 
competitors not being given opportunity to 
tender quotes. 

 

 

Finding 

A sample of 23 vehicle parts invoices was selected from 2017/18 (2% of the total invoice population of 1,231) covering nine different suppliers 

to provide assurance that these parts purchased could be traced to either a job sheet / GFRS vehicle and / or placed into stock. Four invoices 

were identified where the parts had not been recorded on the Tranman system (GFRS Fleet management system) but had been added to a 

separate monitoring spreadsheet used by GFRS to monitor purchases throughout the year. The four invoices related to tyres fitted externally 

by a supplier off-site, independently of workshop staff. However, it is advised that all parts, irrespective of whom and where provided, should 

be recorded on Tranman to ensure that the vehicle history record is maintained and all parts ordered can be accounted for.  

No. Recommendation Risks Agreed Action 

4 (M) Business continuity arrangements should be 

put in place within fleet to ensure business 

processes (specifically Tranman updates) will 

still be completed in the event of staff 

absences. Accounting Instruction No.4 - 

Inventories should be followed i.e. whenever 

new items are received and identified they 

must be entered on the inventory immediately. 

 
 

Non-compliance with Accounting 
Instruction No.4 – Inventories.  
 
Loss or theft of vehicle parts.  
 
Staff absence could lead to a breakdown 
in business processes causing a 
detrimental impact on the ability of fleet to 
meet the demands of maintaining the 
GFRS fleet. 
  
Potential Health and Safety Impacts. 

An action plan will be put in place to address 
the findings and ensure that GFRS Fleet 
Management has full understanding and 
oversight of compliance with the required 
policy, procedure and regulations. 

Person Responsible Due Date 

ACFO 
 

31st July 2019 

P
age 152



Gloucestershire County Council - March 19 

 

010605/19/008: GFRS Fleet – Maintenance and Stores v2 
OFFICIAL 

17 

 

 

Objective 2: Income including credit notes. 

To ensure that all appropriate income has been received in respect of credit notes and if relevant, any 

commercial activity. 

Finding  
 
There are no recommendations to make within this area. 

Objective 3: Stores Management/Stock Control. 

To assess the adequacy of the stores stock control, including write-offs and access to stock records. 

Finding  
 
The stock control system used by fleet is integrated within the Tranman system. Please see recommendation 14 for Tranman access 
recommendations. Through discussion with fleet management it was established that a single stock check had been undertaken in June 2018 
within Fleet, although no evidence was provided to support this, and no other stock checks were completed prior to this within the last three 
years. A change in management and staff turn over were highlighted as being contributing factors.   
 

No. Recommendation Risks Agreed Action 

5 (H) A yearly stock take should be undertaken to 

ensure the accuracy of the stock files reflect 

the stocks held by Fleet as per Accounting 

Instruction No.4 i.e. The inventory must be 

checked once a year as per the procedure. 

 

No stock check system in place to 
reconcile items recorded as being in stock 
on the fleet management system in 
relation to actual items held in stores. 
 
Loss or theft of vehicle parts. 
 
Loss of fleet staff sense of accountability / 
responsibility in safeguarding assets of 
value from loss breakage or misuse.   
 

An action plan will be put in place to address 
the findings and ensure that GFRS Fleet 
Management has full understanding and 
oversight of compliance with the required 
policy, procedure and regulations. 

Person Responsible Due Date 

Head of Technical 
Services 

30th April 2019 

P
age 153



Gloucestershire County Council - March 19 

 

010605/19/008: GFRS Fleet – Maintenance and Stores v2 
OFFICIAL 

18 

 

No. Recommendation Risks Agreed Action 

Non compliance with Accounting 
Instruction No.4 – Inventories. 

 

Finding 
 
No physical evidence of the stock check could be provided by fleet that confirmed the expected levels of stock at the time of the check 
compared to the actual levels of stock identified, the date the stock check was completed, or who completed the checks. 
 

No. Recommendation Risks Agreed Action 

6 (H) Full print out of expected stock levels from 

Tranman should be compared to actual stock 

identified. Physical evidence of stock check 

should be retained with the date, name, and 

signature of individual who undertook the 

check as proof of stock check being 

undertaken as per Accounting Instruction 

No.4. 

 

Stock losses are not highlighted to 
management when located for further 
action or investigation. 
 
Unethical behaviour could allow for stock 
levels to be manipulated when a stock 
check is not compared to the most current 
stock report or highlight items that are 
missing from stores. 
 
Inability to monitor spoilage levels.  
 
Theft. 
 
Increased costs due to ineffective stock 
control.  

An action plan will be put in place to address 
the findings and ensure that GFRS Fleet 
Management has full understanding and 
oversight of compliance with the required 
policy, procedure and regulations. 

Person Responsible Due Date 

Fleet Manager 
 

30th April 2019 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 154



Gloucestershire County Council - March 19 

 

010605/19/008: GFRS Fleet – Maintenance and Stores v2 
OFFICIAL 

19 

 

Finding 
 
It was verbally established that the responsibility for undertaking the stock check was jointly owned by the workshop supervisors during the 
June 2018 check. It was noted that one of the workshop supervisors is also responsible for maintaining stock files on the fleet management 
system. 
 
 

No. Recommendation Risks Agreed Action 

7 (M) Fleet management should ensure a 
separation of duty between staff undertaking 
the stock take and staff responsible for 
maintaining stock files, to ensure that no 
single individual is entirely responsible for 
stock records and control.  
 

Lack of separation of duties between 
responsibilities for maintaining fleet 
management system and physical stock 
check, impacting on the ability to 
determine accountability. 
 
Audit trails are compromised impacting on 
the ability to ascertain accountability. 
 
Loss or theft of vehicle parts. 

An action plan will be put in place to address 
the findings and ensure that GFRS Fleet 
Management has full understanding and 
oversight of compliance with the required 
policy, procedure and regulations. 

Person Responsible Due Date 

Head of Technical 
Services 
 

30th April 2019 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 155



Gloucestershire County Council - March 19 

 

010605/19/008: GFRS Fleet – Maintenance and Stores v2 
OFFICIAL 

20 

 

Objective 4: General workshop procedures. 

To establish the workshop procedures, including reviewing the job card process, warranty procedures, 

insurance, servicing arrangements, vehicle tax and MOT arrangements to ensure operations are in line with 

relevant policy and legislation. 

Finding  
 
Fire appliance VO03 KNK had been reassigned to Gloucestershire Airport without a formal decision making process being undertaken and 
documented for a reassignment outside of “normal” operational assignments to county fire stations. This informal arrangement caused 
uncertainties in regard to responsibilities for maintenance, insurance and taxing the appliance. What can be confirmed is that the V5 
(registration document) was held by GFRS and as such remained the liable party for this appliance. The appliance, while in use at 
Gloucestershire Airport, was removed from GCC insurance, tax was not renewed, and the maintenance schedule not up kept due to Fleet 
being unaware of the nature of the agreement. The repercussions of this, should an accident have occurred, mechanical failure causing death 
or injury while not correctly maintained by GFRS, or being used on a public highway untaxed could have caused substantial damage to 
GFRS/GCC reputation, financial penalties being incurred, and the potential for prosecutions. 
 
 

No. Recommendation Risks Agreed Action 

8 (H) Vehicle reassignments outside of the “normal” 
arrangements around the county fire stations 
that are required for operational effectiveness 
should be formally documented (including the 
rationale), approved by the relevant officer 
and retained by GFRS. 
 
GFRS must ensure that if vehicles are to be 
reassigned outside of the service that risk 
assessments are carried out to ensure that all 
GFRS / GCC liabilities and risks are protected 
/ managed.  

Vehicles not correctly maintained due to 
poor/incomplete communication around 
the decision making rationale.  
 
Danger to life.  
 
Vehicles not maintained in line with DVSA 
regulations. 
 
Not Insured impacting on vicarious 
liability. 
 
 
 

An action plan will be put in place to address 
the findings and ensure that Fleet 
Management has full understanding and 
oversight of compliance with the required 
policy, procedure and regulations. 

Person Responsible Due Date 

ACFO 30th April 2019 

P
age 156



Gloucestershire County Council - March 19 

 

010605/19/008: GFRS Fleet – Maintenance and Stores v2 
OFFICIAL 

21 

 

No. Recommendation Risks Agreed Action 

Regulatory or legal action against 
GFRS/GCC if vehicles were on the road 
while in a non roadworthy condition 
causing a personal injury. 
 
Health and Safety Implications. 
 
Reputational damage. 

 

 P
age 157



Gloucestershire County Council - March 19 

 

010605/19/008: GFRS Fleet – Maintenance and Stores v2 
OFFICIAL 

22 

 

Finding 
 
VO03 KNK was used as a reserve vehicle between March and October 2016 attending 16 incidents in that time. Fleet management were 
unable to provide IA with any evidence to support that safety inspections were completed during this time 
 

No. Recommendation Risks Agreed Action 

9 (M) All GFRS reserve vehicles that are not SORN 
should be maintained and insured in line with 
regulation to ensure they are road legal 
should they be required for redeployment. 
 
Consideration should be given to continuing 
to maintain vehicles awaiting sale or 
scrappage.  
 
Should a decision be made not to maintain 
vehicles in line with regulation, these vehicles 
should not be used by the service.  
 

Vehicles, not maintained to the DVSA 
standards, are used by GFRS impacting 
on non compliance with regulation. 
 
Financial fines, penalty points on driver’s 
licence, prohibition notice on vehicle and 
revoking of Operator licence could occur. 
 
Reserve vehicles could be used when in 
a non-roadworthy condition.  
 
GFRS unable to respond to emergencies 
as vehicles unavailable due to lack of 
maintenance or prohibition notice served. 
 
Accidents resulting from the use of non-
roadworthy vehicles.  
 
Reputational Damage. 

An action plan will be put in place to address 
the findings and ensure that GFRS Fleet 
Management has full understanding and 
oversight of compliance with the required 
policy, procedure and regulations. 

Person Responsible Due Date 

Fleet Manager 
 

30th April 2019 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 158



Gloucestershire County Council - March 19 

 

010605/19/008: GFRS Fleet – Maintenance and Stores v2 
OFFICIAL 

23 

 

Finding 
 
A review of the historical safety inspections of 18 GFRS appliances identified a high level of non compliance with DVSA regulations. The 
workshop supervisor confirmed that current processes within fleet did not include recording, on Tranman, when vehicles are off the road for 
extended periods of time.  
 
 
 

No. Recommendation Risks Agreed Action 

10 
(H) 

Fleet should comply with DVSA regulations 
regarding safety inspections that state; “If a 
vehicle has been off the road for a period longer 
than the planned maintenance inspections, it 
should be given a full safety inspection prior to 
being brought back into use. A note must be 
placed on the vehicle maintenance file to show 
the vehicle has been off the road.” 

Non compliance with DVSA regulations 
leading to regulatory action. Including 
financial penalties against GFRS, 
prohibition of vehicles, and revoking of 
Operator licence by traffic 
commissioner. 
 
Full vehicle history is not maintained 
should the DVSA inspect the records 
held by fleet. 

An action plan will be put in place to address 
the findings and ensure that GFRS Fleet 
Management has full understanding and 
oversight of compliance with the required 
policy, procedure and regulations. 

Person Responsible Due Date 

Fleet Manager 
 

30th April 2019 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 159



Gloucestershire County Council - March 19 

 

010605/19/008: GFRS Fleet – Maintenance and Stores v2 
OFFICIAL 

24 

 

Finding 

Maintenance scheduler had not been updated with vehicles newly acquired by GFRS or with the vehicle returned to GFRS from 
Gloucestershire Airport. This could lead to maintenance and safety inspections being missed.  
 

No. Recommendation Risks Agreed Action 

11 
(H) 

Adding and removing vehicles from the 
maintenance scheduler should be integrated 
as part of vehicle acquisitions and disposals 
process. This is to ensure the maintenance 
scheduler is kept up to date and safeguarding 
against the potential to miss vehicle safety 
inspections, insurance, MOT’s and servicing.  
 

Reoccurrence of substantial non 
compliance with DVSA safety inspection 
regulations. 
 
Fixed penalty notices incurred by GFRS 
for vehicles not roadworthy. 
 
Drivers of non compliant vehicles liable 
for driving licence penalty points. 
 
Prohibition of vehicles that do not have 
valid safety inspections.  
 
Revoke or suspend operator licence.  
 
Vehicles in non roadworthy condition on 
public highways. 
 
No accountability of assets. 
 
Vehicles not maintained correctly unable 
to carry out civic duty and respond to 
emergencies.  
 
Risk to life from vehicles not maintained 
appropriately.  
 
Reputational Damage. 

An action plan will be put in place to address 
the findings and ensure that GFRS Fleet 
Management has full understanding and 
oversight of compliance with the required 
policy, procedure and regulations. 

Person Responsible Due Date 

Head of Technical 
Services 

April 30th 2019 

P
age 160



Gloucestershire County Council - March 19 

 

010605/19/008: GFRS Fleet – Maintenance and Stores v2 
OFFICIAL 

25 

 

Finding 

No tracker is kept to identify vehicles currently covered by warranty that would cover vehicle repairs in place of cost to GFRS or highlight that 
repairs should not be carried out by GFRS mechanics that could potentially void the existing warranty. 

No. Recommendation Risks Agreed Action 

12 
(M) 

GFRS should ensure that applicable 
warranties are more formally recorded and 
monitored via Tranman to prevent 
unnecessary costs being incurred by GFRS.       
 

Unnecessary costs incurred by GFRS in 
repairing vehicles under warranty. 
 
Vehicle warranties could be invalidated if 
the workshop was to undertake the 
repairs.  

An action plan will be put in place to address 
the findings and ensure that GFRS Fleet 
Management has full understanding and 
oversight of compliance with the required 
policy, procedure and regulations. 

Person Responsible Due Date 

Fleet Manager 31st July 2019 

 

Objective 5: To review the effectiveness of the use of the fleet management system (Tranman) for the purposes of 

jobs scheduling and job sheet process.  

Finding  
 

Workshop management use of the Tranman system is limited to stock management, job sheet recording, checking vehicle history and 
maintaining a record of vehicle tax expiry dates. An excel spreadsheet has been developed (outside of Tranman) to record and monitor the 
vehicle maintenance schedules and no monitoring / reporting functions are used by fleet management to monitor service / staff performance. It 
was also identified that the use of the system was self taught and limited training had been provided to staff using the system. 
 

No. Recommendation Risks Agreed Action 

13 
(M) 
 

 

 

Fleet Workshop management should consider 
providing formal training on Tranman for those 
staff that use the system to enable it to be 
utilised more efficiently and effectively. 
 
 
 
 

Ineffective use of fleet management 
system for service / staff performance 
management reporting. 
 
 
 
 
 

An action plan will be put in place to address 
the findings and ensure that GFRS Fleet 
Management has full understanding and 
oversight of compliance with the required 
policy, procedure and regulations. 

Person Responsible Due Date 

Head of Technical 
Services 

July 31st 2019 

P
age 161



Gloucestershire County Council - March 19 

 

010605/19/008: GFRS Fleet – Maintenance and Stores v2 
OFFICIAL 

26 

 

No. Recommendation Risks Agreed Action 

Configure Tranman to enable the vehicle 
maintenance scheduling to be an integral part 
of the Tranman system.  
 
To develop a suite of key performance 
indicators and monitoring reports to enable 
more effective monitoring of service / staff 
performance.  

Spreadsheet risks include loss and 
continuity of data, spreadsheet 
configuration errors, lack of accessibility / 
change controls, vulnerable to human 
error.  
 
Ineffective use of staff time when having 
difficulty navigating or using Tranman 
system. 
 
Inability to identify poor performance. 

 

Finding 
 
Internal Audit identified that access logins to the fleet management system were held by six individuals within fleet staff. Four of these logins 
were held by senior staff including fleet management however the two remaining logins were held by fleet mechanics. GFRS ICT confirmed 
there are two levels of access to the Tranman system, User and System. System access allows for changes to be made to stock files, open 
and close job sheets and amend vehicle information. User access is a more restricted access that limits users to just being able to search and 
view information kept on the Tranman system. All six logins were of system access level. 
 

No. Recommendation Risks Agreed Action 

14 
(M) 

To maintain separations of duty and reduce 
any potential impropriety, fleet management 
should ensure that Tranman access is 
restricted to management, to protect the 
integrity of the stock files, job sheets and 
vehicle information within the system.  
 

Poor ICT access controls to the fleet 
management system allowing workshop 
staff managerial access to the system 
and ability to amend information.  
 
Loss of audit trails impacting on the ability 
to ascertain accountability. 
 
Potential impropriety. 

An action plan will be put in place to address 
the findings and ensure that GFRS Fleet 
Management has full understanding and 
oversight of compliance with the required 
policy, procedure and regulations. 

Person Responsible Due Date 

Finance liaison and 
compliance officer 
 

31st July 2019 

 

P
age 162



 

 

GFRS HR and Payroll – 
Recruitment and Selection of new 

starters 
11 April 2019 

Gill Lodge - Senior Auditor 

Page 163



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/013: GFRS HR and Payroll – Recruitment v2.0 
OFFICIAL 

 

 

Distribution 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Contents 

Executive Summary ..................................................................................................................... 1 

Audit Opinions on Risk Management and Control ....................................................................... 9 

Appendix A – Action Plan and Management Response ............................................................. 10 

 

 

 

Important 

 Gloucestershire County Council’s Internal Audit function conforms to the 

International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing. 

 

 The information contained within this audit report is confidential and personal data herein 

is subject to data protection legislation. 

 

This report has been prepared solely for the use of Gloucestershire County Council’s auditors 

and those officers and Members named on the distribution list.  Its contents, either in part or in 

its entirety, must not be reproduced or distributed to anyone other than its intended recipients 

without the written permission of the Council’s Chief Internal Auditor. 

Gloucestershire County Council accepts no liability to any third party for any loss or expense 

arising from their reliance on any part of this report.

To:  
 
 
 
 

Jon McGinty  Commissioning Director 
Wayne Bowcock Chief Fire Officer 
Mandy Quayle  Acting Director HR and Digital 

Copied to: 
 
 
 

Paul Blacker  Acting Director – Financial Services 

Page 164



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/013: GFRS HR and Payroll – Recruitment v2.0 
OFFICIAL 

1 

 

Executive Summary 

Introduction 
 
On 15th June 2018 a letter of complaint was sent by email to the Leader of the Council.  There 
were three strands to the complaint, one concerned the sale of a Gloucestershire Fire and 
Rescue Service (GFRS) owned vehicle and the former Chief Fire Officer’s (referred to in this 
audit report as CFO) involvement in the process.  The other two concerns were regarding 
staffing issues.  It was agreed that Internal Audit would investigate the sale of the vehicle and 
Human Resources (HR) would review the remaining two concerns, which are included within 
the management review of culture. 
 
Shortly after commencing the investigation, numerous whistleblowing allegations and Freedom 
of Information requests in respect of other concerns relating to GFRS governance 
arrangements, procedures, systems and processes were received.  As a result, following 
Internal Audit review, research, analysis and interviews with key stakeholders including relevant 
GFRS Officers, Internal Audit co-ordinated the findings and made a number of GFRS-specific 
and council-wide/cross-cutting recommendations to undertake detailed reviews/audits within 
each area to determine the level of risk.  These reviews/audits are outlined in the Action Plan 
presented to the Audit and Governance Committee on 12th October 2018.  Progress updates 
against each review/audit included within the Action Plan will be provided to the Audit and 
Governance Committee. 
 
Audit Scope 
 
Recruitment is about acquiring new staff and appointing existing staff to new roles.  This could 
be due to growth and diversification or simply replacing people who have left the organisation.  
In both cases, recruitment should take place in the context of a workforce/succession plan that 
forecasts staffing requirements based upon strategic objectives and development plans, 
acquiring the right number of people with the necessary skills, experience and competencies. 
 
Selection is that part of the recruitment process that matches candidates to the specific 
requirements of individual positions. 
 
The succession plan helps to establish whether new staff will be temporary or permanent and 
the extent to which existing staff need to be trained and redeployed.  Planning therefore impacts 
the approach to recruitment such as the appointment of full or part-time positions, permanent, 
temporary or fixed-term contracts. 
 
Effective recruitment and selection ensures that the organisation has the necessary knowledge, 
skills and experience to fulfil its responsibilities and achieve its objectives. 
 
This audit focused on arrangements that are currently in place within GFRS to ensure that the 
recruitment and selection process in respect of new starters is in compliance with 
Gloucestershire County Council (GCC)/GFRS recruitment and selection policies and 
procedures. 
 
 
 

Page 165



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/013: GFRS HR and Payroll – Recruitment v2.0 
OFFICIAL 

2 

 

Key Findings 
 
Policies and Regulations 
 
National Joint Council (NJC) 
 
The NJC is the body responsible for the supervision, from a national point of view, of all 
questions affecting the conditions of service of employees of fire and rescue services.  The 
NJC’s principal role is to reach agreement on a national framework of pay and conditions for 
local application throughout the fire and rescue service in the UK.  The NJC consults and 
negotiates between fire and rescue authorities and recognised trade unions. 
 
The NJC for Brigade Managers of Local Authority Fire and Rescue Services Constitution and 
Scheme of Conditions of Service 2006 (referred to as the Gold Book) represents Brigade 
Managers.  The title Brigade Manager relates to the most senior managers in the service i.e. 
Chief Fire Officer, Deputy Chief Fire Officer and Assistant Chief Fire Officer. 
 
The NJC for Local Authority Fire and Rescue Services Scheme of Conditions of Service 2009 
(the Grey Book) represents the national terms and conditions of employment of uniformed 
operational employees of fire and rescue services of all local authorities in the UK. 
 
The Grey Book states that “Appointments and promotions to all roles (other than control-specific 
roles) shall be in accordance with the provisions of the Fire Services (Appointments and 
Promotion) Regulations 2004.”  These regulations state the general and specific requirements 
for appointment of individuals. 
 
The NJC for Local Government Services represents local authorities in England, Wales and 
Northern Ireland and their employees (other than those for whom there are alternative 
arrangements e.g. Gold and Grey Book staff).  The NJC’s principal role is to reach agreement 
on a national scheme of pay and conditions for local application throughout England, Wales and 
Northern Ireland.  This scheme is known as the Green Book. 
 
The scope of this audit review was limited to the processes for Grey Book staff (excluding 
retained staff) and Green Book staff. 
 
Fire and Rescue National Framework for England 
 
The Framework states that “each fire and rescue authority should have in place a people 
strategy that has been designed in collaboration with the workforce”. 
 
In 2017 two papers were presented to the GFRS Strategic Leadership Team (SLT) (which 
comprises the CFO, Deputy Chief Fire Officer, Assistant Chief Fire Officer, all four Area 
Managers, two of the Group Managers, Strategic Support Officer, GCC’s Assistant Head of HR, 
Lead Commissioner Communities and Infrastructure and any other GFRS and GCC officers as 
appropriate) outlining a recruitment and selection strategy for GFRS, together with an action 
plan. 
 
 
 
 

Page 166



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/013: GFRS HR and Payroll – Recruitment v2.0 
OFFICIAL 

3 

 

Subsequently a Recruitment and Selection Strategy and People and Organisational 
Development Strategy were produced, both of which were seen by Internal Audit.  GCC’s 
Assistant Head of HR confirmed that he was involved in the new policy development and the 
papers also state that service areas within GFRS were included in the consultation, including 
the Inclusive Network Group (which is made up of a number of GFRS staff) and relevant unions. 
 
Workforce Planning 
 
Internal Audit was verbally informed that operational workforce planning meetings are held on a 
monthly basis between the four GFRS Area Managers: Head of Community Safety, Head of 
Business, Planning, Strategy and Performance, Head of Personal and Organisational 
Development and Head of Technical Services.  At these meetings the leavers profile is 
reviewed with regard to expected/planned staff retirement dates, as well as any other known 
leavers, to establish what officer/staff resource will be needed to ensure that the required 
staffing levels are maintained, as there is an established number of operational staff that are 
needed to ensure that the service can function.  However, no formal minutes are taken to 
evidence this process. 
 
Recruitment 
 
A list was obtained from SAP (GCC’s accounting and personnel system) which showed that 
there have been 197 new starters at GFRS, both uniformed and support staff, since April 2015 
to the date of the audit.  Internal Audit established that the majority of the firefighter recruitment 
between 2015 and 2017 related to retained firefighters, which was outside of the scope of this 
review.  Therefore the main focus of the audit testing related to 2017 onwards. 
 
Internal Audit was verbally informed by senior GFRS staff that prior to 2017 all recruitment at 
GFRS was led by the former CFO.  
 
As stated above under Policies and Regulations, the Grey Book states that “Appointments and 
promotions to all roles (other than control-specific roles) shall be in accordance with the 
provisions of the Fire Services (Appointments and Promotion) Regulations 2004”, however, 
these regulations do not specify a particular process that should be followed in respect of 
recruitment, only that: 
 
“Those general requirements are that: 

 (a)he is of good character; 

 (b)he has attained the age of 18 years; 

 (c)either— 
o (i)he has attained such qualifications in educational or vocational subjects as the 

fire authority maintaining the brigade may require, being such qualifications as 
necessitate a reasonable standard of proficiency in communication and numeracy 
and such other subjects, if any, as the authority may require; or 

o (ii)the fire authority is satisfied that he is of such educational standard that it is 
unnecessary for him to attain any such qualification; and 

 (d)a medical practitioner selected by the fire authority is satisfied that his general state of 
health and fitness is satisfactory to carry out the duties of the role. 

Page 167



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/013: GFRS HR and Payroll – Recruitment v2.0 
OFFICIAL 

4 

 

Those specific requirements are that he has demonstrated to the satisfaction of the authority by 
whom the brigade is maintained that he meets the National Occupational Standards specified 
for the role in question or, in the case of a person on his first appointment to a role in a brigade, 
is likely to meet those standards following initial training and development within IPDS.” 
 
By undertaking testing, Internal Audit established that GCC’s recruitment process was followed 
in 2017 for new recruits and for supervisory appointments in 2018, where relevant, depending 
on the role being recruited to and whether it was temporary or permanent.  The process is 
applicable for both Grey Book and Green Book staff and includes: 
 

 Adverts on GCC’s website/National Fire Chiefs Council website/stations/Staff hub (where 
there are temporary appointments and only certain people can apply due to the role, then 
only those eligible are notified.  However, interviews still take place); 

 Business Service Centre (BSC) Recruitment Team is involved in the recruitment process; 
and 

 Interview panels including GFRS staff and representatives from GCC HR/Recruitment 
teams. 

 
The GFRS Head of Personal and Organisational Development informed Internal Audit whilst HR 
have, in the past, been involved in higher level recruitment and external appointments, they will 
now form part of all levels of recruitment and appointment procedures, throughout the service, 
although this has not yet been agreed with HR. 
 
Please refer to Recommendation 1 
 
Following a recruitment process, a reserve list is created for a pool of individuals who have been 
through an evaluation and interview process for a particular role but were not successful in 
gaining a position at that time.  These individuals will then be used to fill future vacancies, both 
permanent and temporary as and when they arise, however, they will only stay on the reserve 
list for a certain period of time.  If these individuals have not been appointed to a role within that 
period, they will then have to go through the application process again if they wish to apply for a 
similar post. 
 
This process was applied to the new recruits in 2017, although it was only formalised in 
September 2018.  GCC’s Assistant Head of HR confirmed that this process is acceptable and is 
practice in other fire and rescue services. 
 
Firefighter Recruitment 
 
New firefighters 
 
New firefighters are mainly recruited as a group.  The last recruitment of wholetime firefighters 
took place in December 2017, with the firefighters starting in February 2018.  Verbal and written 
discussions with both GCC Recruitment staff and GFRS staff confirmed the following: 
 

 The jobs were advertised on the GCC website and on Glosjobs.co.uk (a copy of the 
advert was seen).  There were 425 applications, of which 108 were invited to an 
assessment day.  Following this, 40 were selected for final stage interview and 14 were 
offered, and accepted, a position; 

Page 168



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/013: GFRS HR and Payroll – Recruitment v2.0 
OFFICIAL 

5 

 

 There were three interview panels with each panel consisting of a Principal Officer and 
either an Area Manager or Green Book Group Manager.  Whilst not formal policy, it 
would be deemed good practice for three people to be on all future interview panels, to 
alleviate any potential conflict between the two individuals, in the appointment decision; 
and 

 Each candidate was asked a number of assessment questions that accompanied the 
application forms, which were marked and scored by GCC and GFRS staff.  The top 100 
(plus any ties) progressed to the assessment centres. 

 
In addition to the 14 job offers, a further ‘holding’ list of 10 was maintained, of individuals who 
had passed the interview stage but were not successful in obtaining a post from this round of 
recruitment.  The individuals are given a score based on the evaluation and interview and then 
ranked by their score.  They can stay on the holding list for up to 12 months and if a vacancy 
arises during this period, they will not be required to go through the interview process again, 
although they will still have to have a medical and complete a new fitness test. 
 
GCC’s management guidance note on selection/interview, which can be found on Staffnet, 
states that the paperwork for unsuccessful candidates should only be retained for six months.  It 
was therefore not possible to evidence the above or review the evaluation and assessment 
documents for this round of recruitment. 
 
As evidence could not always be found to support recruitment decisions made in respect of the 
sample of recent recruitment selected for audit testing, it is recommended that the recruitment, 
selection and evaluation paperwork for those officers placed on any reserve lists is retained for 
the period that they remain on the list. 
 
Please refer to Recommendation 2 
 
Crew Managers/Watch Managers 
 
In October 2018 an advert was placed for supervisory roles (Crew Managers and Watch 
Managers).  The process required the applicants to complete an application form, which was 
reviewed to produce a shortlist of applicants who were then invited to an evaluation day and 
then interview. 
 
A copy of the advert was seen on Staffnet and Staffhub also had a factsheet and Frequently 
Asked Questions on the process. 
 
There were a number of vacancies, both permanent and temporary, and successful candidates 
were either appointed to fill a position or were put into a holding pool and these candidates will 
be used to fill any other vacancies which arise over the next 18 months, without having to go 
through the evaluation and interview process again. 
 
Group Managers 
 
Two officers were appointed as Group Managers in August 2018.  Written evidence was 
provided which confirmed that the recruitment was undertaken using the GCC recruitment 
process described above within the recruitment section on page 3 and included a representative 
from GCC HR on the interview panel. 

Page 169



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/013: GFRS HR and Payroll – Recruitment v2.0 
OFFICIAL 

6 

 

Temporary Area Managers 
 
Following staff changes during 2018 two temporary Area Managers were appointed in October 
2018.  Internal Audit was informed that, as only substantive Group Managers were eligible to 
apply for these posts, an email asking for expressions of interest was sent to the relevant 
individuals.  The interviews were undertaken by the two Principal Officers in post in October 
2018 together with a representative from GCC’s HR team. 
 
Starting Salary 
 
For firefighters, there are defined national rates of pay depending on whether the individual is a 
trainee, in development or competent.  A new wholetime firefighter could start on a development 
grade rather than trainee if they have been employed as a retained firefighter, as they may have 
already completed some of the required training. 
 
GCC’s Starting Salary Policy, which applies to Green Book staff, previously only related to 
internal promotions and did not cover external applicants.  The Policy was reviewed and 
updated in December 2016 and states that external candidates should normally start on the 
bottom salary point of the grade applicable to the role.  However, if their current salary is higher 
than the bottom salary point of the grade then the recruiting manager has discretion to offer the 
lowest salary point within the grade that is at least equal to their current salary.  If the salary 
offered is more than two increments above their current salary, approval in writing from the 
appropriate Director (in this case the CFO) is required. 
 
Testing undertaken 
 
From the list of new starters obtained from SAP, 16 Green Book staff had a starting salary 
which was higher than the bottom scale point of the advertised grade for the role.  Discussions 
were held with the appropriate line managers and, where possible, evidence to support the 
starting salary was reviewed. 
 
Eleven of the new starter roles were in the Fleet team, of which: 
 

 Five were recruited prior to the review and update of the Starting Salary Policy and 
therefore the current criteria would not have applied; 

 Two were recruited in accordance with the Policy; and 

 Evidence was not seen to support the starting salaries of the other four new starters, i.e. 
reference from previous employer. 

 
The starting salaries were discussed with the Fleet Manager (who has since left GFRS), who 
confirmed that the rationale behind the salaries offered was that in order to attract suitably 
qualified applicants to the posts, a salary equivalent to market rates needed to be offered.  The 
Fleet Manager confirmed that benchmarking had been undertaken with other fire and rescue 
services and an email from him to the BSC at Shire Hall was seen, which stated that his line 
manager had agreed the salary structure.  Evidence of this agreement could not be found. 
 
 
 
 

Page 170



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/013: GFRS HR and Payroll – Recruitment v2.0 
OFFICIAL 

7 

 

Of the remaining five individuals: 
 

 One was recruited prior to the review and update of the Starting Salary Policy and 
therefore the current criteria would not have applied; 

 One was recruited in accordance with the policy; 

 An email from the Chief Fire Officer (as Operations Director) was seen for one applicant, 
agreeing to the starting salary scale point; and 

 The remaining two individuals were given starting salaries which their current line 
manager advised had matched their previous salaries, however this had been the 
decision of the previous Area Manager who has since left GFRS and no evidence could 
be found to support this. 

 
Secondary Employment  
 
GCC’s Employee Code of Conduct states that employees cannot take up an additional 
appointment without the written consent of their Director.  The Grey Book states that employees 
“shall not hold any other office or employment …………..without the express permission of the 
fire and rescue authority”.  Under GCC’s Scheme of Delegation within the Constitution, the CFO 
is responsible for making executive decisions concerning the management of GFRS operations. 
 
It was verbally established that staff, in the past, were asked to complete a form on an annual 
basis to say whether or not they had any secondary employment, to enable oversight of any 
potential conflicts of interests, but Internal Audit was advised by the Head of Personal and 
Organisational Development that this has not happened for the last two/three years.  However, 
the Head of Personal and Organisation Development also said that this process will be 
reinstated and the forms will be sent out to staff annually.  It is recommended that the forms are 
sent to all staff, uniformed and support and the completed forms should be appropriately 
authorised. 
 
Whilst this audit did not cover retained firefighters, if there is not a process in place already they 
should be asked to complete a form if they change their primary employment, in order to ensure 
that there is no conflict of interest between roles. 
 
Please refer to Recommendation 3 
 
Conclusion 
 
Whilst there had been no external recruitment for firefighters for a number of years prior to 
2017, Internal Audit was informed by GFRS staff that there had been a lack of a defined 
recruitment process and that all GFRS recruitment was led by the former CFO.  However, a 
review of a sample of recruitment practices undertaken since December 2017 highlighted that 
GCC’s recruitment process has been followed and staff from the Recruitment team at GCC 
were involved in the recruitment for wholetime firefighters in December 2017 and supervisory 
managers in 2018.  GCC HR staff had only previously been involved on an ad hoc basis, 
however, Internal Audit was informed that they will participate in all future recruitment. 
 
 
 
 

Page 171



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/013: GFRS HR and Payroll – Recruitment v2.0 
OFFICIAL 

8 

 

A new process was formalised in September 2018 to create pools of individuals who had 
applied for a particular post, both new recruits and existing staff applying for promotion, and had 
passed the application and selection processes but were not successful in gaining a post, due 
to the number of positions available.  The individuals will stay in the pools for a set time (up to 
twelve/eighteen months depending upon the role) and will be used to fill particular roles that 
arise within that time period.  GCC’s Assistant Head of HR confirmed that this process is 
acceptable and is practice in other fire and rescue services. 
 
GCC’s management guidance note on selection/interview, which can be found on Staffnet, 
states that the paperwork for unsuccessful candidates should only be retained for six months.  
As evidence could not always be found to support recruitment decisions made in respect of the 
sample of recent recruitment selected for audit testing, it is recommended that the recruitment, 
selection and evaluation paperwork should be held and placed on the appointed individuals’ 
personnel files and for those officers placed on any reserve lists is retained for the period that 
they remain on the list. 
 
A sample of the appointment panels reviewed identified that there were only two members of 
staff on the interview panel for the last round of new firefighter recruitment.  Whilst not formal 
policy, it would be deemed good practice for three people to be on all future interview panels, to 
alleviate any potential conflict between the two individuals in the appointment decision and to 
ensure no one person can dictate to another. 
 
There are defined national rates of pay for firefighters, depending on their particular role and 
whether they are in development or are competent.  For Green Book support staff, GCC’s 
Starting Salary Policy should be applied. 
 
Testing undertaken highlighted that 16 Green Book staff who had joined GFRS between April 
2015 and August 2018 had not started at the bottom of the relevant grade, in line with GCC’s 
Starting Salary Policy.  Rationale was provided as to why the higher salaries had been offered, 
but evidence was not available to support the decision for six (38%) of the individuals. 
 
GCC’s Employee Code of Conduct and the NJC Grey Book state that written Director approval 
is required before any staff, uniformed or support officer, can take up another job in addition to 
their position at GFRS.  It was verbally established that there was a process in place to record 
whether staff had a second job, to enable oversight of any potential conflicts of interests, but 
this lapsed over the last two/three years.  However, Internal Audit was informed that the process 
will be reinstated and a form will now be sent to all staff on an annual basis. 
 

Page 172



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/013: GFRS HR and Payroll – Recruitment v2.0 
OFFICIAL 

9 

 

Audit Opinions on Risk Management and Control 

The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards require Internal Audit to provide an independent 
opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk identification processes which 
management has put in place within the area under review, and a sound framework of controls 
is in place to sufficiently mitigate those risks. This opinion feeds into the Chief Internal Auditor’s 
annual opinion on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the Council’s governance, risk 
management and control environment, which supports the Annual Governance Statement.  
Each report will provide a statement on the levels of assurance that can be given within these 
two areas, evaluated by applying the following criteria:   
 
 

Assurance 
Levels 

Risk Identification Maturity Control Environment 

Substantial Risk Managed 
Service area fully aware of the risks relating to the area 
under review and the impact that these may have on service 
delivery, other services, finance, reputation, legal, the 
environment, client/customer/partners, and staff. All key risks 
are accurately reported and monitored in line with the 
Corporate Risk Management Strategy. 

 System Adequacy – Robust 
framework of controls ensures 
that there is a high likelihood 
of objectives being achieved 

 Control Application – Controls 
are applied continuously or 
with minor lapses 

Satisfactory Risk Aware 
Service area have an awareness of the risks relating to the 
area under review and the impact that these may have on 
service delivery, other services, finance, reputation, legal, 
the environment, client/customer/partners, and staff, 
however some key risks are not being accurately reported 
and monitored in line with the Corporate Risk Management 
Strategy. 

 System Adequacy – Sufficient 
framework of key controls for 
objectives to be achieved but, 
control framework could be 
stronger 

 Control Application – Controls 
are applied but with some 
lapses 

Limited Risk Naïve  
Due to an absence of accurate and regular reporting and 
monitoring of the key risks in line with the Corporate Risk 
Management Strategy, the Service area has not 
demonstrated an adequate awareness of the risks relating to 
the area under review and the impact that these may have 
on service delivery, other services, finance, reputation, legal, 
the environment, client/customer/partners and staff.   

 System Adequacy – Risk of 
objectives not being achieved 
due to the absence of key 
internal controls 

 Control Application – 
Significant breakdown in the 
application of control 

 
 
Taking account of the issues identified in this audit, in our opinion, satisfactory assurance can 
be provided that the risk identification arrangements operating within the area reviewed are 
operating as intended.  Limited assurance (based on evidence being unavailable to 
substantiate decisions) is provided that these risks which are considered to be material to the 
achievement of the services objectives for this area under review are adequately managed and 
controlled. 

Page 173



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/013: GFRS HR and Payroll – Recruitment v2.0 
OFFICIAL 

10 

 

Appendix A – Action Plan and Management Response 

This section contains the findings for each audit objective 
along with any recommendations made by Internal Audit to 
strengthen the control environment.  The recommendations 
are categorised as follows: 
 
Objective: 
To ensure that the recruitment and selection process within GFRS in respect of new starters is in compliance with GCC/GFRS 
recruitment and selection policies and procedures. 
 
Finding 
 
In the past, GCC HR has only been involved in higher level recruitment and external appointments, however it is understood that they may 
now form part of all levels of recruitment and appointment procedures throughout the service, subject to review. 
 

No. Recommendation Risks Agreed Action 

1 (H) The level of HR support required from both 
GFRS and GCC in relation to the recruitment 
process should be formally agreed and 
documented. 

GFRS and GCC HR staff are unclear as 
to what their role is with regard to 
recruitment. 
 
Inconsistency within the recruitment 
process. 
 
Potential duplication of roles. 
 
The potential for reduced assurance on 
key HR systems and processes provided 
to the Council’s Head of HR and OD. 
 
 
 

Review the support requirements relating to 
recruitment processes as part of the 
GCC/GFRS integration and business partner 
model. 
 

Person Responsible Due Date 

GCC Assistant Head 
of HR 
GFRS Head of POD 

30th September 2019 

 
 

Priority Description 

High Critical/Major risk exposure which materially impact on the assets, 
reputation, service delivery and objectives of the organisation. 

Medium Moderate risk exposure that impacts on the assets, reputation, 
service delivery and objectives of the organisation. 

P
age 174



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/013: GFRS HR and Payroll – Recruitment v2.0 
OFFICIAL 

11 

 

Finding 
 
Evidence could not always be found to support recruitment decisions made in respect of the sample of recent recruitment selected for audit 
testing.  Whilst GCC’s policy states that evaluation paperwork is not retained for unsuccessful candidates, a recommendation has been made 
below to address this. 
 

No. Recommendation Risks Agreed Action 

2 (H) All recruitment selection, evaluation and 
appointment decision-making should be 
evidenced and the decisions should be held 
on the successful candidates’ personnel file. 
 
The evaluation paperwork for individuals who 
are not initially successful, but placed on the 
reserve list, should be retained for the period 
of time that they remain on the list. 
 
Retention of other documentation should be 
as per the Council’s retention schedule. 
 

Decisions are not evidenced. 
 
Evidence may not be available to support 
why certain individuals move from the 
reserve list to a position. 
 
Potential challenge by unsuccessful 
candidates cannot be defended. 
 

Interviewing staff to receive interview training 
which includes professional administrative 
practice. 
 

Person Responsible Due Date 

GFRS Head of POD 
supported by HR 

30th September 2019 

 

P
age 175



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/013: GFRS HR and Payroll – Recruitment v2.0 
OFFICIAL 

12 

 

Finding 
 
GCC’s Employee Code of Conduct states that employees cannot take up an additional appointment without the written consent of their 
Director.  The NJC Grey Book states that employees cannot hold another job without the permission of the fire and rescue authority.  Under 
GCC’s Scheme of Delegation within the Constitution, the CFO is responsible for making executive decisions concerning the management of 
GFRS operations and can therefore approve any additional job requests. 
 
It was verbally established that staff, in the past, were asked to complete a form on an annual basis to say whether or not they had a second 
job, but Internal Audit was advised that this has not happened for the last two/three years.  It is proposed that the forms will now be sent out to 
staff annually.  This should include all staff, uniformed and support staff and when completed should be signed off by the individual’s line 
manager, Area Manager and CFO. 
 

No. Recommendation Risks Agreed Action 

3 (H) Any staff, uniformed or support, wishing to 
take up a new job in addition to their main role 
at GFRS should obtain CFO approval in 
advance.  Staff should be reminded of this 
process on an annual basis. 
 
If any staff already have an existing job it 
should be established whether an authorised 
form is held for them.  Authorised forms 
should be monitored and retained centrally. 
 
Whilst this audit did not cover retained 
firefighters, if there is not a process in place 
they should be asked to complete a form if 
they change their primary employment, in 
order to ensure that there is no conflict of 
interest between roles. 
 

Non-compliance with GCC’s Employee 
Code of Conduct. 
 
Secondary employment could conflict with 
an individual’s role at GFRS. 
 
Potential reputational damage if 
secondary employment is inappropriate. 

GFRS Head of POD to establish a process 
for gathering, recording, filing and renewing 
permission for outside work in consultation 
with HR. 
 

Person Responsible Due Date 

GFRS Head of POD 
with Assistant Head 
of HR 
 

30th September 2019 

 
 

P
age 176



 

 

 

 

Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue 
Service – Employee Code of 

Conduct: Gifts and Hospitality and 
Register of Interests 

1st April 2019 

Carolyne Wignall – Principal Auditor 

 

Page 177



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/024: GFRS Gifts and Hospitality and Declarations of Interest  
V2.0 
OFFICIAL 

 

 

Distribution 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Contents 

Executive Summary ..................................................................................................................... 3 

Audit Opinions on Risk Management and Control ....................................................................... 9 
Appendix A – Action Plan and Management Response ............................................................. 10 
 

 
Important 

 Gloucestershire County Council’s Internal Audit function conforms to the 
International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing. 
 

 The information contained within this audit report is confidential and personal data herein 
is subject to data protection legislation. 
 

This report has been prepared solely for the use of Gloucestershire County Council’s auditors 
and those officers and Members named on the distribution list.  Its contents, either in part or in 
its entirety, must not be reproduced or distributed to anyone other than its intended recipients 
without the written permission of the Council’s Chief Internal Auditor. 
Gloucestershire County Council accepts no liability to any third party for any loss or expense 
arising from their reliance on any part of this report.

To:  Jon McGinty  Commissioning Director 
Wayne Bowcock Chief Fire Officer 
Jane Burns  Monitoring Officer 
 
 

Copied to: Paul Blacker  Acting Director - Financial Services  
 

Page 178



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/024: GFRS Gifts and Hospitality and Declarations of 
Interest V2.0 
OFFICIAL 

3 

 

Executive Summary 
 
Introduction 
 
On 15th June 2018 a letter of complaint was sent by email to the Leader of the Council.  There 
were three strands to the complaint, one concerned the sale of a Gloucestershire Fire and 
Rescue Service (GFRS) owned vehicle and the former Chief Fire Officer’s (CFO) involvement in 
the process. The other two concerns were regarding staffing issues.  It was agreed that Internal 
Audit (IA) would investigate the sale of the vehicle and Human Resources (HR) would review 
the remaining two concerns, which are included within the management review of culture. 
 
Shortly after commencing the investigation, numerous whistleblowing allegations and Freedom 
of Information requests in respect of other concerns relating to GFRS governance 
arrangements, procedures, systems and processes were received.  As a result, following IA 
review, research, analysis and interviews with key stakeholders including relevant GFRS 
Officers, IA co-ordinated the findings and made a number of GFRS-specific and council-
wide/cross-cutting recommendations to undertake detailed reviews/audits within each area to 
determine the level of risk.  These reviews/audits are outlined in the Action Plan presented to 
the Audit and Governance Committee on 12th October 2018.  Progress updates against each 
review/audit included within the Action Plan will be provided to the Audit and Governance 
Committee. 
 
The Council’s Code of Conduct for Employees (the Code), part 5 of the Council’s Constitution, 
applies to all people working within or on behalf of Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) and is 
intended to give all employees guidance on how the Council and the public in general expect 
them to behave. By following the Code, staff should not find themselves in a situation where 
their conduct could create an impression of conflict of interest or corruption in the minds of the 
public. The Code covers a number of required standards and principles. 
 
Audit Scope 
 
This audit focused on GRFS’s compliance with two specific aspects of the Council’s Employee 
Code of Conduct, Gifts and Hospitality and Register of Interests. It sought to establish the 
effectiveness of the arrangements in place to ensure that all staff are aware of the requirements 
of the Code in relation to the recording and monitoring of gifts and hospitality and the recording, 
registering and monitoring of declarations of interests. 
 
Key Findings 
 
Gifts and Hospitality 
 
Although there may be no corruptive intention in the act of giving or receiving of gifts from third 
party providers of goods and services, it is very important to avoid any grounds for suspicion of 
corruption and demonstrate openness and transparency when commissioning services.  
 
The Council’s Employee Code of Conduct states that a Gifts and Hospitality register (the 
register), recording all gifts offered whether accepted or declined, should be maintained by 
every Director. 
 

Page 179



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/024: GFRS Gifts and Hospitality and Declarations of 
Interest V2.0 
OFFICIAL 

4 

 

IA established that there is a system in place within GCC for regularly reminding members of 
the Corporate Management Team (CoMT) to declare any offers of gifts and hospitality.  The 
expectation is that CoMT members will ensure that their cluster / service area(s) are made 
familiar with the requirement to declare any gifts and / or hospitality offered (regardless of 
whether they are subsequently accepted or declined) and that an up-to-date register, recording 
the offers will be maintained.  IA established that the Council has a system in place to issue 
annual reminders to CoMT members by email, however, it was found that the CFO at the time 
had erroneously been excluded from the process and had not received these reminders. 
 
That said, whilst the previous CFO may not have received the reminders, the annual Assurance 
Statement for 2017/18, signed by the then CFO and Deputy CFO (currently the Acting CFO 
(A/CFO)) on behalf of GFRS, states that “there are arrangements in place to ensure that my 
staff are aware of, understand and comply with the requirement to declare gifts and hospitality”. 
Further details on the Council’s Assurance framework can be seen in the IA position statement 
on GFRS Governance reported to Audit and Governance Committee on 25th January 2019.  
 
IA was advised that staff new to GFRS are made aware of the Code as part of their GFRS 
induction process, although this was not evidenced by IA.  Although, as mentioned above, there 
is currently no process in place to ensure that GFRS staff are reminded of the rules around gifts 
and hospitality on a regular, ongoing basis. 
 
The Code requires that a register of any gifts and hospitality offered (declined or accepted) 
should be maintained and also sets out the information that should be recorded on the register, 
including:  
 

 the person or body making the offer;  

 the member of staff to whom the offer was made;  

 the gift or hospitality offered;  

 the circumstances in which the offer was made;  

 the action taken by the member of staff concerned; and  

 the action taken (if any) by the Directors (or in the case of Directors, the Chief Executive).  
 
 
The GFRS Gifts and Hospitality register, maintained by the CFO’s Personal Assistant (PA), was 
reviewed. The PA advised IA that the register had been administered using the handover 
information received when they started in their current post. IA was advised that they were 
unaware that there was more detailed information available in the Council’s Employee Code of 
Conduct and had not referred to GCC’s website for information.  
 
It was further noted from discussions with the PA that, at the time of the audit and contrary to 
Part 5, para 47 of the Code, the declined offers were not being recorded as a matter of course.   
 
Consideration should be given to providing the GFRS staff with some refresher training / 
information on the rules around offers of gifts and hospitality to reduce the incidents of non 
compliance with the Code. 
 
Please refer to Recommendations 1 and 2 
 

Page 180



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/024: GFRS Gifts and Hospitality and Declarations of 
Interest V2.0 
OFFICIAL 

5 

 

The initial register provided to IA in July 2018 had no gifts and hospitality for 2018 recorded. 
However, a register provided in September 2018 had three entries with dates ranging from 27th 
April 2018 to 24th July 2018. For transparency and to reduce challenges being raised based on 
a perception of inappropriate behaviour, the PA should ensure that the register is kept up to 
date.  
 
As a result of whistle-blowing allegations received by GCC and through discussions with staff at 
GFRS, IA became aware of at least five other offers and subsequent acceptance of gifts and 
hospitality that have not been recorded on the register. 
 
Two of the concerns raised related to “trips abroad”, by two of the Principal Officers (POs).  IA 
was advised that the former CFO was invited by Portland Fire and Rescue Service (USA) (22nd 
– 28th September 2017) to present on risk reduction and the Assistant CFO (ACFO) was invited 
to Australia/New Zealand (12th – 30th May 2017) by the Australasian Fire and Rescue Service 
Authorities Council as a representative of the Chief Fire Officers Association to present on 
practical lessons learned from the evolving fire and emergency services sector in the UK.  The 
concerns raised suggested that the individuals had accepted the offers of these trips overseas, 
and had also taken their families at the public’s expense.  
 
There is a provision within the Code that enables staff to accept offers of attendance at 
conferences or courses where the hospitality is corporate rather than personal, or where the 
Directors (or Chief Executive in the case of Directors) gives consent in advance and where it is 
clear that any purchasing decisions are not compromised.  
 
Evidence was seen by IA to confirm that both of the trips were accepted in an 
official/professional capacity and were paid for by the sponsors (including flights, travel whilst 
overseas, and food and accommodation arrangements).  However, IA did identify a small 
payment of £10.70 on the former CFO’s purchase card in respect of a US visa.  In addition, 
there is currently a review of GFRS procurement being undertaken by IA and this may identify 
other associated costs incurred in respect of these trips. If identified, these will be reported in 
the GFRS Procurement report. The PA to the former CFO and the ACFO has advised IA that 
neither PO was accompanied by their family. 
 
Discussions with the Council’s Chief Executive established that approval to accept either offer, 
prior or retrospectively, was not sought.  
 
A review of the register by IA identified offers to attend similar overseas events that had been 
accepted and recorded on the register. Therefore, there is no reason why these two trips should 
not have been recorded on the register, by omitting to record these trips may have created a 
perception that the trips were  ‘provided as a personal benefit at public expense’ rather than an 
opportunity to share experiences and best practice with colleagues around the world.     
 
A third unrecorded event was identified during discussions with the Fleet Manager. IA was 
advised that two members of the fleet team had been on a business trip to Sweden funded by 
Scania (makers of products in the fire and rescue service), to showcase their latest fire and 
rescue products in May 2018. Although this trip was not recorded on the register, email 
correspondence was seen by IA confirming that this was an official trip and that prior approval 
had been sought from and approved by the former CFO prior to accepting the offer and 
attending the event.  

Page 181



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/024: GFRS Gifts and Hospitality and Declarations of 
Interest V2.0 
OFFICIAL 

6 

 

However, GFRS has purchased products, including fire appliances, from Scania in the past and 
may do so again in the future, therefore for openness and transparency reasons this trip should 
have been recorded on the register.  
 
The final omissions related to attendance at the St Andrews’s Charity Ball (Scottish Fire and 
Rescue Service Family Support Trust). IA were provided with emails showing that on separate 
occasions the former CFO, ACFO and the Fleet Manager, together with their respective 
partners, have attended charity balls held in Scotland.  
 
It was found that attendance at the charity ball by the former CFO in 2015 was recorded on the 
2014/15 Gifts and Hospitality Register. However, attendance at this event in subsequent years 
by the former CFO and other GFRS staff were not recorded on the registers.  
 
Emails between the former CFO and the ACFO and the former CFO and the Fleet Manager 
giving prior approval to attend the function were seen. However, IA was unable to find any 
evidence that the former CFO had sought approval from the Chief Executive to accept the 
hospitality offered.  
 
The Code is clear that in respect of hospitality offered it states that “employees may only accept 
if there is a genuine need to exchange information or represent the Council in the community. 
Offers to attend purely social or sporting functions should be accepted only when these are part 
of the life of the community within Gloucestershire and where the Council should be seen to be 
represented. All such hospitality must be properly authorised and recorded by Directors; and 
goes on to say that it would not be acceptable conduct for an employee to accept such things 
as expensive meals or entertainment.” 

 
On all occasions the invitation to attend the balls, including the cost of the tickets, food / drink 
and associated hotel accommodation was offered by a company currently used by GFRS. 
Omissions of this nature could result in allegations suggesting perceived inappropriate staff 
behaviour, bribery and corruption, lack of transparency in respect of business decision making 
and not obtaining value for money. 
 
Please refer to Recommendations 1 and 3 
 
The monetary limit, above which gifts and hospitality must be recorded, is not specifically stated 
in the Code.  Without consultation with the Council’s Monitoring Officer (MO) at GCC (the owner 
of the Code), GFRS has set a limit of £30 above which any gifts and hospitality should be 
recorded. This is not in line with the Council’s Code of Conduct. The MO may wish to consider 
whether it is felt that a limit should be set and applied across the Council.  It may also be 
prudent at this time to consider whether information recorded on the register should be 
amended to include an approximate value against the offers being received. 
 
If the review results in changes being applied to content of the Code, the MO should ensure that 
the changes are approved through the agreed processes and then clearly communicated to the 
relevant staff i.e. GCC and / or GFRS staff. 
 
Please refer to Recommendations 4 and 5 
 

Page 182



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/024: GFRS Gifts and Hospitality and Declarations of 
Interest V2.0 
OFFICIAL 

7 

 

Register of Personal Interests 
 
Everyone who works in the public sector is expected to conduct themselves in line with the 7 
principles of public life i.e. selflessness, integrity, objectivity, accountability, openness, honesty 
and leadership. The Chief Executive and each Director will be responsible for ensuring that their 
personal interests are registered in accordance with this Code and that all of their employees 
are aware of the need to register personal interests. In certain circumstances even though a 
conflict of interest is not anticipated (e.g. acting as a School Governor, involvement with an 
organisation receiving grant aid from the Council, involvement with an organisation or pressure 
group which may seek to influence the Council’s policies) employees should register their 
interests.  
 
Section 117 of the Local Government Act 1972 requires all employees to give written notice of 
any contract or proposed contract in which the Council is involved and in which the employee 
has a financial interest (either direct or indirect) as soon as the employee becomes aware of it. 
Failure to declare an interest is a criminal offence and may result in prosecution. This 
requirement is reflected in Part 5 of the Code. 
 
From discussions with the Council’s Monitoring Officer it has been confirmed that the only 
GFRS register of interest form currently held is for the former CFO, dated 2015. However, this 
form does not declare a more personal / social relationship between the former CFO and a 
current contractor used by GFRS as indicated in email exchanges seen by IA. This lack of 
transparency leaves the Council open to perceived allegations of favouritism, bribery and 
corruption.  If the CFO, had declared his connections with the company he should have 
subsequently, abstained from any decision making involving this company. If it was not possible 
to abstain totally, the CFO should have ensured that other impartial individuals (aware of his 
interests) were included in the decision making process.     
 
The GFRS Assurance Statement for 2017/18, provided and signed by the former CFO and 
Deputy CFO (currently A/CFO), states that “there are arrangements in place to ensure that my 
staff are aware of, understand and comply with the requirement to declare business interests”. 
 
However, whilst new staff are made aware of the Code as part of their GFRS induction, unlike 
offers of gifts and hospitality, the requirement to declare business interests is not specifically 
highlighted.  In addition, as in the case of gifts and hospitality recording, there is no dedicated 
post holder responsible for co-ordinating/monitoring any forms which may be completed and/or 
submitted where an interest has been declared, to the Monitoring Officer at GCC and reminding 
staff on a regular basis to complete a register of interests form, which could include nil returns.  
This could be particularly important in respect of retained firefighters, who due to the nature of 
their employment are more likely to have other jobs and where high risk post holders, such as 
those with responsibility for procurement and commissioning, are making decisions.   
 
As there is currently no central collection of declared interests, the CFO may not be aware of 
any conflicts of interests and therefore unable to take preventive steps to prevent individuals 
from being involved in any decision making that could call their independence into question and 
therefore protect the reputation of GFRS.  
 
Please refer to Recommendation 6 
 

Page 183



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/024: GFRS Gifts and Hospitality and Declarations of 
Interest V2.0 
OFFICIAL 

8 

 

Conclusion 
 
It was evident that the GFRS and general County wide processes differed and therefore GFRS 
practices were not in line with the Council’s corporate Code. GFRS Compliance with the 
Council’s Employee Code of Conduct, specifically in relation to the registering gifts and 
hospitality and personal interests, needs to be significantly strengthened.  
 
With no nominated person at GFRS responsible for reminding staff about the requirement to 
complete Gifts and Hospitality and Declarations of Interest returns on a regular basis their 
completion has been inconsistent.   
 
Offers of gifts and hospitality have been accepted by principal officers on occasions where the 
Code would suggest it was not appropriate and without seeking prior authority to accept them 
from the Council’s Chief Executive. This together with the non declaration of interests has 
resulted in challenges that the behaviour of those officers is not consistent with 7 principles of 
public life i.e. selflessness, integrity, objectivity, accountability, openness, honesty and 
leadership.  
 
Six recommendations have been made, that once implemented will introduce controls to ensure 
compliance with the Gifts and Hospitality and Registration of Interests elements of Council’s 
Employee Code of Conduct.  This will help to mitigate the risk of future concerns / challenges 
raised around the perceived inappropriate behaviour of GFRS officers and staff, ultimately 
impacting on enhancing GFRSs reputation and raising the Council’s confidence levels in the 
governance arrangements operating within GFRS.  

 

Page 184



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/024: GFRS Gifts and Hospitality and Declarations of 
Interest V2.0 
OFFICIAL 

9 

 

Audit Opinions on Risk Management and Control 
The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards require Internal Audit to provide an independent 
opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk identification processes which 
management has put in place within the area under review, and a sound framework of controls 
is in place to sufficiently mitigate those risks. This opinion feeds into the Chief Internal Auditor’s 
annual opinion on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the Council’s governance, risk 
management and control environment, which supports the Annual Governance Statement.  
Each report will provide a statement on the levels of assurance that can be given within these 
two areas, evaluated by applying the following criteria:   
 

Assurance 
Levels 

Risk Identification Maturity Control Environment 

Substantial Risk Managed 
Service area fully aware of the risks relating to the area 
under review and the impact that these may have on service 
delivery, other services, finance, reputation, legal, the 
environment, client/customer/partners, and staff. All key risks 
are accurately reported and monitored in line with the 
Corporate Risk Management Strategy. 

 System Adequacy – Robust 
framework of controls ensures 
that there is a high likelihood 
of objectives being achieved 

 Control Application – Controls 
are applied continuously or 
with minor lapses 

Satisfactory Risk Aware 
Service area have an awareness of the risks relating to the 
area under review and the impact that these may have on 
service delivery, other services, finance, reputation, legal, 
the environment, client/customer/partners, and staff, 
however some key risks are not being accurately reported 
and monitored in line with the Corporate Risk Management 
Strategy. 

 System Adequacy – Sufficient 
framework of key controls for 
objectives to be achieved but, 
control framework could be 
stronger 

 Control Application – Controls 
are applied but with some 
lapses 

Limited Risk Naïve  
Due to an absence of accurate and regular reporting and 
monitoring of the key risks in line with the Corporate Risk 
Management Strategy, the Service area has not 
demonstrated an adequate awareness of the risks relating to 
the area under review and the impact that these may have 
on service delivery, other services, finance, reputation, legal, 
the environment, client/customer/partners and staff.   

 System Adequacy – Risk of 
objectives not being achieved 
due to the absence of key 
internal controls 

 Control Application – 
Significant breakdown in the 
application of control 

 
Taking account of the issues identified in this audit, in our opinion, Limited assurance can be 
provided that the risk identification arrangements operating within the area reviewed are 
operating as intended.  Limited assurance can be provided that these risks which are 
considered to be material to the achievement of the services objectives for this area under 
review are adequately managed and controlled. 

Page 185



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/024: GFRS Gifts and Hospitality and Declarations of Interest 
V2.0 OFFICIAL 

10 

 

 Appendix A – Action Plan and Management Response 

This section contains the findings for each audit objective 
along with any recommendations made by Internal Audit to 
strengthen the control environment. The recommendations 
are categorised as follows: 
 
 
Objective: To review the effectiveness of the arrangements in place to ensure that all staff are aware of the requirements of the Code 
of Conduct for the recording and monitoring of gifts and hospitality. 
 

Finding  
 

There is no formal process within GFRS for regularly reminding all staff (including Principal Officers) of the requirement to declare all gifts and 
hospitality offered whether accepted or declined.  
 

It was also found that at the time of the audit and contrary to Part 5 of Constitution, the Code of Conduct, the GFRS Gifts and Hospitality 
register, maintained by the ACFO’s PA, did not record offers that have been declined. 
 

No. Recommendation Risks Agreed Action 

1 (M) Consideration should be given to nominating 
a specific person that is responsible for 
regularly (e.g. quarterly) reminding staff of 
GCC’s Gifts and Hospitality arrangements 
(including declined offers) and that where any 
offers are received, permission is sought from 
the CFO or nominated officer and 
countersigned by the MO before the offers are 
accepted.  
 
Where the offer is made to the CFO, approval 
must be sought from the Council’s Chief 
Executive before being countersigned by the 
MO.  

Non compliance with GCC Code of 
Conduct 
 
Perception that senior officers do not 
have to comply with the Code of Conduct 
 
Inappropriate gifts and/or hospitality is 
accepted 
 
Reputational damage 
 
Perception of Bribery and Corruption.  
Inability to evidence decisions if 
challenged 

CFO’s PA to be asked to ensure that the 
Senior Leadership Team (SLT) agenda 
contains quarterly reminders.   

Person Responsible Due Date 

CFO 
 

30th April 2019 

 

Priority Description 

High Critical/Major risk exposure which materially impact on the assets, 
reputation, service delivery and objectives of the organisation  

Medium Moderate risk exposure that impacts on the assets, reputation, 
service delivery and objectives of the organisation. 

P
age 186



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/024: GFRS Gifts and Hospitality and Declarations of Interest 
V2.0 OFFICIAL 

11 

 

Finding 
 
There is a lack of clarity around the rules to be followed when offers of gifts and hospitality are received. This has led to an inconsistent 
approach to the recording of offers accepted and offers declined not being recorded at all. As a result, IA identified a number of offers of gifts 
and hospitality that had been offered and in most cases accepted that had not been recorded on the register. 
 

No. Recommendation Risks Agreed Action 

2 (M) All managers, and where appointed the 
relevant nominated person responsible for 
maintaining the Gifts and Hospitality register, 
should ensure that they are familiar with the 
rules around gifts and hospitality.  

Inconsistent approach. 

Non compliance with GCC policy. 

Forms relating to offers of gifts and 
hospitality are mislaid 

Perception that attendance at events is in 
a personal and not professional capacity 

Staff awareness sessions to be held.  To be 
arranged by the CFO’s PA through existing 
meeting structures. 

Person Responsible Due Date 

CFO 
 

30th April 2019 

 

No. Recommendation Risks Agreed Action 

3 (H) 
 

 

All returned gifts and hospitality forms should 
be forwarded to the CFO’s PA for retention 
and for offers accepted or declined to be 
entered onto the Gifts and Hospitality register.      
 
The register should be kept up to date at all 
times, and should include all offers of gifts and 
hospitality whether accepted or declined. 

Non compliance with GCC Code of 
Conduct 

Forms relating to offers of gifts and 
hospitality are mislaid 

Perception that attendance at events is in 
a personal and not professional capacity 

Perception of Bribery and Corruption 

Reputational Damage 

Inability to evidence decisions if 
challenged 

Refresher training to be arranged for CFO’s 
PA re policy, and develop appropriate 
recording and reporting arrangements. 

Person 
Responsible 

Due Date 

CFO 30th April 2019 

 

P
age 187



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/024: GFRS Gifts and Hospitality and Declarations of Interest 
V2.0 OFFICIAL 

12 

 

Finding 
 
GFRS has set a monetary limit of £30, above which offers should be recorded. This is not in line with the Council’s code. However, the GFRS 
register does not include the provision of an approximate value and although there is a £30 limit, some of the items recorded such as a box of 
chocolates or a bottle of wine would appear to be below this value. 
 
In addition, it should be noted that this set limit has not been approved by the Council’s Monitoring Officer (MO). The MO may wish to consider 
whether it is appropriate to have a set monetary limit and if it is, should this same limit be applied across the Council.  
 

No. Recommendation Risks Agreed Action 

4 (H) Consideration should be given to reviewing 
whether a defined set financial limit is 
appropriate, advising on what is recorded on 
the register and if it is, should it be applied 
across the Council as a whole Staff being 
made aware of any key changes to the Code. 
 
In conjunction with the above, consideration 
should be given to reviewing the format of the 
Gifts and Hospitality register to include an 
approximate value against the offers being 
received. 

Non compliance with the Council’s 
Employee Code of Conduct  

Inconsistent approach across the Council 
and GFRS to the recording of offers of 
gifts and hospitality 

Perceived inequality of what can and 
cannot be accepted / non compliance with 
the Council’s Employee Code of Conduct 

Value of gift/hospitality being accepted is 
not known  

 

A financial limit of £25 will be proposed to 
bring in line with the Member Code of 
Conduct.  
 
Any changes implemented to the process for 
recording/reporting gifts and hospitality to be 
communicated via usual channels. 

Person Responsible Due Date 

Monitoring Officer 30 September 2019 

 
 

 
 
 

P
age 188



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/024: GFRS Gifts and Hospitality and Declarations of Interest 
V2.0 OFFICIAL 

13 

 

Objective: To review the effectiveness of the arrangements that are in place to ensure that all staff are aware of the requirements of 
the Code of Conduct for the recording and monitoring of Declarations of interests. 
 
Finding  
 

Whilst new GFRS staff are made aware of the Code of Conduct as part of their GFRS induction, the requirement to declare any potential 
conflicts of interest is not specifically highlighted.  In addition, there is no process to ensure that staff are reminded on a regular basis to 
complete a declaration of interests form, which could be extended to include nil returns.  This could be particularly important for retained 
firefighters, who will more than likely have other jobs and high risk post holders with the responsibility for procurement and commissioning. 
 

At GFRS there is no nominated person responsible for co-ordinating/monitoring any forms which may be completed and submitting any forms 
where an interest has been declared to the MO at GCC for countersignature and retention.  As a result, the CFO may not be aware of any 
conflicts of interests and therefore unable to take preventive steps to prevent individuals from being involved in any decision making that could 
call their independence into question and therefore protect the reputation of the fire and rescue service. 
 

No. Recommendation Risks Agreed Action 

5 (H) The induction process for all GCC staff 
(including GFRS) should specifically highlight 
the requirement within the Code of Conduct 
for all staff (including senior officers) to 
declare any personal interests, financial or 
non-financial, where “they could reasonably 
be deemed to potentially conflict with any 
work undertaken by employees in the course 
of their duties”. 
 

At GFRS a named post holder/s should be 
responsible for regularly (e.g. annually) 
reminding staff to complete a declaration of 
interest form, potentially even if it is a nil 
return.  Where an interest has been declared, 
the form should be forwarded to the line 
manager for review before being sent to 
GCC’s Monitoring Officer for countersignature 
and retention.  

Non-compliance with GCC’s Code of 
Conduct 

Potential conflicts of interests 

Appropriate action is not taken by 
management to avoid situations of 
potential conflicts of interests 

Perception of unethical behaviour by 
GFRS staff 

Reputational damage 

CFO’s PA to maintain a declaration of 
interest register and to enter on to SLT 
agenda for review 6 monthly. 
 
Monitoring Officer to request annual updated 
records from each directorate. 

Person Responsible Due Date 

CFO 
Monitoring Officer 

30th April 2019 

 

P
age 189



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

GFRS HR and Payroll – Staff 
promotion, progression and 

movement within GFRS  
 

8 April 2019 

Gill Lodge - Senior Auditor 

Page 191



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/014: GFRS HR and Payroll – Progression v2.0 
OFFICIAL 

 

 

Distribution 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Contents 

Executive Summary ..................................................................................................................... 1 

Audit Opinions on Risk Management and Control ....................................................................... 8 

Appendix A – Action Plan and Management Response ............................................................... 9 

 

 

Important 

 Gloucestershire County Council’s Internal Audit function conforms to the 

International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing. 

 

 The information contained within this audit report is confidential and personal data herein 

is subject to data protection legislation. 

 

This report has been prepared solely for the use of Gloucestershire County Council’s auditors 

and those officers and Members named on the distribution list.  Its contents, either in part or in 

its entirety, must not be reproduced or distributed to anyone other than its intended recipients 

without the written permission of the Council’s Chief Internal Auditor. 

Gloucestershire County Council accepts no liability to any third party for any loss or expense 

arising from their reliance on any part of this report.

To:  Jon McGinty  Commissioning Director 
Wayne Bowcock Chief Fire Officer 
Mandy Quayle Acting Director HR & Digital 
 

Copied to: Paul Blacker  Acting Director – Financial Services 

 

Page 192



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/014: GFRS HR and Payroll – Progression v2.0 
OFFICIAL 

1 

 

Executive Summary 

Introduction 
 
On 15th June 2018 a letter of complaint was sent by email to the Leader of the Council.  There 
were three strands to the complaint, one concerned the sale of a Gloucestershire Fire and 
Rescue Service (GFRS) owned vehicle and the former Chief Fire Officer’s (CFO) involvement in 
the process.  The other two concerns were regarding staffing issues.  It was agreed that Internal 
Audit would investigate the sale of the vehicle and Human Resources (HR) would review the 
remaining two concerns, which are included within the management review of culture. 
 
Shortly after commencing the investigation, numerous whistleblowing allegations and Freedom 
of Information requests in respect of other concerns relating to GFRS governance 
arrangements, procedures, systems and processes were received.  As a result, following 
Internal Audit review, research, analysis and interviews with key stakeholders including relevant 
GFRS Officers, Internal Audit co-ordinated the findings and made a number of GFRS-specific 
and council-wide/cross-cutting recommendations to undertake detailed reviews/audits within 
each area to determine the level of risk.  These reviews/audits are outlined in the Action Plan 
presented to the Audit and Governance Committee on 12th October 2018.  Progress updates 
against each review/audit included within the Action Plan will be provided to the Audit and 
Governance Committee. 
 
Audit Scope 
 
Recruitment and selection forms part of the organisation's strategic management of human 
resources, which has a number of interrelated elements designed to deliver long-term 
sustainable success. 
 
Effective recruitment and selection ensures that the organisation has the necessary knowledge, 
skills and experience to fulfil its responsibilities and achieve its objectives.  It also ensures that 
the organisation's culture, ethical values and expectation on behaviour are compatible with 
those of its employees so that there is unity of direction and purpose. 
 
This audit focused on arrangements that are currently in place within GFRS to ensure that any 
internal staff promotion, progression or movement within the organisation (excluding retained 
firefighters) is in compliance with Gloucestershire County Council (GCC)/GFRS policies and 
procedures. 
 
Key Findings 
 
Guidance 
 
National Joint Council (NJC) 
 
The NJC is the body responsible for the supervision, from a national point of view, of all 
questions affecting the conditions of service of employees of fire and rescue services.  The 
NJC’s principal role is to reach agreement on a national framework of pay and conditions for 
local application throughout the fire and rescue service in the UK.  The NJC consults and 
negotiates between fire and rescue authorities and recognised trade unions. 

Page 193



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/014: GFRS HR and Payroll – Progression v2.0 
OFFICIAL 

2 

 

The NJC for Brigade Managers of Local Authority Fire and Rescue Services Constitution and 
Scheme of Conditions of Service 2006 (referred to as the Gold Book) represents Brigade 
Managers.  The title Brigade Manager relates to the most senior managers in the service i.e. 
Chief Fire Officer, Deputy Chief Fire Officer and Assistant Chief Fire Officer. 
 
The NJC for Local Authority Fire and Rescue Services Scheme of Conditions of Service 2009 
(the Grey Book) represents the national terms and conditions of employment of uniformed 
employees of fire and rescue services of all local authorities in the UK. 
 
The Grey Book states that “Appointments and promotions to all roles (other than control-specific 
roles) shall be in accordance with the provisions of the Fire Services (Appointments and 
Promotion) Regulations 2004.”  These regulations state the general and specific requirements 
for appointment of individuals. 
 
The NJC for Local Government Services represents local authorities in England, Wales and 
Northern Ireland and their employees (other than those for whom there are alternative 
arrangements e.g. Gold and Grey Book staff).  The NJC’s principal role is to reach agreement 
on a national scheme of pay and conditions for local application throughout England, Wales and 
Northern Ireland.  This scheme is known as the Green Book. 
 
A print was obtained from SAP (GCC’s financial and personnel system), showing there have 
been 508 changes of position from 1/4/15 to the date of the audit.  The majority of entries relate 
to GFRS uniformed staff, with only eight support staff on the list. 
 
Promotion for support staff 
 
GCC has a Starting Salary Policy, which explains the principles that apply to external 
employees who are first appointed to the Council and existing employees who are promoted or 
re-graded.  The Policy states, for existing employees, that if an individual is placed on more than 
two grades higher than their existing grade, Director approval would need to be obtained.  In the 
case of the fire service this would be the CFO. 
 
One of the eight support staff who was on the change of position print was selected for review.  
The promotion was discussed with the relevant Area Manager, who confirmed that the individual 
had the required skills and experience for the post, which was why they had been selected 
however, no physical evidence was seen to support this decision. 
 
In addition, when progressing from one post to the next, the individual did not start at the bottom 
of the relevant grade as would be expected, but started four scale points up from the bottom 
and no evidence was found to support that this had been agreed by the former CFO. 
 
Please refer to Recommendation 1 
 
In 2017 a member of staff was promoted from a Green Book support staff position to a Grey 
Book operational position.  Whilst the Fire Services (Appointments and Promotion) (England 
and Wales ) Regulation 2004 allows for this to happen if the person is likely to meet the 
standards specified for the role in question following initial training and development, from 
Internal Audit’s perspective no paperwork could be found to support whether or not a formal 
recruitment process was undertaken for this position. Therefore it is not possible to provide 

Page 194



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/014: GFRS HR and Payroll – Progression v2.0 
OFFICIAL 

3 

 

assurance on whether or not the recruitment and appointment process was undertaken in a fair 
and transparent manner. 
 
The only evidence which was provided to support this promotion was a letter from the former 
CFO to the individual quoting a professional discussion which had taken place and confirming 
the promotion, which was to include a shadowing role with the individual’s line manager to 
provide mentoring and coaching. 
 
The initial salary impact was not significant, however, it gives the individual the opportunity to 
progress a uniformed career.  Internal Audit was advised by HR that movement between Green 
Book and Grey Book staff groups is desirable and should be encouraged (in both directions).  
However such transfers should be covered by an agreed workforce plan/policy and supporting 
procedure. 
 
Promotion for uniformed staff 
 
The Fire and Rescue National Framework for England states that each fire and rescue authority 
should have in place a people strategy that has been designed in collaboration with the 
workforce and should cover, amongst other things, the various routes available in terms of 
recruitment, retention and progression.  GFRS has a Recruitment and Selection Strategy 2017-
2019 and People and Organisational Development Strategy 2018-2023. 
 
In addition, the Framework states “to ensure greater fairness and the exchange of talent and 
ideas, all principal fire officer posts must be open to competition nationally, and fire and rescue 
authorities must take account of this in their workforce planning”. 
 
For uniformed staff, promotion/change of position can either be permanent or temporary and 
could also be a transfer, but still in the same role, between watches/stations.  The relevant 
policies are noted within the individual sections below. 
 
Temporary appointments 
 
A temporary appointment would generally reflect a short-term arrangement, for example if the 
substantive post-holder has been moved to another post on a short-term basis.  This backfilling 
process inevitably has a knock-on effect, to ensure that the service is operating at required 
capacity. 
 
Policy 
 
There is no GFRS policy covering temporary promotions for uniformed staff.  The auditor was 
verbally informed by senior GFRS officers that the previous process had been that individuals 
were interviewed by the relevant recruiting manager and promoted to a temporary position.  If, 
after a period of time, they were considered by the Principal Officers to have performed, then 
they were given the substantive role without any further interview/recruitment process.  This 
process was confirmed by a number of senior GFRS staff and also from the testing undertaken 
in respect of two temporary appointments which were reviewed as part of this audit.  Following 
the individuals’ three-monthly reviews the posts were made permanent, without advertising the 
opportunities to other staff. 
 
 

Page 195



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/014: GFRS HR and Payroll – Progression v2.0 
OFFICIAL 

4 

 

Fire and Rescue National Framework 
 
GCC has a Temporary Promotion Policy which, although for Green Book staff, could be used to 
provide some guidance on policy content e.g. how long a temporary promotion should last, 
whether the appointment should be subject to regular review, what salary will be paid for the 
duration of the temporary appointment etc.  In addition, any guidance/rules/regulations of the 
NJC Gold and Grey Book guidance/rules /regulations should be taken into consideration. 
 
GCC’s HR section should always be consulted when any new HR policies are written or existing 
ones revised. 
 
Please refer to Recommendation 2 
 
From discussion with the Head of Personal and Organisational Development (POD) at GFRS at 
the start of this audit, Internal Audit was informed that all temporary appointments should be 
subject to three-monthly reviews by the appropriate line manager and that temporary 
appointments should not last longer than a year, although there is no written policy which 
confirms this. 
 
A print was obtained listing all temporary appointments from 1/4/15 to the date of the audit.  
There were 152 such appointments, with some staff having more than one temporary post 
within that period.  Out of the 152 appointments, 10 lasted longer than 12 months and 54 did not 
have an end date recorded.  There is currently one individual who has been in a temporary post 
for almost two years (to the point of audit) with an end date given of 2020.  This does not reflect 
the actual expectation that temporary appointments will not last more than a year.  This may 
also impact staff morale and cause uncertainties over the appointment’s position. 
 
Evidence was seen of a three-monthly review for one temporary appointment and the auditor 
spoke to another individual who has been on a temporary contract for almost two years, who 
verbally confirmed that regular monthly reviews had been completed with their line manager. 
 
A review should be undertaken of all temporary posts, particularly those exceeding 12 months 
to establish the reasons for any long term appointments and whether there is a need to retain 
the temporary post or consider making it permanent. 
 
Please refer to Recommendation 3 
 
Testing 
 
A sample of 11 temporary appointments was selected for review and discussions were held with 
senior GFRS staff to establish the process for each appointment: 
 

 An email from the Head of POD to Internal Audit advised that two appointments were 
made by the former Head of Community Safety and were not part of any selection 
process.  It is thought that they were made to cover unexpected or sudden staff 
shortages until a promotion process was run.  At that time there was no reserve list of 
people to use.  The posts were not advertised and the appointments would have been 
selected by managers within the Community Safety section; 

Page 196



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/014: GFRS HR and Payroll – Progression v2.0 
OFFICIAL 

5 

 

 Two individuals were in temporary positions and after their three-monthly reviews the 
positions were automatically made permanent by the Principal Officers after performance 
discussions with their line manager.  Internal Audit was advised in an email from the 
Head of POD that they would have gone through a recruitment process at some time to 
get the temporary position; 

 One individual was moved to a temporary position by the Principal Officers for 
operational needs but also for personal development.  The individual has now reverted 
back to their substantive position and the job will be advertised; 

 One individual will now be going through an interview process for the position; 

 Two individuals were given temporary short-term positions but have now gone back to 
their substantive positions; 

 One individual was given a number of short term temporary promotions to cover for staff 
shortages, as a result of a chain of events higher up which led to a vacancy which 
needed to be filled at short notice.  There was no pool of people to call on at the time and 
the decision was based on service need to maintain cover in the short term.  Interviews 
were not undertaken for these posts; 

 One individual was interviewed and given a temporary role.  The decision for it to be 
made permanent would have been made by the Principal Officers, based on 
performance reviews and discussion with his line manager.  However, the post was 
advertised externally and this individual in the temporary post was unsuccessful in 
obtaining the permanent position; and 

 A temporary post was given to an individual by the former CFO, without any interview 
process.  However, this individual went through an interview process for their current 
(second) temporary post, which is at the same operational level as the previous one. 

 
The decision-making process for the above was established through verbal discussion with and 
email correspondence from senior GFRS officers. 
 
Please refer to Recommendation 4 
 
Internal transfers within GFRS 
 
There is a policy on internal transfers within GFRS, GFRS Service Policy No 11 – Station 
Management, Section 5 – Wholetime Transfer Policy.  This policy was written and first issued in 
February 2017 and whilst it gave a rationale for transfers it did not give any details of the 
process involved.  Guidance on the process was produced and implemented with effect from 
September 2018. 
 
The Transfer Policy states that “wholetime firefighters have a mobility clause in their contract of 
employment which provides the Service with the flexibility to move staff to a different location 
(workplace) within the County”.  As part of their training, a trainee firefighter will move across all 
areas of the service within five years of joining, to gain suitable experience.  Whilst other staff 
can request a transfer, they can also be moved due to a service need, so a move may not 
always be voluntary. 
 
Individuals can request an internal transfer by completing a Wholetime Staff Transfer Request 
Form.  The guidance notes state that this form has to be completed by 1st August each year (1st 
October for 2018 due to guidance only being issued in September).  The moves will take place 
from 1st January the following year, although staff could be moved for operational requirements 

Page 197



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/014: GFRS HR and Payroll – Progression v2.0 
OFFICIAL 

6 

 

or staff development at any time during the year.  Staff who are moved for service needs are 
advised of the move by letter.  Internal Audit was informed that following the policy guidance 
issued in 2018, individuals will get an explanation as to why it is happening (this has previously 
not been done). 
 
The transfer request forms which were completed in 2018 were selected for audit review, a total 
of 16 forms.  Internal Audit was verbally informed that the requests were reviewed by a panel 
comprising a Group Manager and five Station Managers.  Of the 16 requests, 14 were approved 
and two denied.  Rationale was provided on the transfer forms as to why the requests were 
denied.  The process was then reviewed for fairness and transparency by three Watch 
Managers.  The policy allows for individuals to appeal the decision. 
 
Four of the 14 approved forms had not been signed by the individual’s line manager, although 
they had been signed by a Station Manager as part of the approval process. 
 
Please refer to Recommendation 5 
Conclusion 
 
The majority of promotions/changes of position relate to uniformed staff and can either be 
permanent or temporary. 
 
Testing undertaken highlighted that the promotion of one of the support staff had not been 
made in accordance with GCC’s Starting Salary Policy, as the individual had not started at the 
bottom of the relevant pay grade and evidence was not seen to support that this decision had 
been agreed by the former CFO. 
 
Limited documented evidence was available to support decisions made in respect of the sample 
of recent promotions/changes of position/transfers selected for audit testing.  All selection, 
evaluation and appointment decisions should be formally documented, evidenced and retained. 
 
One area that requires immediate attention relates to temporary appointments.  There is no 
GFRS written policy covering this area for uniformed staff, e.g. how long a temporary promotion 
should last, whether the appointment should be subject to regular review, what salary will be 
paid for the duration of the temporary appointment etc.  Any new policies should be approved 
by GFRS’s Strategic Leadership Team (SLT) (which comprises the CFO, Deputy Chief Fire 
Officer, Assistant Chief Fire Officer, all four Area Managers, two of the Group Managers, 
Strategic Support Officer, GCC’s Assistant Head of HR, Lead Commissioner Communities and 
Infrastructure, and any other GFRS and GCC officers as appropriate), in full consultation with 
GCC’s HR section. 
 
In relation to the above, it is understood from discussion with the Head of POD that temporary 
promotions should not last longer than one year, although there are/have been appointments 
lasting much longer.  It is recommended that all current temporary appointments are reviewed 
with particular attention paid to those that have been in a temporary post for more than 12 
months. 
 
Individuals can request an internal transfer, although transfers may not always be voluntary as 
an individual could be moved due to service need.  There is a policy and process covering 
transfer requests, which was revised in 2018.  Any staff who want to transfer to another post 

Page 198



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/014: GFRS HR and Payroll – Progression v2.0 
OFFICIAL 

7 

 

have to complete a form which is reviewed by a panel, who consider the request and its 
implications and decide whether or not the move can be agreed.   
 
Due to the findings emanating from this review, Internal Audit proposes that consideration is 
given to GCC HR having more corporate oversight of GFRS HR activities. 
 
Please refer to Recommendation 6 
 
 
 
 

Page 199



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/014: GFRS HR and Payroll – Progression v2.0 
OFFICIAL 

8 

 

Audit Opinions on Risk Management and Control 

The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards require Internal Audit to provide an independent 
opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk identification processes which 
management has put in place within the area under review, and a sound framework of controls 
is in place to sufficiently mitigate those risks. This opinion feeds into the Chief Internal Auditor’s 
annual opinion on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the Council’s governance, risk 
management and control environment, which supports the Annual Governance Statement.  
Each report will provide a statement on the levels of assurance that can be given within these 
two areas, evaluated by applying the following criteria:   
 
 

Assurance 
Levels 

Risk Identification Maturity Control Environment 

Substantial Risk Managed 
Service area fully aware of the risks relating to the area 
under review and the impact that these may have on service 
delivery, other services, finance, reputation, legal, the 
environment, client/customer/partners, and staff. All key risks 
are accurately reported and monitored in line with the 
Corporate Risk Management Strategy. 

 System Adequacy – Robust 
framework of controls ensures 
that there is a high likelihood 
of objectives being achieved 

 Control Application – Controls 
are applied continuously or 
with minor lapses 

Satisfactory Risk Aware 
Service area have an awareness of the risks relating to the 
area under review and the impact that these may have on 
service delivery, other services, finance, reputation, legal, 
the environment, client/customer/partners, and staff, 
however some key risks are not being accurately reported 
and monitored in line with the Corporate Risk Management 
Strategy. 

 System Adequacy – Sufficient 
framework of key controls for 
objectives to be achieved but, 
control framework could be 
stronger 

 Control Application – Controls 
are applied but with some 
lapses 

Limited Risk Naïve  
Due to an absence of accurate and regular reporting and 
monitoring of the key risks in line with the Corporate Risk 
Management Strategy, the Service area has not 
demonstrated an adequate awareness of the risks relating to 
the area under review and the impact that these may have 
on service delivery, other services, finance, reputation, legal, 
the environment, client/customer/partners and staff.   

 System Adequacy – Risk of 
objectives not being achieved 
due to the absence of key 
internal controls 

 Control Application – 
Significant breakdown in the 
application of control 

 
 
Taking account of the issues identified in this audit, in our opinion, Limited assurance can be 
provided that the risk identification arrangements operating within the area reviewed are 
operating as intended.  Limited assurance can be provided that these risks which are 
considered to be material to the achievement of the services objectives for this area under 
review are adequately managed and controlled. 

Page 200



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/014: GFRS HR and Payroll – Progression v2.0 
OFFICIAL 

9 

 

Appendix A – Action Plan and Management Response 

This section contains the findings for each audit objective 
along with any recommendations made by Internal Audit to 
strengthen the control environment. The recommendations 
are categorised as follows: 
 
 
Objective: 
To ensure that any internal staff promotion, progression or movement within GFRS is in compliance with GCC/GFRS policies and 
procedures. 
 
Finding 
 
Testing undertaken highlighted that the promotion of one member of support staff was not in accordance with GCC’s Starting Salary Policy.  
Although there was a verbal rationale provided as to why the individual was put on the particular scale point, no evidence was found to support 
that this had been agreed by the former CFO. 
 

No. Recommendation Risks Agreed Action 

1 (H) Recruitment/promotion for Green Book staff 
should be in accordance with GCC’s Starting 
Salary Policy. 

Non-compliance with GCC policy 
 
Lack of consistency in respect of salaries 
 
Grievances/complaints  
raised following challenge from other staff 

Head of POD and GCC HR Business Partner 
to ensure that managers involved in 
recruitment/promotion are aware of policy 
and that required permissions are recorded. 

Person Responsible Due Date 

Head of POD 
 

30th April 2019 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Priority Description 

High Critical/Major risk exposure which materially impact on the assets, 
reputation, service delivery and objectives of the organisation. 

Medium Moderate risk exposure that impacts on the assets, reputation, 
service delivery and objectives of the organisation. 

P
age 201



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/014: GFRS HR and Payroll – Progression v2.0 
OFFICIAL 

10 

 

Finding 
 
There is no GFRS policy detailing the process for appointing staff to a temporary position.  Without an agreed policy, there may not be 
consistency and equalities in the decision-making approach taken.  The Assistant Head of HR at GCC should be contacted for guidance and 
should be consulted when producing any new/revised HR policies. 
 

No. Recommendation Risks Agreed Action 

2 (H) A GFRS temporary appointments policy 
should be produced and approved by the 
SLT, in consultation with GCC’s HR section, 
taking into account any requirements of the 
NJC Gold and Grey Books.  The policy should 
include, but not be exclusive to: 
 

 The process for appointing to a 
temporary position; 

 Maximum length of time a temporary 
appointment should last; 

 Whether temporary appointments 
should be subject to regular review, the 
format of the reviews and the intervals 
between reviews; and 

 Any impact the temporary appointment 
will have on pay and conditions. 

 
Where any new HR policies are written or 
existing ones revised, this should always be 
undertaken in consultation with GCC’s HR 
section. 
 

Inconsistency within the 
promotion/progression process 
 
Lack of openness and transparency 
 
Grievances/complaints raised following 
challenge received from other staff 
 
Changes resulting from the temporary 
appointment are not in line with the 
appropriate GCC/NJC Gold or Grey 
Books policies 
 
Potential pension implications for 
individuals 
 
Negative impact on staff morale and 
uncertainties regarding positions 

Head of POD and GCC HR section to 
produce appointments and progression 
policy. 

Person Responsible Due Date 

Head of POD 31st May 2019 

 
 
 
 

P
age 202



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/014: GFRS HR and Payroll – Progression v2.0 
OFFICIAL 

11 

 

Finding 
 
Ideally, temporary appointments should not last longer than a year, although there are/have been appointments lasting much longer.  Internal 
Audit was also informed that all temporary appointments should be subject to three-monthly reviews by the appropriate line manager. 
 

No. Recommendation Risks Agreed Action 

3 (H) A review of all current temporary 
appointments should be undertaken, to 
establish the reason for the appointments, the 
length of time that they have been temporary, 
whether there are regular reviews undertaken 
and whether there is still a need for the post to 
be temporary or whether it should be made 
permanent. 
 
This process to be documented to evidence 
decisions made. 
 

Staff can be in a temporary post 
indefinitely 
 
Challenge from other staff resulting in 
grievances and complaints 
 
Potential pension implications for 
individuals 
 
Negative impact on staff morale and 
uncertainties regarding positions 
 

Review current temporary appointments. 

Person Responsible Due Date 

Head of POD/SLT 
with GCC HR 

31st May 2019 

 
Finding 
 
Limited documented evidence was available to support decisions made in respect of the sample of recent promotions/changes of 
position/transfers selected for audit testing. 
 

No. Recommendation Risks Agreed Action 

4 (H) All selection, evaluation and appointment 
decisions should be evidenced and these 
decisions should be held on the successful 
candidates’ personnel file, in line with the 
Council’s HR document retention schedule. 

Decisions are not evidenced 
 
Evidence may not be available to support 
why certain individuals are 
moved/promoted/transferred to other 
positions 
 
Potential challenge by unsuccessful 
candidates cannot be defended 

Ensure process to capture and record all 
stages of the appointments and progression 
decisions is known, understood and complied 
with across the service. 

Person Responsible Due Date 

Head of POD 30th June 2019 

P
age 203



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/014: GFRS HR and Payroll – Progression v2.0 
OFFICIAL 

12 

 

Finding 
 
A sample of 16 transfer request forms which were completed in 2018 was reviewed.  Two of the 16 transfer requests were not approved and 
four of the 14 approved forms had not been signed by the individual’s line manager, although they had been signed by a Station Manager as 
part of the approval process. 
 

No. Recommendation Risks Agreed Action 

5 (M) Transfer request forms should be correctly 
completed and approved, to confirm that the 
request has been supported by the 
individual’s line manager. 

Line manager may not have agreed to the 
transfer 
 
Negative impact on service provision 

Process reviewed to include the correct 
authorisations and communicated to all line 
managers. 

Person Responsible Due Date 

Head of POD 
 

31st July 2019 
 

 
Finding 
 
Due to the findings above, Internal Audit proposes that consideration is given to GCC HR having more corporate oversight of GFRS HR 
activities. 
 

No. Recommendation Risks Agreed Action 

6 (H) Consideration is given to GCC HR having 
more corporate oversight of GFRS HR 
activities. 

Non-compliance with policies 
 
Lack of openness and transparency 
 
Lack of documented decision-making 
 
Grievances/complaints  
raised following challenge from staff 
 

GCC HR already represented at SLT.  
Business Partner model strengthened 
between GFRS and GCC and compulsory 
inclusion of GCC HR Business Partner in all 
appointment, progression and transfer 
processes.  Existing discussion to be 
continued to explore enhancing HR support 
for the service. 

Person Responsible Due Date 

CFO 30th April 2019 

 

P
age 204



 

 

GFRS Budget Setting 
8th April 2019 

Thirza Hampshire - Principal Auditor 

Page 205



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/022: GFRS Budget Setting v2.0 
OFFICIAL 

 

 

Distribution 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Contents 

Executive Summary ..................................................................................................................... 1 

Audit Opinions on Risk Management and Control ....................................................................... 9 

Appendix A – Action Plan and Management Response ............................................................. 10 

 

 

Important 

 Gloucestershire County Council’s Internal Audit function conforms to the 

International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing. 

 

 The information contained within this audit report is confidential and personal data herein 

is subject to data protection legislation. 

 

This report has been prepared solely for the use of Gloucestershire County Council’s auditors 

and those officers and Members named on the distribution list.  Its contents, either in part or in 

its entirety, must not be reproduced or distributed to anyone other than its intended recipients 

without the written permission of the Council’s Chief Internal Auditor. 

Gloucestershire County Council accepts no liability to any third party for any loss or expense 

arising from their reliance on any part of this report.

To: Wayne Bowcock        Chief Fire Officer 

Jon McGinty               Commissioning Director 

 Paul Blacker               Acting Director – Financial Services 

 

Page 206



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/022: GFRS Budget Setting v2.0 
OFFICIAL 

1 

 

Executive Summary 

Introduction 
 
On 15th June 2018 a letter of complaint was sent by email to the Leader of the Council.  There 
were three strands to the complaint, one concerned the sale of a Gloucestershire Fire and 
Rescue Service (GFRS) owned vehicle and the former Chief Fire Officer’s (CFO) involvement in 
the process.  The other two concerns were regarding staffing issues.  It was agreed that Internal 
Audit (IA) would investigate the sale of the vehicle and Human Resources (HR) would review 
the remaining two concerns, which are included within the management review of culture. 
 
Shortly after commencing the investigation, numerous whistleblowing allegations and Freedom 
of Information requests in respect of other concerns relating to GFRS governance 
arrangements, procedures, systems and processes were received.  As a result, following IA 
review, research, analysis and interviews with key stakeholders including relevant GFRS 
Officers, IA co-ordinated the findings and made a number of GFRS-specific and council-
wide/cross-cutting recommendations to undertake detailed reviews/audits within each area to 
determine the level of risk.  These reviews/audits are outlined in the Action Plan presented to 
the Audit and Governance Committee on 12th October 2018.  Progress updates against each 
review/audit included within the Action Plan will be provided to the Audit and Governance 
Committee. 
 
This audit reviewed the GFRS revenue budget setting process to provide assurance that 
accurate and operationally reflective budgets are set and that Gloucestershire County Council’s 
(GCC’s) budget setting requirements are followed.  GCC’s budget setting process (for both the 
forthcoming year and the updated Medium Term Financial Strategy - MTFS) commences in 
October each year and is progressed through to final approval of the budget by Cabinet in 
February prior to the start of the financial year in April.  Effective budget setting should enable 
effective budget monitoring and controlling of both income and expenditure. 
 
The GFRS revenue budget for 2018/19 has been set at £16,011,948 and this represents 
approximately 4% of GCC’s overall revenue budget for the year. 
 
Audit Scope 
 

The objectives of the audit were to ensure that: 

 Any Growth Bids to increase the base budget are supported by a business case and 
challenged and approved in line with relevant policies and procedures; 

 For the GFRS revenue budget setting process for 2018/19 and 2019/20 where relevant, 
appropriate systems and controls are in place and operating in practice and that GCC’s 
budget setting requirements are followed; and 

 Appropriate scrutiny and challenge of the budget setting process is applied within GFRS 
prior to submission of the budgets to Strategic Finance within GCC for upload to SAP 
(the Council’s financial management system). 

 

Page 207



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/022: GFRS Budget Setting v2.0 
OFFICIAL 

2 

 

Key Findings 
 
Growth Bids 
 
GCC undertakes a process for formulating the MTFS which covers a three-year period.  As part 
of this, revenue pressures, risks and income opportunities need to be considered when setting 
annual budgets.  Growth Bids can be submitted for cases of unavoidable revenue pressures 
that cannot be absorbed within existing budgets and where no other funding sources are 
available.  No Growth Bids were submitted by GFRS for 2018/19. 
 
GCC’s MTFS requirements for 2019/20 were notified to Directors (including the former Chief 
Fire Officer - CFO) by the Head of Finance in Strategic Finance.  GCC’s notification included 
templates for the completion and submission of Growth Bids by a deadline date of 13/07/18.   In 
response to an IA recommendation made in the initial investigation report and a subsequent 
request by GFRS, financial training was also delivered by Strategic Finance in November 2018.  
This training included the timelines for the submission and approval of Growth Bids as part of 
the MTFS process. 
 
The Growth Bids for 2019/20 were discussed at the GFRS financial monitoring group meeting, 
now called the Financial Monitoring Group (FMG – see ‘Budget setting process’ below for 
membership) and three Growth Bids were identified, namely contractual inflationary costs, 
Microsoft Licensing increases and the effects of commodity pricing.  The required templates 
were completed by the Budget Managers (BMs) and Budget Holders (BHs) and the Deputy 
CFO, as the GFRS Senior Leadership Team (SLT) representative, who gave approval for the 
templates to be submitted to GCC on 07/07/18 which was within GCC’s deadline date. 
 
None of the bids submitted by GFRS included the required signatures, either electronic or typed 
names. The responsible Finance Manager in Strategic Finance confirmed that physical 
signatures are not required but the email trail should support that the Director submitted the bid 
or that they had been copied into the bid which was the case for GFRS.  This email approach is 
consistent in other areas within GCC. 
 
Within GCC, following various challenge forums, final decisions about which Growth Bids will be 
supported are made by the Corporate Management Team (CoMT).  At the time of the audit the 
commodity pricing bid was the only GFRS bid that was supported in principle but required 
further clarification to be provided by GFRS before being allowed to progress, however this bid 
has also subsequently been withdrawn.  At the time of the audit the Acting CFO was a member 
of CoMT and therefore was able to communicate these decisions to staff within GFRS.  
Strategic Finance would not normally communicate decisions of this nature to the Group 
Manager Head of Finance (HoF) at GFRS. 
 

Because no Growth Bids were submitted by GFRS for 2018/19, the communication process for 
the final approval or rejection of bids by Council could not be reviewed and the 2019/20 process 
was not yet complete. 
 
Budget setting policies and procedures 
 
IA reviewed Staffnet (the Council’s intranet) which identified a considerable amount of separate 
information on the roles and responsibilities of a BM and a BH in respect of budget 
management arrangements.  It has also not been updated to reflect changes in service area 

Page 208



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/022: GFRS Budget Setting v2.0 
OFFICIAL 

3 

 

structures and business processes within GCC.  Enquiries were made with Strategic Finance as 
to whether there was any specific guidance that BMs and BHs would be referred to for the 
purposes of budget setting.  The response was that currently there isn’t but the Corporate 
Finance Manager recognised that the information on Staffnet, e.g. Accounting Instruction 14: 
Budget Estimates and Monitoring Revenue Budget Preparation, needed to be updated and 
confirmed that a plan was in place to achieve this.  The GFRS Corporate Governance 
Framework confirms that information for BHs can be found on Staffnet. 
 
In addition to the above, the financial training that was recently delivered to GFRS included the 
overall budget setting process and timelines as part of MTFS.  Attendance lists for the training 
days confirmed that all the current BMs and BHs attended the training.  The GFRS Corporate 
Governance Framework states that it is imperative that those responsible for financial 
management are in receipt of specific training to carry out their role. 
 
IA met with the GCC Finance Manager who supports GFRS.  GCC’s budget setting process and 
requirements were described together with the expectations for GFRS’s involvement.  IA then 
met with the HoF who also described the annual budget setting process and GFRS’s 
responsibilities within this which confirmed that there was correlation between the two 
approaches.  This provides assurance that both parties are aware of and apply the same 
budget setting procedures.  The GFRS Corporate Governance Framework also confirms that: 
 
GFRS do not have a bespoke service policy that governs financial management; specific 
financial guidance, accounting instructions and monitoring arrangements are driven centrally by 
GCC in accordance with legislative requirements. 
 
As a Service, GFRS forecasts the overall budget on an annual basis. The forecast budget is 
submitted to GCC for due consideration with approval given by Cabinet in February each year. 
  
Budget setting process 
 

Using the 2017/18 revised MTFS base budget as a starting point, GCC calculated the GFRS 
budget for 2018/19 by allocating additional monies for pay-related inflationary costs but also 
building in a requirement to make £160k of cost reductions.  The final GFRS 2018/19 agreed 
revenue budget was £16,011,948 and this control total was communicated to GFRS with the 
requirement to allocate the budget over the General Ledger (GL) account codes within the 
individual cost centres.  A deadline date was also provided for the budget information to be 
returned to Strategic Finance.  Grant income is dealt with separately and does not form part of 
the allocated revenue budget. 
 
The HoF prepared a Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) for GFRS for 2018/19 and the 
2019/20 MTFP was a work-in-progress at the time of the audit.  This internal document does not 
require approval or sign off but is a new initiative that is being developed by the HoF to assist 
FMG/SLT to gain a more strategic view of the financial landscape which in turn should assist the 
budget setting process. 
 
Within GFRS the HoF developed a budget setting spreadsheet, together with guidance notes, 
for completion by BMs and BHs with a deadline date for completion.  The guidance notes 
provided information on appropriate issues that needed to be considered when setting the 
annual budget.  For 2019/20, a new area that required explanation was that all budget requests 
had to be linked to the delivery of Service/Integrated Risk Management Plan (IRMP) objectives. 

Page 209



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/022: GFRS Budget Setting v2.0 
OFFICIAL 

4 

 

IA developed a questionnaire that the BMs and BHs (15 in total) were requested to respond to 
in terms of their involvement in the annual budget setting process.  The eight responses 
received confirmed that they do take appropriate factors into account when setting their 
budgets.  However, they are only required to set non-pay related budgets as all the pay-related 
expenditure is calculated by the HoF in consultation with appropriate BMs and BHs. 
 
Once the BMs and BHs have completed their individual spreadsheets, the HoF consolidates the 
data onto a master spreadsheet called the GFRS base spreadsheet and this is taken to FMG for 
discussion and review. 
 
The Terms of Reference for FMG were updated in September 2018 and the following extract 
shows the composition of the group: 

 Budget Managers within the CFO’s suite of services; 

 Budget Holders within the CFO’s suite of services; 

 Deputy Chief Fire Officer; and 

 Assistant Chief Fire Officer. 
 

The Terms of Reference also include the following statements in terms of the budget setting 
process: 

 Identify financial pressures which require a budget increase following GCC criteria for 
submissions for revenue and capital budget growth for approval by the Strategic 
Leadership Team; and 

 On an annual basis agree the revenue base budget for approval by the Strategic 
Leadership Team. 

 

Following the FMG meeting, the data on the base spreadsheet was finalised to ensure that the 
total 2018/19 budget submitted to Strategic Finance agreed with the control total that was 
received.  The data was submitted by the deadline date and in the required SAP format. This is 
in accordance with the GFRS Annual Statement of Assurance for 2017/18 which stated that 
financial recording and reporting to GCC is via the SAP system. 
 

Strategic Finance confirmed that for budget setting, the GCC Senior Finance Officer liaises with 
the HoF and the rest of the finance staff based at Waterwells by sending them the necessary 
information and requirements.  GFRS then sends the completed templates and budget setting 
information back to Strategic Finance.  This is checked to ensure that the budget submitted 
agrees to the allocated MTFS budget (control total) and the budget is then uploaded to SAP.  
This approach does not enable the Senior Finance Officer to have oversight of, or any 
involvement in, the detailed budget setting process that is undertaken within GFRS as it is the 
HoF and other finance staff that liaise with the individual BMs and BHs.  As a result, the GFRS 
budget setting process is not as transparent to Strategic Finance as it is for other service areas 
within Communities and Infrastructure and does not enable the same degree of challenge, e.g. 
Highways that has a similar-sized budget.  GFRS is the only service area within Communities 
and Infrastructure that has a separate finance staff (permanently based at Waterwells). 
 
Please refer to Recommendation 1 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 210



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/022: GFRS Budget Setting v2.0 
OFFICIAL 

5 

 

Budget setting savings requirements 
 
As stated above, there was a requirement on GFRS to make £160k of efficiency savings for 
2018/19.  The GFRS 2018/19 MTFP set out the following plan for how the £160k savings would 
be achieved: 

 Pay Savings £120k: 
o Grey book staffing review £30k; and 
o Pension scheme changes £90k; 

 Other Savings £40k: 
o ICT charges £22k; 
o Equipment £10k; and 
o Increased income £8k (Civil Protection Team). 

 
The Finance Manager confirmed that the largest element of the GFRS savings plan for 2018/19, 
i.e. the £90k pension cost reductions due to a change in the pension scheme, would not be 
regarded as efficiency savings but Strategic Finance did not have the visibility to identify this 
when the GFRS budgets were set and savings were identified. 
 
Please refer to Recommendation 1 
 

When BMs and BHs are sent the budget setting spreadsheets for completion they are not 
provided with specific savings targets that have to be achieved within their specific areas of 
budget responsibility in line with the above savings plan.  Instead, the BMs and BHs are 
requested to build their annual budgets using the previous year’s base budget as the starting 
point and then to include requests for the forthcoming year giving reasons for the differences in 
budget requirements between years, taking various risk factors into account and achieving 
savings where possible. 
 
Once the individual budgets for 2018/19 were consolidated onto the base spreadsheet, the total 
budget showed an overspend compared to the control total received from Strategic Finance 
(which included the savings requirement).  It was at this point that the HoF and FMG looked for 
additional ways to reduce the spend. 
 

One of the options that was utilised to balance the budget was to apply grant income to offset 
certain elements of expenditure, e.g. the New Dimensions (ND) grant (£90k expected use of 
grant for 2018/19) and the Syrian Refugee Grant (SRG - £160k expected use of grant for 
2018/19).  The grant determination for the ND grant states the following:  The purpose of the 
grant is to provide support to Fire and Rescue Authorities in England towards expenditure 
lawfully incurred or to be incurred by them.  This confirms that the grant funding is not ring-
fenced to a particular use.  Based on GFRS actual spend during 2018/19 to date, it is unlikely 
that the ND grant will need to be utilised in full to balance the budget. 
 
The SRG is a contribution towards eligible expenditure that is incurred supporting refugees. 
Monies provided must not be used for any purpose other than achieving delivery of programme 
outcomes detailed in the grant Instruction, nor is it permissible to vire any such funds elsewhere 
without prior written consent.  The HoF confirmed that the approach taken by GFRS has been to 
charge a percentage of certain GFRS’s staffing costs to the budget based on what they 
considered was their Syrian Refugee work plus a nominal charge for IT, accommodation etc.  
The Finance Manager in Strategic Finance confirmed that the use of grant income to balance a 
budget is common practice, however, Strategic Finance would not check to ensure appropriate 

Page 211



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/022: GFRS Budget Setting v2.0 
OFFICIAL 

6 

 

use of grant if there were no formal audit/sign-off requirements, which for the SRG there aren’t.  
An IA review of the use of grant income was also outside the scope of the budget setting audit, 
however an audit of this area has been included within the 2019/20 IA plan. 
 
Another option that was applied to achieve a 2018/19 balanced budget was to reduce staffing 
costs by an amount that is consistent with the vacancies that are normally carried on an annual 
basis, i.e. not budgeting at 100% of the agreed staffing structure.  The Finance Manager also 
confirmed that this was common practice amongst other service areas. 
 
The £160k of required savings for 2018/19 was built into the overall GFRS budget as follows: 

 £30,000 - introduction of new systems Fire Fighter pay; 

 £90,000 - staffing pension schemes; 

 £15,741 - licence review computer costs; 

 £6,259 - licence review Fleet; 

 £10,000 - equipment introduction of new systems; and 

 £8,000 additional income Civil Protection Team. 
 
None of the identified savings have been included as projects on VERTO which is a standard 
approach across GCC when efficiency savings have to be achieved.  VERTO is a project 
management software system that helps to manage projects, as well as having the facility to 
produce management information on project progress and achievement of savings.  
Consideration should be given to developing specific projects aimed at achieving future required 
efficiency savings as this would also require accountability from the BMs and BHs for delivery. 
 
Please refer to Recommendation 2 
 
Budget approval within GFRS 
 
The annual budget setting process is subject to appropriate layers of scrutiny and challenge 
within GFRS as follows: 

 Scrutiny by the HoF: 
o Budget setting spreadsheets for non-pay expenditure are prepared and sent to all 

BMs and BHs; 
o The completed spreadsheets are returned to the HoF who undertakes a 

reasonableness check on the budgets submitted; 
o The HoF then populates a consolidated ‘Fire and Rescue Service (FRS) base 

spreadsheet’ from all the individual budget submissions; 
o The ‘FRS base spreadsheet’ is presented to FMG which is chaired by the HoF and 

includes all the BMs, BHs and SLT representation (see further points below); 
o The HoF then finalises the ‘FRS base spreadsheet’ to ensure it agrees with the 

agreed GCC budget allocation; 
o The HoF prepares a paper for SLT recommending approval of the annual budget; and 
o The SLT approved annual budget is submitted to GCC in the required SAP format 

(see further points below). 
 

Page 212



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/022: GFRS Budget Setting v2.0 
OFFICIAL 

7 

 

 Scrutiny by FMG: 
o The meetings of FMG are minuted and there was a meeting on 05/01/18 to discuss 

and agree the position on the proposed 2018/19 revenue budget.  FMG members 
scrutinised all budget submissions and provided options to deliver savings to balance 
the budget as the total budget requested by BMs and BHs exceeded the 2018/19 
agreed budget figure; and 

o Two options that were explored to balance the budget were to use grant funding as 
well as carrying staff vacancies, i.e. not budgeting at 100% capacity of Grey Book 
staff due to consistent vacancies and recruitment that is always ongoing throughout 
the year. 

 

 Scrutiny by SLT: 
o SLT is represented at FMG and is therefore party to the detailed budget discussions 

and minutes that are subsequently distributed; 
o For 2018/19 budget approval, a report was prepared by the HoF for the SLT meeting 

on 29/01/18; and 
o The SLT minutes included the following statement: Revenue Budget 2018/19 - SLT 

agreed the division of the draft revenue budget as represented in the report totalling 
£16.012m subject to Cabinet and County Council approval as detailed in the GCC 
Medium Term Financial Strategy 2018/19 to 2020/21.  This is accordance with the 
GFRS Corporate Governance Framework that states that the CFO is responsible for 
the overall planning and management of budgets. 

 
Conclusion 
 
The process that was reviewed for the development, submission and challenge of Growth Bids 
for 2019/20 confirmed that the three Growth Bids to increase the base budget were supported 
by business cases and approved and challenged in line with relevant policy.  Specifically, formal 
business cases were prepared in the required format, challenged and approved at an 
appropriate level within GFRS, submitted by the required deadline and challenged within GCC. 
 
The annual budget setting process is led by Strategic Finance and the requirements for this 
were communicated to GFRS.  In addition, Finance training was provided to BMs and BHs in 
November 2018 and this included information on budget setting. 
 
BMs and BHs are involved in the budget setting process at GFRS and take appropriate factors 
into account that should result in budgets that reflect operational requirements and demand.  
There was appropriate scrutiny and challenge within GFRS (HoF, FMG and SLT) prior to 
submission of the 2018/19 budget to Strategic Finance for checking and upload to SAP.  This 
was completed by the deadline date and in the required format. However, due to the presence 
of dedicated finance staff at GFRS, there is only limited involvement by Strategic Finance in the 
detailed GFRS budget setting process.  This does not enable the same level of oversight and 
challenge as would be applied when directly supporting BMs and BHs in other service areas 
within Communities and Infrastructure. 
 
 
 
 

Page 213



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/022: GFRS Budget Setting v2.0 
OFFICIAL 

8 

 

Efficiency savings required by the MTFS are not specifically allocated to BMs and BHs to 
deliver, nor are they translated into projects on VERTO but they are built into the overall budget 
to ensure that the budget submitted agrees to the budget allocated by Strategic Finance.  The 
budget is also balanced by the use of grant income and any in-year staff vacancies to offset 
expenditure.  An audit of the use of funds for the SRG has been included within the 2019/20 IA 
plan. 
 
The above processes and procedures for budget setting are in accordance with the GFRS 
Corporate Governance Framework and statements made in the relevant sections of the annual 
GFRS Assurance Statement for 2017/18. 
 
Recommendations to further enhance the budget setting process in relation to the above 
findings can be found in Appendix A attached.  
 
 

Page 214



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/022: GFRS Budget Setting v2.0 
OFFICIAL 

9 

 

Audit Opinions on Risk Management and Control 

The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards require Internal Audit to provide an independent 
opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk identification processes which 
management has put in place within the area under review, and a sound framework of controls 
is in place to sufficiently mitigate those risks. This opinion feeds into the Chief Internal Auditor’s 
annual opinion on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the Council’s governance, risk 
management and control environment, which supports the Annual Governance Statement.  
Each report will provide a statement on the levels of assurance that can be given within these 
two areas, evaluated by applying the following criteria:   
 

Assurance 
Levels 

Risk Identification Maturity Control Environment 

Substantial Risk Managed 

Service area fully aware of the risks relating to the area 

under review and the impact that these may have on service 

delivery, other services, finance, reputation, legal, the 

environment, client/customer/partners, and staff. All key risks 

are accurately reported and monitored in line with the 

Corporate Risk Management Strategy. 

 System Adequacy – Robust 

framework of controls ensures 

that there is a high likelihood 

of objectives being achieved 

 Control Application – Controls 

are applied continuously or 

with minor lapses 

Satisfactory Risk Aware 

Service area have an awareness of the risks relating to the 

area under review and the impact that these may have on 

service delivery, other services, finance, reputation, legal, 

the environment, client/customer/partners, and staff, 

however some key risks are not being accurately reported 

and monitored in line with the Corporate Risk Management 

Strategy. 

 System Adequacy – Sufficient 

framework of key controls for 

objectives to be achieved but, 

control framework could be 

stronger 

 Control Application – Controls 

are applied but with some 

lapses 

Limited Risk Naïve  

Due to an absence of accurate and regular reporting and 

monitoring of the key risks in line with the Corporate Risk 

Management Strategy, the Service area has not 

demonstrated an adequate awareness of the risks relating to 

the area under review and the impact that these may have 

on service delivery, other services, finance, reputation, legal, 

the environment, client/customer/partners and staff.   

 System Adequacy – Risk of 

objectives not being achieved 

due to the absence of key 

internal controls 

 Control Application – 

Significant breakdown in the 

application of control 

 
Taking account of the issues identified in this audit, in our opinion, Substantial assurance can 
be provided that the risk identification arrangements operating within the area reviewed are 
operating as intended.  Satisfactory assurance can be provided that these risks which are 
considered to be material to the achievement of the services objectives for this area under 
review are adequately managed and controlled. 

Page 215



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/022: GFRS Budget Setting v2.0 
OFFICIAL 

10 

 

Appendix A – Action Plan and Management Response 

This section contains the findings for each audit objective 

along with any recommendations made by Internal Audit to 

strengthen the control environment. The recommendations 

are categorised as follows: 

 

Objective: To ensure that any Growth Bids to increase the base budget are supported by a business case, challenged and approved 

in line with relevant policies and procedures.  

Finding 
 
There are no recommendations to make within this area. 
 
 

Objective: To review the GFRS revenue budget setting process for 2018/19 and 2019/20 where relevant, to provide assurance that 

appropriate systems and controls are in place and operating in practice and that GCC’s budget setting requirements are followed.  

Finding 
 
For budget setting, the GCC Senior Finance Officer within Strategic Finance liaises with the HoF and the rest of the finance staff at GFRS by 
sending them the necessary information and requirements.  GFRS then sends the completed templates and budget setting information back to 
Strategic Finance.  This is checked to ensure that the budget submitted agrees to the allocated MTFS budget (control total) and it is then 
uploaded to SAP.  The Finance Manager and Senior Finance Officer within Strategic Finance do not have oversight of, or any involvement in, 
the detailed budget setting process that is undertaken within GFRS as it is the HoF and the rest of the finance staff at GFRS that liaise with the 
individual BMs and BHs. As a result, the GFRS budget setting process is not as transparent to Strategic Finance as it is for other service areas 
within Communities and Infrastructure and does not enable the same degree of challenge.  GFRS is the only service area within Communities 
and Infrastructure that has separate finance staff (permanently based at Waterwells). 
 
 
 
 
 

Priority Description 

High Critical/Major risk exposure which materially impact on the assets, 
reputation, service delivery and objectives of the organisation.  

Medium Moderate risk exposure that impacts on the assets, reputation, 
service delivery and objectives of the organisation. 

P
age 216



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/022: GFRS Budget Setting v2.0 
OFFICIAL 

11 

 

 
 

No. Recommendation Risks Agreed Action 

1 (H) For the purposes of integration, openness, 
transparency and challenge, consideration 
should be given to adopting a consistent 
approach to budget setting by Strategic 
Finance staff across all service areas within 
Communities and Infrastructure. 
 
This may require an analysis of the role of the 
GFRS HoF and the rest of the finance staff 
that are based at Waterwells to determine 
appropriate reporting lines and whether any of 
their finance functions should be performed by 
the staff already in post in Strategic Finance, 
as with other service areas within 
Communities and Infrastructure. 
 

Lack of openness and transparency of 
GFRS annual budgets that are set. 
 
Lack of challenge opportunities by 
Strategic Finance to ensure that accurate 
and operationally reflective budgets are 
set by GFRS. 
 
Value for money in terms of the cost to 
GCC of providing financial support to 
GFRS compared to other service areas 
within Communities and Infrastructure. 
 
Increased budget pressures on the GFRS 
budget. 
 
The potential for reduced assurance on 
key financial systems and processes 
provided to the Council’s Chief Financial 
Officer (S151). 
  

1. Interim action 
 
GFRS Finance Liaison to have a dotted line 
reporting arrangement to GCC Strategic 
Finance, including a monthly 1:1 between the 
GFRS Finance Liaison and the GCC Director 
of Finance.  Strategic Finance staff will 
attend GFRS Senior Leadership Team 
meetings and Budget Holder meetings. 
Whilst GFRS finance staff will be invited to 
attend monthly Strategic Finance briefings 
and the GFRS Finance Liaison will attend the 
GCC Finance Management Team (in the 
same way as the other three Business 
Partners in GCC). 
This action will result in improved integration 
between the two finance teams and closer 
alignment to GCC financial regulations and 
procedures in advance of the more 
fundamental review recommended in Action 
2 below. 
 
2. Medium term action 
 
Undertake a review of the corporate support 
arrangements for GFRS to implement a 
Business Partnering model that ensures 
compliance to GCC financial regulations/ 
policies whilst providing comprehensive 
support and advice to senior managers and 
budget managers within GFRS.  

P
age 217



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/022: GFRS Budget Setting v2.0 
OFFICIAL 

12 

 

No. Recommendation Risks Agreed Action 

Person Responsible Due Date 

Item 1- GFRS 
Finance Liaison and 
GCC Strategic 
Finance staff. 
 
Item 2 – Chief Fire 
Officer and   
GCC Director of 
Finance 

Item 1 by the end of 
May 2019 
 
 
 
Item 2 by the end of 
December 2019 

 

P
age 218



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/022: GFRS Budget Setting v2.0 
OFFICIAL 

13 

 

 

Finding 
 
The MTFS savings that are required to be made are identified as efficiency savings.  Although savings plans have been developed by GFRS 
in order to achieve a balanced budget, none of the savings targets have been included as projects on VERTO (a project management 
software system that helps to manage projects, as well as having the facility to produce management information on project progress), which 
is a standard approach across GCC when efficiency savings have to be achieved.  This would also promote accountability and transparency 
amongst BMs and BHs for delivery of the savings targets. 
 

No. Recommendation Risks Agreed Action 

2 (M) If GFRS is required to make efficiency savings 
in future years, consideration should be given 
to developing projects for the achievement of 
this outcome that can be managed and 
reported through VERTO in line with GCC 
requirements. 
 
This may also result in savings targets being 
able to be allocated to specific BMs and BHs 
to deliver within their areas of budget 
responsibility with accountability for the 
achievement of those savings being able to 
be reported through the VERTO process. 
 

Efficiency savings not identified and 
delivered. 
 
Poor value for money in the operation of 
GFRS. 
 
Lack of accountability for the delivery of 
savings targets. 
 
Reduced GCC oversight and 
transparency of delivery of savings 
targets. 

GFRS to review GCC guidelines and protocol 
for the use of VERTO and align GFRS 
efficiency plans and projects to be developed 
and monitored through VERTO. 

Person Responsible Due Date 

GFRS Finance 
Liaison and 
Compliance Officer 
 

30th September 2019 

 

Objective: To ensure that appropriate scrutiny and challenge of the budget setting process is applied within GFRS prior to 

submission of the budgets to Strategic Finance within GCC for upload to SAP.  

Finding 
There are no recommendations to make within this area. 

P
age 219



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

GFRS HR and Payroll – Retirement 
11 April 2019 

Gill Lodge - Senior Auditor 

Page 221



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/015: GFRS HR and Payroll – Retirement v2.0 
OFFICIAL 

 

 

Distribution 

 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Contents 

Executive Summary ..................................................................................................................... 1 

Audit Opinions on Risk Management and Control ....................................................................... 7 

Appendix A – Action Plan and Management Response ............................................................... 8 

 

 

Important 

 Gloucestershire County Council’s Internal Audit function conforms to the 

International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing. 

 

 The information contained within this audit report is confidential and personal data herein 

is subject to data protection legislation. 

 

This report has been prepared solely for the use of Gloucestershire County Council’s auditors 

and those officers and Members named on the distribution list.  Its contents, either in part or in 

its entirety, must not be reproduced or distributed to anyone other than its intended recipients 

without the written permission of the Council’s Chief Internal Auditor. 

Gloucestershire County Council accepts no liability to any third party for any loss or expense 

arising from their reliance on any part of this report.

To:  
 
 
 
 

Jon McGinty  Commissioning Director 
Wayne Bowcock Chief Fire Officer 
Mandy Quayle  Acting Director HR and Digital 

Copied to: 
 
 
 

Paul Blacker  Acting Director – Financial Services 

Page 222



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/015: GFRS HR and Payroll – Retirement v2.0 
OFFICIAL 

1 

 

Executive Summary 
 
Introduction 
 
On 15th June 2018 a letter of complaint was sent by email to the Leader of the Council.  There 
were three strands to the complaint, one concerned the sale of a Gloucestershire Fire and 
Rescue Service (GFRS) owned vehicle and the former Chief Fire Officer’s (referred to in this 
audit report as CFO) involvement in the process.  The other two concerns were regarding 
staffing issues.  It was agreed that Internal Audit would investigate the sale of the vehicle and 
Human Resources (HR) would review the remaining two concerns, which are included within 
the management review of culture. 
 
Shortly after commencing the investigation, numerous whistleblowing allegations and Freedom 
of Information requests in respect of other concerns relating to GFRS governance 
arrangements, procedures, systems and processes were received.  As a result, following 
Internal Audit review, research, analysis and interviews with key stakeholders including relevant 
GFRS Officers, Internal Audit co-ordinated the findings and made a number of GFRS-specific 
and council-wide/cross-cutting recommendations to undertake detailed reviews/audits within 
each area to determine the level of risk.  These reviews/audits are outlined in the Action Plan 
presented to the Audit and Governance Committee on 12th October 2018.  Progress updates 
against each review/audit included within the Action Plan will be provided to the Audit and 
Governance Committee. 
 
Audit Scope 
 
The objective of the audit was to review the arrangements that are currently in place within 
GFRS to ensure that the wholetime firefighters retirement process is in compliance with the 
National Joint Council (NJC) Gold/Grey Book – Scheme of Conditions of Service, 
Gloucestershire County Council (GCC)/GFRS policies and procedures as well as statutory 
pension regulations. 
 
Green Book staff, i.e. employees other than firefighters, will have joined the Local Government 
Pension Scheme which is administered by GCC.  These employees were outside the scope of 
this review. 
 
Key Findings 
 
National Joint Council (NJC) 
 
The NJC is the body responsible for the supervision, from a national point of view, of all 
questions affecting the conditions of service of employees of fire and rescue services.  The 
NJC’s principal role is to reach agreement on a national framework of pay and conditions for 
local application throughout the fire and rescue service in the UK.  The NJC consults and 
negotiates between fire and rescue authorities and recognised trade unions. 
 
The NJC for Brigade Managers of Local Authority Fire and Rescue Services Constitution and 
Scheme of Conditions of Service 2006 (referred to as the Gold Book) represents Brigade 
Managers.  The title Brigade Manager relates to the most senior managers in the service i.e. 
Chief Fire Officer, Deputy Chief Fire Officer and Assistant Chief Fire Officer. 

Page 223



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/015: GFRS HR and Payroll – Retirement v2.0 
OFFICIAL 

2 

 

The NJC for Local Authority Fire and Rescue Services Scheme of Conditions of Service 2009 
(the Grey Book) represents the national terms and conditions of employment of uniformed 
employees of fire and rescue services of all local authorities in the UK. 
 
Pension Schemes 
 
The NJC Gold and Grey Books do not include any information in respect of retirement other 
than stating that the details are laid down in the appropriate firefighters’ pension schemes, 
which provide the specifics of the required age and service criteria in each scheme. 
 
Wholetime firefighters starting their service before 1st April 2015 will have joined either of the 
following two final salary schemes: 
 

 Fire Pension Scheme 1992 (FPS); or 

 New Fire Pension Scheme 2006 (NFPS). 
 
Wholetime firefighters who started their fire service on or before 5th April 2006 will have joined 
the FPS, unless they opted not to do so.  The NFPS came into effect for new entrants on 6th 
April 2006 and members of the FPS were given the option to either remain in their current 
scheme or transfer their benefits to the NFPS under special terms. 
 
On 1st April 2015 the pension scheme changed from a Final Salary Scheme to a Career 
Average Revalued Earnings (CARE) Scheme.  Members starting after 1st April 2015 will join the 
2015 CARE Scheme. 
 
In October 2017 the administration of the Firefighters’ Pension Schemes for GFRS firefighters 
moved from GCC’s Pensions Team to Peninsula Pensions (referred to in this report as the 
pension administrator) at Devon County Council.  However, the monthly pension payments 
continue to be paid by GCC via the Business Service Centre (BSC). 
 
Retirement Process 
 
Internal Audit was advised by the pension administrator that although flexible retirement is an 
option for firefighters, when they took over the administration of GFRS pensions in 2017 they 
were told that GFRS does not offer flexible retirement and records do not suggest that it has 
occurred in the past. 
 
Through discussions with GFRS staff, Internal Audit was informed of the following retirement 
process.  Firefighters are required to put in writing their intention to retire and include the date 
when they would like the retirement to commence.  The request is sent to the CFO for review 
and the CFO then sends a letter to the individual confirming the date of retirement.  The CFO’s 
letter is copied to the individual’s line manager, GFRS Senior Finance and Contracts Officer 
(referred to in this report as the Finance Officer) and GFRS Data Co-ordinator.  The Finance 
Officer informs the pension administrator of the retirement date and they send a pension pack, 
which includes forms to complete, including in respect of lump sum payments, to the individual. 
 
 
 
 

Page 224



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/015: GFRS HR and Payroll – Retirement v2.0 
OFFICIAL 

3 

 

The individual’s line manager completes and submits electronically a FS15u (GFRS Change in 
Status) form confirming the date on which the individual’s role ends.  This is processed by the 
Data Co-ordinator on the GFRS rostering system.  In addition, the information from the FS15u 
and copy of the CFO’s letter is used by the Data Co-ordinator to complete a GCC leaver form, 
together with the personal information section of a leaver’s notice form for the pension 
administrator.  Both forms are sent together by email to the BSC. 
 
Internal Audit queried with the BSC why the SAP leaver e-form was not used by GFRS, instead 
of using a manual process whereby the forms are sent via e-mail for the BSC to input to the 
system.  SAP is GCC’s financial and personnel system.  The BSC confirmed that the main 
reason is due to GFRS terms and conditions being different to the rest of GCC.  This would 
mean that new forms would need to be built, which would require additional resource and cost 
to complete.   Internal Audit was informed that whilst this is possible, and in fact this work did 
start at one point, there was no real appetite for it from GFRS.  Management may want to revisit 
this decision to establish whether it is now a more viable option to enable a more automated 
process. 
 
Please refer to Recommendation 1 
 
The information from the GCC leaver form is input to SAP by BSC staff and the pension leaver’s 
notice is completed with the payroll details by GCC’s payroll pension team in the BSC.  The 
pension leaver’s form is then forwarded to the pension administrator in order that the pension 
figures can be calculated.  The pension administrator also manually checks to ensure that the 
individual meets the retirement criteria for the relevant scheme. 
 
Once the form has been processed by the pension administrator, the following information is 
sent to the GFRS Finance Officer: 
 

 Pension new starter form; 

 Form from individual saying whether they want a lump sum or not; and 

 Figures regarding the lump sum payment (where applicable). 
 
The pension new starter form is completed by an individual at Peninsula and checked by 
another individual, both of whom sign the form to confirm the information is correct.  The form is 
sent to the Finance Officer at GFRS where it is scanned and sent to the BSC (the original is 
retained at GFRS).  An administrator in the BSC checks that all the required details have been 
completed and authorised by the pension administrator.  The information regarding the pension 
payments is then input to SAP by the administrator in the BSC and checked by another person 
and both sign the form as evidence of input and check. 
 
This information will inform the SAP system as to when the pension payments should 
commence. 
 
Testing 
 
A print was obtained from SAP which showed that 51 wholetime firefighters had retired between 
1/4/15 and the date of the audit.  The records for all the individuals on the prints were reviewed 
to establish when they had last received any promotion, temporary or permanent, and the time 

Page 225



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/015: GFRS HR and Payroll – Retirement v2.0 
OFFICIAL 

4 

 

difference between the promotion and when they retired, as this could have impacted on their 
pension.  None of the individuals had received promotion within six months of their retirement. 
 
A sample of seven individuals (14%) was selected and the documents for each individual were 
reviewed to ensure compliance with the above procedures. 
 
The individuals’ records on SAP state which pension scheme they belong to and this 
information was used by Internal Audit to confirm that the individual had met the required age 
and service criteria for the particular scheme. 
 
The records on SAP were also checked for all the individuals in the sample, to ensure that the 
pension start date input to SAP agreed to the date on all relevant documentation. 
 
The following documents were reviewed: 
 

 Letter/email from individual to CFO with their intention to retire and proposed date of 
retirement/letter from CFO to individual confirming the retirement date; 

 FS15u; 

 GCC leaver form; and 

 New starter form from the pension administrator. 
 
In addition, salary payments to the individuals in the sample were checked to SAP to ensure 
that salaries had not continued to be paid once they had retired.  The month following the start 
of the pension was checked and confirmed no further salary payments had been made. 
 
The table below notes there were inconsistencies between the dates on the FS15u and the 
GCC leaver form however, the date on the GCC leaver form matched the date in the individual’s 
letter from the CFO, with the exception of individuals 2 and 3. 
 

 Individuals Last 
working day 
in letter from 
individual to 
CFO 

Last 
working day 
in letter 
from CFO 

End current 
role date on 
GFRS  
FS15u form 

Last date of 
employment 
on GCC 
leaver form 

Pension start 
date on 
pension 
administrator’s 
new starter 
form 

1 1/6/15 1/6/15 31/5/15 
23:59 hrs 

1/6/15 2/6/15 

2* 21/1/16 21/1/16 21/1/16 
23:59 hrs 

22/1/16 23/1/16 

3** 9/4/16 9/4/16 10/4/16 
00:00 hrs 

10/4/16 11/4/16 

4 22/7/16 22/7/16 22/7/16 
00:00 hrs 

22/7/16 23/7/16 

5 2/6/17 2/6/17 2/6/17 
23:59 hrs 

2/6/17 3/6/17 

6 31/7/17 31/7/17 1/8/17 
00:00 hrs 

31/7/17 1/8/17 

7 6/5/18 6/5/18 6/5/18 
17:00 hrs 

6/5/18 7/5/18 

Page 226



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/015: GFRS HR and Payroll – Retirement v2.0 
OFFICIAL 

5 

 

It was established that the date and time when the current role is to end has to be completed on 
the FS15u and the GCC leaver form asks for the last date of employment.  The inconsistencies 
relate to the time which is entered on some FS15u forms.  Internal Audit was advised by the 
Data Co-ordinator that a firefighter would finish at midnight on their last working day.  Some 
forms stated this as 23:59 hours whilst others have 00:00 hours, but the Data Co-ordinator 
confirmed that the date on the GCC form would be the correct date. 
 
*Individual 2 – In 2016 the firefighter pension schemes were administered by the Pensions 
Team within GCC.  The records for the individual in question have been reviewed but no reason 
could be found as to why the pensions start date was changed. 
 
**Individual 3 – The original leaving date was 9/4/16, as the individual stated in their letter that 
they would have completed 30 years service on that date.  A second form changing the leaving 
date to 10/4/16 was subsequently submitted, but no evidence could be found to support this 
decision.  It may be that because the individual’s start date on SAP is recorded as 10/4/86 they 
finished on 10/4/16 to evidence the 30 years service. 
 
The actual pension start dates for all seven in the selected sample are the date following the 
date entered on the GCC leaver form.  Five were found to agree to the date in the letter from the 
individual to the CFO (although the leaving date was subsequently moved forward by one day 
for one of the remaining individuals (individual 3) and a new leaver form confirmed this date). 
 
In addition to the last date of employment, a reason for leaving also has to be entered on the 
GCC leaver form.  On all the forms for the sample selected for audit testing, this was given as 
‘GFRS Retirement 30 Yrs Service’, even though only four of the seven were leaving for this 
reason.  When the form is input to SAP by the BSC Administrators, ‘GFRS Retirement 30 Yrs 
Service’ is not an option.  Internal Audit was informed by a BSC Administrator that the action 
reason usually selected is ‘Retirement Vol 60+’, despite this not applying to all of the leavers.  
All of the individuals in the sample tested were under 60 years of age when they retired, but four 
have ‘Retirement Vol 60+’  on their SAP records, two have ‘Emply Appr 55-59’ (both were under 
55 when they retired) and one has ‘Early ARB’ (Actuarially Reduced Benefits). 
 
The BSC Administrator has verbally confirmed that the reason for leaving does not impact on 
the individual’s actual pension, but any trend/monitoring reports produced from SAP will not 
provide the correct information. 
 
Internal Audit advises that guidance should be issued to all line managers regarding completion 
of the FS15u and SAP leaver form, to ensure a consistent approach is applied and that the 
correct information is entered into SAP. 
 
Please refer to Recommendations 2 and 3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 227



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/015: GFRS HR and Payroll – Retirement v2.0 
OFFICIAL 

6 

 

Lump Sum Payments 
 
If an individual is electing to take a lump sum payment, a pink slip (manual payment request 
document) is completed by the GFRS Finance Officer and given, with a form from the pension 
administrator detailing the pension figures, to either the CFO, Deputy Chief Fire Officer (DCFO), 
Assistant Chief Fire Officer (ACFO) or Head of Personal and Organisational Development 
(POD). 
 
The details provided by the pension administrator are checked by one of these senior officers 
who signs the form as evidence of the check and authorises the payment by signing the pink 
slip.  The authorised pink slip and associated paperwork is then forwarded to the BSC for 
payment to be made. 
 
Testing 
 
A sample of three lump sum payments was reviewed.  The figures on all the pink slips agreed to 
the information provided by the pension administrator and also to the amount paid on SAP.  The 
pink slips had been authorised by either the DCFO or ACFO. 
 
Conclusion 
 
Audit testing identified that there is a process in place from the time an individual notifies the 
CFO of their intention to retire, through to liaison between GFRS, the pension administrator and 
the BSC. 
 
The audit highlighted some inconsistencies between the end dates entered on the GFRS forms 
and those on the GCC leaver forms although, with two exceptions, the dates on the GCC forms 
agreed to the dates given by the individuals in their letters to the CFO with their intention to 
retire. 
 
In addition to the above, the audit identified inconsistencies in the relevant paperwork and the 
information subsequently recorded on SAP in respect of the reasons for leaving.  Whilst Internal 
Audit was advised that this does not impact on an individual’s pension, this does impact on the 
GFRS/GCC data accuracy and trend analysis/monitoring arrangements. 
 
Whilst no key issues were identified with the current manual process, Internal Audit would 
advise a review of these arrangements to establish whether it would be feasible for GFRS staff 
to use the SAP leaver e-forms process to enable a more automated, GFRS direct input into 
SAP, enabling efficiencies and reducing duplication. 
 
 

Page 228



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/015: GFRS HR and Payroll – Retirement v2.0 
OFFICIAL 

7 

 

Audit Opinions on Risk Management and Control 

The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards require Internal Audit to provide an independent 
opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk identification processes which 
management has put in place within the area under review, and a sound framework of controls 
is in place to sufficiently mitigate those risks. This opinion feeds into the Chief Internal Auditor’s 
annual opinion on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the Council’s governance, risk 
management and control environment, which supports the Annual Governance Statement.  

Each report will provide a statement on the levels of assurance that can be given within these 
two areas, evaluated by applying the following criteria:   
 

Assurance 
Levels 

Risk Identification Maturity Control Environment 

Substantial Risk Managed 

Service area fully aware of the risks relating to the area 

under review and the impact that these may have on service 

delivery, other services, finance, reputation, legal, the 

environment, client/customer/partners, and staff. All key risks 

are accurately reported and monitored in line with the 

Corporate Risk Management Strategy. 

 System Adequacy – Robust 

framework of controls ensures 

that there is a high likelihood 

of objectives being achieved 

 Control Application – Controls 

are applied continuously or 

with minor lapses 

Satisfactory Risk Aware 

Service area have an awareness of the risks relating to the 

area under review and the impact that these may have on 

service delivery, other services, finance, reputation, legal, 

the environment, client/customer/partners, and staff, 

however some key risks are not being accurately reported 

and monitored in line with the Corporate Risk Management 

Strategy. 

 System Adequacy – Sufficient 

framework of key controls for 

objectives to be achieved but, 

control framework could be 

stronger 

 Control Application – Controls 

are applied but with some 

lapses 

Limited Risk Naïve  

Due to an absence of accurate and regular reporting and 

monitoring of the key risks in line with the Corporate Risk 

Management Strategy, the Service area has not 

demonstrated an adequate awareness of the risks relating to 

the area under review and the impact that these may have 

on service delivery, other services, finance, reputation, legal, 

the environment, client/customer/partners and staff.   

 System Adequacy – Risk of 

objectives not being achieved 

due to the absence of key 

internal controls 

 Control Application – 

Significant breakdown in the 

application of control 

 
Taking account of the issues identified in this audit, in our opinion, Satisfactory assurance can 
be provided that the risk identification arrangements operating within the area reviewed are 
operating as intended.  Satisfactory assurance can also be provided that these risks which are 
considered to be material to the achievement of the services objectives for this area under 
review are adequately managed and controlled. 

Page 229



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/015: GFRS HR and Payroll – Retirement v2.0 
OFFICIAL 

8 

 

Appendix A – Action Plan and Management Response 

This section contains the findings for each audit objective 

along with any recommendations made by Internal Audit to 

strengthen the control environment. The recommendations 

are categorised as follows: 

 

Objective: 
 
To review the arrangements that are currently in place within GFRS to ensure that the wholetime firefighters retirement processes 
are in compliance with the Gold/Grey Book – Scheme of Conditions of Service, GCC/GFRS policies and procedures as well as 
statutory pension regulations. 
 
Finding 
 
When an individual has provided a date when they intend to retire, which is confirmed by the CFO, their line manager electronically completes 
and submits a GFRS Change in Status form confirming the date on which the individual’s role ends.  This is processed by the Data              
Co-ordinator on the GFRS rostering system.  In addition, the information from the form is used by the Data Co-ordinator to complete a manual 
GCC leaver form, which is then sent by email to the BSC to input the information into SAP and activate the retirement/leaver process. 
 
Internal Audit queried with the BSC why the SAP leaver e-form was not used by GFRS, instead of using a manual process whereby the forms 
are sent via e-mail for the BSC to input to the system.  SAP is GCC’s financial and personnel system.  The BSC confirmed that the main 
reason is due to GFRS terms and conditions being different to the rest of GCC.  This would mean that new forms would need to be built, which 
would require additional resource and cost to complete.   Internal Audit was informed that whilst this is possible, and in fact this work did start 
at one point, there was no real appetite for it from GFRS.  Whilst Internal Audit were informed by the BSC that there is not a significant number 
of forms to be processed, management may want to revisit this decision to establish whether it is now a more viable option to enable a more 
automated process, increased efficiencies and avoid duplication. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Priority Description 

High Critical/Major risk exposure which materially impact on the assets, 
reputation, service delivery and objectives of the organisation.  

Medium Moderate risk exposure that impacts on the assets, reputation, 
service delivery and objectives of the organisation. 

P
age 230



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/015: GFRS HR and Payroll – Retirement v2.0 
OFFICIAL 

9 

 

No. Recommendation Risks Agreed Action 

1 (M) GFRS/GCC management should revisit the 
decision not to prioritise SAP e-forms and to 
establish whether it would be feasible for 
relevant GFRS staff to have access to GCC’s 
SAP e-form system within a short timeframe, 
to enable GFRS direct input, which enhances 
automation and increases efficiencies. 

The process for notification of a leaver is 
duplicated. 
 
Inefficient use of time. 
 
Potential for a manual process to 
circumvent proper authorisation 
procedures. 
 
No documented audit trail. 
 
Inconsistent approach across the Council. 

SAP leaver process to be reviewed to include 
GFRS terms, conditions and processes 
where possible. 

Person Responsible Due Date 

BSC 
Head of POD  
Finance Liaison and 
Compliance Officer 
(pensions) 
 

31st December 2019 

 

P
age 231



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/015: GFRS HR and Payroll – Retirement v2.0 
OFFICIAL 

10 

 

Finding 
 
There are two forms which are completed at GFRS with the proposed leaving date for an individual.  Audit testing found that there were 
inconsistencies between the dates on these forms, however the date on the GCC leaver form matched the date in the individual’s letter and 
also to the start date of their pension on SAP for five out of the seven of the individuals tested.  In respect of the other two individuals there 
was one day difference between the paperwork. 
 
The date and time when the current role is to end has to be completed on the GFRS FS15u form.  The second form, the GCC leaver form, 
asks for the last date of employment.  The inconsistencies relate to the date/time which is entered on some FS15u forms. 
 

No. Recommendation Risks Agreed Action 

2 (H) Guidance should be issued to all individuals 
at GFRS who are responsible for completing 
leaver forms, with regard to the requirement 
for last working day and time and ensuring the 
accuracy of the reason for leaving on both 
GFRS and GCC forms. 

Inconsistencies between dates could lead 
to an individual’s pension not being 
started on the correct date/inaccurate 
pension benefit payment to individual. 
 
Manual process provides for a higher risk 
of inaccuracies. 
 
Inaccurate trend/monitoring analysis 
impacting on decision making. 
 
Individual’s personnel/SAP records 
inaccurate impacting on data accuracy. 

Awareness training given to managers with 
responsibility for completing leaver details. 

Person Responsible Due Date 

Head of POD 
Assistant Head of HR 
 

31st July 2019 
 

 

P
age 232



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/015: GFRS HR and Payroll – Retirement v2.0 
OFFICIAL 

11 

 

Finding 
 
In addition to the last date of employment, a reason for leaving also has to be entered on the GCC leaver form.  On all the forms for the 
sample selected for audit testing, the reason for leaving was given as ‘GFRS Retirement 30 Yrs Service’, even though only four of the seven 
were leaving for this reason.  When the form is input to SAP by the BSC Administrators, ‘GFRS Retirement 30 Yrs Service’ is not an option.  
Internal Audit was informed by a BSC Administrator that the action reason usually selected is ‘Retirement Vol 60+’, despite this not applying to 
all leavers.  All of the individuals in the sample tested by Internal Audit were under 60 years of age when they retired, but four have this reason 
on their SAP records, two have ‘Emply Appr 55-59’ (both were under 55 when they retired) and one has ‘Early ARB’ (Actuarially Reduced 
Benefits). 
 
The response to Recommendation 1 could impact on this Recommendation. 
 

No. Recommendation Risks Agreed Action 

3 (H) In the unlikely eventuality that GFRS staff 
cannot, in a reasonable development 
timeframe, access GCC’s e-forms, a review of 
the SAP leaver form needs to be undertaken 
by the BSC to ensure that an action reason 
available for selection by GFRS staff on the 
form corresponds to the actions available for 
input to SAP by the BSC Administrators. 

Correct reason for leaving cannot be 
entered onto an individual’s record on 
SAP. 
 
Any reporting from SAP could show 
inaccurate information. 

See action 1 

Person Responsible Due Date 

BSC 
Head of POD  
Finance Liaison and 
Compliance Officer 
(pensions) 
 
 

31st December 2019 
 

 

 

P
age 233



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

GFRS Budget Monitoring 
5th April 2019 

Thirza Hampshire - Principal Auditor 

Page 235



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/023: GFRS Budget Monitoring v2-0 
OFFICIAL 

 

 

Distribution 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Contents 

Executive Summary ..................................................................................................................... 1 

Audit Opinions on Risk Management and Control ....................................................................... 8 

Appendix A – Action Plan and Management Response ............................................................... 9 

 

 
Important 

 Gloucestershire County Council’s Internal Audit function conforms to the 
International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing. 
 

 The information contained within this audit report is confidential and personal data herein 
is subject to data protection legislation. 
 

This report has been prepared solely for the use of Gloucestershire County Council’s auditors 
and those officers and Members named on the distribution list.  Its contents, either in part or in 
its entirety, must not be reproduced or distributed to anyone other than its intended recipients 
without the written permission of the Council’s Chief Internal Auditor. 
 
Gloucestershire County Council accepts no liability to any third party for any loss or expense 
arising from their reliance on any part of this report.

To: 

 

Wayne Bowcock Chief Fire Officer 
 
Jon McGinty  Commissioning Director 
 
Paul Blacker  Acting Director – Financial Services              

   

Page 236



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/023: GFRS Budget Monitoring v2-0 
OFFICIAL 

1 

 

Executive Summary 

Introduction 
 
On 15th June 2018 a letter of complaint was sent by email to the Leader of the Council.  There 
were three strands to the complaint, one concerned the sale of a Gloucestershire Fire and 
Rescue Service (GFRS) owned vehicle and the former Chief Fire Officer’s (CFO) involvement in 
the process.  The other two concerns were regarding staffing issues.  It was agreed that Internal 
Audit (IA) would investigate the sale of the vehicle and Human Resources (HR) would review 
the remaining two concerns, which are included within the management review of culture. 
 
Shortly after commencing the investigation, numerous whistleblowing allegations and Freedom 
of Information requests in respect of other concerns relating to GFRS governance 
arrangements, procedures, systems and processes were received.  As a result, following IA 
review, research, analysis and interviews with key stakeholders including relevant GFRS 
Officers, IA co-ordinated the findings and made a number of GFRS-specific and council-
wide/cross-cutting recommendations to undertake detailed reviews/audits within each area to 
determine the level of risk.  These reviews/audits are outlined in the Action Plan presented to 
the Audit and Governance Committee on 12th October 2018.  Progress updates against each 
review/audit included within the Action Plan will be provided to the Audit and Governance 
Committee. 
 
This audit reviewed the current GFRS revenue budget monitoring processes that are in place 
and how these interface with those of Gloucestershire County Council (GCC).  Although the 
financial year starts in April, formal budget monitoring and forecasting is not undertaken until 
June. 
 
When GCC introduced the SAP BW-Integrated Planning (BW-IP) solution it enabled managers 
to input and maintain their own budget forecasts, improving accountability and moving away 
from finance staff assisting budget holders with forecasting and inputting of data on their behalf.  
Finance staff’s role in respect of budget monitoring should therefore focus on challenge and a 
review of forecasts. 
 
This report should be read in conjunction with the Budget Setting report as a number of the 
principles, systems and processes described within that report apply equally to budget 
monitoring, e.g. the operation of the GFRS Financial Monitoring Group (FMG) and the Senior 
Leadership Team (SLT). 
 
Audit Scope 
 
The objectives of the audit were to ensure that: 

 The roles and responsibilities of both GFRS and GCC finance staff involved in the budget 
monitoring process are clearly defined and understood; 

 GCC’s Financial Regulations and other budget monitoring guidance/timetabling 
requirements are being complied with, including the use of BW-IP; and 

 Appropriate scrutiny and challenge is applied by senior management at GFRS and 
Strategic Finance within GCC to enable effective monitoring of income and expenditure. 

Page 237



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/023: GFRS Budget Monitoring v2-0 
OFFICIAL 

2 

 

Key Findings 
 
Roles and responsibilities 
 
IA reviewed Staffnet (the Council’s intranet) which identified a considerable amount of separate 
information/guidance on the roles and responsibilities of a Budget Manager (BM) and a Budget 
Holder (BH) in respect of budgetary control/management arrangements.  However, the 
information on Staffnet has not been updated to reflect changes in service area structures, 
management roles and responsibilities and business processes within GCC.  As an example, 
the Budgetary Control Guide is dated November 2008 and the Revenue Budget Roles 
Statement guidance refers, again as examples, to virement and write- off financial limits, which 
conflict with other financial guidance such as Accounting Instructions.  The Corporate Finance 
Manager in Strategic Finance acknowledges this and has confirmed that the guidance will be 
updated, ensuring consistency with all other budgetary control/management guidance 
published.  The Corporate Finance Manager has also, as a result of these findings now 
requested to remove these two documents from Staffnet to avoid confusion.  The GFRS 
Corporate Governance Framework confirms that information for BHs can be found on Staffnet 
and that GFRS follows GCC’s Financial Regulations and guidance. 
 
The HoF also provided evidence of a user friendly SAP Forecasting Guide which has been 
produced internally within GFRS to assist BMs and BHs.  Although this can be helpful, the risk 
of having independent guides is that they will require regular review to ensure that they are 
always compliant with any of GCC’s changing requirements. 
 
Given the significance of financial guidance available to support budget monitoring, it is 
essential that the guidance is reviewed and updated to ensure that it is consistent and does not 
conflict with any other guidance, including Accounting Instructions and any bespoke GFRS 
guidance. 
 
Please refer to Recommendation 1 
 
Formal general finance training was provided by Strategic Finance to all BMs and BHs at GFRS 
in November 2018 and this included budget monitoring.  Reference was also made to the 
relevant requirements that are set out in the Constitution and within that, the Financial 
Regulations.  Attendance lists for the two training days that were delivered confirmed that all the 
current GFRS BMs and BHs attended the training. 
 
In addition to the above and in line with GCC policy, all newly appointed BMs and BHs, 
including those for GFRS, are required to attend a formal training day before they will be 
granted access to budget monitoring within SAP (the Council’s financial management system).    
The training is delivered by Strategic Finance and includes GCC’s budget monitoring and 
forecasting requirements using BW-IP.  The GFRS Corporate Governance Framework confirms 
that GFRS staff with financial responsibility will need to be fully conversant with the SAP system 
and the various financial management modules.  Evidence was seen of a recently appointed 
GFRS BM attending the training. 
 
Once the training has been completed, the BMs and BHs are sent a comprehensive training 
pack that includes the following: 

 Five detailed training exercises; 

Page 238



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/023: GFRS Budget Monitoring v2-0 
OFFICIAL 

3 

 

 A blank delegation form (to ensure that budget forecasting can still be undertaken during 
the absence of a BH); 

 The full pack of slides from the training day; 

 Tips and tricks, FAQs and the full training/reference manual; 

 A forecasting dates calendar for the financial year; and 

 The General Ledger guidance note reviewed during the training session. 
 
IA circulated a questionnaire for GFRS BMs and BHs to complete (15 in total), to confirm the 
level of their involvement and understanding in the budget monitoring process.  Eight responses 
(53%) were received and these confirmed that the BMs and BHs had received the necessary 
training and understood their roles and responsibilities.  The GFRS Corporate Governance 
Framework states that it is imperative that those responsible for financial management are in 
receipt of specific training to carry out their role and this has occurred. 
 
IA met with the GCC Finance Manager responsible for GFRS where GCC’s budget monitoring 
requirements were described together with the expectations for GFRS’s involvement.  IA then 
met with the GFRS Group Manager Head of Finance (HoF) who also described the monthly 
budget monitoring process and GFRS’s responsibilities within this and found there was 
correlation between the two explanations.  This provides assurance that both parties are aware 
of the same requirements. 
 
Budget monitoring processes 
 
Budget monitoring is undertaken on a monthly basis at both GFRS and GCC.  Strategic Finance 
are aware of the benefits of carrying out a risk assessment of all GCC budgets for the purposes 
of efficient budget monitoring, however this has not been translated into a formal budget 
monitoring review schedule where, for example, high risk budgets are subject to greater scrutiny 
or frequency of budget monitoring. 
 
Within GFRS, and at the budget setting stage, the BMs and BHs are required to provide risk 
assessments within their budgets in terms of the risks that would materialise if the funding for 
particular elements of their budgets was to be cut or withdrawn (risk-rated as High, Medium or 
Low).  This exercise confirms the need for funding but does not have any bearing on the 
frequency or rigour of the budget monitoring process within GFRS. 
 
Please refer to Recommendation 2 
 
BHs are responsible for monthly budget forecasting using BW-IP.  A forecasting calendar listing 
all the forecasting deadline dates for the financial year is sent, by Strategic Finance, to all BMs 
and BHs following their formal budget monitoring training.  The forecasting dates are available 
on Staffnet and Strategic Finance also send monthly email alerts to BHs, including notifying 
GFRS staff separately. 
 
Now that GFRS staff have direct access to Staffnet through the GFRS IT systems (following the 
implementation of a recommendation made in the Governance audit report), this information is 
now more easily accessible to BMs and BHs.  However, the Governance audit report also 
highlighted the difficulties in communicating with GFRS staff via email due to different email 
domain names (@gloucestershire.gov.uk vs @glosfire.gov.uk) and this always requires a 
separate process to ensure that the information sent to GCC staff also reaches the appropriate 

Page 239



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/023: GFRS Budget Monitoring v2-0 
OFFICIAL 

4 

 

staff within GFRS, e.g. notifying forecasting dates, disseminating debt management information, 
and communicating year-end procedures to all BMs and BHs.  The GCC Communications team 
is currently working with GCC and GFRS ICT staff to enable a distribution list to be set up for 
GFRS staff so that they will automatically receive global emails and internal newsletters. 
 
Within GFRS, BMs and BHs attend FMG on a monthly basis to discuss budget monitoring and 
forecasting.  This is different to the approach taken at GCC, as BHs normally communicate 
directly with their nominated Senior Finance Officer in Strategic Finance and do not discuss 
their budget forecasting with other BHs. 
 
The FMG meetings are held to coincide with the opening and closing dates of BW-IP (known as 
the forecasting window).  Once BHs have completed their forecasting, the HoF obtains a report 
from SAP and this is discussed in detail at the meeting.  Actions are agreed to deal with any 
identified issues, e.g. overspends and the BHs are then required to make final amendments to 
their BW-IP input by the closing date.  The GCC Finance Manager – Lead for SAP confirmed 
that this approach to forecasting by GFRS results in it being completed in a timely manner and 
GFRS is fully compliant with meeting target dates. It also leads to less ‘off-system’ reporting and 
enables SAP to provide a more accurate forecast position.  The GFRS Annual Assurance 
Statement for 2017/18 confirms that financial monitoring is undertaken by FMG and that 
financial recording and reporting to GCC is via the SAP system. 
 
The following is an extract from the FMG Terms of Reference in relation to their responsibilities 
for budget monitoring: 

 ‘Meetings will be held monthly based on the SAP forecasting window; 

 Submission of reports required 7 days prior to the meeting; 

 The group will be chaired by the Head of Fire Finance and will report on a monthly basis 
to the Strategic Leadership Team; 

 Provide reliable data and forecasting to enable informed decisions; 

 To be responsible for ensuring the revenue and capital  budget spend remains within the 
overall budget set by SLT; 

 To explore solutions to any financial issues as they emerge throughout the year; 

 Ensure all budget holders forecast according to the timetable set by the FMG; 

 Monitor forecasts and understand reasons for variance from base budgets; 

 Where there is potential for an overspend/underspend, explore and agree solutions to 
bring back on target; 

 When the financial forecast permits, approve additional expenditure with reference to the 
priority expenditure list backed up by a business case report which links to the identified 
priorities of the service; and 

 It is a requirement that all members of the FMG have received appropriate training on 
Gloucestershire County Council Standing Orders and Financial Regulations.’ 

 
IA attended an FMG meeting as an observer on 06/12/18.  Evidence of the above processes 
was found to be operating in practice.  Evidence was also available to support that two BHs had 
taken reports to FMG that showed where emerging risks were identified, what the root cause of 
the risk was and what the proposed action was to address the overspends. 
 
Separate GFRS audits are being undertaken for Income and for Procurement and as a result, 
the review of transactional data on budget cost centres was not part of the scope of the Budget 
Monitoring audit.  However, the outcome of transactional data has an impact on the actual 

Page 240



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/023: GFRS Budget Monitoring v2-0 
OFFICIAL 

5 

 

spend, commitments and year-end forecasts that are reported as part of the budget monitoring 
process.   
 
One of the issues that a BH had previously reported to FMG, and was also highlighted following 
the completion of IA’s budget monitoring questionnaire, was that expenditure and income is 
coded to certain budgets without the approval of the BM/BH of that cost centre, e.g. within 
Technical Services and Fleet.  This puts BHs in a difficult position when they are the ones 
accountable for explaining variances and proposing solutions for overspends on their budgets. 
 
A discussion was held with the GCC Finance Manager as to how the above could occur given 
the SAP workflow and budget approval processes that operate within GCC.  One explanation 
offered was that charges could be made to a budget through journals that are created but this 
would normally require the originating BH to make the other BH aware of the impending charge 
(as per Accounting Instruction 18 – Journal Authorisations).  If this is not happening, then the 
GFRS BH should contact the originating BH to confirm arrangements before any subsequent 
charges are made. 
 
A further explanation offered was that some invoices could have been received by GFRS 
without a SAP order having been raised.  In these instances, the invoice has to be authorised 
for payment by the completion of a ‘pink slip’ where three signatures are required (goods 
received, arithmetic and prices correct, and certified for payment).  The Business Service 
Centre (BSC) does not hold a list of signatures of BMs and BHs that are authorised to approve 
expenditure against all the cost centres and will process ‘pink slipped’ invoices for payment as  
long as any three signatures are present.  In this case, a BM/BH could authorise a ‘pink slipped’ 
invoice by inserting another BH’s cost centre. 
 
Employees eligible to have a lease car are granted an allowance of £2003 per annum. If the 
lease charge on their car of choice exceeds this amount, the employee is responsible for paying 
the difference and this is deducted at source from their salaries. 
 
The BH for Fleet raised concerns that the income that was deducted from GFRS staff salaries 
for additional lease car charges was not coded to the cost centre where the additional lease car 
expenditure was incurred, but rather to the cost centre that the member of staff was ‘attached’ 
to.  This was contributing to the Fleet budget being overspent.  Evidence was seen of the BH 
trying to address this through FMG and the finance staff based at GFRS but was unsuccessful 
in getting journals raised to recharge the income.  The specifics of this issue are being dealt with 
as part of the GFRS Income audit.   
 
The GCC Finance Officer recommended that the GFRS BH should have contacted the GCC 
Senior Finance Officer to request a journal to be raised but the GFRS BMs and BHs are not 
necessarily aware that they have dedicated GCC finance support because of the separate 
financial management arrangements that are currently in place between GFRS and Strategic 
Finance.  IA considers that clarification needs to be obtained on the respective roles and 
responsibilities of the HoF and the finance staff at GFRS compared to the roles of finance staff 
within Strategic Finance.   
 
Please refer to Recommendation 3 
 
 
 

Page 241



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/023: GFRS Budget Monitoring v2-0 
OFFICIAL 

6 

 

Scrutiny and challenge 
 

The following processes are operating in practice in relation to the scrutiny, challenge and 
reporting of GFRS budget monitoring: 
 
GFRS processes 
 
Following the FMG meeting, the HoF prepares and presents budget monitoring reports to SLT, 
which comprise detailed cost centre information as well as a narrative report highlighting 
emerging issues.  SLT membership includes the CFO, Deputy Chief Fire Officer, Assistant Chief 
Fire Officer, all four Area Managers, two of the Group Managers, Strategic Support Officer, 
GCC’s Assistant Head of HR, Lead Commissioner for Communities and Infrastructure and any 
other officers as appropriate (GFRS and GCC). 
 
An SLT agenda and minutes were seen that confirms that budget monitoring is discussed in 
detail at SLT meetings.  The GFRS Corporate Governance Framework confirms that the CFO is 
responsible for the overall planning and management of budgets.  The minutes of the 
November 2018 meeting also requested that all FMG minutes are circulated to future SLT 
meetings so that SLT will be able to more fully understand the emerging risks and cost 
pressures in relation to GFRS budgets and the actions being proposed to mitigate them. 
 
The HoF also prepares a budget monitoring report that is sent to the GCC Finance Manager in 
Strategic Finance representing the GFRS element of budget monitoring reporting for 
Communities and Infrastructure. 
 
GCC processes 
 
A monthly Communities and Infrastructure Budget Overview meeting is held which is attended 
by senior operational managers as well as senior finance staff in Strategic Finance, namely the 
Finance Manager and the Business Partner.  The HoF also attends this meeting, although there 
is no formal GCC financial representative at the GFRS FMG meetings. 
 
Due to the current separate budget management arrangements that exist between GFRS and 
Strategic Finance, the GCC Senior Finance Officer and Finance Manager do not have the day-
to-day operational involvement and oversight of the GFRS budgets in the same way as exists 
for other service areas within Communities and Infrastructure.  This can result in forecast 
outturn results only coming to the attention of Strategic Finance when Budget Overview 
meetings are held and reports need to be prepared for Portfolio Leads and/or Cabinet.  As an 
interim measure until Recommendation 3 is addressed, the GCC Senior Finance Officer should 
attend the monthly FMG meetings that are held at Waterwells. 
 
Please refer to Recommendation 4 
 
Following the Budget overview meeting, the GCC Finance Manager compiles a composite 
report from all of the operational managers’ narratives and this is approved by the GCC 
Business Partner.  The report is submitted to Cabinet in the months that they meet, but failing 
this it is sent to the Portfolio Leads.  The December 2018 Cabinet report that was reviewed did 
not include any specific references to GFRS.  The contact details provided at the end of the 
Cabinet report are those of the Acting Director – Financial Services within Strategic Finance. 
           

Page 242



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/023: GFRS Budget Monitoring v2-0 
OFFICIAL 

7 

 

For 2017/18, GFRS were forecasting an annual outturn of £1k overspend but the actual outturn 
was an overspend of £12k against a budget of £15,603,000 (0.07%). 
 
Conclusion 
 
GCC uses the BW-IP tool for budget monitoring and forecasting purposes and this interfaces 
with SAP.  GCC’s BW-IP budget monitoring requirements have always been specifically notified 
to GFRS BMs and BHs through formal training delivered by Strategic Finance. 
 
In addition to the above, there are a number of other documents/guidance on Staffnet that set 
out the responsibilities of BMs and BHs for the purposes of budget monitoring, however, they 
are unreliable, inconsistent, inaccurate and a number of them are significantly out of date.  
 
GCC’s budget monitoring guidance/timetabling requirements are being complied with by GFRS, 
including the use of BW-IP, specifically: 

 BHs within GFRS are notified on a monthly basis via an email from the Strategic Finance 
team when the budget monitoring and forecasting window is open; 

 BMs and BHs attend FMG on a monthly basis to discuss budget monitoring/forecasting 
and agree actions to address variances to ensure a balanced budget; and 

 Strategic Finance confirmed that GFRS was fully compliant with the use of BW-IP and 
meeting forecasting dates. 

 
Whilst there are positive budget monitoring arrangements in place, in order to further enhance 
efficiencies, IA propose that all budgets are risk assessed, based on a standard set of risk 
indicators, in order to prioritise the oversight, scrutiny and monitoring of the identified high risk 
budgets. 
 
Despite the above, the issue of the role of the HoF and the finance staff at GFRS compared to 
the role of the finance staff within Strategic Finance was raised again as for the Budget Setting 
audit.  Issues with budget mis-coding and approval that is leading to budget overspends, 
demonstrated that the GFRS BMs and BHs are not necessarily aware that they have access to 
dedicated GCC finance staff for support because of the separate financial management 
arrangements that are currently in place between GFRS and Strategic Finance. 
 
Once the monthly budget monitoring and forecasting has been completed by the BMs, BHs and 
FMG, there is adequate monitoring, scrutiny and challenge of the forecast outturn both within 
GFRS by SLT and within GCC by the GCC Finance Manager and the GCC Business Partner.  
Reports are prepared for GCC Budget Overview meetings, the narratives of which are used to 
prepare reports for Portfolio Leads and Cabinet where appropriate. 
 
Recommendations to further enhance the budget monitoring process in relation to the above 
findings can be found in Appendix A attached. 
 
 
 
 

Page 243



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/023: GFRS Budget Monitoring v2-0 
OFFICIAL 

8 

 

Audit Opinions on Risk Management and Control 

The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards require Internal Audit to provide an independent 
opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk identification processes which 
management has put in place within the area under review, and a sound framework of controls 
is in place to sufficiently mitigate those risks. This opinion feeds into the Chief Internal Auditor’s 
annual opinion on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the Council’s governance, risk 
management and control environment, which supports the Annual Governance Statement.  
Each report will provide a statement on the levels of assurance that can be given within these 
two areas, evaluated by applying the following criteria:   
 

Assurance 
Levels 

Risk Identification Maturity Control Environment 

Substantial Risk Managed 
Service area fully aware of the risks relating to the area 
under review and the impact that these may have on service 
delivery, other services, finance, reputation, legal, the 
environment, client/customer/partners, and staff. All key risks 
are accurately reported and monitored in line with the 
Corporate Risk Management Strategy. 

 System Adequacy – Robust 
framework of controls ensures 
that there is a high likelihood 
of objectives being achieved 

 Control Application – Controls 
are applied continuously or 
with minor lapses 

Satisfactory Risk Aware 
Service area have an awareness of the risks relating to the 
area under review and the impact that these may have on 
service delivery, other services, finance, reputation, legal, 
the environment, client/customer/partners, and staff, 
however some key risks are not being accurately reported 
and monitored in line with the Corporate Risk Management 
Strategy. 

 System Adequacy – Sufficient 
framework of key controls for 
objectives to be achieved but, 
control framework could be 
stronger 

 Control Application – Controls 
are applied but with some 
lapses 

Limited Risk Naïve  
Due to an absence of accurate and regular reporting and 
monitoring of the key risks in line with the Corporate Risk 
Management Strategy, the Service area has not 
demonstrated an adequate awareness of the risks relating to 
the area under review and the impact that these may have 
on service delivery, other services, finance, reputation, legal, 
the environment, client/customer/partners and staff.   

 System Adequacy – Risk of 
objectives not being achieved 
due to the absence of key 
internal controls 

 Control Application – 
Significant breakdown in the 
application of control 

 
Taking account of the issues identified in this audit, in our opinion, Substantial assurance can 
be provided that the risk identification arrangements operating within the area reviewed are 
operating as intended.  Satisfactory assurance can be provided that these risks which are 
considered to be material to the achievement of the services objectives for this area under 
review are adequately managed and controlled. 

Page 244



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/023: GFRS Budget Monitoring v2-0 
OFFICIAL 

9 

 

Appendix A – Action Plan and Management Response 

This section contains the findings for each audit objective 
along with any recommendations made by Internal Audit to 
strengthen the control environment. The recommendations 
are categorised as follows: 
 
 
 
Objective: To ensure that the roles and responsibilities of both GFRS and GCC finance staff involved in the budget monitoring 
process are clearly defined and understood. 
 
Finding 
 
IA reviewed Staffnet (the Council’s intranet) which identified a considerable amount of separate information/guidance on the roles and 
responsibilities of a Budget Manager (BM) and a Budget Holder (BH) in respect of budgetary control/management arrangements.  However, 
the information on Staffnet has not been updated to reflect changes in service area structures, management roles and responsibilities and 
business processes within GCC.  As an example, the Budgetary Control Guide is dated November 2008 and the Revenue Budget Roles 
Statement guidance refers, again as examples, to virement and write- off financial limits, which conflict with other financial guidance such as 
Accounting Instructions.  The Corporate Finance Manager in Strategic Finance acknowledges this and has confirmed that the guidance will be 
updated, ensuring consistency with all other budgetary control/management guidance published.  The Corporate Finance Manager has also, 
as a result of these findings now requested to remove these two documents from Staffnet to avoid confusion.  The GFRS Corporate 
Governance Framework confirms that information for BHs can be found on Staffnet and that GFRS follows GCC’s Financial Regulations and 
guidance. 
 
The HoF also provided evidence of a user friendly SAP Forecasting Guide which has been produced internally within GFRS to assist BMs and 
BHs.  Although this can be helpful, the risk of having independent guides is that they will require regular review to ensure that they are always 
compliant with any of GCC’s changing requirements. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Priority Description 

High Critical/Major risk exposure which materially impact on the assets, 
reputation, service delivery and objectives of the organisation.  

Medium Moderate risk exposure that impacts on the assets, reputation, 
service delivery and objectives of the organisation. 

P
age 245



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/023: GFRS Budget Monitoring v2-0 
OFFICIAL 

10 

 

No. Recommendation Risks Agreed Action 

1 (H) Given the significance of financial guidance 
available to support budget monitoring, it is 
essential that the GCC guidance is reviewed 
and updated to ensure that it is consistent and 
does not conflict with any other guidance, 
including Accounting Instructions and any 
bespoke GFRS guidance. 
 

GCC financial guidance disparate, 
inconsistent and out of date. 
 
BMs and BHs applying incorrect 
processes and methodologies to budget 
monitoring. 
 
Inconsistencies between GCC and GFRS 
financial guidance. 
 
Ineffective/inaccurate budget monitoring 
and forecasting. 
 

Out of date financial guidance has been 
removed, Accounting Instructions are 
currently being revised and financial 
guidance updated to ensure it is consistent 
with BW-IP financial management training.  

Person Responsible Due Date 

GCC Finance – 
Corporate Finance 
Manager 

June 2019 

 
 
Objective: To ensure that GCC’s Financial Regulations and other budget monitoring guidance/timetabling requirements are being 
complied with, including the use of BW-IP. 
 
Finding 
 
Budget monitoring is undertaken on a monthly basis at both GFRS and GCC.  Strategic Finance are aware of the benefits of carrying out a risk 
assessment of all GCC budgets for the purposes of efficient budget monitoring, however this has not been translated into a formal budget 
monitoring review schedule where, for example, high risk budgets are subject to greater scrutiny or frequency of budget monitoring. 
 
Within GFRS, and at the budget setting stage, the BMs and BHs are required to provide risk assessments within their budgets in terms of the 
risks that would materialise if the funding for particular elements of their budgets was to be cut or withdrawn (risk-rated as High, Medium or 
Low).  This exercise confirms the need for funding but does not have any bearing on the frequency or rigour of the budget monitoring process 
within GFRS. 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 246



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/023: GFRS Budget Monitoring v2-0 
OFFICIAL 

11 

 

No. Recommendation Risks Agreed Action 

2 (H) All GCC budgets, including those for GFRS, 
should be risk assessed, based on a standard 
set of risk indicators, in order to prioritise the 
scrutiny and monitoring of the high risk 
budgets to enable efficiencies. 

Inefficient use of resources for the 
purposes of budget monitoring. 
 
Inefficient budget monitoring. 

GCC Finance to strengthen the existing risk 
assessment carried out for each budget 
holder to ensure it is meaningful and ensure 
the Business Partner gets sight of the final 
assessment so challenge can be given. 
 
Once the assessment has been reviewed by 
the Finance Business Partner it will be 
shared with the GFRS HoF to provide 
operational knowledge that may require the 
risks being adjusted and agree a final 
version. 
 
The final version will be taken to the SLT on 
a quarterly basis and adjusted with new 
information as and when required and joint 
ownership will be allocated between both 
Strategic Finance and GFRS finance. 

Person Responsible Due Date 

GCC Finance 
Business Partner and 
GFRS HoF 
 

June 2019 

 
Finding 
 
The review of transactional data on budget cost centres was not part of the scope of the Budget Monitoring audit.  However, the outcome of 
transactional data has an impact on the actual spend, commitments and year-end forecasts that are reported as part of the budget monitoring 
process.  One of the issues that a BH had previously reported to FMG, and was also highlighted following the completion of IA’s budget 
monitoring questionnaire, was that expenditure and income is coded to certain budgets without the approval of the BM/BH of that cost centre.  
This puts BHs in a difficult position when they are the ones accountable for explaining variances and proposing solutions for overspends on 
their budgets. 
 

P
age 247



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/023: GFRS Budget Monitoring v2-0 
OFFICIAL 

12 

 

Employees eligible to have a lease car are granted an allowance of £2003 per annum. If the lease charge on their car of choice exceeds this 
amount, the employee is responsible for paying the difference and this is deducted at source from their salaries.  The BH for Fleet raised 
concerns that the income that was deducted from GFRS staff salaries for additional lease car charges was not coded to the cost centre where 
the additional lease car expenditure was incurred, but rather to the cost centre that the member of staff was ‘attached’ to.  This was 
contributing to the Fleet budget being overspent.  Evidence was seen of the BH trying to address this through FMG and the finance staff based 
at GFRS but was unsuccessful in getting journals raised to recharge the income.  The specifics of this issue are being dealt with and will be 
reported as part of the GFRS Income audit. 
 
The GCC Finance Officer recommended that the GFRS BH should have contacted the GCC Senior Finance Officer to request a journal to be 
raised but the GFRS BMs and BHs are not necessarily aware that they have dedicated GCC finance support because of the separate financial 
management arrangements that are currently in place between GFRS and Strategic Finance.  IA considers that clarification needs to be 
obtained on the respective roles and responsibilities of the HoF and the finance staff at GFRS compared to the roles of finance staff within 
Strategic Finance. 
 
 

No. Recommendation Risks Agreed Action 

3 (H) For the purposes of integration, openness, 
transparency, challenge and support, 
consideration should be given to adopting a 
consistent approach to financial support by 
Strategic Finance staff to all BMs and BHs 
across all service areas within Communities 
and Infrastructure. 
 
This may require an analysis of the role of the 
GFRS HoF and the rest of the finance staff 
that are based at Waterwells to determine 
appropriate reporting lines, attendance 
requirements at GCC Budget Overview 
meetings and whether any of the GFRS 
finance roles could be performed by the staff 
already in post within GCC/Strategic Finance, 
as with other service areas within 
Communities and Infrastructure. 

Lack of openness and transparency of 
GFRS budgets. 
 
Lack of support and challenge 
opportunities by Strategic Finance to 
ensure that accurate and operationally 
reflective budget management and 
budget forecasting is undertaken by 
GFRS. 
 
Value for money in terms of the cost to 
GCC of providing financial support to 
GFRS compared to other service areas 
within Communities and Infrastructure. 
 
Increased budget pressures on the GFRS 
budget. 
 

1. Interim action –GFRS HoF to have a 
dotted line reporting arrangement to GCC 
Strategic Finance, including a monthly 1:1 
between the GFRS Finance Liaison  and the 
GCC Director of Finance. Strategic Finance 
staff will attend GFRS Senior Leadership 
Team meetings and Budget Holder meetings. 
Whilst GFRS finance staff will be invited to 
attend monthly Strategic Finance briefings 
and the GFRS Finance Liaison will attend the 
GCC Finance Management Team (in the 
same way as the other 3 Business Partners 
in GCC). 
 
This action will result in improved integration 
between the two finance teams and closer 
alignment to GCC financial regulations and 
procedures in advance of the more 

P
age 248



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/023: GFRS Budget Monitoring v2-0 
OFFICIAL 

13 

 

No. Recommendation Risks Agreed Action 

In the interim, GFRS BMs and BHs should be 
made aware that they can access financial 
support directly from their allocated Senior 
Finance Officer, Finance Manager and 
Business Partner within Strategic Finance.  
 

The potential for reduced assurance on 
key financial systems and processes 
provided to the Council’s Chief Financial 
Officer (S151). 
  
Inability for BMs and BHs to be held 
accountable for their budgets. 

fundamental review recommended in Action 
2 below. 
 
2. Medium term action – Undertake a review 
of the corporate support arrangements for 
GFRS to implement a Business Partnering 
model that ensures compliance to GCC 
financial regulations/policies whilst providing 
comprehensive support and advice to senior 
managers and budget managers within 
GFRS.  

Person Responsible Due Date 

Item 1 – GFRS HoF 
and GCC Strategic 
Finance staff. 
 
Item 2 - Chief Fire 
Officer and Director 
of Finance.  

Item 1 by the end of 
May 2019 
 
 
Item 2 by the end of 
December 2019 

 
 
 

P
age 249



Gloucestershire County Council - April 19 

 

010605/19/023: GFRS Budget Monitoring v2-0 
OFFICIAL 

14 

 

Objective: To ensure that appropriate scrutiny and challenge is applied by senior management at GFRS and Strategic Finance within 
GCC to enable effective monitoring of income and expenditure. 
 
Finding 
 
Due to the current separate budget management arrangements that exist between GFRS and Strategic Finance, the GCC Senior Finance 
Officer does not have the day-to-day operational involvement and oversight of the GFRS budgets in the same way as exists for other service 
areas within Communities and Infrastructure.  This can result in forecast outturn results only coming to the attention of Strategic Finance 
(Finance Manager and Business Partner) when Budget Overview meetings are held and reports are prepared for Portfolio Leads and/or 
Cabinet.  As an interim measure until Recommendation 3 is addressed, the GCC Senior Finance Officer should attend the monthly FMG 
meetings that are held at Waterwells. 
 

No. Recommendation Risks Agreed Action 

4 (H) The GCC Senior Finance Officer should 
attend the monthly GFRS FMG meetings that 
are held at Waterwells. 
 

Lack of openness and transparency of 
GFRS budgets. 
 
Lack of support and challenge 
opportunities by Strategic Finance to 
ensure that accurate and operationally 
reflective budget management and 
budget forecasting is undertaken by 
GFRS. 
 
The potential for reduced assurance on 
key financial systems and processes 
provided to the Council’s Chief Financial 
Officer (S151). 
 

FMG will be attended by GCC finance staff 
and agenda, minutes and relevant 
correspondence will be copied to the GCC 
Finance Manager and Finance Business 
Partner going forward. Whilst GFRS finance 
staff will attend GCC Finance Briefings and 
the GCC Finance Management Team.  
 

Person Responsible Due Date 

GFRS HoF and GCC 
Business Partner  
 

April 2019 

 
 

 
 

P
age 250



Audit and Governance Committee
Date: 25th April 2019 Agenda No:

Title of Report: Internal Audit activity progress report 2018/2019

Purpose of Report: To inform Members of the progress of Internal Audit activity in relation 
to the 2018/2019 Internal Audit Plan and provide a progress report in 
relation to those audits undertaken during the period January to March 
2019.

Recommendations: It is recommended that the Committee:

1. Notes the amendments to and progress against the 2018/2019 
Internal Audit Plan; 

2. Requests senior management attendance at the next meeting of 
the Committee to provide an update on the actions taken in 
relation to the recommendations made in the Youth Service – 
Care Leaver Service limited assurance report; and 

3. Notes the assurance opinions provided in relation to the 
effectiveness of the Council’s control environment comprising risk 
management, control and governance arrangements as a result of 
the internal audit activity completed to date.

Officer (s) Contact: Theresa Mortimer: Head of Audit Risk Assurance (ARA), Area Finance 
Office and Insurance Services  
Tel: 01452 328883
theresa.mortimer@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

Paul Blacker, Interim Director Strategic Finance / Section 151 Officer 
Tel: 01452 328999
paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Key Risks Failure to deliver an effective Internal Audit Service will prevent an 
independent, objective assurance opinion to be provided to those 
charged with governance that the key risks associated with the 
achievement of the Council’s objectives are being adequately 
controlled. 

Page 251

Agenda Item 8

mailto:theresa.mortimer@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



INTERNAL AUDIT ACTIVITY  
PROGRESS REPORT 

2018/19

Page 253



1

(1) Introduction

All local authorities must make proper provision for internal audit in line with the 1972 Local 
Government Act (S151) and the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015. The latter states that 
a relevant authority “must undertake an effective internal audit to evaluate the effectiveness 
of its risk management, control and governance processes, taking into account public sector 
internal auditing standards or guidance”. The Internal Audit Service is provided by Audit Risk 
Assurance under a Shared Service agreement between Gloucestershire County Council, 
Stroud District Council and Gloucester City Council and carries out the work required to 
satisfy this legislative requirement and reports its findings and conclusions to management 
and to this Committee.

The guidance accompanying the Regulations recognises the Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards 2017 (PSIAS) as representing “proper internal audit practices”. The standards 
define the way in which the Internal Audit Service should be established and undertakes its 
functions. 

(2) Responsibilities 

Management are responsible for establishing and maintaining appropriate risk management 
processes, control systems (financial and non financial) and governance arrangements. 

Internal Audit plays a key role in providing independent assurance and advising the 
organisation that these arrangements are in place and operating effectively.

Internal Audit is not the only source of assurance for the Council. There are a range of 
external audit and inspection agencies as well as management processes which also 
provide assurance and these are set out in the Council’s Code of Corporate Governance 
and its Annual Governance Statement.  

(3) Purpose of this Report

One of the key requirements of the standards is that the Chief Internal Auditor should 
provide progress reports on internal audit activity to those charged with governance. This 
report summarises:

 The progress against the 2018/19 Internal Audit Programme, including the 
assurance opinions on the effectiveness of risk management and control processes;

 The outcomes of the Internal Audit activity during the period January to March 2019; 
and

 Special investigations/counter fraud activity.

Page 254



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

2

(4) Progress against the 2018/19 Internal Audit Programme, including the 
assurance opinions on risk and control

The schedule provided at Appendix 1 provides the summary of 2018/19 audits which have 
not previously been reported to the Audit and Governance Committee.

The schedule provided at Appendix 2 contains a list of all of the audit activity undertaken 
during 2018/19, which includes, where relevant, the assurance opinions on the effectiveness 
of risk management arrangements and control processes in place to manage those risks and 
the dates where a summary of the activities outcomes has been presented to the Audit and 
Governance Committee. Explanations of the meaning of these opinions are shown below. 

Assurance 
Levels

Risk Identification Maturity Control Environment

Substantial Risk Managed
Service area fully aware of the risks relating 
to the area under review and the impact that 
these may have on service delivery, other 
service areas, finance, reputation, legal, the 
environment, client/customer/partners, and 
staff.  All key risks are accurately reported 
and monitored in line with the Corporate Risk 
Management Strategy. 

 System Adequacy – 
Robust framework of 
controls ensures that there 
is a high likelihood of 
objectives being achieved

 Control Application – 
Controls are applied 
continuously or with minor 
lapses

Satisfactory Risk Aware
Service area has an awareness of the risks 
relating to the area under review and the 
impact that these may have on service 
delivery, other service areas, finance, 
reputation, legal, the environment, 
client/customer/partners, and staff, however 
some key risks are not being accurately 
reported and monitored in line with the 
Corporate Risk Management Strategy.

 System Adequacy – 
Sufficient framework of 
key controls for objectives 
to be achieved but, control 
framework could be 
stronger

 Control Application – 
Controls are applied but 
with some lapses

Limited Risk Naïve 
Due to an absence of accurately and 
regularly reporting and monitoring of the 
key risks in line with the Corporate Risk 
Management Strategy, the service area 
has not demonstrated an satisfactory 
awareness of the risks relating to the area 
under review and the impact that these 
may have on service delivery, other 
service areas, finance, reputation, legal, 
the environment, client/customer/partners 
and staff.  

 System Adequacy – Risk 
of objectives not being 
achieved due to the 
absence of key internal 
controls

 Control Application – 
Significant breakdown in 
the application of 
control

Page 255



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

3

(4a) Summary of Internal Audit Assurance Opinions on Risk and Control

The pie charts provided below show the summary of the risk and control assurance opinions 
provided within each category of opinion i.e. substantial, satisfactory and limited in relation to 
the audit activity undertaken during the period April 2018 to March 2019.

The contributing factor to the high limited assurance percentage in the above charts is due to 
a number of the GFRS audit reports having a limited assurance opinion on risk and control.

Page 256



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

4

Please be advised that accompanying this progress report, the findings / outcomes in 
respect of the GFRS activity during this period can be found within the separate GFRS 
Investigation Action Plan report, which has been presented to the Committee on 25th April 
2019.

(4b) Limited Control Assurance Opinions 

Where audit activity records that a limited assurance opinion on control has been provided, 
the Audit and Governance Committee may request Senior Management attendance to the 
next meeting of the Committee to provide an update as to their actions taken to address the 
risks and associated recommendations identified by Internal Audit. 

(4c) Audit Activity where a Limited Assurance Opinion has been provided on 
Control

During the period January to March 2019, six limited assurance opinions on control have 
been provided on completed audits from the 2018/19 Internal Audit Plan. These relate to 
Youth Service – Care Leaving Service, GFRS Procurement Cards, GFRS Maintenance and 
Stores, GFRS HR and Payroll – Recruitment, GFRS HR and Payroll – Progression and 
GFRS Gifts and Hospitality and Declarations of Interest.

It is important to note that whilst limited assurance opinions have been provided, 
management have responded positively to the recommendations made and actions are 
being taken to address them.

In addition, where a limited assurance opinion is given, a follow up audit is undertaken to 
provide assurance that the agreed actions have been implemented by management. 

(4d) Satisfactory Control Assurance Opinions

Where audit activity records that a satisfactory assurance opinion on control has been 
provided, where recommendations have been made to reflect some improvements in 
control, the Committee can take assurance that improvement actions have been agreed with 
management to address these. 

(4e) Internal Audit Recommendations

During the period January to March 2019 Internal Audit made, in total, 54 recommendations 
to improve the control environment, 37 of these being high priority recommendations (100% 
of these being accepted by management) and 17 being medium priority recommendations 
(100% accepted by management). 

The Committee can take assurance that all high priority recommendations will remain under 
review by Internal Audit, by obtaining regular management updates, until the required action 
has been fully completed. 

(4f) Risk Assurance Opinions

During the period January to March 2019, three limited assurance opinions on risk have 
been provided on completed audits from the 2018/19 Internal Audit Plan. 

Page 257



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

5

These relate to GFRS Procurement Cards, GFRS HR and Payroll – Progression and GFRS 
Gifts and Hospitality and Declarations of Interest. 

Completed Internal Audit Activity during the period January to March 2019

Summary of Limited Assurance Opinions on Control

Service Area: Children and Families

Audit Activity: Youth Service - Care Leaving Service

Background
A care leaver is defined as a person aged between 16 and 25, who has been looked after by 
a local authority for at least 13 weeks since the age of 14 and who was looked after by the 
local authority at school-leaving age or after that date. Such care could be in foster care, 
residential care (mainly children’s homes), or other arrangements outside the immediate or 
extended family.

The Care Leavers (England) Regulations 2010 specify that a Pathway Plan must be 
prepared as soon as possible after the assessment of needs and must be recorded in 
writing.  The local authority must review the Pathway Plan at least every six months and any 
changes must be recorded in writing.

Scope
This audit reviewed a sample of care leavers to ensure that plans are in place, that they 
have a clear pathway mapped out and that the plans are being reviewed and amended as 
necessary.

Risk Assurance – Satisfactory

Control Assurance – Limited

Key Findings
A sample of 24 care leavers (7% of the population as at 25/09/2018) was randomly selected 
for testing and the records for each were reviewed in LiquidLogic (Children’s Case 
Management System).  The results were varied and contained the following anomalies: 

 The care leaver was over 25 and their case should have been closed:    1

 Pathway Plans overdue:    2

 Pathway Plan sign-off dated as prior years:    3

 Review Involvement Forms incomplete:    2

 Summary page on LiquidLogic not updated:    13

Page 258



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

6

As part of the audit scope, the auditor conducted 1:1 meetings with two care leavers who are 
employed by the council as ambassadors on zero hours contracts.  General feedback from 
those meetings was included in the audit report and the specific issues have been reported 
separately to the Director of Children’s Services for appropriate action to be taken.

The service has taken part in and utilised the outputs from a survey of care leavers across 
the South West, entitled ‘Bright Spots’, which was undertaken by the Coram Voice charity 
and Bristol University in March 2018.  Further surveys are to be conducted annually in order 
to compile benchmarking data and trend analysis. The survey was confidential, meaning the 
leaving care service received a summary of generalised comments from care leavers in 
Gloucestershire on topics, rather than from individual care leavers.  Despite this, the service 
has nevertheless been able to utilise the outcomes of the survey as part of Pathway 
Planning with care leavers and produce a programme of actions and commitments for 
improving the service they provide for care leavers, children and young people.

Conclusion
The service is endeavouring to provide as much support to care leavers as possible by 
producing Pathway Plans that are relevant and tailored to care leaver needs.  However, the 
testing of a random sample of care leavers found that, in some cases, the record-keeping in 
LiquidLogic has not been robust.  Whilst that is partly due to the logistics and levels of 
training to fully utilise the benefits of such a system, there were also clear oversights and 
delays in Pathway Planning.  These gaps were corrected after being identified as part of the 
audit.

The 2018 Bright Spots survey provided feedback from care leavers and this identified that 
there were some topic areas where the care leavers are not receiving the help they need.  
An action plan has been created to ensure that as many of the issues raised are alleviated 
as soon as possible.

A positive development is that all leaving care workers now have smart phones and laptops 
that, amongst other things, will make it easier for them to update LiquidLogic following 
meetings with, or information received from, the care leavers.

Management Actions
Three high priority recommendations were raised within the report – focusing on staff 
training, regular monitoring by management (including consideration of business continuity 
arrangements for staff turnover) and appropriate management, monitoring and report to 
senior management of the Bright Spots commitments to ensure action progression. 
Management have responded positively to the recommendations made within the report.

Page 259



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

7

Summary of Satisfactory Assurance Opinions on Control

Service Area: Strategic Finance

Audit Activity: Retrospective Orders Limited Assurance Follow-up

Background
The Council’s Financial Regulations and Accounting Instruction 1 require that all orders 
should be placed in advance of receipt of the relevant goods/service, unless the expenditure 
type is stated within the agreed exception list or the expenditure is part of a recurring 
contract or purchased through petty cash or via a purchase card. During 2016/17, Internal 
Audit undertook a review to determine if the use of retrospective orders were compliant with 
Accounting Instruction 1.

The review in 2016/17 established that retrospective orders were occurring more frequently 
across Gloucestershire County Council (GCC). Internal Audit sample testing showed 92% 
non-compliance with GCC policy. The findings emanating from the review resulted in a 
limited assurance opinion being given in respect of both risk identification and the control 
environment.

A project group consisting of staff from Strategic Finance, the Business Service Centre 
(BSC), Communications, Commercial Services and Planning, Performance and Change is 
aiming to re-engineer the purchasing and payment cycle within the Council to address the 
issues identified within the 2016/17 audit as well as wider issues not within scope of the 
previous audit.

Scope
The purpose of this audit was to ensure the project group implementing changes to the 
purchasing system covered the recommendations raised as part of the 2016/17 
retrospective orders audit.

Risk Assurance – Satisfactory

Control Assurance – Satisfactory

Key Findings
Two recommendations were made by Internal Audit and agreed by management in the 
original report which covered the following areas:

 Additional/refresher training for new and existing Budget Holders; 

 The re-introduction of regular central monitoring of retrospective orders to identify 
service areas/Budget Holders who are responsible for non-compliant retrospective 
orders and complete appropriate action;

 Update and re-communication of Accounting Instruction 1; and

Page 260



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

8

 Accounting Instruction 1 to be updated to ensure appropriate up to date content, 
including working hyperlinks where necessary and the latest version of the exception 
list.  

In recognition of the control weaknesses within the current purchasing processes, the No 
Purchase Order No Pay project team consisting of officers from Strategic Finance, BSC, 
Planning Performance and Change, Communications and Commercial Services has been 
formed to redesign the way in which purchases are transacted within the Council. Whilst the 
project has a much wider impact than retrospective orders the outcomes will include the two 
recommendations raised within the 2016/17 Retrospective Orders audit.

Internal Audit reviewed the agreed project plan and confirmed that both recommendations 
raised from the 2016/17 audit are intended to be covered as part of the project. The intention 
of the project is to remove the ability for service areas to use retrospective orders as a 
payment method and therefore vastly reduce the quantity of retrospective orders throughout 
the Council, minimising the Council’s risk exposure of financial loss. Once the new 
procedures have been embedded, training to budget holders is planned to be conducted to 
ensure that the new process is fully understood.

Although it is recognised that changes to Accounting Instruction 1 are planned as part of the 
project, Internal Audit found that currently Accounting Instruction 1 does not reflect 
purchasing limits as defined within the Council’s Constitution. This should be updated as 
soon as possible in the interim to ensure there is consistency between the Council’s 
Constitution on purchasing and Accounting Instructions.

Conclusion
Strategic Finance have responded positively to the recommendations raised within the 
original audit report and are working with other key departments to re-engineer the current 
purchasing processes to dramatically overhaul the control environment. The outcomes of the 
project aim to eliminate / reduce the quantity of retrospective orders throughout the Council 
and therefore minimise the Council’s risk exposure from non-complaint methods of 
purchasing. 

Internal Audit has provided satisfactory assurance at this time on the basis that all 
recommendations have been accepted by management and steps have been taken to 
address the recommendations, although final implementation has yet to take place. In 
particular however Accounting Instruction 1, in respect of purchasing limits, should be 
updated immediately to reflect those limits quoted within the Constitution. This and other 
aspects of the recommendations will need to be followed up to ensure that actions are fully 
implemented as intended within the timescales as identified by the project board.

Management Actions
Management have responded positively to the report and Accounting Instruction 1 is being 
updated to bring it in line with the Constitution.

Page 261



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

9

Service Area: Strategic Finance

Audit Activity: IR35 Off-Payroll Working through an Intermediary

Background
IR35 is tax legislation that is designed to combat tax avoidance by workers who provide their 
services to clients via an intermediary, such as a limited company, but who could otherwise 
be classed as an employee if the intermediary was not used. Such workers are referred to 
as 'disguised employees' by Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs (HMRC).

The Council is responsible for determining IR35 status when procuring services and if the 
rules do apply must ensure that tax and Class 1 National Insurance (NI) contributions are 
deducted at source. If any such persons are paid through agencies it still remains the 
responsibility of the Council, as the client, to determine IR35 status and ensure that the 
agency is aware that tax and NI must be deducted at source.

Scope
To review the systems, policies and procedures in place to ensure that new and existing off-
payroll workers are identified and assessed against IR35 requirements.

Risk Assurance – Satisfactory

Control Assurance – Satisfactory

Key Findings
Accounting Instruction 17 outlines that all employees, including those deemed as employed 
under the IR35 legislation being paid directly by the Council, should be paid via payroll to 
enable the correct deductions for tax and NI. Guidance available to managers on Staffnet 
details the required process to assess engagements of potential IR35 workers. 

The Council has a contracted Neutral Vendor who facilitates the majority of engagements of 
agency workers through various employment agencies. Where roles are confirmed as inside 
the legislation and the agency has been informed, under agency rules, the Council is no 
longer responsible for the deductions of tax and NI and therefore carries no risk if payments 
are not made correctly. 

Internal Audit sample tested seven workers out of 230 workers (3%) from the Neutral Vendor 
contract across a range of engagements (self-employed, personal service company, 
partnership and Umbrella Company). The process was operating as intended in all cases, 
with the Council informing the Neutral Vendor of the required treatment of the worker under 
the IR35 legislation mitigating the risk to the Council in all cases. 

An inconsistent approach was taken by service area managers when engaging agency 
workers outside of the Neutral Vendor framework and appropriate assurance of the correct 
payment method was not always obtained. 

Page 262



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

10

This included not completing the HMRC check to confirm employment status of the worker 
and not gaining assurance that workers were being paid via PAYE where required, 
potentially leaving the Council to be liable for any unpaid tax and NI. 

It has been established that adjustments to the IR35 guide are being made, as confirmed by 
the Category Manager and HR Business Partner, to clarify the role of service area managers 
when acquiring agency staff directly. A recommendation to remind managers of their 
responsibilities in regards to IR35 has been made.

Preventative controls are in place within the Income, Payments and Shopping Team who do 
not process invoices made payable to personal bank accounts without a supporting and 
appropriate HMRC check attached (i.e. indicating tax and NI deductions are not needed). 
However if a payment is made to an intermediary, payments will be processed as the 
Payments Team is unable to determine if they are applicable to IR35, therefore a residual 
risk of payments being made to IR35 workers remains.

The IR35 working group, consisting of employees from Strategic Finance, the BSC and HR 
was created to identify payments across the Council being made consistently to intermediary 
and potential IR35 workers. Monthly monitoring meetings are held in which accumulative 
payments made to a vendor of over £10,000 are assessed against the legislation. Changes 
to the payment method of these vendors are made where necessary.

Conclusion
Engagements of agency or interim staff through the Neutral Vendor framework are effective 
in ensuring that the correct payment method is used in accordance with the IR35 legislation. 
HR gain appropriate assurance in all circumstances that the risk of penalty to the Council is 
being suitably mitigated. 

Due to the decentralised nature of engaging staff outside of the Neutral Vendor framework, 
service area managers are required to comply with the IR35 legislation requirements. 
However, these are not always fully understood, which could lead to inappropriate practices 
being used. Guidance available to service area managers is being updated to further inform 
them of their responsibilities in respect of IR35 engagements. The IR35 working group are 
continuing to monitor and assess the higher risk off-payroll workers.

Management Actions
Management have responded positively to the two recommendations made as part of the 
audit concerning, regular communication to managers regarding their responsibilities for off-
payroll workers, and monitoring of off-payroll workers engaged outside of the Neutral Vendor 
contract to ensure compliance with required processes.

Page 263



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

11

Service Area: Children and Families

Audit Activity: Missing Children

Background
‘Missing’ is defined as anyone whose whereabouts cannot be established and where the 
circumstances are out of character or the context suggests the person may be the subject of 
crime or at risk of harm to themselves or another.

Section 13 of the Children Act 2004 requires each local authority to establish a Local 
Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB). This guidance has since been superseded by 
“Working together to Safeguard Children 2018”.  A Gloucestershire Safeguarding Children 
Board (GSCB) has been established and provides a multi-agency framework to ensure that 
all agencies in the county work together to safeguard children. The protocol on partnership 
working when children and young people run away and go missing from home or care 
(referred to herein after as the Gloucestershire Protocol) was produced in April 2018 by the 
Missing from Home and Care sub-group of the GSCB.

The job of the authorities is to record and investigate missing person reports in order to work 
to prevent children and young people from being harmed / exploited. In January 2014, the 
Department for Education released new statutory guidance on children who run away or go 
missing from home or care. Local authorities are now required to offer young people 
reported missing an independent return interview (with someone not involved in caring for 
the young person).

Scope
This audit reviewed the GSCB’s Gloucestershire Protocol (including “out of county” children) 
to verify that statutory requirements are included and obtain assurance on the level of 
compliance with the control systems in place, specifically:

 Data is entered on the IT systems;

 Return interviews are being undertaken;

 There is sufficient engagement where required;

 Trigger Plans are put in place, where appropriate; and

 Strategy meetings are held when a child is missing for more than 48 hours or three 
times in 90 days.

Risk Assurance – Substantial

Control Assurance – Satisfactory

Page 264



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

12

Key Findings
Internal Audit reviewed the Gloucestershire Protocol and found that it included details in line 
with statutory requirements. 
However, although arrangements for out of county children were in place, the 
Gloucestershire Protocol did not fully detail the process for both children placed in other 
counties by Gloucestershire and children placed within Gloucestershire by other local 
authorities. A recommendation was made to update the Gloucestershire Protocol to reflect 
the required process for out of county children.

Currently, out of county children cannot be easily distinguished within LiquidLogic (the 
Children’s Case Management System) and therefore cannot be identified within reports to 
provide specific information. Changes are scheduled for LiquidLogic during June 2019 to 
improve reporting on out of county children. This will enable the Missing Team to ensure that 
the Gloucestershire Protocol is operating as intended for both in county and out of county 
children.

Internal Audit reviewed the arrangements for recording missing episodes within LiquidLogic 
between GCC, Gloucestershire Constabulary and the Youth Support Team (YST). This 
confirmed that appropriate processes are in place and are working effectively. 

Internal Audit found that appropriate monitoring arrangements are in place to provide 
assurance to management on the compliance of return interviews being completed. Suitable 
processes are in place to escalate any cases for which the intended procedures have not 
occurred. Monitoring arrangements include weekly missing meetings with key partners, 
monthly oversight and risk assessment meetings that are ensuring that the correct actions 
are being undertaken for high risk cases. Monthly dip sampling is identifying best practice 
and areas for improvement.

However, Internal Audit found that the current monitoring reports did not include completion 
of strategy meetings. A recommendation was made to include completion of strategy 
meetings within the reports. 

Reports highlighting the completion of return interviews for missing children are produced 
monthly for senior management and quarterly for Ofsted. This data is reported to the GSCB 
as required by statutory guidance to allow for analysis and scrutiny.

Conclusion
The process for ensuring missing children have access to the required resources is well 
defined and in line with statutory requirements. Monitoring arrangements are appropriate 
and provide assurance of compliance with the Gloucestershire Protocol. Improvements to 
LiquidLogic are planned during June 2019 to further enhance the reporting capabilities 
including identifying compliance with procedures for out of county children. 

Management Actions
Management have responded positively to the two recommendations made within the report.

Page 265



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

13

Summary of Substantial Assurance Opinions on Control

Service Area: Adults

Audit Activity: Mental Health Services

Background
Section 75 partnership agreements, legally provided by the National Health Service (NHS) 
Act 2006, allow budgets to be pooled between the NHS and local authorities. 

Budget pooling is believed to lead to greater integration between health and social care and 
more locally tailored services; and is designed to allow a strategic and more efficient 
approach to commissioning local services across organisations and a basis to form new 
organisational structures that integrate health and social care.

In July 2010 the Gloucestershire County Council Cabinet agreed to the development of a 
Section 75 Agreement for Joint Commissioning of Adult Mental Health Services, to provide a 
legal agreement and framework when working with NHS Gloucestershire Clinical 
Commissioning Group (GCCG).

Gloucestershire County Council Cabinet met on 3rd February 2016 and resolved to enter 
into a new framework Section 75 Agreement with the GCCG. The new agreement was 
signed on 17th May 2016.

The GCCG have contracted the delivery of mental and social health care services, as 
required by the Section 75 Agreement, to the 2gether NHS Foundation Trust (2gNHSFT) 
and include:

 Approved Mental Health Professional service;

 Integrated Mental Health Social Work Service;

 Individual Placement and Support Employment Service; and

 Individual placements – funded by Community Care Budget.

Scope
The objective of this review was to determine whether there are good governance 
arrangements in place for ensuring the effective delivery of the provision of services under 
the Section 75 Agreement for Joint Commissioning of Adult Mental Health Services.

Risk Assurance – Satisfactory

Control Assurance – Substantial

Page 266



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

14

Key Findings
The Section 75 Agreement clearly documents its governance requirements and states that 
the overall strategic oversight of partnership working between the partners is vested in the 
Health and Wellbeing Board. It also documents that a Joint Commissioning Partnership 
Executive (JCPE) will have specific responsibility for service strategy, commissioning 
intentions, performance management, activity and finance, forward planning and risk 
management.

Internal Audit has reviewed the Terms of Reference for the JCPE and found that it is in line 
with the requirements of Schedule 2 of the Section 75 Agreement, apart from the 
requirements to:

 Review and agree a performance payment protocol, which may no longer be 
relevant; and

 Ensure effective risk management within commissioning activity.

The Council’s funding for mental health services as part of the Section 75 Agreement is 
monitored by the Strategic Finance Business Partner – Adults and Joint Commissioner for 
Mental Health (Adults) and information is cascaded to the JCPE and Contract Management 
Board. In addition, the Adult Social Care Management Team receive a budget monitoring 
report that provides an overview of spend to date and a narrative for any over/under spend. 

The Contract Management Board Terms of Reference clearly state that it is responsible and 
accountable for managing the contractual relationship between the lead commissioner, 
Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group (GCCG) and the provider, 2gNHSFT. 

Through a review of minutes for quarter four 2017/18 Internal Audit is able to confirm that 
finance, quality and escalation reports from the Performance, Finance and Information 
Group and the Clinical Quality Review Group (these are sub groups of the Contract 
Management Board) are presented and discussed.

Conclusion
Internal Audit is pleased to confirm that overall there are good governance arrangements in 
place for ensuring the effective delivery of the provision of services under the Section 75 
Agreement for the Joint Commissioning of Adult Mental Health Services. However there are 
two areas that need attention these being:

 Consideration is given as to whether there is still a requirement for a performance 
payment protocol; and

 Ensuring that there is an effective risk management framework in place to support 
embedding risk management in contractual activities.

Internal Audit has made two recommendations to further strengthen the governance and risk 
management arrangements.

Page 267



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

15

Management Actions
Management have responded positively to the two recommendations made.

Summary of Consulting Activity, Grant Certification and/or Support Delivered 
where no Opinions are provided

No audit assurance opinions on risk and control are provided in this section as this section 
relates to other audit activity such as statutory Chief Internal Auditor grant certification sign 
off and consultancy work i.e. where internal audit advise management on the risk and control 
environment in relation to new and emerging risks, projects, systems and processes to help 
‘design out’ risk at the developmental stage. 

Service Area: Adults 

Audit Activity: Consultancy - Mental Capacity Assessments

The Mental Capacity Act 2005 (MCA) provides a statutory and quality framework to 
empower and protect some of the most vulnerable people in society.  It makes it clear who 
can take decisions, in which situations, and how they should go about this in respect of 
people who lack capacity to make particular decisions for themselves.  It also enables any 
member of the community to plan for the time when they may lack capacity.

During 2018/19 Internal Audit has provided risk and control advice to the project to assist the 
development of an assurance framework for ensuring that quality MCA2 assessments are 
being undertaken in line with internal and external regulations.

Service Area: Children and Families

Audit Activity: Consultancy - Police and Criminal Evidence Act (PACE) 
Protocols 

Internal Audit has offered advice in support of the development of the revised draft ‘Joint 
Protocol for the Transfer of Young People from Police Custody to Local Authority 
Accommodation’.  The Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee considered 
the protocol on 17 Jan 2019 and additional information is to be added.  Further Internal Audit 
work has been deferred pending the approval and adoption of the protocol and the 
awareness training associated with its implementation.  Once the protocol has been fully 
implemented, Internal Audit will review the effectiveness of the monitoring and reporting 
processes that ensure the protocols objectives are being delivered.    

Page 268



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

16

Service Area: Grant Certification

Audit Activity: Troubled Families Grant Claim 2

Background
The Families First (payment-by-result) programme was introduced in a renewed drive to help 
improve the outcomes for troubled families. 

The Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) has produced a Financial 
Framework for local authorities. This document makes clear that payment- by-result (PBR) is 
the subject of self-declaration, and therefore the purpose of this audit was to provide 
assurance that the Families First grant conditions and criteria had been met by the families 
to support the PBR grant claim.

Scope
To provide assurance that those families forming the PBR claims made to the date of the 
audit met the criteria and that there was sufficient evidence to support the outcomes 
recorded.  

Key Findings
As at 22nd March 2019 there were 352 PBR claims prepared for submission. The claims 
reviewed related to the period January to March 2019. 

Internal Audit testing was completed on 18 claims (5.11% of the population) to ensure 
appropriate coverage of the eligibility criteria and the six localities. Internal Audit testing 
confirmed:

 The 18 PBR claims sampled met the criteria outlined by the Troubled Families Grant. 

 A total of 352 PBR claims were made in March for the period covering January to 
March 2019.

Conclusion
Internal Audit identified that effective systems and processes are in place for how families, 
their eligibility markers and related outcomes are being collated and verified.  Audit testing 
confirmed the validity of the claims for the sampled cases.

Management Actions
No recommendations were raised.

Page 269



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

17

Service Area: Adults

Audit Activity: Consultancy - Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS)

Background
Article 5 of the European Convention on Human Rights guarantees an individual’s right to 
their personal liberty and provides that no one should be deprived of their liberty in an 
arbitrary manner. It also requires safeguards to be provided to those deprived of liberty, 
including the right of access to prompt judicial proceedings to challenge the lawfulness of 
their detention. The DoLS is a ‘procedure prescribed by law’.

There have been recent changes affecting the application of DoLS. A Supreme Court 
judgment in 2014 significantly widened the definition of deprivation of liberty, meaning more 
people were subsequently considered to have their liberty deprived which resulted in a 
significant increase in the number of deprivation of liberty applications following the 
judgment. 

In March 2017, the Law Commission published a report and Draft Bill recommending an 
overhaul of the DoLS process, recommending that DoLS are repealed and replaced by a 
new scheme called the Liberty Protection Safeguards, which would streamline the process 
for approving a deprivation of liberty. The Government’s final response, published in March 
2018, broadly accepted the Law Commission’s recommendations and legislation to 
implement the revised model is due to come into force in 2019.

Scope
The original DoLS internal audit planned to review whether the Council has adequate 
arrangements in place for administering the prioritisation of DoLS applications, in order to 
ensure the timely authorisation of DoLS.

Key Findings
Internal Audit commenced a review of the Council’s arrangements for managing/authorising 
DoLS during 2018/19 however, due to the pending reforms to the Mental Capacity 
(Amendment) Bill (July 2018) that seeks to replace DoLS with a new system, known as 
‘Liberty Protection Safeguards’; application of an agile audit approach to delivering the 
objective was used to ensure that the review added value. Outcomes included the provision 
of feedback to management on some suggested improvement areas in relation to:

 Commissioning arrangements for approved doctors under Section 12 of the Mental 
Health Act;

 The authorisation of payments for approved doctors under Section 12 of the Mental 
Health Act; and

 Monitoring records that are maintained to capture the progress of the DoLS referral.

Page 270



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

18

A more detailed review of this area, post royal assent of the parliamentary bill is to be 
scheduled for completion during 2019/20.

Conclusion
The Liberty Protection Safeguards internal audit is included within the proposed 
Gloucestershire County Council Internal Audit Plan 2019/20.

Summary of Special Investigations/Counter Fraud Activities

Special Investigations/Counter Fraud Activities

The Counter Fraud Team within Internal Audit has received 17 new referrals in 2018/19, to 
date, and also continued to work on 14 cases from previous years. Ten of the brought 
forward cases plus eleven of the new cases referred in 2018/19 have now been completed, 
all but three of which have previously been reported to Audit and Governance Committee. 

The service areas of the cases referred to Internal Audit within 2018/19 to date are 
categorised as follows: Adults (4); Children and Families (7); Council Wide (1); Communities 
and Infrastructure (2); and Core (3). 

The 2018/19 cases closed but not yet reported to Audit and Governance Committee, 
involved concerns raised in respect of the amount of time taken off during term time, by 
teaching staff at a maintained school. It was established that the school had introduced a 
work life balance policy, approved by the school’s Governing Body that enabled staff to take 
time off during term time, although the only member of staff to take advantage of the policy 
was the Headteacher. It was explained to the Chair of Governors the work life balance for 
teachers is included within the Teaching Standards and therefore a separate/additional 
policy was not required. This had been taken out of context as the work life balance element 
was not there for teaching staff to take time off during term time but to ensure that they could 
have evenings and weekends free. The policy has now been removed from this school.  

Another investigation involved therapists, appointed to support adopted children, not 
providing counselling sessions as agreed and paid for. New procedural guidelines have 
been issued to reduce this risk in future and an audit has been included within the 2019/20 
Internal Audit Plan. Repayments of identified overpayments have been requested for 
reimbursement.

The third investigation surrounded internal recruitment and promotion within a service area 
of the Council.  No issues were found as a result of the investigation as the promotions and 
regrading were the result of a restructuring exercise and followed the appropriate GCC 
process.

In respect of the investigation / internal audit reviews into GFRS governance, practices and 
processes please refer to the separate internal audit report presented to the Audit and 
Governance Committee on 12th October 2018 and the subsequent Action Plan progress 
updates that continue to be presented to the Audit and Governance Committee. 

Page 271



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

19

Previous years’ referrals

Of the 14 cases brought forward ten have been closed, eight of which have previously been 
reported. One of the outstanding cases involved Internal Audit providing consultancy advice 
to Adult Services in relation to a service provider’s charging mechanisms. Another Direct 
payment case has closed due to the unexpected death of the individual being investigated.  

Internal Audit continues to work with the Police and Legal Services on the remaining three 
open cases, all of which relate to direct payment issues. An invoice has been raised for 
£35,608.64 in respect of an overpayment of one of these Direct Payment cases.   

Many of the cases referred to Internal Audit involve intricate detail and Police referral. This 
invariably results in a delay before the investigation can be classed as closed and reported 
to the Audit and Governance Committee.

In addition the Counter Fraud team within Internal Audit are involved in providing advice to 
management on issues / referrals that do not necessarily need a detailed investigation, 
however, supports an enhanced financial control environment.

National Fraud Initiative (NFI)

Internal Audit continues to support the NFI which is a biennial data matching exercise 
administered by the Cabinet Office. The latest data collections were uploaded to the Cabinet 
Office throughout October 2018 and data matching reports are now available for 
investigation. 

The relevant service areas within the Council have been notified that the data matches are 
available for review and several areas have already started to interrogate the information. 
Examples of data sets include insurance, payroll, creditors, pensions, care provision, blue 
badges and concessionary bus passes. 

Not all matches are investigated but where possible all recommended matches are reviewed 
by either Internal Audit or the appropriate service area.

Page 272



Progress Report including Assurance Opinions

Department Activity Name Priority Activity Status Risk Opinion Control Opinion
Reported to Audit 
and Governance 

Committee
Comments

Strategic Finance Retrospective Orders Limited Assurance Follow Up High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 25/04/2019
Strategic Finance PO Box Addresses High Consultancy Reported in 18/19 annual report
Strategic Finance Payroll - Accuracy of Payments High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 12/10/2018 Brought Forward from 17/18 plan
Strategic Finance Journals and Virements High Audit in Progress
Strategic Finance Bank Reconciliations High Deferred Deferred to 19/20 audit plan due to prioritisation 

of GFRS new activity in 18/19
Strategic Finance Troubled Families Grant 1 High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 25/01/2019
Strategic Finance Troubled Families Grant 2 High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 25/04/2019
Strategic Finance Bus Subsidy Ring-Fenced (Revenue) Grant High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 25/01/2019
Strategic Finance Community Capacity Grant High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 12/10/2018
Strategic Finance Local Growth Fund High Cancelled Grant no longer requires internal audit sign off
Strategic Finance Integrated Transport High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 12/10/2018 Included within Local Transport Capital Funding 

Grants summary paragraph
Strategic Finance Highways Block Maintenance High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 12/10/2018 Included within Local Transport Capital Funding 

Grants summary paragraph
Strategic Finance Highways Maintenance Incentive Element High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 12/10/2018 Included within Local Transport Capital Funding 

Grants summary paragraph
Strategic Finance Pothole Action Fund High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 12/10/2018 Included within Local Transport Capital Funding 

Grants summary paragraph
Strategic Finance National Productivity Investment Fund High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 12/10/2018 Included within Local Transport Capital Funding 

Grants summary paragraph
Strategic Finance Flood Resilience Grant High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 12/10/2018 Included within Local Transport Capital Funding 

Grants summary paragraph
Strategic Finance Highways Maintenance Challenge Fund (Street Lighting) High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 12/10/2018
Strategic Finance Local Authority Major Project Grant (Elmbridge) High Cancelled Grant no longer requires internal audit sign off
Strategic Finance Safer Roads Fund High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 12/10/2018
Strategic Finance Growth Hub High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 12/10/2018
Strategic Finance Equal Pay High Consultancy Reported in 18/19 annual report
Strategic Finance IR35 Off-payroll working through an intermediary High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 25/04/2019
Strategic Finance Safer Recruitment High Deferred Deferred to 19/20 audit plan due to prioritisation 

of GFRS new activity in 18/19
Strategic Finance Approval of Payments for Agency Staff High Planned
Strategic Finance Property Service Contracts - Corporate Cleaning Contract High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 12/10/2018
Strategic Finance Capital Programme High Final Report Issued Substantial Substantial 25/01/2019
ICT Non approved ICT provision High Planned Brought Forward from 17/18 plan
ICT Capita 360 High Planned Terms of Reference issued
ICT JADU eforms High Planned
ICT IT Disaster Recovery (ITDR) Follow Up High Audit in Progress
ICT Sopra Steria Improvement Plan High Planned
ICT ERIC Replacement High Planned
Adults Brokerage High Deferred Deferred to 19/20 audit plan due to prioritisation 

of GFRS new activity in 18/19
Adults Direct Payments - Payment Cards High Audit in Progress
Adults Gloucestershire Care Partnership

High Cancelled Consultancy - Reprioristised to GFRS 
Assurance Activity

Adults Market Management High Planned
Adults Mental Capacity Assessments High Consultancy Not Applicable Not Applicable 25/04/2019
Adults NHS Accessible Information Standards High Audit in Progress
Adults Winter Planning-Discharge Beds High Planned
Adults Electronic Call Monitoring (ECM) High Planned Brought Forward from 17/18 plan
Adults Mental Health Services High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Substantial 25/04/2019 Brought Forward from 17/18 plan
Adults Adults Single Programme High Audit in Progress
Adults Disabled Facilities Grant High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 25/01/2019
Adults Social Care (Capital) Grant High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 12/10/2018
Adults Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) High Consultancy Not Applicable Not Applicable 25/04/2019 Internal audit change to consultancy input, due 

to legislation changes. Review outcomes 
confirmed through summary paragraph 
25/04/2019. 

Adults Gloucestershire Adult Safeguarding Board-Audit Sub Group High Consultancy Reported in 18/19 annual report
Children & Families Section 20 - Children's Act High Planned

Page 1 of 3

P
age 273



Progress Report including Assurance Opinions

Department Activity Name Priority Activity Status Risk Opinion Control Opinion
Reported to Audit 
and Governance 

Committee
Comments

Children & Families ContrOCC (Childrens) High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Substantial 12/10/2018
Children & Families Unregulated Placements and Packages of Support High Deferred Deferred to 19/20 audit plan due to prioritisation 

of GFRS new activity in 18/19
Children & Families Youth Service - Care Leaving Service High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Limited 25/04/2019
Children & Families Missing Children High Final Report Issued Substantial Satisfactory 25/04/2019
Children & Families Caseload Management High Deferred Deferred to 19/20 audit plan due to prioritisation 

of GFRS new activity in 18/19
Children & Families Quality Assurance and Performance Framework High Planned
Children & Families Section 17 spend including No Recourse to Public Funds (NRPF) Medium Planned
Children & Families Youth Justice Board - Use of Grant Medium Planned
Children & Families Personal Travel Allowances Medium Deferred Deferred to 19/20 audit plan due to prioritisation 

of GFRS new activity in 18/19
Children & Families PACE Protocols High Consultancy Not Applicable Not Applicable 25/04/2019 Follow up included in 19/20 plan
Communities and Infrastructure Libraries - Self Service Radio Frequency Identification Medium Planned
Communities and Infrastructure Procurement of Short Term Transport Arrangements for Social Care Users High Audit in Progress
Communities and Infrastructure Growth Deal - Project Delivery Medium Planned
Communities and Infrastructure Growth Deal - Risk Management and Escalation Process by the LEP Board High Planned Terms of Reference issued
Communities and Infrastructure Section 106 Agreements - Bond Policy High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 12/10/2018 Brought Forward from 17/18 plan
Communities and Infrastructure Highways Structural Maintenance - Contract Management

High Deferred Considered as part of 2019/2020 Risk Based 
Audit Planning

Communities and Infrastructure Highways Term Maintenance Contract - Review of Procurement High Final Report Issued Substantial Substantial 25/01/2019
Communities and Infrastructure Household Recycling Centres High Deferred Considered as part of 2019/2020 Risk Based 

Audit Planning
Communities and Infrastructure Joint Waste Partnership - Funding Arrangements High Deferred Considered as part of 2019/2020 Risk Based 

Audit Planning
Communities and Infrastructure Fleet Management High Deferred Deferred to 2019/20 due to current governance 

arrangements being reviewed
Strategy & Challenge Data analytics - specific targeted areas (fraud & audit) High Planned Reported in 18/19 annual report
Strategy & Challenge General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) Compliance High Audit in Progress
Community Safety Fire and Rescue Authorities Grant High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 12/10/2018
Community Safety Risk Management Framework Medium Deferred Considered as part of 2019/2020 Risk Based 

Audit Planning
Community Safety GFRS Governance High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 25/01/2019 New Activity
Community Safety GFRS Procurement High Audit in Progress New Activity
Community Safety GFRS Procurement cards High Final Report Issued Limited Limited 25/04/2019 New Activity
Community Safety GFRS Fleet - Maintenance and Stores High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Limited 25/04/2019 New Activity
Community Safety GFRS Fleet - Disposal of Vehicles High Audit in Progress New Activity
Community Safety GFRS Fleet - Commissioning of New Vehicles High Audit in Progress New Activity
Community Safety GFRS Fleet Management - Use of Pool Cars, Personal and Leased Cars and 

Fuel Schemes including Fuel Cards and Bunker Fuel High Planned Terms of Reference issued

Community Safety GFRS HR and Payroll - Recruitment High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Limited 25/04/2019 New Activity
Community Safety GFRS HR and Payroll - Progression High Final Report Issued Limited Limited 25/04/2019 New Activity
Community Safety GFRS HR and Payroll - Retirement High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 25/04/2019 New Activity
Community Safety GFRS HR and Payroll - Absence Reporting Procedures High Audit in Progress New Activity
Community Safety GFRS HR and Payroll -  Expenses and Service Benefits High Planned New Activity
Community Safety GFRS HR and Payroll - Complaints / Grievances Process

High Deferred
New Activity. Deferred to 20/21 Plan to avoid 
duplication of work with the Scrutiny Task Group 
and HR. 

Community Safety GFRS Capital Programme High Audit in Progress New Activity
Community Safety GFRS - Income and Cash Handling High Audit in Progress New Activity
Community Safety GFRS - Budget Setting High Final Report Issued Substantial Satisfactory 25/04/2019 New Activity
Community Safety GFRS - Budget Monitoring High Final Report Issued Substantial Satisfactory 25/04/2019 New Activity
Community Safety GFRS - Gifts and Hospitality and Declarations of Interest High Final Report Issued Limited Limited 25/04/2019 New Activity
Adult Services & Business 
Development

Best Value Policy High Deferred Deferred to 19/20 audit plan due to prioritisation 
of GFRS new activity in 18/19

Adult Services & Business Standards for Employers of Social Workers High Audit in Progress
Education Nursery Education Funding - Hourly Rate High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 12/10/2018
Education Alternative Provision Schools (2) High Deferred Deferred to 19/20 audit plan due to prioritisation 

of GFRS new activity in 18/19
Education Schools Whistleblowing High Planned

Page 2 of 3

P
age 274



Progress Report including Assurance Opinions

Department Activity Name Priority Activity Status Risk Opinion Control Opinion
Reported to Audit 
and Governance 

Committee
Comments

Education Schools  High Audit in Progress Outcomes relating to schools audited reported in 
2018/19 annual report

Education Nursery Education Funding - Audit Process High Audit in Progress
Education SEN procurement of transport - non Direct Purchasing System High Audit in Progress
Education Education Contingency High Audit in Progress Internal Audit attended the Education 

Conference in March 2019 to advise schools on 
effective financial risk management, control and 
counter fraud. Reported in 18/19 annual report.

Education Education Commissioning - Specialist High Consultancy Reported in 18/19 annual report
Education Direct Payments (Childrens) Limited Assurance Follow Up High Final Report Issued Substantial Satisfactory 12/10/2018 Brought Forward from 17/18 plan
Pensions Management of LGPS High Audit in Progress
Pensions Receipt and Accounting for Contributions High Final Report Issued Substantial Substantial 25/01/2019
Pensions General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) High Audit in Progress Terms of Reference issued
Pensions Admitted Bodies High Final Report Issued Substantial Satisfactory 12/10/2018 Brought Forward from 17/18 plan
Pensions / ICT Pensions Information and Cyber Security High Planned

Exempt Report High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 12/10/2018 Consultancy
Exempt Report High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 12/10/2018 Brought Forward from 17/18 plan

Page 3 of 3

P
age 275



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Audit and Governance Committee
Date:  r Agenda No:

Title of Report: Anti Money Laundering Regulations & Guidance

Context Under the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 (amended by the Criminal 
Finances Act 2017), Money Laundering Regulations 2017 and 
Terrorism Act 2000 the Council is required to establish internal 
procedures in order to prevent money laundering. 

Internal Audit and Strategic Finance have worked together to produce 
an Anti Money Laundering Policy to raise awareness within the 
organisation of the responsibilities of all employees as well as providing 
guidance on how concerns should be raised (see appendix A attached). 

The policy was updated to take account of the Criminal Finances Act 
2017 and the Money Laundering Regulations 2017 and approved by 
Audit & Governance Committee on 6th April 2018.

Purpose of Report: To remind the Audit and Governance Committee of the Council’s 
responsibility with regards to Money Laundering as well as inform the 
Committee on the procedures that have been put in place in order to 
meet legislative requirements.

To report on any disclosures to the Council’s Money Laundering 
Reporting Officer in the past 12 months.

Recommendations: It is recommended that the Committee:

 notes that there have been no disclosures to the Council’s 
Money Laundering Reporting Officer in last 12 months.

 reviews the Anti Money Laundering Policy (which has not 
changed since it was approved).

 agrees policy is reviewed by the Audit and Governance 
Committee on an annual basis.

Officer Contact: Paul Blacker; Acting Director of Finance, Strategic Finance. 
Tel: 01452 328999
Paul.Blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Key Risks  Potential for criminal proceedings against individuals if they are 
aware of money laundering activity and fail to disclose. 

 Financial and reputational risk to Council if money laundering 
activities occur. 

Page 277

Agenda Item 9

mailto:Paul.Blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk


Page 278



1

Anti-Money Laundering Policy January 2018

Introduction
The Proceeds of Crime Act (POCA) 2002  (amended by the Criminal Finances Act 2017), 
Money Laundering, Terrorist Financing and Transfer of Funds (Information of the Payer) 
Regulations 2017 and the Terrorism Act 2000 place obligations on the Council and its 
employees with respect to suspected money laundering. These obligations impact on certain 
areas of local authority business and require local authorities to establish internal procedures 
to prevent the use of their services for money laundering. This Policy sets out how any 
concerns should be raised.

Whilst the majority of money laundering activity in the UK falls outside of the public sector, 
vigilance by employees of the Council can help identify those who are or may be perpetrating 
crimes relating to the financing of terrorism and money laundering.

Scope of the Policy
This Policy applies to all employees of the Council and aims to maintain the high standards 
of conduct which currently exist within the Council by preventing criminal activity through 
money laundering. The Policy sets out the procedures which must be followed (for example 
the reporting of suspicions of money laundering activity) to enable the Council to comply with 
its legal obligations.

Failure by a member of staff to comply with the procedures set out in this Policy may lead to 
disciplinary action being taken against them. Any disciplinary action will be dealt with in 
accordance with the County Council's Disciplinary Policy and Procedure.

What is Money Laundering?
Money laundering is the generic term used to describe the process by which criminals 
disguise the original ownership and control of the proceeds of criminal conduct by making 
such proceeds appear to have derived from a legitimate source. In other words, the process 
of changing ‘bad’ money into ‘good’ money in order to hide the fact that the money originated 
from criminal activity. Formally, the following acts constitute money laundering:
 Concealing, disguising, converting, transferring criminal property or removing it from the 

UK (section 327 of the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002); or
 Entering into or becoming concerned in an arrangement which you know or suspect 

facilitates the acquisition, retention, use or control of criminal property by or on behalf of 
another person (section 328);

 Acquiring, using or possessing criminal property (section 329); or
 Becoming concerned in an arrangement facilitating concealment, removal from the 

jurisdiction, transfer to nominees or any other retention or control of terrorist property 
(section 18 of the Terrorism Act 2000).

These are the primary money laundering offences and thus prohibited acts under the 
legislation. There are also two secondary offences: failure to disclose any of the primary 
offences and tipping off. Tipping off is where someone informs a person or people who are, 
or are suspected of being involved in money laundering, in such a way as to reduce the 
likelihood of their being investigated or prejudicing an investigation.

Page 279



2

Potentially any member of staff could be implicated by the money laundering provisions if 
they suspect money laundering and either become involved with it in some way and/or do 
nothing about it.

Failure to disclose (section 330)
A person commits an offence if each of the following three conditions are satisfied;
 they know or have reasonable grounds to suspect that another person is engaged in 

money laundering;
 the information or knowledge in which they have grounds for suspicion is received in the 

course of business in the regulated sector; and
 the required disclosure is not made as soon as is practicable after the information 

comes to them.

A person does not commit an offence under this section if:
 there is a reasonable excuse for not disclosing this information or other matter;
 they provide professional legal advice and the information came to them in privileged 

circumstances; and
 they do not know or suspect money laundering, or have not been provided with such 

training as specified by the Secretary of State.

Whilst the risk to the Council of contravening the legislation is Iow, it is extremely important 
that all employees are familiar with their legal responsibilities: serious criminal 
sanctions may be imposed for breaches of the legislation.

What are the Obligations on the Council?
Organisations conducting "relevant business" must:
 appoint a Money Laundering Reporting Officer ("MLRO") to receive disclosures from 

employees of money laundering activity (their own or anyone else's);
 implement a procedure to enable the reporting of suspicions of money laundering;
 maintain client identification procedures in certain circumstances; and
 maintain record keeping procedures.

Not all of the council's business is "relevant" for the purposes of the legislation. It is mainly 
the accountancy and audit services carried out by the financial service functions within the 
council and the financial, company and property transactions undertaken by Legal Services. 
However, the safest way to ensure compliance with the law is to apply it to all areas of work 
undertaken by the Council; therefore, all staff are required to comply with the reporting 
procedure set out in the Disclosure Procedure section below.

Page 280



3

The Money Laundering Reporting Officer (MLRO)
The officer nominated to receive disclosures about money laundering activity within the 
council is the Head of Financial Management. Contact details are provided below:

Paul Blacker, Head of Financial Management 
Shire Hall
Westgate Street 
Gloucester
GL1 2TG

Email: paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk 
Telephone: 01452 328999 (direct line)

In the absence of the MLRO, any member of the Strategic Finance Management Team is 
authorised to deputise.

Disclosure Procedure
Cash Payments:
No payment to the council will be accepted in cash (including notes, coins or travellers 
cheques in any currency) if it exceeds £5,000. Cash payments in excess of £10,000 received 
in more than one transaction within a twelve month period must also be treated as 
suspicious.

Even if the cash value is less than £5,000 and there is suspicion that the monies are from 
proceeds of crime then it should still be reported to the MLRO.

Any officer involved in a transaction of this kind should ensure that the person(s) provide 
satisfactory evidence of their personal identity.

Reporting to the Money Laundering Reporting Officer

Where you know or suspect that money laundering activity is taking/has taken place, or 
become concerned that your involvement in a matter may amount to a prohibited act under 
the legislation, you must disclose this as soon as practicable to the MLRO.

Your disclosure should be made to the MLRO using the pro-forma report form on Staffnet 
Money Laundering page. The report must include as much detail as possible.

The employee must follow any subsequent directions from the MLRO or deputy and must not 
make any further enquiries themselves into the matter. Additionally, they must not take any 
further steps in the transaction without authorisation from the MLRO or deputy.

The employee must not disclose or otherwise indicate their suspicions to the person(s) 
suspected of money laundering otherwise you may commit a criminal offence of "tipping off”. 
They must not discuss the matter with others or note on a file that a report has been made to 
the MLRO in case this results in the suspect becoming aware of the suspicion, through a 
request to see their file. The MLRO will keep the appropriate records in a confidential 
manner.

Page 281

mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk


20

Full details of the people involved (including you, if relevant), e.g. name, date of birth, 
address, company names, directorships, phone numbers, etc. will be required. If you are 
concerned that your involvement in the transaction would amount to a prohibited act under 
sections 327 - 329 of the 2002 Act1, then your report must include all relevant details, as you 
will need consent from the National Crime Agency (NCA) via the MLRO, to take any further 
part in the transaction - this is the case even if the client gives instructions for the matter to 
proceed before such consent is given.

You should therefore make it clear in the report if such consent is required and clarify 
whether there are any deadlines for giving such consent e.g. a completion date or court 
deadline;

Once you have reported the matter to the MLRO you must follow any directions he may give 
you. You must not make any further enquiries into the matter yourself: any necessary 
investigation will be undertaken by the NCA. Simply report your suspicions to the MLRO who 
will refer the matter on to the Serious Organised Crime Agency (SOCA) if appropriate. All 
members of staff will be required to co-operate with the MLRO and the authorities during any 
subsequent money laundering investigation.

Client Identification Procedure (Customer Due Diligence)
Where the Council is carrying out relevant business (e.g. accountancy, audit and certain 
legal services) it must apply customer due diligence measures:

a) when you establish a business relationship
b) when you carry out an ‘occasional transaction’ worth €15,000 (approximately

£10,000) or more
c) when you suspect money laundering or terrorist financing
d) when you have doubts about a customer’s identification information that you 

obtained previously

e) when it’s necessary for existing customers - for example if their circumstances 
change

A business relationship is one that you enter into with a customer where both of you expect 
that the relationship will be ongoing. It can be a formal or an informal arrangement.

When a new business relationship is established the Council needs to obtain information on:

 the purpose of the relationship

 the intended nature of the relationship - for example where funds will come 
from, the purpose of transactions, and so on.

The type of information that you need to obtain may include:

 details of your customer’s business or employment

 the  source  and  origin  of  funds  that  the  customer  will  be  using  in  the 
relationship

 copies of recent and current financial statements

 details of the relationships between signatories and any underlying beneficial 
owners

 the expected level and type of activity that will take place in the relationship.

1 

Page 282



21

Please note that unlike the reporting procedure, the client identification procedure is 
restricted to those operating relevant business, i.e. Financial Services and Legal 
Services.

In the above circumstances, staff in the relevant unit of the Council must obtain satisfactory 
evidence of the identity of the prospective client, as soon as practicable after instructions are 
received (unless evidence of the client has already been obtained). This applies to existing 
clients, as well as new ones, but identification evidence is not required for matters entered 
into prior to 1 March 2004.

Once instructions to provide relevant business have been received, and it has been 
established that any of paragraphs (a) to (e) apply, evidence of identity should be obtained.

With instructions from new clients, or further instructions from a client not well known to you, 
you may wish to seek additional evidence of the identity of key individuals in the organisation 
and of the organisation itself.

In all cases, the evidence should be retained for at least five years from the end of the 
business relationship or transaction(s).

If satisfactory evidence of identity is not obtained at the outset of the matter then the 
business relationship or one off transaction(s) cannot proceed any further.

Record Keeping Procedures
The MLRO should retain records of all referrals made to them and of any action taken. The 
precise nature of these records is not set out in law but should be capable of providing an 
audit trail during any subsequent investigation.

All records should be retained for at least five years. This is so that they may be used as 
evidence in any subsequent investigation by the authorities into money laundering.

Guidance and Training
In support of this policy, the council will:
 make staff aware of the requirements and obligations under the anti-money laundering 

policy legislation; and
 provide training to those most likely to encounter money laundering.

Conclusion
The legislative requirements concerning anti-money laundering procedures are lengthy and 
complex. This Policy has been written to support the Council to meet the legal requirements 
in a way which is proportionate to the very low risk to the Council of contravening the 
legislation.

Should you have any concerns whatsoever regarding any transactions then you should 
contact the MLRO.

Page 283



22

Further Information
Further information relating to the anti-money laundering policy can be found at the following 
links:
 National Crime Agency (NCA)
 Money Laundering, Terrorist Financing and Transfer of Funds (Information of the Payer) 

Regulations 2017 
 Terrorism Act 2002 
 CIPFA Guidance on Money Laundering
 Proceeds of Crime Act 2002
 Criminal Finance Act 2017 Act 2017
 Money Laundering Disclosure Form – (Staffnet)
 Guidance for MLRO – (Staffnet)

Page 284

http://www.nationalcrimeagency.gov.uk/crime-threats/money-laundering
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/692/pdfs/uksi_20170692_en.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/692/pdfs/uksi_20170692_en.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/11/pdfs/ukpga_20000011_en.pdf
http://www.cipfa.org/members/members-in-practice/anti-money-laundering
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2002/29/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2017/22/pdfs/ukpga_20170022_en.pdf
https://staffnet.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/219002/money-laundering-appendix-1.pdf
http://staffnet/
http://staffnet/
http://staffnet/
http://staffnet/
http://staffnet/
http://staffnet/
http://staffnet/
http://staffnet/
https://staffnet.gloucestershire.gov.uk/policies-procedures-and-forms/financial-guides-and-manuals/finance-guide/general-finance-guide/money-laundering/
http://staffnet/
http://staffnet/
http://staffnet/
http://staffnet/
http://staffnet/
http://staffnet/
http://staffnet/
http://staffnet/


Audit and Governance Committee
Date: 25th April 2019 Agenda No:

Title of Report: Update on the Permanent Exclusions Task Group 

Purpose of Report: As requested by the Audit and Governance Committee, to provide an 
update on the progress of the Permanent Exclusions Task Group.

Recommendations: That the report be noted

Officer (s) Contact: Philip Haslett, Head of Education Strategy and Development

Email: Philip.Haslett@Gloucestershire.gov.uk

Tel: 01452 328488

Key Risks Permanent exclusions remain very high in Gloucestershire and above 
the level in comparator authority areas.  Government policy 
announcements are awaited.

The cost of Alternative Provision for excluded pupils, funded from 
Dedicated Schools Grant, is around £5.7m.

Page 285

Agenda Item 10

mailto:Philip.Haslett@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Audit and Governance Committee

1. Background 

1.1.Following concerns raised at the Children and Families Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee (CFOSC) in January 2017 the formation of a ‘permanent 
exclusions task group’ was commissioned.  

1.2.Between December and March 2018 the task group considered all the 
available data and met with a range of stakeholders including, headteachers, 
parents, students and governors, as well as the appropriate council staff.  

1.3.Following this work the task group reported its findings and recommendations 
to the CFOSC in May 2018.

1.4.The task group referenced the announcement by the government on the 16th 
March 2018, that they would be undertaking a review of school exclusions led 
by Edward Timpson CBE.  We are still awaiting the publication of the findings 
of the review. Terms of reference for the review can be found on the 
Department for Educations (DFE) website - 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/school-exclusions-review-terms-
of-reference 

1.5. It is also worth noting that education select committee undertook an inquiry 
into the rising number if permanent exclusions. The inquiry and the 
government and Ofsted responses are here - 
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/commons-
select/education-committee/inquiries/parliament-2017/inquiry/.

1.6.Many of the issues identified by the education select committee inquiry are in 
alignment with the findings from Gloucestershire’s task group report. 

1.7.We have continued to develop our plans and strategies for tackling the 
increasing rate of exclusions, but we are also mindful of the need to consider 
and reflect the recommendations that will come form the Timpson review, 
which is expected imminently.  

2. Data for Academic year 2018/19 (as at 31st December 2018)

During the autumn term 2018 exclusion rates have continued to remain high. 
However, there has been a significant change in the trend of these exclusions, 
with a decline in primary exclusions and a continued rise in secondary. 

Table 1: Permanent exclusions during the Autumn terms 2018 (terms 1 and 2).
2017/18 2018/19

Primary permanent exclusions 18 5
Secondary permanent exclusions 36 50
APS permanent exclusions 0 1
Total permanent exclusions 54 56

For further detail please see the report on off-rolling data.

3. What has been achieved so far?

3.1.As outlined in para 1.7 we are awaiting the publication of the Timpson review 
from government.  We expect the review to provide a clear steer from 
government on the escalating issue of permanent exclusions. We have 

Page 287

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/school-exclusions-review-terms-of-reference
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/school-exclusions-review-terms-of-reference
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/commons-select/education-committee/inquiries/parliament-2017/inquiry/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/commons-select/education-committee/inquiries/parliament-2017/inquiry/


therefore been cautious not to over-reach in our planning, so as to avoid 
having to unpick them to align with the recommendations from Government.

3.2.However, since the publication of the task group report there has been a 
significant amount of work completed to refine and develop strategies to 
address the continued rise in permanent exclusions.

3.3.Our strategic planning has been informed by consultation with key 
stakeholders, including children and young people with additional needs, 
parents and carers mainstream schools, special schools and specialist 
providers, the Gloucestershire schools forum and health care professionals.   
It was also informed by the published inquiry from the education select 
committee and the responses from Government and Ofsted.

3.4.As the task group identified in its finding it is hard ‘to identify a definitive 
answer to the question of why there are such a high number of exclusions in 
Gloucestershire schools’ (para, 3.2.1 – Permanent Exclusions Task Group 
report).  

3.5.The underlying issues are complex and as such are woven into a number of 
elements of the Councils work.  We are therefore tackling them as part of our 
broader strategies to address the pressures on the high needs budget and 
the joint strategy to support children and young people with additional needs.

3.6.These strategies (the High Needs Cabinet report; and Gloucestershire’s Joint 
Strategy for Children and Young People with Additional Needs, including 
Special Educational Needs & Disabilities, see annex 1.) have been finalised 
and approved by Cabinet in January 19. 

3.7.Our approach is underpinned by three core objectives: 
 The development of a collaborative culture of inclusivity that is owned and 

operated by school leaders;
 That we take a preventative approach by ensuring support and 

intervention is provided at the earliest possible opportunity; and
 We aspire to a fully inclusive education system with Zero exclusions.

3.8.Whilst conscious of the need to align with the recommendations that will 
come from Government, through the Timpson review, we are also conscious 
of the need to implement change across Gloucestershire. So, there are a 
number of areas which we have started to make progress.  These are:
 The work of the inclusion team
 Implementation of a new Fair Access Protocol (FAP)
 The development of primary inclusion hubs
 The implementation of restorative practice approaches

3.9.The work of the inclusion team and the implementation of the FAP, are the 
areas in which we are able to have more immediate impact.  The impact of 
the primary inclusion hubs and restorative practice programme are longer 
term strategies focussed on changing the underlying culture of permanent 
exclusion.

4. The work of the inclusion team

4.1.Staff within the Education Inclusion Service have worked with schools to 
avoid children being excluded from school. Working with other services and 
agencies, the team has focused on improving inclusion across the school 
system through: 
 Redesigning training packages for Governor’s and Head Teachers to 

provide an explicit focus on inclusive practice (training to include rather 
than exclude).

Page 288



 Targeting challenge at leaders within individual schools with significantly 
high levels exclusions and children leaving to become home educated 
(especially in KS4).

 Developing a ‘Team Around the School’ approach for 6 targeted 
secondary schools alongside partner services and agencies. Looking 
holistically at groups or individual children needing support and 
understand how best the school can respond and wider multi-agency 
support be galvanised (in one school alone this approach has avoided 4 
exclusions).

 Improving school leadership understanding of whole school approaches to 
respond to more shared needs of groups of children; i.e. through a more 
nurturing or structured environment.

 Attendance at all exclusion Governor Disciplinary Meetings to influence 
Governor’s questioning on events leading up to an exclusion and whether 
the school had done all it could to mitigate this – also sharing good 
practice across schools. 

 Encouraging Headteachers to seek support from the council prior to 
determining whether it is necessary to exclude a child and to consider 
more personalised, child-centred options as alternatives; such as: 

- Facilitating managed moves between schools
- Accessing alternative sanctions to exclusions for schools (i.e. 

programmes related to drug use)
- Enhancing multi-agency work to improve identification of a child’s 

needs and appropriate support for the child and/or family
- Facilitating timely support and advice for schools and families 

across agencies to prevent issues from escalating 
4.2.Much of this work is to facilitate an inclusive culture change within schools 

(which is challenging given the performance and funding pressures they 
have) and therefore results are not expected to be immediate; although it is 
hoped that the new Ofsted framework will help drive the inclusion agenda. 
However, during September – December 2018 alone, the collaboration 
between the service and schools has had the following positive impact for 
children: 
 4 children were put on alternative pathways prior to school determining 

exclusion was necessary
 4 exclusions were withdrawn by the school following agreement on an 

alternative solution.
 2 exclusions were overturned at the Governor’s Disciplinary Meeting 

(meeting held to determine final exclusion decision)
 1 exclusion decision was overturned by an Independent Review Panel 

(parental appeal mechanism against final exclusion decision)
 3 exclusion decisions considered by an Independent Review Panel were 

returned to the school Governing Body on evidential grounds, requesting 
reconsideration of their final decision to exclude

5. Primary Hubs

5.1.As outlined in section 4.1 of the high needs cabinet report we have started to 
develop the vision and strategy for the creation of the 7 primary inclusion 
hubs across the county.  

Page 289



5.2.A key objective of the hub model is for schools to develop and guide local 
strategies to improve inclusion and ultimately provide them with more 
autonomy and delegated financial responsibilities. 

5.3.The quality of engagement from schools is a critical element of achieving this 
objective. As such we are delighted that the schools have responded and 
engaged very positively. 

5.4.Each of the 7 hubs has been formed and initial discussions have taken place 
to explore their objectives and to consider potential operating models. These 
discussions are informing our thinking about how we structure the 
implementation of the hub model to ensure success.  In particular how we 
ensure a smooth transition to a ‘school led’ model that provides greater local 
autonomy and decision making.

5.5. Initial planning has taken place to develop a three phase model that includes 
a central hub which will hold and manage funding and draw together the work 
of the local hubs.  This model is being finalised ready for implementation from 
September 2019.

6. Restorative Practice

6.1.The High Needs paper that was approved by the cabinet in January 2019 
outlines a committed of 200k a year for the next 5 years to support the 
implementation of the restorative practice programme across Gloucestershire 
schools. 

6.2.The funding we have set aside will enable us to start scaling up the 
programme, with a view to creating a self-sustaining programme with through 
the traded service or accessing funding through alternative routes. 

6.3.A five year plan has been developed, which outlines the key milestones and 
objectives for the programme, both for Gloucestershire CC and the schools 
that we work with. During which time we will apply for and achieve the 
Restorative Service Quality Mark (RSQM), to validate the work that we are 
doing. We will also set the expectation that the schools achieve the quality 
mark.

6.4.The response from schools has been exceptional, with demand already 
outstripping our capacity to deliver.  We are looking at ways to try and meet 
the demand, but also with a clear view that we need to prioritise the 
engagement of schools that need the support the most.

7. Fair Access Protocol (FAP)

7.1.The FAP has been reviewed and agreed with the Gloucestershire Association 
of Primary Headteachers (GAPH) and the Gloucestershire Association of 
Secondary Headteachers (GASH).

7.2.The new protocol:
 Places more emphasis on the child by including pupil voice in the referral 

process, ensuring the child has the opportunity to put forward their point 
of view at the point of referral.

 Provides a clearer and more structured timeline for transition into and out 
of alternative provision.

 Clearer guidance and expectations on the assessment and support 
required through the transition points into and out of alternative provision.

 A clearer mandate for the panel to ensure that a place back into 
mainstream education is identified.  

Page 290



7.3.The finalised protocol will be published on the Gloucestershire County 
Council website shortly and the first panel will take place in early March. 

7.4.We will continue to monitor and refine the process and protocols over the 
coming months to ensure effective implementation.

 

Page 291



This page is intentionally left blank



Audit and Governance Committee 25 April 2019

Agenda Item: Freedom of Information Act 2000 and Data Protection Act 1998 report 
and statistics, January – December 2018.

Summary

This report advises Members of the impact of the Freedom of Information Act 2000 (FOI) and 
the Data Protection Act 1998 (DPA) (and related legislation) on the council during 2018.

Key Points

 2210 requests received in 2018 in comparison with 2037 requests received in 2017, 
and the complexity of cases continues to increase. This includes requests made under 
Freedom of Information, Environmental Information and Data Protection legislation.

The percentage of requests responded to within the statutory timescales in 2018 is 
84%.  This is a drop of 5% (in 2017 the percentage of requests responded to on time 
was 89%). There have been significant changes to the team in 2018 with a number of 
new staff both within IMS and service areas being trained and developed to get up to 
speed. This work will be continued throughout 2019 to support an improvement in the 
response rate.

Recommendations

That the report be noted.

Page 293

Agenda Item 11



1.   Proportion of Requests Meeting Statutory Deadlines

In 2018 the council answered 84% of requests within the statutory deadline.  Chart 1 
shows the monthly response rates and how they compare with the target of 85% on time. 
Along with changes within the team and network of champions, the increase in volume of 
requests, reviews and complaints, as well as the complexity and size of individual 
requests, has contributed to the fall in performance. 

A combination of the improvement work that continued throughout 2018 and the 
additional resources allocated to managing requests is helping to ensure the required rate 
of performance is maintained.

Chart 1: 2018 Percentage of requests responded on time (includes all FOI and SAR 
cases closed during 2018)

Jan Feb March April May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec
50

55

60

65

70

75

80

85

90

95

100

2. Detailed Background Information

Requests for Information
Table 1 shows the requests received in total each year from 2015 – 2018 and the continued 
increase in numbers received.

Table 1: Requests received 2015-2018

2015 2016 2017 2018
Number received 2195 2276 2037 2210
Percentage 
increase from 
previous year

16% 4.0% 11% 8%

Chart 2 shows that in 2018, 2210 requests were received, compared with 2037 in 2017.  This 
means the council received an average of 184.17 requests per month; an additonal 14 
requests per month (in 2017 the average was 169.75 requests per month). 

Page 294



2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

1st Half

2nd Half

Chart 2: Requests received 
2008 - 2018

N
um

be
r o

f R
eq

ue
st

s

In addition to managing requests and the provision of advice to council colleagues, the 
service continued to provide advice on requests to schools as part of the council’s Traded 
Service until the end of March 2018.  

Chart 2: Requests received 2008-2018

Page 295



Table 2 shows the variation in the number of requests by requester type. Requests from 
private individuals remain the overall majority at 62.06% (this is an increase of 2% from 
2017). 

Requests have been received about a wide variety of topics including:

 Fire and Rescue 
 Road maintenance, safety on the roads, transport and parking charges
 School admissions and developments      
 Staffing numbers and structure
 ICT and Communications
 Domiciliary care service             
 Waste management (Javelin Park) and recycling centres      
 Adult and Children’s social care and safeguarding
 Council spend, funding, budgets, pensions and compensation claims
 Property services 
 SEN and disabilities 

Table 2: Distribution of requests by requester type, comparison of 2017 and 2018 

Requester Type Count 2017 % Count 
2018

%

Member of public/individual 1235 60.23 1372 62.08

Company or commercial 
organisation 281 13.79 331 14.97

Press or media 261 12.81 258 11.67
Charity 57 2.80 58 2.62
Student 35 1.72 23 1.04
Campaign group 34 1.67 44 1.99
Political organisation 32 1.57 26 1.17
NHS 20 0.98 2 0.09
Public Authority 20 0.98 21 0.95
Legal organisation 19 0.93 24 1.09
Academic organisation 17 0.83 15 0.68
MP 10 0.49 12 0.54
Councillor 9 0.44 15 0.68
Union 6 0.29 9 0.41

Page 296



Table 3: Distribution of requests by cluster level

Cluster 2017 
Totals

Percentage in 
2017

2018 Totals Percentage in 
2018

Children’s and families
Includes: Children’s Social Care, Children’s 
Safeguarding, Schools, Education & Learning 
and Fostering and Adoption

674 33.08% 677 30.63%

Communities
Includes: PLACE,  Gloucester Fire and Rescue 
Service  and Trading Standards 

516 25.33% 723 32.80%

Adults
Includes: Adult Social Care, Adult Safeguarding, 
Learning Disabilities, Joint Commissioning and 
Public Health

369 18.11% 336 15.20%

Core Council
Includes: Finance, Pensions, Property Services
Human Resources, Business Service Centre, 
Communications, Corporate Complaints and  
Information Management

324 15.90% 281 12.71%

District*
Includes all requests where the Information is 
held by District Councils.

154 7.56% 193 8.73%

*Please note that district council figures are included as we are required to log them as with any other request 
before we then advise the requester that the information is held by a different authority.

3. Refusal of Requests

The top five exemptions used were:

 s12 - Cost of compliance exceeds appropriate limit
 s21 - Information accessible to the applicant by other means
 s40 - Personal information
 s22 - Information intended for future publication
 s43 - Commercial Interests  

The top two EIR (Environmental Information Regulations) exceptions used were:

 EIR 12 5(e) – The confidentiality of commercial or industrial information where such 
confidentiality is provided by law to protect a legitimate economic interest

 EIR 6 (1)(b) – The information is already publically available and easily accessible to 
the applicant in another form or format 

Page 297



Table 4 shows that there has been a 7% increase in refusals when compared with 2017. 

Table 4: Refusal of requests, comparison of 2017 and 2018 
2017 2018

Refused in part 231 occasions 282 occasions 
Refused in whole 95 occasions 68 occasions 

4. Time Spent on Answering Requests

The input required to manage and prepare responses to requests spans all areas of the 
council, therefore an estimate has been made of the time taken. Based on experience the 
following average times to measure the completion of requests are used:

 Average request: 6 hours
 Sensitive request: 20 hours
 Internal review: 25 hours
 ICO review: 37 hours

The average time spent managing requests has increased from last year, which reflects the 
complexity of the cases received.

5. Freedom of Information Internal Reviews and Complaints

22 requests resulted in an internal review in 2018.  Whilst this represents a 38% increase 
compared with the 16 internal reviews received in 2017 this translates to 1% of the total 2210 
requests received.

The outcomes were as follows:
 5 were upheld in part
 10 were not upheld
 7 were upheld in full

2 cases were escalated to the Information Commissioner (ICO) in 2018, as follows:

Case 1 - 
 Requesting a copy of the renegotiated Javelin Park contract
 Following the council’s disclosure of further details of its 2016 contract with UBB, the 

complainant was content for the case to be closed.

Case 2 – 
 Request relating to violations of the bus lane on Llanthony Road by vehicles belonging 

to Severn Trent
 This case is awaiting allocation to an ICO case officer.

The Information Management Service continues to spend an increasing amount of time 
managing reviews and complaints relating to requests (compared with previous years).  This 
is demonstrative of the increasing complexity and increase in numbers. 

Page 298



6.  Data Protection

Of the requests received, 516 requests were made under the Data Protection Act. This is a 
9% decrease when compared with the 567 requests received in the previous year. Upon 
further analysis of the requests it can be seen that  the number of subject access requests 
continues to increase, whilst the number of police requests continue to decrease.

7.  Data Protection (Subject Access) Internal Reviews and Complaints

 7 internal reviews/complaints were received and investigated in 2018: 
 0 were upheld in full;
 1 was upheld in part;
 6 were not upheld. 

1 case was escalated to the Information Commissioner (ICO) during 2018:  

 Relating to the council not providing all the information the requester believed it should 
 The ICO upheld the council’s position and was satisfied that the 3rd party information 

had been appropriately withheld.

8. Customer Feedback

Although we invite feedback on every response it is not obligatory to complete it. 
One comment was received in 2018, one requester was delighted with the both the service 
received and information that had been provided and would use the FOI route again.

Authors: Teresa Wilmshurst, Information Requests Team Manager 
     Jenny Grodzicka, Head of IMS (DPO) & Worksmarter Lead

                 
Owner: Jenny Grodzicka, Head of IMS (DPO) & Worksmarter Lead

25 April 2018

Page 299



This page is intentionally left blank



2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

1st Half

2nd Half

Chart 2: Requests received 
2008 - 2018

N
um

be
r o

f R
eq

ue
st

s

In addition to managing requests and the provision of advice to council colleagues, the 
service continued to provide advice on requests to schools as part of the council’s Traded 
Service until the end of March 2018.  

Chart 2: Requests received 2008-2018

Page 301



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	Jan 19

	4 Grant Thornton Progress Report
	Auditing Standards Communication with A&G Committee

	5 Grant Thornton Fee Letter
	6 Internal Audit Plan 2019/20
	Internal Audit Plan report 2019_20 v1.3

	7 GFRS Action Plan
	GFRS Action Plan Progress Report as at April 2019
	V2 Final Audit Report -Procurement - Pcards_O_09042019
	V2.0 Final GFRS Maintenance and Stores Report
	v2.0 GFRS Recruitment and Selection of New Starters final report
	V2.0 Gifts and Hospitality and Declarations of Interest - Final Report
	v2.0 Promotion Progression and Movement final report
	V2-0 GFRS Budget Setting Final issued
	v2.0.GFRS Retirement final report
	V2-0 GFRS Budget Monitoring Final issued

	8 Internal Audit Activity Progress Report 18/19
	Progress Report on Internal Audit Activity v1.4
	Spreadsheet v1.1

	9 Money Laundering Regulations and Guidance
	anti-money-laundering-policy 2018

	10 Alternative Provision Schools Management Update
	Exclusions CF Mar19

	11 Freedom of Information Annual Report
	FOI Amended Page 3


